
 

Meeting Accessibility Services and Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Notice:  City Hall Annex is accessible to persons with disabilities. A 
request for an interpreter for the hearing impaired or for other accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made at least 48 
hours before the meeting to the City Recorder (503) 864-2221 or rvargas@daytonoregon.gov .    1 
 

AGENDA 
CITY OF DAYTON  

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

DATE:  MONDAY, JANUARY 5, 2026 
TIME:  6:30 PM 
PLACE: DAYTON CITY HALL ANNEX – 408 FERRY STREET, DAYTON, OREGON 
VIRTUAL: ZOOM MEETING – ORS 192.670/HB 2560 
 
You may join the Council Meeting online via YouTube: 
https://youtube.com/live/4ca0TAH0dac?feature=share  
   

Dayton – Rich in History . . . Envisioning Our Future 
 

ITEM     DESCRIPTION                                                                                                     PAGE #     
 

A. CALL TO ORDER & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

B. ROLL CALL 
 

C. APPEARANCE OF INTERESTED CITIZENS 
 

D. CONSENT AGENDA 
 

1. November 2025 Financial Statement       1-66 
2. November 3, 2025, Regular Session Minutes      67-73 
3. November 20, 2025, Special Session Minutes      74-75 
4. December 1, 2025, Regular Session Minutes      76-83 

 
E. PUBLIC HEARING 

1. City Council will hold a public hearing to obtain public comment on proposed  85 
findings for an exemption from competitive bidding requirements per  
ORS 279C.335 (2) for certain improvement contracts. 

 
F. ACTION ITEMS 

1. Council President Election         87-88 
2. Approval of Resolution 2025/26-11 A Resolution Adopting Findings to Support  89-270 

an Exemption from Competitive Bidding Requirements per ORS 279C.335 (2)  
for certain improvement Contracts. 

3. Approval of Resolution 2025/26-14 A Resolution Authorizing the City of Dayton  271-274 
to apply for a LGGP from OPRD of the Rehabilitation of Alderman Dog Park and  
delegating authority. 

4. Approval of Grant Agreement #WPG-D-0020-25 with the Oregon Water Resources  275-293 
Department in the Amount of $1,218,750. 

mailto:rvargas@daytonoregon.gov
https://youtube.com/live/4ca0TAH0dac?feature=share


 

Meeting Accessibility Services and Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Notice:  City Hall Annex is accessible to persons with disabilities. A 
request for an interpreter for the hearing impaired or for other accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made at least 48 
hours before the meeting to the City Recorder (503) 864-2221 or rvargas@daytonoregon.gov .    2 
 

5. Approval of Resolution 2025/26-15 Accepting OWRD and OBDD Grants,   295-298 
Making Appropriations, and Authorizing Expenditure of Funds per ORS 294.338(2) 

6. Approval of Resolution 2025/26-16 A Resolution Adopting an Executive   299-306 
Session News Media Attendance Policy 

7. Planning Commission Application Review and Appointment    307-309 
8. Budget Committee Application Review and Appointment    311-313 
9. Second Reading and Adoption of Ordinance 668 Amending the City of   315-320 

Dayton Comprehensive Plan Adopting the 2025 Transportation System Plan  
and Amending Title 7 (Dayton Land Use and Development Code) of the Dayton  
Municipal Code 

10. OLCC Annual Renewal Report        321-323 
11. Approval of Code 1 Fund Use for Mural by DCDA      325-326 
12. City Hall Basement Conditions Report       327-328 
13. Local Option Levy Update        329-330 

 
G. CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS AND CONCERNS  

 
H. INFORMATION REPORTS         331-344 

1. Finance 
2. Library  
3. Public Works 
4. Recorder 
5. Tourism and Economic Development 

 
I. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT         345-356 

1. 2026 Budget Calendar  
2. 2026 URA Budget Calendar 

 
J. ADJOURN 

 
K. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 
Executive sessions are closed to the public. Representatives of the news media and designated staff 
may attend executive sessions. Representatives of the news media are specifically directed not to 
report on any of the deliberations during the executive session, except to state the general subject 
of the session as previously announced. No decision will be made in this executive session. The City 
Council will adjourn directly from the executive session and will not be returning to open session. 
 
The executive session held pursuant to ORS 192.660(2)(i) – To review and evaluate the employment-
related performance of the chief executive officer of any public body, a public officer, employee or 

staff member who does not request an open hearing. 

 
 

mailto:rvargas@daytonoregon.gov


 

Meeting Accessibility Services and Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Notice:  City Hall Annex is accessible to persons with disabilities. A 
request for an interpreter for the hearing impaired or for other accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made at least 48 
hours before the meeting to the City Recorder (503) 864-2221 or rvargas@daytonoregon.gov .    3 
 

Posted: December 31, 2025 
By: Rocio Vargas, City Recorder 
 

NEXT MEETING 
January 20, 2026, Work Session 

February 2, 2026, Regular Session 
 

Virtually via Zoom and in Person, City Hall Annex, 408 Ferry Street, Dayton, Oregon 
 
The public is encouraged to relay concerns and/or comments to the City Council in one of the following 
methods: 

a Email – any time up to 5:00 p.m. the day of the meeting to rvargas@daytonoregon.gov. The Mayor 
will read the comments emailed to the City Recorder. 

b Appear in person – if you would like to speak during public comment, please sign up on the sign-in 
sheet located on the table when you enter the Council Chambers.  

c Appear by Telephone only – please sign up prior to the meeting by emailing the City Recorder at 
rvargas@daytonoregon.gov. (The chat function is not available when calling by phone into Zoom.) 

d Appear virtually via Zoom – send an email directly to the City Recorder, Rocio Vargas, prior to 
5:00pm to request to speak during public comment. The City Recorder will need your first and 
last name, address, and contact information (email, phone number), and topic name you will 
receive the Zoom Meeting link or information. When it is your turn, the Mayor will announce your 
name, and your microphone will be unmuted.   

 
 
 

 

mailto:rvargas@daytonoregon.gov
mailto:rvargas@daytonoregon.gov
mailto:rvargas@daytonoregon.gov


CITY OF DAYTON

COMBINED CASH INVESTMENT

NOVEMBER 30, 2025

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:49PM    PAGE: 1

COMBINED CASH ACCOUNTS

001.000.102.000 CASH IN US BANK 163,864.33

001.000.102.100 PETTY CASH 200.00

001.000.102.200 CASH DRAWER 150.00

001.000.103.000 CKG - SEWER IMPROVEMENT PROJEC 251.08

001.000.106.000 CASH LGIP INVESTMENTS 2,898,270.91

TOTAL COMBINED CASH 3,062,736.32

001.000.180.000 WRIGHT GRAPHIC POSTAGE DEPOSI 588.30

001.000.101.000 CASH ALLOCATED TO OTHER FUNDS (    3,063,324.62)

TOTAL UNALLOCATED CASH .00

CASH ALLOCATION RECONCILIATION

100 ALLOCATION TO GENERAL FUND 240,565.62

101 ALLOCATION TO LOCAL OPTION LEVY FUND 215,467.69

105 ALLOCATION TO TRANSIENT LODGING TAX FUND 192,329.52

106 ALLOCATION TO ARPA FUND (    42.03)

107 ALLOCATION TO DAYTON URA FUND 12,735.59

200 ALLOCATION TO STREET FUND 212,920.46

300 ALLOCATION TO WATER FUND 511,114.21

400 ALLOCATION TO SEWER FUND 156,897.41

450 ALLOCATION TO STORMWATER FUND 71,437.16

500 ALLOCATION TO STATE REVENUE SHARING FUND 29,301.91

600 ALLOCATION TO WATER SYS CAPITAL PROJ FUND 138,378.62

700 ALLOCATION TO SEWER RESERVE FUND 411,301.52

750 ALLOCATION TO EQUIP REPLACEMENT RESERVE FUND 4,038.21

760 ALLOCATION TO BUILDING RESERVE FUND 360,256.40

770 ALLOCATION TO STREET RESERVE FUND 184,628.14

780 ALLOCATION TO PARKS RESERVE FUND 31,750.02

850 ALLOCATION TO DEBT SERVICE FUND 290,244.17

TOTAL ALLOCATIONS TO OTHER FUNDS 3,063,324.62

ALLOCATION FROM COMBINED CASH FUND - 001-000-101-000 (    3,063,324.62)

ZERO PROOF IF ALLOCATIONS BALANCE .00

1



CITY OF DAYTON

BALANCE SHEET

NOVEMBER 30, 2025

GENERAL FUND

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:49PM       PAGE: 2

ASSETS

100.000.101.000 CASH ALLOCATED TO GENERAL FUND 240,565.62

TOTAL ASSETS 240,565.62

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

LIABILITIES

100.000.200.000 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 140.00

100.000.212.000 STATE W/H TAXES PAYABLE 5,082.91

100.000.214.000 WORKERS COMP PAYABLE 72.98

100.000.215.000 STATE SST W/H TAX PAYABLE 139.00

100.000.218.000 UNEMPLOYMENT INS. PAYABLE (                   499.06)

100.000.219.000 PFML PAYABLE 835.10

100.000.220.000 MED/DENTAL & LIFE INS 3,183.88

100.000.225.000 STATE UNCLAIMED PROPERTY PAY (                   587.21)

100.000.270.000 COMMUNITY CENTER DEPOSITS 650.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES 9,017.60

FUND EQUITY

100.000.288.000 FUND EQUITY 130,006.12

REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES - YTD 101,541.90

BALANCE - CURRENT DATE 101,541.90

TOTAL FUND EQUITY 231,548.02

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 240,565.62

2



CITY OF DAYTON

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

GENERAL FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEARNED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:49PM       PAGE: 3

REVENUE

WORKING CAPITAL

100.000.400.000 WORKING CAPITAL .00 .00 15,932.00 15,932.00 .0

TOTAL WORKING CAPITAL .00 .00 15,932.00 15,932.00 .0

LEVIED TAXES (PRIOR YEARS)

100.000.402.000 LEVIED TAXES (PRIOR YEARS) 1,288.56 5,158.69 4,000.00 (                1,158.69) 129.0

TOTAL LEVIED TAXES (PRIOR YEARS) 1,288.56 5,158.69 4,000.00 (                1,158.69) 129.0

INTEREST

100.000.404.000 INTEREST 782.69 1,148.19 3,300.00 2,151.81 34.8

TOTAL INTEREST 782.69 1,148.19 3,300.00 2,151.81 34.8

BUSINESS/AMUSEMENT LICENSE

100.000.410.000 BUS/AMUSEMENT LICENSE 100.00 445.00 2,500.00 2,055.00 17.8

TOTAL BUSINESS/AMUSEMENT LICENSE 100.00 445.00 2,500.00 2,055.00 17.8

FRANCHISE

100.000.412.000 FRANCHISE-CABLE TV 2,926.21 7,896.48 15,000.00 7,103.52 52.6

100.000.412.100 FRANCHISE-SOLID WASTE 631.04 2,189.36 12,000.00 9,810.64 18.2

100.000.412.200 FRANCHISE-ELECTRIC SERVICE .00 .00 99,000.00 99,000.00 .0

100.000.412.300 FRANCHISE-TELECOMMUNICATIONS 222.57 843.83 2,900.00 2,056.17 29.1

TOTAL FRANCHISE 3,779.82 10,929.67 128,900.00 117,970.33 8.5

PERMIT & CONSTRUCTION FEES

100.000.416.000 BUILDING PERMITS 177.52 5,471.22 14,000.00 8,528.78 39.1

100.000.416.010 PLAN CHECK FEES .00 113.10 6,000.00 5,886.90 1.9

100.000.416.020 TYPE A PERMIT FEES 250.00 250.00 2,500.00 2,250.00 10.0

100.000.416.030 TYPE B PERMIT FEES .00 9,215.00 50,000.00 40,785.00 18.4

100.000.416.100 PLANNING FEES 250.00 20,046.25 107,379.00 87,332.75 18.7

100.000.416.200 CONSTRUCTION EXCISE TAX .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

TOTAL PERMIT & CONSTRUCTION FEES 677.52 35,095.57 180,379.00 145,283.43 19.5

3



CITY OF DAYTON

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

GENERAL FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEARNED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:49PM       PAGE: 4

COURT

100.000.418.000 CITATIONS & BAIL .00 50.00 .00 (                     50.00) .0

TOTAL COURT .00 50.00 .00 (                     50.00) .0

STATE ALCOHOL TAXES

100.000.426.000 STATE ALCOHOL TAXES 1,975.52 16,974.46 50,000.00 33,025.54 34.0

TOTAL STATE ALCOHOL TAXES 1,975.52 16,974.46 50,000.00 33,025.54 34.0

STATE SMOKING TAXES

100.000.428.000 STATE CIGARETTE TAXES 122.10 512.40 1,700.00 1,187.60 30.1

100.000.428.100 STATE MARIJUANA TAX .00 1,034.44 5,000.00 3,965.56 20.7

TOTAL STATE SMOKING TAXES 122.10 1,546.84 6,700.00 5,153.16 23.1

LIBRARY

100.000.430.000 CCRLS USE BASED REIMBURSEMENT .00 3,734.87 12,000.00 8,265.13 31.1

TOTAL LIBRARY .00 3,734.87 12,000.00 8,265.13 31.1

FIRE DEPARTMENT

100.000.432.000 DAYTON RURAL FD SHARED COSTS .00 6,984.09 9,000.00 2,015.91 77.6

TOTAL FIRE DEPARTMENT .00 6,984.09 9,000.00 2,015.91 77.6

GRANTS

100.000.436.000 READY TO READ GRANT .00 .00 1,000.00 1,000.00 .0

TOTAL GRANTS .00 .00 1,000.00 1,000.00 .0

CLG GRANT

100.000.444.000 CLG GRANT .00 5,915.00 10,000.00 4,085.00 59.2

TOTAL CLG GRANT .00 5,915.00 10,000.00 4,085.00 59.2

4



CITY OF DAYTON

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

GENERAL FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEARNED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:50PM       PAGE: 5

REVENUE 459

100.000.459.300 TRANSFER FROM WATER FUND 50,000.00 50,000.00 .00 (              50,000.00) .0

TOTAL REVENUE 459 50,000.00 50,000.00 .00 (              50,000.00) .0

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE

100.000.480.000 MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE 180.43 820.01 15,000.00 14,179.99 5.5

100.000.480.300 COMMUNITY CENTER RENTAL FEES 450.00 450.00 3,700.00 3,250.00 12.2

TOTAL MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE 630.43 1,270.01 18,700.00 17,429.99 6.8

FIREWORKS DONATION REVENUE

100.000.495.000 FIREWORKS DONATIONS REVENUE .00 834.00 .00 (                   834.00) .0

TOTAL FIREWORKS DONATION REVENUE .00 834.00 .00 (                   834.00) .0

MISC FEES & TRANSFERS IN

100.000.499.300 TAXES COLLECTED 261,073.75 263,920.57 264,882.00 961.43 99.6

100.000.499.500 NEWSLETTER ADVERTISING SALES .00 .00 150.00 150.00 .0

100.000.499.510 PARK RESERVATION FEES .00 50.00 100.00 50.00 50.0

100.000.499.700 TRANSFER FROM TLT FUND .00 .00 56,744.00 56,744.00 .0

TOTAL MISC FEES & TRANSFERS IN 261,073.75 263,970.57 321,876.00 57,905.43 82.0

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 320,430.39 404,056.96 764,287.00 360,230.04 52.9

5



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

GENERAL FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:50PM       PAGE: 6

ADMINISTRATION

PERSONNEL

100.100.526.000 CITY MANAGER 1,351.25 6,756.25 16,216.00 9,459.75 41.7

100.100.526.100 CITY RECORDER 1,404.58 7,022.92 16,856.00 9,833.08 41.7

100.100.526.200 ACCOUNTANT 1,345.83 4,192.78 13,301.00 9,108.22 31.5

100.100.526.300 TOURISM/ECON DEVEL DIRECTOR 1,244.62 6,223.10 10,787.00 4,563.90 57.7

100.100.528.100 PUBLIC WORKS SUPERVISOR 276.37 1,386.18 3,317.00 1,930.82 41.8

100.100.536.000 LIBRARY DIRECTOR 1,404.44 7,022.18 13,485.00 6,462.82 52.1

100.100.537.000 OFFICE SPECIALIST II 364.64 1,985.79 4,871.00 2,885.21 40.8

100.100.590.000 SOCIAL SECURITY 532.83 2,658.80 6,034.00 3,375.20 44.1

100.100.592.000 WORKERS COMPENSATION 1.53 1,008.41 1,538.00 529.59 65.6

100.100.594.000 HEALTH INSURANCE 1,607.12 7,062.99 18,412.00 11,349.01 38.4

100.100.596.000 PERS RETIREMENT 1,663.37 6,681.90 23,187.00 16,505.10 28.8

100.100.598.000 DISABILITY INSURANCE 12.12 55.77 129.00 73.23 43.2

100.100.599.000 UNEMPLOYMENT 2.52 23.72 712.00 688.28 3.3

TOTAL PERSONNEL 11,211.22 52,080.79 128,845.00 76,764.21 40.4

MATERIALS & SERVICES

100.100.600.000 ELECTRICITY 452.95 1,510.50 2,848.00 1,337.50 53.0

100.100.600.001 ELECTRICITY - COMMUNITY CENTER .00 1,047.16 6,600.00 5,552.84 15.9

100.100.600.100 PROPANE 204.79 320.82 1,619.00 1,298.18 19.8

100.100.601.000 OFFICE EXPENSE 283.04 1,681.62 3,920.00 2,238.38 42.9

100.100.601.100 POSTAGE .00 73.65 512.00 438.35 14.4

100.100.602.000 TELEPHONE & RELATED .00 220.97 958.00 737.03 23.1

100.100.604.000 INSURANCE .00 2,420.86 1,990.00 (                   430.86) 121.7

100.100.608.000 AUDIT .00 423.00 3,384.00 2,961.00 12.5

100.100.611.000 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 130.42 145.33 1,207.00 1,061.67 12.0

100.100.612.000 TRAINING 170.00 170.00 .00 (                   170.00) .0

100.100.614.000 EQUIPMENT REPAIR & MAINTENANCE .00 63.90 500.00 436.10 12.8

100.100.614.100 FUEL (                     18.33) 315.22 1,000.00 684.78 31.5

100.100.616.100 SAFETY/UNIFORMS 4.90 33.44 500.00 466.56 6.7

100.100.617.000 SMALL TOOLS/SHOP SUPPLIES .00 9.52 125.00 115.48 7.6

100.100.700.000 LEGAL SERVICES 198.75 1,863.42 2,561.00 697.58 72.8

100.100.700.100 MISC LEGAL (NON ATTORNEY) .00 102.23 500.00 397.77 20.5

100.100.705.000 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 16.45 1,903.83 3,318.00 1,414.17 57.4

100.100.705.300 DATA PROCESSING 158.65 3,391.50 5,112.00 1,720.50 66.3

100.100.706.000 DUES & CERTIFICATIONS .00 623.59 812.00 188.41 76.8

100.100.707.000 CITY HALL MAINTENANCE 414.14 2,243.61 5,000.00 2,756.39 44.9

100.100.707.200 CITY HALL ANNEX MAINTENANCE .00 .00 300.00 300.00 .0

100.100.707.300 COMMUNITY CENTER MAINTENANCE 4,637.63 13,831.14 8,000.00 (                5,831.14) 172.9

100.100.708.100 TOOL & EQUIPMENT RENTAL .00 195.11 100.00 (                     95.11) 195.1

TOTAL MATERIALS & SERVICES 6,653.39 32,590.42 50,866.00 18,275.58 64.1

6



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

GENERAL FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:50PM       PAGE: 7

CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS

100.100.750.200 COMMUNITY CENTER RENTAL REFUND 100.00 750.00 .00 (                   750.00) .0

100.100.752.000 DAYTON HARVEST FESTIVAL .00 .00 15,000.00 15,000.00 .0

100.100.830.300 TRANSFER TO SEWER UTILITY FUND .00 .00 15,000.00 15,000.00 .0

100.100.903.000 EQUIPMENT .00 1,397.04 434.00 (                   963.04) 321.9

100.100.904.000 CITY HALL IMPROVEMENTS .00 500.00 500.00 .00 100.0

100.100.904.400 CH ANNEX/COMM CENTER IMPROVE .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS 100.00 2,647.04 31,434.00 28,786.96 8.4

TOTAL ADMINISTRATION 17,964.61 87,318.25 211,145.00 123,826.75 41.4

PUBLIC SAFETY

MATERIALS & SERVICES

100.101.700.500 CODE ENFORCEMENT/ABATEMENT .00 2.80 .00 (                       2.80) .0

TOTAL MATERIALS & SERVICES .00 2.80 .00 (                       2.80) .0

TOTAL PUBLIC SAFETY .00 2.80 .00 (                       2.80) .0

PARKS

PERSONNEL

100.103.526.000 CITY MANAGER 180.17 900.85 2,163.00 1,262.15 41.7

100.103.526.300 TOURISM/ECON DEVEL DIRECTOR 138.29 691.45 1,660.00 968.55 41.7

100.103.528.100 PUBLIC WORKS SUPERVISOR 276.37 1,386.18 3,317.00 1,930.82 41.8

100.103.530.000 MAINTENANCE OPERATOR 2 581.95 3,110.18 7,378.00 4,267.82 42.2

100.103.530.100 MAINTENANCE OPERATOR 1 235.59 1,214.37 22,041.00 20,826.63 5.5

100.103.534.000 PWKS LABORER/JANITOR 2,532.14 14,696.97 2,338.00 (              12,358.97) 628.6

100.103.590.000 SOCIAL SECURITY 300.47 1,499.31 2,979.00 1,479.69 50.3

100.103.592.000 WORKERS COMPENSATION .86 568.65 867.00 298.35 65.6

100.103.594.000 HEALTH INSURANCE 906.26 3,905.66 13,823.00 9,917.34 28.3

100.103.596.000 PERS RETIREMENT 2,164.31 8,694.27 11,442.00 2,747.73 76.0

100.103.598.000 DISABILITY INSURANCE 6.84 31.47 61.00 29.53 51.6

100.103.599.000 UNEMPLOYMENT 1.42 13.38 405.00 391.62 3.3

TOTAL PERSONNEL 7,324.67 36,712.74 68,474.00 31,761.26 53.6

7



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

GENERAL FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:50PM       PAGE: 8

MATERIALS & SERVICES

100.103.600.000 ELECTRICITY 391.24 1,957.84 4,740.00 2,782.16 41.3

100.103.600.100 PROPANE 61.37 96.14 500.00 403.86 19.2

100.103.601.000 OFFICE EXPENSE 47.04 354.75 1,080.00 725.25 32.9

100.103.601.100 POSTAGE .00 23.05 159.00 135.95 14.5

100.103.602.000 TELEPHONE & RELATED .00 102.34 538.00 435.66 19.0

100.103.603.000 GARBAGE/SANITATION 223.30 1,107.30 2,978.00 1,870.70 37.2

100.103.604.000 INSURANCE .00 8,091.53 6,650.00 (                1,441.53) 121.7

100.103.608.000 AUDIT .00 157.50 1,260.00 1,102.50 12.5

100.103.611.000 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 10.65 16.07 135.00 118.93 11.9

100.103.614.000 EQUIPMENT REPAIR & MAINTENANCE .00 641.47 2,500.00 1,858.53 25.7

100.103.614.100 FUEL (                     66.04) 1,135.74 3,500.00 2,364.26 32.5

100.103.616.100 SAFETY/UNIFORMS 98.00 832.61 2,000.00 1,167.39 41.6

100.103.617.000 SMALL TOOLS/SHOP SUPPLIES .00 252.70 1,000.00 747.30 25.3

100.103.619.000 PARK MAINTENANCE 575.26 7,498.90 15,000.00 7,501.10 50.0

100.103.700.000 LEGAL SERVICES 22.52 250.56 618.00 367.44 40.5

100.103.700.100 MISC LEGAL (NON ATTORNEY) .00 44.70 200.00 155.30 22.4

100.103.705.000 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 11.12 5,580.01 8,054.00 2,473.99 69.3

100.103.705.300 DATA PROCESSING 105.25 908.54 2,018.00 1,109.46 45.0

100.103.706.000 DUES & CERTIFICATIONS .00 70.93 116.00 45.07 61.2

100.103.707.000 CITY HALL MAINTENANCE 124.11 522.84 500.00 (                     22.84) 104.6

100.103.707.200 CITY HALL ANNEX MAINTENANCE .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

100.103.708.100 TOOL & EQUIPMENT RENTAL .00 .00 200.00 200.00 .0

TOTAL MATERIALS & SERVICES 1,603.82 29,645.52 54,246.00 24,600.48 54.7

CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS

100.103.715.000 FIREWORKS CELEBRATION SHOW .00 7,500.00 .00 (                7,500.00) .0

100.103.799.000 MISCELLANEOUS EXPENSE .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

100.103.903.000 EQUIPMENT .00 303.14 .00 (                   303.14) .0

100.103.904.000 CITY HALL IMPROVEMENTS .00 500.00 500.00 .00 100.0

100.103.904.200 CITY YARDS/ SHOP IMPROVEMENTS .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

100.103.910.100 ALDERMAN PARK IMPROVEMENTS .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

100.103.913.000 SIGNS .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

100.103.915.000 CHRISTMAS TREE & BANDSTAND LTG .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS .00 8,303.14 3,000.00 (                5,303.14) 276.8

TOTAL PARKS 8,928.49 74,661.40 125,720.00 51,058.60 59.4

LIBRARY

8



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

GENERAL FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:50PM       PAGE: 9

PERSONNEL

100.104.526.000 CITY MANAGER 180.17 900.85 2,163.00 1,262.15 41.7

100.104.536.000 LIBRARY DIRECTOR 1,404.43 7,022.12 13,485.00 6,462.88 52.1

100.104.536.100 LIBRARY ASSISTANT 1,165.20 6,631.93 15,153.00 8,521.07 43.8

100.104.590.000 SOCIAL SECURITY 212.09 1,058.33 2,358.00 1,299.67 44.9

100.104.592.000 WORKERS COMPENSATION .61 401.40 612.00 210.60 65.6

100.104.594.000 HEALTH INSURANCE 639.71 2,756.95 2,550.00 (                   206.95) 108.1

100.104.596.000 PERS RETIREMENT 1,272.67 5,112.45 9,059.00 3,946.55 56.4

100.104.598.000 LIFE/DISABILITY INSURANCE 4.83 22.20 45.00 22.80 49.3

100.104.599.000 UNEMPLOYMENT 1.00 9.45 286.00 276.55 3.3

TOTAL PERSONNEL 4,880.71 23,915.68 45,711.00 21,795.32 52.3

MATERIALS & SERVICES

100.104.600.000 UTILITIES - ELECTRICITY 53.60 376.45 853.00 476.55 44.1

100.104.600.100 UTILITIES - PROPANE 81.92 128.33 1,141.00 1,012.67 11.3

100.104.601.000 LIBRARY & OFFICE EXPENSE 146.71 1,134.65 4,000.00 2,865.35 28.4

100.104.601.100 POSTAGE .00 64.28 442.00 377.72 14.5

100.104.602.000 TELEPHONE & RELATED .00 102.34 445.00 342.66 23.0

100.104.604.000 INSURANCE .00 2,128.85 1,750.00 (                   378.85) 121.7

100.104.608.000 AUDIT .00 236.00 1,888.00 1,652.00 12.5

100.104.611.000 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 6.66 10.05 135.00 124.95 7.4

100.104.616.100 SAFETY/UNIFORMS .00 .00 100.00 100.00 .0

100.104.700.000 LEGAL SERVICES 9.05 83.57 252.00 168.43 33.2

100.104.700.100 MISC LEGAL (NON ATTORNEY) .00 33.49 150.00 116.51 22.3

100.104.705.000 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 16.06 655.80 995.00 339.20 65.9

100.104.705.300 DATA PROCESSING 105.25 908.54 2,020.00 1,111.46 45.0

100.104.706.000 DUES & CERTIFICATIONS .00 551.93 575.00 23.07 96.0

100.104.706.100 SUBSCRIPTIONS .00 88.96 575.00 486.04 15.5

100.104.707.000 LIBRARY MAINTENANCE 165.66 697.43 500.00 (                   197.43) 139.5

TOTAL MATERIALS & SERVICES 584.91 7,200.67 15,821.00 8,620.33 45.5

CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS

100.104.710.000 CCRLS EXPENSE .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

100.104.715.000 BOOKS/AUDIO VISUAL .00 626.96 4,000.00 3,373.04 15.7

100.104.730.000 SUMMER READING PROGRAM .00 .00 2,000.00 2,000.00 .0

100.104.730.100 READY TO READ PROGRAM .00 .00 2,500.00 2,500.00 .0

100.104.730.200 LIBRARY PROGRAMMING .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

100.104.799.000 MISCELLANEOUS EXPENSE .00 .00 1,000.00 1,000.00 .0

100.104.903.000 EQUIPMENT .00 944.68 .00 (                   944.68) .0

100.104.906.000 LIBRARY IMPROVEMENTS .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS .00 1,571.64 11,000.00 9,428.36 14.3

TOTAL LIBRARY 5,465.62 32,687.99 72,532.00 39,844.01 45.1

9



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

GENERAL FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:50PM       PAGE: 10

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT

PERSONNEL

100.105.526.000 CITY MANAGER 360.33 1,801.65 4,325.00 2,523.35 41.7

100.105.526.100 CITY RECORDER 561.83 2,809.15 10,114.00 7,304.85 27.8

100.105.528.100 PUBLIC WORKS SUPERVISOR 138.19 693.11 1,659.00 965.89 41.8

100.105.536.000 LIBRARY DIRECTOR 280.89 1,404.45 6,743.00 5,338.55 20.8

100.105.537.000 OFFICE SPECIALIST II 109.28 595.58 1,421.00 825.42 41.9

100.105.590.000 SOCIAL SECURITY 105.01 523.99 1,857.00 1,333.01 28.2

100.105.592.000 WORKERS COMPENSATION .30 198.73 303.00 104.27 65.6

100.105.594.000 HEALTH INSURANCE 316.72 1,364.96 5,725.00 4,360.04 23.8

100.105.596.000 PERS RETIREMENT 715.63 2,874.78 7,136.00 4,261.22 40.3

100.105.598.000 DISABILITY INSURANCE 2.39 10.99 28.00 17.01 39.3

100.105.599.000 UNEMPLOYMENT .50 4.68 142.00 137.32 3.3

TOTAL PERSONNEL 2,591.07 12,282.07 39,453.00 27,170.93 31.1

MATERIALS & SERVICES

100.105.600.000 UTILITIES - ELECTRICITY 33.65 255.65 533.00 277.35 48.0

100.105.600.100 UTILITIES - PROPANE 28.65 44.88 188.00 143.12 23.9

100.105.601.000 OFFICE EXPENSE 87.98 517.10 1,960.00 1,442.90 26.4

100.105.601.100 POSTAGE .00 77.54 147.00 69.46 52.8

100.105.602.000 TELEPHONE & RELATED .00 119.54 550.00 430.46 21.7

100.105.604.000 INSURANCE .00 2,128.85 1,750.00 (                   378.85) 121.7

100.105.608.000 AUDIT .00 403.00 3,224.00 2,821.00 12.5

100.105.611.000 TRAVELS & MEETING 10.65 16.07 135.00 118.93 11.9

100.105.612.000 TRAINING .00 .00 275.00 275.00 .0

100.105.700.000 LEGAL SERVICES 778.14 1,890.16 1,709.00 (                   181.16) 110.6

100.105.700.100 MISC LEGAL (NON- ATTORNEY) 263.97 375.94 200.00 (                   175.94) 188.0

100.105.705.000 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 5.88 888.15 785.00 (                   103.15) 113.1

100.105.705.100 ENGINEERING SERVICES 3,705.19 11,496.71 19,035.00 7,538.29 60.4

100.105.705.200 PLANNING SERVICES 5,706.70 31,610.58 45,000.00 13,389.42 70.3

100.105.705.300 DATA PROCESSING 144.72 2,197.25 3,724.00 1,526.75 59.0

100.105.706.000 DUES & CERTIFICATIONS .00 101.24 166.00 64.76 61.0

100.105.707.000 CITY HALL MAINTENANCE 57.93 243.86 500.00 256.14 48.8

100.105.707.200 CITY HALL ANNEX MAINTENANCE .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

TOTAL MATERIALS & SERVICES 10,823.46 52,366.52 80,381.00 28,014.48 65.2

CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS

100.105.752.000 PLANNING COMMISSION EXPENSE .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

100.105.799.000 MISCELLANEOUS EXPENSE .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

100.105.903.000 EQUIPMENT .00 566.34 176.00 (                   390.34) 321.8

100.105.904.000 CITY HALL IMPROVEMENTS .00 500.00 500.00 .00 100.0

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS .00 1,066.34 1,676.00 609.66 63.6

10



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

GENERAL FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:50PM       PAGE: 11

TOTAL PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 13,414.53 65,714.93 121,510.00 55,795.07 54.1

BUILDING PROGRAM

PERSONNEL

100.106.526.000 CITY MANAGER 360.33 1,801.65 4,325.00 2,523.35 41.7

100.106.528.100 PUBLIC WORKS SUPERVISOR 414.56 2,079.30 4,975.00 2,895.70 41.8

100.106.530.000 MAINTENANCE OPERATOR 2 290.97 1,555.09 3,689.00 2,133.91 42.2

100.106.536.000 LIBRARIAN 280.89 1,404.45 6,743.00 5,338.55 20.8

100.106.537.000 OFFICE SPECIALIST II 1,529.92 8,338.06 19,886.00 11,547.94 41.9

100.106.590.000 SOCIAL SECURITY 209.49 1,045.37 3,033.00 1,987.63 34.5

100.106.592.000 WORKERS COMPENSATION .60 396.47 605.00 208.53 65.5

100.106.594.000 HEALTH INSURANCE 631.87 2,723.15 11,114.00 8,390.85 24.5

100.106.596.000 PERS RETIREMENT 611.19 2,455.21 11,653.00 9,197.79 21.1

100.106.598.000 LIFE/DISABILITY INSURANCE 4.77 21.93 60.00 38.07 36.6

100.106.599.000 UNEMPLOYMENT .99 9.33 283.00 273.67 3.3

TOTAL PERSONNEL 4,335.58 21,830.01 66,366.00 44,535.99 32.9

MATERIALS & SERVICES

100.106.600.000 UTILITIES - ELECTRICITY 13.36 93.80 213.00 119.20 44.0

100.106.600.100 UTILITIES - PROPANE 20.41 31.97 135.00 103.03 23.7

100.106.601.000 OFFICE EXPENSE 87.98 514.32 1,508.00 993.68 34.1

100.106.601.100 POSTAGE .00 45.91 316.00 270.09 14.5

100.106.602.000 TELEPHONE & RELATED .00 102.34 359.00 256.66 28.5

100.106.604.000 INSURANCE .00 2,797.65 2,299.00 (                   498.65) 121.7

100.106.608.000 AUDIT .00 297.50 2,380.00 2,082.50 12.5

100.106.611.000 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 6.66 10.05 336.00 325.95 3.0

100.106.700.000 LEGAL SERVICES 22.52 207.86 527.00 319.14 39.4

100.106.700.100 MISC LEGAL (NON-ATTORNEY) .00 33.49 200.00 166.51 16.8

100.106.700.350 LOCAL GOVERNMENT SURCHARGE FEE .00 .00 1,700.00 1,700.00 .0

100.106.705.000 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 5.41 585.27 1,208.00 622.73 48.5

100.106.705.100 ENGINEERING SERVICES 41.07 297.68 2,991.00 2,693.32 10.0

100.106.705.300 DATA PROCESSING 105.25 10,388.54 11,508.00 1,119.46 90.3

100.106.706.000 DUES & CERTIFICATIONS .00 237.44 265.00 27.56 89.6

100.106.707.000 CITY HALL MAINTENANCE 41.28 173.77 500.00 326.23 34.8

TOTAL MATERIALS & SERVICES 343.94 15,817.59 26,445.00 10,627.41 59.8

11



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

GENERAL FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:50PM       PAGE: 12

CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS

100.106.716.000 BUILDING INSPECTION SERVICES .00 .00 14,000.00 14,000.00 .0

100.106.716.100 PLAN CHECK SERVICES .00 .00 6,000.00 6,000.00 .0

100.106.716.300 TYPE B PERMIT INSPECTIONS 277.50 2,315.75 50,000.00 47,684.25 4.6

100.106.717.000 CLG FACADE IMPROVEMENTS .00 1,100.00 10,000.00 8,900.00 11.0

100.106.799.000 MISCELLANEOUS EXPENSE .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

100.106.903.000 EQUIPMENT .00 566.34 176.00 (                   390.34) 321.8

100.106.904.000 CITY HALL IMPROVEMENTS .00 500.00 500.00 .00 100.0

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS 277.50 4,482.09 81,176.00 76,693.91 5.5

TOTAL BUILDING PROGRAM 4,957.02 42,129.69 173,987.00 131,857.31 24.2

GENERAL FUND CONTINGENCY

CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS

100.107.880.000 CONTINGENCY .00 .00 59,393.00 59,393.00 .0

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS .00 .00 59,393.00 59,393.00 .0

TOTAL GENERAL FUND CONTINGENCY .00 .00 59,393.00 59,393.00 .0

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES 50,730.27 302,515.06 764,287.00 461,771.94 39.6

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 269,700.12 101,541.90 .00 (            101,541.90) .0

12



CITY OF DAYTON

BALANCE SHEET

NOVEMBER 30, 2025

LOCAL OPTION LEVY FUND

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:50PM       PAGE: 13

ASSETS

101.000.101.000 CASH ALLOC TO LOCAL OPTION LVY 215,467.69

TOTAL ASSETS 215,467.69

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

FUND EQUITY

101.000.288.000 FUND EQUITY 4,296.95

REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES - YTD 211,170.74

BALANCE - CURRENT DATE 211,170.74

TOTAL FUND EQUITY 215,467.69

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 215,467.69

13



CITY OF DAYTON

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

LOCAL OPTION LEVY FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEARNED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:50PM       PAGE: 14

REVENUE

WORKING CAPITAL

101.000.400.000 WORKING CAPITAL .00 .00 575.00 575.00 .0

TOTAL WORKING CAPITAL .00 .00 575.00 575.00 .0

LEVIED TAXES (PRIOR YEARS)

101.000.402.000 LEVIED TAXES (PRIOR YEARS) 1,341.29 5,369.38 3,500.00 (                1,869.38) 153.4

TOTAL LEVIED TAXES (PRIOR YEARS) 1,341.29 5,369.38 3,500.00 (                1,869.38) 153.4

INTEREST

101.000.404.000 INTEREST 711.16 721.68 1,400.00 678.32 51.6

TOTAL INTEREST 711.16 721.68 1,400.00 678.32 51.6

COURT FEES

101.000.418.000 CITATIONS & BAIL 355.00 3,985.00 16,000.00 12,015.00 24.9

101.000.418.100 COURT REVENUE SHARING .00 .00 600.00 600.00 .0

101.000.418.110 FIX-IT-TICKET FEES 75.00 275.00 500.00 225.00 55.0

101.000.418.200 TRAFFIC SCHOOL FEES .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

101.000.418.400 PUBLIC SAFETY FEE .00 .00 67,641.00 67,641.00 .0

TOTAL COURT FEES 430.00 4,260.00 85,241.00 80,981.00 5.0

TRANSFERS IN

101.000.459.300 TRANSFER FROM WATER FUND 85,000.00 85,000.00 .00 (              85,000.00) .0

TOTAL TRANSFERS IN 85,000.00 85,000.00 .00 (              85,000.00) .0

TAXES COLLECTED

101.000.499.300 TAXES COLLECTED 271,729.82 274,643.37 287,290.00 12,646.63 95.6

TOTAL TAXES COLLECTED 271,729.82 274,643.37 287,290.00 12,646.63 95.6

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 359,212.27 369,994.43 378,006.00 8,011.57 97.9

14



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

LOCAL OPTION LEVY FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:50PM       PAGE: 15

EXPENDITURES

PERSONNEL

101.101.526.000 CITY MANAGER 270.25 1,351.25 3,244.00 1,892.75 41.7

101.101.526.100 CITY RECORDER 842.75 4,213.75 6,743.00 2,529.25 62.5

101.101.526.200 ACCOUNTANT 395.83 1,233.16 3,913.00 2,679.84 31.5

101.101.536.000 LIBRARIAN .00 .00 6,743.00 6,743.00 .0

101.101.537.000 OFFICE SPECIALIST II 2,440.96 13,301.73 31,859.00 18,557.27 41.8

101.101.590.000 SOCIAL SECURITY 290.59 1,450.03 4,019.00 2,568.97 36.1

101.101.592.000 WORKERS COMPENSATION .67 440.75 839.00 398.25 52.5

101.101.594.000 HEALTH INSURANCE 876.47 3,817.65 16,572.00 12,754.35 23.0

101.101.596.000 PERS RETIREMENT 1,154.68 4,638.52 15,441.00 10,802.48 30.0

101.101.598.000 DISABILITY INSURANCE 6.61 30.41 73.00 42.59 41.7

101.101.599.000 UNEMPLOYMENT 1.38 12.95 391.00 378.05 3.3

TOTAL PERSONNEL 6,280.19 30,490.20 89,837.00 59,346.80 33.9

MATERIALS & SERVICES

101.101.600.000 ELECTRICITY 45.86 360.70 848.00 487.30 42.5

101.101.600.100 PROPANE 24.56 38.48 385.00 346.52 10.0

101.101.601.000 OFFICE EXPENSE 297.53 1,746.21 1,855.00 108.79 94.1

101.101.601.100 POSTAGE .00 55.09 387.00 331.91 14.2

101.101.602.000 TELEPHONE & RELATED .00 102.34 723.00 620.66 14.2

101.101.604.000 INSURANCE .00 3,362.83 2,763.00 (                   599.83) 121.7

101.101.608.000 AUDIT .00 262.50 2,100.00 1,837.50 12.5

101.101.611.000 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 37.73 41.80 738.00 696.20 5.7

101.101.612.000 TRAINING 50.00 50.00 1,330.00 1,280.00 3.8

101.101.614.100 FUEL (                     31.77) 546.51 1,600.00 1,053.49 34.2

101.101.616.100 SAFETY/UNIFORMS .00 .00 300.00 300.00 .0

101.101.700.000 LEGAL SERVICES 1,204.05 2,854.57 1,000.00 (                1,854.57) 285.5

101.101.700.100 MISC (LEGAL) NON-ATTY .00 55.99 250.00 194.01 22.4

101.101.700.350 COURT ASSESSMENTS 283.00 593.00 1,400.00 807.00 42.4

101.101.700.500 CODE ENFORCEMENT & ABATEMENT .00 421.31 .00 (                   421.31) .0

101.101.705.000 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 11.75 1,422.28 1,335.00 (                     87.28) 106.5

101.101.705.100 SHERIFF'S CONTRACT 17,834.17 89,170.85 214,011.00 124,840.15 41.7

101.101.705.300 DATA PROCESSING 460.46 8,714.87 13,571.00 4,856.13 64.2

101.101.705.400 MUNICIPAL JUDGE SERVICES .00 2,500.00 6,000.00 3,500.00 41.7

101.101.706.000 DUES & CERTIFICATIONS .00 91.86 398.00 306.14 23.1

101.101.707.000 CITY HALL MAINTENANCE 49.67 209.08 200.00 (                       9.08) 104.5

101.101.707.200 CITY HALL ANNEX MAINTENANCE .00 .00 200.00 200.00 .0

TOTAL MATERIALS & SERVICES 20,267.01 112,600.27 251,394.00 138,793.73 44.8

15



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

LOCAL OPTION LEVY FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:50PM       PAGE: 16

CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS

101.101.770.000 9-1-1 SERVICES 2,942.67 14,713.35 36,275.00 21,561.65 40.6

101.101.799.000 MISCELLANEOUS EXPENSE .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

101.101.903.000 EQUIPMENT .00 1,019.87 .00 (                1,019.87) .0

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS 2,942.67 15,733.22 36,775.00 21,041.78 42.8

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 29,489.87 158,823.69 378,006.00 219,182.31 42.0

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES 29,489.87 158,823.69 378,006.00 219,182.31 42.0

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 329,722.40 211,170.74 .00 (            211,170.74) .0

16



CITY OF DAYTON

BALANCE SHEET

NOVEMBER 30, 2025

TRANSIENT LODGING TAX FUND

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:50PM       PAGE: 17

ASSETS

105.000.101.000 CASH ALLOCATED TO TLT FUND 192,329.52

TOTAL ASSETS 192,329.52

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

FUND EQUITY

105.000.288.000 FUND EQUITY 182,699.53

REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES - YTD 9,629.99

BALANCE - CURRENT DATE 9,629.99

TOTAL FUND EQUITY 192,329.52

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 192,329.52

17



CITY OF DAYTON

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

TRANSIENT LODGING TAX FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEARNED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:50PM       PAGE: 18

REVENUE

WORKING CAPITAL

105.000.400.000 WORKING CAPITAL .00 .00 164,304.00 164,304.00 .0

TOTAL WORKING CAPITAL .00 .00 164,304.00 164,304.00 .0

INTEREST

105.000.404.000 INTEREST 634.80 3,521.77 200.00 (                3,321.77) 1760.9

TOTAL INTEREST 634.80 3,521.77 200.00 (                3,321.77) 1760.9

TRANSIENT LODGING TAX

105.000.429.000 TRANSIENT LODGING TAX 1,775.79 60,235.43 132,403.00 72,167.57 45.5

TOTAL TRANSIENT LODGING TAX 1,775.79 60,235.43 132,403.00 72,167.57 45.5

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 2,410.59 63,757.20 296,907.00 233,149.80 21.5

18



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

TRANSIENT LODGING TAX FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:51PM       PAGE: 19

EXPENDITURES

PERSONNEL

105.105.526.300 TOURISM/ECON DEVEL DIRECTOR 3,457.28 17,286.42 45,637.00 28,350.58 37.9

105.105.590.000 SOCIAL SECURITY 232.89 1,162.10 3,492.00 2,329.90 33.3

105.105.592.000 WORKERS COMPENSATION .83 549.95 672.00 122.05 81.8

105.105.594.000 HEALTH INSURANCE 702.43 3,027.23 11,834.00 8,806.77 25.6

105.105.596.000 PERS RETIREMENT 193.42 776.96 13,423.00 12,646.04 5.8

105.105.598.000 DISABILITY INSURANCE 5.30 24.37 61.00 36.63 40.0

105.105.599.000 UNEMPLOYMENT 1.10 10.38 314.00 303.62 3.3

TOTAL PERSONNEL 4,593.25 22,837.41 75,433.00 52,595.59 30.3

MATERIALS & SERVICES

105.105.601.000 OFFICE EXPENSE .00 .00 490.00 490.00 .0

105.105.602.000 TELEPHONE AND RELATED .00 18.35 564.00 545.65 3.3

105.105.604.000 INSURANCE .00 941.97 775.00 (                   166.97) 121.5

105.105.608.000 AUDIT .00 50.00 400.00 350.00 12.5

105.105.611.000 TRAVEL AND MEETINGS 198.10 336.10 2,500.00 2,163.90 13.4

105.105.700.000 LEGAL SERVICES 3.97 7.34 1,000.00 992.66 .7

105.105.700.100 MISC LEGAL (NON ATTY) .00 9.73 200.00 190.27 4.9

105.105.705.300 DATA PROCESSING 38.69 208.03 582.00 373.97 35.7

105.105.706.000 DUES & CERTIFICATIONS .00 28.58 879.00 850.42 3.3

TOTAL MATERIALS & SERVICES 240.76 1,600.10 7,390.00 5,789.90 21.7

CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS

105.105.710.000 TOURISM-PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 3,040.00 17,031.05 30,240.00 13,208.95 56.3

105.105.711.000 TOURISM - MARKETING CONTENT .00 2,530.44 25,000.00 22,469.56 10.1

105.105.712.000 TOURISM - PUBLIC RELATIONS .00 391.34 2,500.00 2,108.66 15.7

105.105.799.000 TOURISM-MISCELLANEOUS .00 .00 1,000.00 1,000.00 .0

105.105.800.000 TOURISM-PROMOTIONS .00 9,736.87 2,500.00 (                7,236.87) 389.5

105.105.840.100 TRANSFER TO GENERAL FUND .00 .00 56,744.00 56,744.00 .0

105.105.880.000 CONTINGENCY .00 .00 96,100.00 96,100.00 .0

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS 3,040.00 29,689.70 214,084.00 184,394.30 13.9

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 7,874.01 54,127.21 296,907.00 242,779.79 18.2

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES 7,874.01 54,127.21 296,907.00 242,779.79 18.2

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES (                5,463.42) 9,629.99 .00 (                9,629.99) .0

19



CITY OF DAYTON

BALANCE SHEET

NOVEMBER 30, 2025

ARPA FUND

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:51PM       PAGE: 20

ASSETS

106.000.101.000 CASH ALLOCATED TO ARPA FUND (                     42.03)

TOTAL ASSETS (                     42.03)

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

FUND EQUITY

106.000.288.000 FUND EQUITY (                     42.03)

TOTAL FUND EQUITY (                     42.03)

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY (                     42.03)

20



CITY OF DAYTON

BALANCE SHEET

NOVEMBER 30, 2025

DAYTON URA FUND

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:51PM       PAGE: 21

ASSETS

107.000.101.000 CASH ALLOCATED TO URA FUND 12,735.59

TOTAL ASSETS 12,735.59

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

FUND EQUITY

REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES - YTD 12,735.59

BALANCE - CURRENT DATE 12,735.59

TOTAL FUND EQUITY 12,735.59

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 12,735.59

21



CITY OF DAYTON

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

DAYTON URA FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEARNED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:51PM       PAGE: 22

REVENUE

107.000.404.000 INTEREST 42.03 42.03 .00 (                     42.03) .0

TOTAL REVENUE 404 42.03 42.03 .00 (                     42.03) .0

REVENUE 499

107.000.499.300 TAXES COLLECTED 12,693.56 12,693.56 7,769.00 (                4,924.56) 163.4

TOTAL REVENUE 499 12,693.56 12,693.56 7,769.00 (                4,924.56) 163.4

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 12,735.59 12,735.59 7,769.00 (                4,966.59) 163.9

22



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

DAYTON URA FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:51PM       PAGE: 23

MATERIALS & SERVICES

107.107.705.000 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES .00 .00 6,863.00 6,863.00 .0

TOTAL MATERIALS & SERVICES .00 .00 6,863.00 6,863.00 .0

CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS

107.107.910.100 RESERVE FOR DAYTON SD TIF .00 .00 215.00 215.00 .0

107.107.955.000 DAYTON FIRE DIST TIF SHARE .00 .00 691.00 691.00 .0

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS .00 .00 906.00 906.00 .0

TOTAL DEPARTMENT 107 .00 .00 7,769.00 7,769.00 .0

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES .00 .00 7,769.00 7,769.00 .0

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 12,735.59 12,735.59 .00 (              12,735.59) .0

23



CITY OF DAYTON

BALANCE SHEET

NOVEMBER 30, 2025

STREET FUND

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:51PM       PAGE: 24

ASSETS

200.000.101.000 CASH ALLOCATED TO STREET FUND 212,920.46

TOTAL ASSETS 212,920.46

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

FUND EQUITY

200.000.288.000 FUND EQUITY 217,585.64

REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES - YTD (                4,665.17)

BALANCE - CURRENT DATE (                4,665.17)

TOTAL FUND EQUITY 212,920.47

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 212,920.47

24



CITY OF DAYTON

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

STREET FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEARNED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:51PM       PAGE: 25

REVENUE

WORKING CAPITAL

200.000.400.000 WORKING CAPITAL .00 .00 162,096.00 162,096.00 .0

TOTAL WORKING CAPITAL .00 .00 162,096.00 162,096.00 .0

INTEREST

200.000.404.000 INTEREST 702.76 4,045.54 800.00 (                3,245.54) 505.7

TOTAL INTEREST 702.76 4,045.54 800.00 (                3,245.54) 505.7

STATE HIGHWAY REVENUE

200.000.438.000 STATE HIGHWAY REVENUE 18,577.59 71,207.93 216,531.00 145,323.07 32.9

TOTAL STATE HIGHWAY REVENUE 18,577.59 71,207.93 216,531.00 145,323.07 32.9

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE

200.000.480.000 MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE .00 .00 17,000.00 17,000.00 .0

TOTAL MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE .00 .00 17,000.00 17,000.00 .0

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 19,280.35 75,253.47 396,427.00 321,173.53 19.0

25



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

STREET FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:51PM       PAGE: 26

EXPENDITURES

PERSONNEL

200.200.526.000 CITY MANAGER 450.42 2,252.10 5,406.00 3,153.90 41.7

200.200.526.200 ACCOUNTANT 316.67 986.55 3,130.00 2,143.45 31.5

200.200.528.100 PUBLIC WORKS SUPERVISOR 829.11 4,158.55 9,950.00 5,791.45 41.8

200.200.530.000 MAINTENANCE OPERATOR 2 581.95 3,110.18 7,378.00 4,267.82 42.2

200.200.530.100 MAINTENANCE OPERATOR 1 471.18 2,428.76 11,878.00 9,449.24 20.5

200.200.534.000 PWKS LABORER/JANITOR 723.47 4,199.15 4,675.00 475.85 89.8

200.200.536.000 LIBRARIAN 561.77 2,808.85 6,743.00 3,934.15 41.7

200.200.590.000 SOCIAL SECURITY 288.51 1,439.64 3,765.00 2,325.36 38.2

200.200.592.000 WORKERS COMPENSATION .83 546.02 833.00 286.98 65.6

200.200.594.000 HEALTH INSURANCE 870.20 3,782.54 11,762.00 7,979.46 32.2

200.200.596.000 PERS RETIREMENT 1,056.05 4,242.24 14,460.00 10,217.76 29.3

200.200.598.000 LIFE/DISABILITY INSURANCE 6.57 30.21 74.00 43.79 40.8

200.200.599.000 UNEMPLOYMENT 1.37 12.86 389.00 376.14 3.3

TOTAL PERSONNEL 6,158.10 29,997.65 80,443.00 50,445.35 37.3

26



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

STREET FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:51PM       PAGE: 27

MATERIALS & SERVICES

200.200.600.000 UTILITIES - ELECTRICITY 2,032.53 11,068.97 25,881.00 14,812.03 42.8

200.200.600.100 UTILITIES - PROPANE 28.65 44.88 188.00 143.12 23.9

200.200.601.000 OFFICE EXPENSE 113.93 1,257.68 3,357.00 2,099.32 37.5

200.200.601.100 POSTAGE .00 64.28 442.00 377.72 14.5

200.200.602.000 TELEPHONE & RELATED .00 204.95 1,076.00 871.05 19.1

200.200.603.000 GARBAGE/SANITATION 146.03 724.15 1,947.00 1,222.85 37.2

200.200.604.000 INSURANCE .00 6,735.09 5,535.00 (                1,200.09) 121.7

200.200.608.000 AUDIT .00 560.50 4,484.00 3,923.50 12.5

200.200.611.000 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 29.12 31.83 269.00 237.17 11.8

200.200.612.000 TRAINING 40.00 461.20 .00 (                   461.20) .0

200.200.614.000 EQUIPMENT REPAIR & MAINTENANCE .00 4,335.76 5,000.00 664.24 86.7

200.200.614.100 FUEL (                     78.24) 1,345.65 3,500.00 2,154.35 38.5

200.200.614.400 STREET/ALLEY REPAIR & MAINT .00 2,647.00 20,000.00 17,353.00 13.2

200.200.614.410 GRAVEL 18.90 18.90 2,000.00 1,981.10 1.0

200.200.616.000 SUPPLIES 142.32 234.69 1,500.00 1,265.31 15.7

200.200.616.100 SAFETY/UNIFORMS 58.79 329.35 1,000.00 670.65 32.9

200.200.616.200 SIGNS & RELATED .00 .00 3,000.00 3,000.00 .0

200.200.617.000 SHOP SUPPLIES/SMALL TOOLS .00 115.09 1,500.00 1,384.91 7.7

200.200.700.000 LEGAL SERVICES 67.57 635.78 1,510.00 874.22 42.1

200.200.700.100 MISC LEGAL (NON-ATTORNEY) .00 78.39 200.00 121.61 39.2

200.200.700.200 TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM PLAN UPD .00 .00 25,000.00 25,000.00 .0

200.200.705.000 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 9.74 14,342.88 9,792.00 (                4,550.88) 146.5

200.200.705.100 ENGINEERING SERVICES 128.46 1,757.38 8,658.00 6,900.62 20.3

200.200.705.300 DATA PROCESSING 118.40 1,022.09 2,273.00 1,250.91 45.0

200.200.706.000 DUES & CERTIFICATIONS .00 70.93 116.00 45.07 61.2

200.200.707.000 CITY HALL MAINTENANCE 57.93 243.86 1,000.00 756.14 24.4

200.200.707.200 CITY HALL ANNEX MAINTENANCE .00 .00 100.00 100.00 .0

200.200.708.100 TOOL & EQUIPMENT RENTAL .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

TOTAL MATERIALS & SERVICES 2,914.13 48,331.28 129,828.00 81,496.72 37.2

CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS

200.200.799.000 MISC EXPENSE .00 .00 1,000.00 1,000.00 .0

200.200.870.000 TRANSFER TO BUILDING RESERVE .00 .00 10,000.00 10,000.00 .0

200.200.880.000 CONTINGENCY .00 .00 168,156.00 168,156.00 .0

200.200.903.000 EQUIPMENT .00 1,089.71 1,000.00 (                     89.71) 109.0

200.200.904.000 CITY HALL IMPROVEMENTS .00 500.00 500.00 .00 100.0

200.200.904.100 CITY HALL ANNEX IMPROVEMENTS .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

200.200.904.200 CIITY SHOPS/YARDS IMPROVEMENTS .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

200.200.904.300 STREET TREES .00 .00 2,500.00 2,500.00 .0

200.200.910.000 STREET IMPROVEMENTS .00 .00 2,000.00 2,000.00 .0

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS .00 1,589.71 186,156.00 184,566.29 .9

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 9,072.23 79,918.64 396,427.00 316,508.36 20.2

27



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

STREET FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:51PM       PAGE: 28

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES 9,072.23 79,918.64 396,427.00 316,508.36 20.2

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 10,208.12 (                4,665.17) .00 4,665.17 .0

28



CITY OF DAYTON

BALANCE SHEET

NOVEMBER 30, 2025

WATER FUND

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:51PM       PAGE: 29

ASSETS

300.000.101.000 CASH ALLOCATED TO WATER FUND 511,114.21

TOTAL ASSETS 511,114.21

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

LIABILITIES

300.000.200.000 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 173.88

300.000.222.000 MISCELLANEOUS DEDUCTIONS 150.00

300.000.270.000 WATER SERVICE DEPOSITS 102,093.05

TOTAL LIABILITIES 102,416.93

FUND EQUITY

300.000.288.000 FUND EQUITY 500,032.02

REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES - YTD (              91,334.74)

BALANCE - CURRENT DATE (              91,334.74)

TOTAL FUND EQUITY 408,697.28

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 511,114.21

29



CITY OF DAYTON

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

WATER FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEARNED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:51PM       PAGE: 30

REVENUE

WORKING CAPITAL

300.000.400.000 WORKING CAPITAL .00 .00 419,242.00 419,242.00 .0

TOTAL WORKING CAPITAL .00 .00 419,242.00 419,242.00 .0

INTEREST

300.000.404.000 INTEREST 1,348.94 9,010.01 3,700.00 (                5,310.01) 243.5

TOTAL INTEREST 1,348.94 9,010.01 3,700.00 (                5,310.01) 243.5

LATE FEES

300.000.421.300 LATE FEES 917.84 4,282.87 12,000.00 7,717.13 35.7

TOTAL LATE FEES 917.84 4,282.87 12,000.00 7,717.13 35.7

WATER SERVICE CHARGES

300.000.450.000 WATER SERVICE CHARGES 68,441.51 434,963.68 1,291,697.00 856,733.32 33.7

TOTAL WATER SERVICE CHARGES 68,441.51 434,963.68 1,291,697.00 856,733.32 33.7

OTHER WATER FEES

300.000.451.100 NSF FEES 20.10 274.99 700.00 425.01 39.3

300.000.451.200 WATER OFF/ON FEES 352.56 939.28 .00 (                   939.28) .0

300.000.451.300 BACKFLOW TESTING FEES 9.32 360.13 6,000.00 5,639.87 6.0

TOTAL OTHER WATER FEES 381.98 1,574.40 6,700.00 5,125.60 23.5

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE

300.000.480.000 MISC REVENUE .00 779.28 200.00 (                   579.28) 389.6

300.000.480.100 WATER METERS .00 4,543.00 500.00 (                4,043.00) 908.6

300.000.480.200 FISHER LAND RENT 9,550.00 11,200.00 15,600.00 4,400.00 71.8

TOTAL MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE 9,550.00 16,522.28 16,300.00 (                   222.28) 101.4

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 80,640.27 466,353.24 1,749,639.00 1,283,285.76 26.7

30



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

WATER FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:51PM       PAGE: 31

EXPENDITURES

PERSONNEL

300.300.526.000 CITY MANAGER 2,702.50 13,512.50 32,431.00 18,918.50 41.7

300.300.526.100 CITY RECORDER 1,404.59 7,022.95 16,856.00 9,833.05 41.7

300.300.526.200 ACCOUNTANT 2,850.01 8,878.88 28,167.00 19,288.12 31.5

300.300.526.300 TOURISM/ECON DEVEL DIRECTOR 1,037.19 5,185.95 12,447.00 7,261.05 41.7

300.300.528.100 PUBLIC WORKS SUPERVISOR 1,658.22 8,317.11 19,900.00 11,582.89 41.8

300.300.530.000 MAINTENANCE OPERATOR 2 1,454.86 7,775.44 18,443.00 10,667.56 42.2

300.300.530.100 MAINTENANCE OPERATOR 1 1,649.13 8,500.63 33,522.00 25,021.37 25.4

300.300.534.000 PWKS LABORER/JANITOR 1,446.93 8,398.27 16,360.00 7,961.73 51.3

300.300.536.000 LIBRARIAN 561.77 2,808.85 6,743.00 3,934.15 41.7

300.300.537.000 OFFICE SPECIALIST II 2,516.80 13,703.03 33,891.00 20,187.97 40.4

300.300.590.000 SOCIAL SECURITY 1,303.75 8,668.13 16,741.00 8,072.87 51.8

300.300.592.000 WORKERS COMPENSATION 3.73 304.90 3,764.00 3,459.10 8.1

300.300.594.000 HEALTH INSURANCE 3,932.33 17,239.38 56,523.00 39,283.62 30.5

300.300.596.000 PERS RETIREMENT 4,634.21 18,616.10 64,341.00 45,724.90 28.9

300.300.598.000 LIFE/DISABILITY INSURANCE 29.66 136.47 316.00 179.53 43.2

300.300.599.000 UNEMPLOYMENT 6.19 58.10 1,756.00 1,697.90 3.3

TOTAL PERSONNEL 27,191.87 129,126.69 362,201.00 233,074.31 35.7

31



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

WATER FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:51PM       PAGE: 32

MATERIALS & SERVICES

300.300.600.000 UTILITIES - ELECTRICITY 1,914.02 14,074.95 36,517.00 22,442.05 38.5

300.300.600.100 UTILITIES - PROPANE 36.80 57.65 1,059.00 1,001.35 5.4

300.300.601.000 OFFICE EXPENSE 793.31 6,263.51 15,680.00 9,416.49 40.0

300.300.601.100 POSTAGE 258.69 1,792.08 5,060.00 3,267.92 35.4

300.300.602.000 TELEPHONE & RELATED .00 1,744.38 6,006.00 4,261.62 29.0

300.300.604.000 INSURANCE .00 21,307.39 17,510.00 (                3,797.39) 121.7

300.300.608.000 AUDIT .00 1,471.50 11,772.00 10,300.50 12.5

300.300.611.000 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 238.11 250.31 7,777.00 7,526.69 3.2

300.300.612.000 TRAINING 360.00 1,893.60 2,366.00 472.40 80.0

300.300.614.000 EQUIPMENT REPAIR & MAINTENANCE .00 1,692.10 10,000.00 8,307.90 16.9

300.300.614.100 FUEL (                     85.57) 1,471.59 4,500.00 3,028.41 32.7

300.300.614.300 FOOTBRIDGE REPAIR & MAINTENANC .00 246.97 4,000.00 3,753.03 6.2

300.300.614.400 WELLS/SPRINGS MAINTENANCE .00 3,155.73 45,000.00 41,844.27 7.0

300.300.614.410 GRAVEL 18.90 18.90 2,500.00 2,481.10 .8

300.300.614.600 WATER LINE REPAIR & MAINTENANC .00 4,700.00 12,500.00 7,800.00 37.6

300.300.616.000 SUPPLIES 1,430.26 2,127.65 17,000.00 14,872.35 12.5

300.300.616.100 SAFETY/UNIFORMS 156.79 1,073.10 5,000.00 3,926.90 21.5

300.300.616.200 WATER METERS .00 (                   347.30) 10,000.00 10,347.30 (    3.5)

300.300.617.000 SHOP SUPPLIES/SMALL TOOLS .00 306.86 2,500.00 2,193.14 12.3

300.300.700.000 LEGAL SERVICES 4,233.43 20,880.59 7,672.00 (              13,208.59) 272.2

300.300.700.100 MISC LEGAL (NON-ATTY) .00 167.96 500.00 332.04 33.6

300.300.705.000 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 144.66 43,720.26 75,058.00 31,337.74 58.3

300.300.705.100 ENGINEERING SERVICES 1,963.07 7,035.48 26,118.00 19,082.52 26.9

300.300.705.300 DATA PROCESSING 4,374.70 16,875.86 32,813.00 15,937.14 51.4

300.300.706.000 DUES & CERTIFICATIONS 4,199.52 7,110.16 9,892.00 2,781.84 71.9

300.300.707.000 CITY HALL MAINTENANCE 74.43 313.36 1,000.00 686.64 31.3

300.300.707.001 MAINTENANCE/TREATMENT FACILITY .00 1,339.29 .00 (                1,339.29) .0

300.300.707.200 CITY HALL ANNEX MAINTENANCE .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

300.300.708.000 LAND RENTAL .00 .00 2,000.00 2,000.00 .0

300.300.708.100 TOOL & EQUIPMENT RENTAL .00 116.69 500.00 383.31 23.3

TOTAL MATERIALS & SERVICES 20,111.12 160,860.62 372,800.00 211,939.38 43.2

32



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

WATER FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:51PM       PAGE: 33

CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS

300.300.710.000 WATER CONSERVATION EDUCATION .00 .00 5,000.00 5,000.00 .0

300.300.720.000 LEAK DETECTION .00 7,400.00 10,000.00 2,600.00 74.0

300.300.751.000 WATER ANALYSIS 180.00 6,839.00 5,000.00 (                1,839.00) 136.8

300.300.799.000 MISC EXPENSE 821.18 854.97 67,000.00 66,145.03 1.3

300.300.840.000 TRANSFER TO EQUIPMENT REPLACEM .00 .00 19,850.00 19,850.00 .0

300.300.850.100 TRANSFER TO GENERAL FUND 50,000.00 50,000.00 .00 (              50,000.00) .0

300.300.850.101 TRANSFER TO LOCAL OPN LEV FUND 85,000.00 85,000.00 .00 (              85,000.00) .0

300.300.850.500 TRANSFER TO ST REV SHARIN FUND 5,000.00 5,000.00 .00 (                5,000.00) .0

300.300.860.000 TRANSFER TO WATER SYSTEM CAPIT .00 .00 165,383.00 165,383.00 .0

300.300.860.100 TRANSFER TO DEBT SERVICE FUND .00 .00 160,965.00 160,965.00 .0

300.300.880.000 CONTINGENCY .00 .00 278,792.00 278,792.00 .0

300.300.903.000 EQUIPMENT .00 3,592.24 15,000.00 11,407.76 24.0

300.300.904.000 CITY HALL IMPROVEMENTS .00 .00 1,000.00 1,000.00 .0

300.300.904.100 CITY HALL ANNEX IMPROVEMENTS .00 .00 1,500.00 1,500.00 .0

300.300.904.200 CITY SHOPS/YARDS IMPROVEMENTS .00 .00 1,500.00 1,500.00 .0

300.300.910.000 SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS .00 .00 2,000.00 2,000.00 .0

300.300.910.200 WELLHOUSE IMPROVEMENTS .00 .00 1,000.00 1,000.00 .0

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS 141,001.18 158,686.21 733,990.00 575,303.79 21.6

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 188,304.17 448,673.52 1,468,991.00 1,020,317.48 30.5

WATER TREATMENT FACILITY

PERSONNEL

300.301.526.000 CITY MANAGER 450.42 2,252.10 5,406.00 3,153.90 41.7

300.301.526.200 ACCOUNTANT 158.33 493.26 1,565.00 1,071.74 31.5

300.301.528.100 PUBLIC WORKS SUPERVISOR 1,658.22 8,317.11 19,900.00 11,582.89 41.8

300.301.530.000 MAINTENANCE OPERATOR 2 1,454.86 7,775.43 18,443.00 10,667.57 42.2

300.301.530.100 MAINTENANCE OPERATOR 1 848.12 4,371.74 19,771.00 15,399.26 22.1

300.301.534.000 PWKS LABORER/JANITOR 1,085.20 6,298.70 8,414.00 2,115.30 74.9

300.301.536.000 LIBRARIAN 561.77 2,808.85 .00 (                2,808.85) .0

300.301.590.000 SOCIAL SECURITY 450.18 2,246.37 5,625.00 3,378.63 39.9

300.301.592.000 WORKERS COMPENSATION 1.29 851.99 1,299.00 447.01 65.6

300.301.594.000 HEALTH INSURANCE 1,357.82 5,867.89 18,375.00 12,507.11 31.9

300.301.596.000 PERS RETIREMENT 1,539.57 6,184.63 21,619.00 15,434.37 28.6

300.301.598.000 LIFE/DISABILITY INSURANCE 10.24 47.12 108.00 60.88 43.6

300.301.599.000 UNEMPLOYMENT 2.13 20.05 606.00 585.95 3.3

TOTAL PERSONNEL 9,578.15 47,535.24 121,131.00 73,595.76 39.2

33



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

WATER FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:51PM       PAGE: 34

MATERIALS & SERVICES

300.301.600.000 ELECTRICITY 856.93 6,067.69 25,852.00 19,784.31 23.5

300.301.600.100 UTILITIES - PROPANE 24.56 38.48 1,586.00 1,547.52 2.4

300.301.601.000 OFFICE EXPENSE 35.08 205.12 602.00 396.88 34.1

300.301.601.100 POSTAGE 18.81 116.01 283.00 166.99 41.0

300.301.602.000 TELEPHONE .00 977.48 5,063.00 4,085.52 19.3

300.301.604.000 INSURANCE .00 23,568.13 19,368.00 (                4,200.13) 121.7

300.301.608.000 AUDIT .00 157.50 1,260.00 1,102.50 12.5

300.301.611.000 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 19.89 23.96 .00 (                     23.96) .0

300.301.612.000 TRAINING 20.00 778.00 .00 (                   778.00) .0

300.301.614.000 EQUIPMENT REPAIR & MAINTENANCE .00 3,779.06 10,000.00 6,220.94 37.8

300.301.614.100 FUEL (                     66.04) 1,135.74 5,000.00 3,864.26 22.7

300.301.616.000 SUPPLIES .00 821.34 10,000.00 9,178.66 8.2

300.301.616.100 SAFETY/UNIFORMS 58.79 329.44 2,000.00 1,670.56 16.5

300.301.617.000 SMALL TOOLS/SHOP SUPPLIES .00 140.73 1,500.00 1,359.27 9.4

300.301.700.000 LEGAL SERVICES 22.52 226.16 5,000.00 4,773.84 4.5

300.301.700.100 MISC LEGAL (NON-ATTY) .00 111.97 500.00 388.03 22.4

300.301.705.000 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 2,998.47 11,336.34 10,937.00 (                   399.34) 103.7

300.301.705.100 ENGINEERING SERVICES 364.14 1,955.27 24,133.00 22,177.73 8.1

300.301.705.300 DATA PROCESSING 658.18 6,341.68 12,102.00 5,760.32 52.4

300.301.706.000 DUES & CERTIFICATIONS .00 203.06 331.00 127.94 61.4

300.301.707.000 CITY HALL MAINTENANCE 49.67 209.08 1,000.00 790.92 20.9

300.301.707.001 WATER TREATMENT FACILITY MAINT .00 2,361.15 12,000.00 9,638.85 19.7

300.301.707.200 CITY HALL ANNEX MAINTENANCE .00 .00 1,000.00 1,000.00 .0

TOTAL MATERIALS & SERVICES 5,061.00 60,883.39 149,517.00 88,633.61 40.7

CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS

300.301.799.000 MISC EXPENSE 24.36 150.00 .00 (                   150.00) .0

300.301.903.000 EQUIPMENT .00 445.83 10,000.00 9,554.17 4.5

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS 24.36 595.83 10,000.00 9,404.17 6.0

TOTAL WATER TREATMENT FACILITY 14,663.51 109,014.46 280,648.00 171,633.54 38.8

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES 202,967.68 557,687.98 1,749,639.00 1,191,951.02 31.9

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES (            122,327.41) (              91,334.74) .00 91,334.74 .0

34



CITY OF DAYTON

BALANCE SHEET

NOVEMBER 30, 2025

SEWER FUND

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:51PM       PAGE: 35

ASSETS

400.000.101.000 CASH ALLOCATED TO SEWER FUND 156,897.41

TOTAL ASSETS 156,897.41

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

LIABILITIES

400.000.270.000 SEWER SERVICE DEPOSITS 3,960.25

TOTAL LIABILITIES 3,960.25

FUND EQUITY

400.000.288.000 FUND EQUITY 86,444.94

REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES - YTD 66,492.21

BALANCE - CURRENT DATE 66,492.21

TOTAL FUND EQUITY 152,937.15

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 156,897.40

35



CITY OF DAYTON

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

SEWER FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEARNED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:51PM       PAGE: 36

REVENUE

WORKING CAPITAL

400.000.400.000 WORKING CAPITAL .00 .00 24,438.00 24,438.00 .0

TOTAL WORKING CAPITAL .00 .00 24,438.00 24,438.00 .0

INTEREST

400.000.404.000 INTEREST 504.78 2,488.28 2,600.00 111.72 95.7

TOTAL INTEREST 504.78 2,488.28 2,600.00 111.72 95.7

SEWER SERVICE CHARGES

400.000.450.000 SEWER SERVICE CHARGES 67,261.42 351,512.27 1,056,096.00 704,583.73 33.3

TOTAL SEWER SERVICE CHARGES 67,261.42 351,512.27 1,056,096.00 704,583.73 33.3

OTHER SEWER FEES

400.000.451.100 NSF FEES 10.83 148.08 250.00 101.92 59.2

400.000.451.300 LATE FEES 494.22 2,306.16 2,900.00 593.84 79.5

TOTAL OTHER SEWER FEES 505.05 2,454.24 3,150.00 695.76 77.9

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE

400.000.480.000 MISC REVENUE .00 .00 200.00 200.00 .0

TOTAL MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE .00 .00 200.00 200.00 .0

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 68,271.25 356,454.79 1,086,484.00 730,029.21 32.8

36



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

SEWER FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:51PM       PAGE: 37

EXPENDITURES

PERSONNEL

400.400.526.000 CITY MANAGER 2,702.50 13,512.50 32,431.00 18,918.50 41.7

400.400.526.100 CITY RECORDER 1,404.59 7,022.95 16,856.00 9,833.05 41.7

400.400.526.200 ACCOUNTANT 2,850.00 8,878.84 28,167.00 19,288.16 31.5

400.400.526.300 TOURISM/ECON DEVEL DIRECTOR 1,037.19 5,185.95 12,447.00 7,261.05 41.7

400.400.528.100 PUBLIC WORKS SUPERVISOR 1,658.22 8,317.11 19,900.00 11,582.89 41.8

400.400.530.000 MAINTENANCE OPERATOR 2 1,454.86 7,775.43 18,443.00 10,667.57 42.2

400.400.530.100 MAINTENANCE OPERATOR 1 1,507.78 7,772.02 31,569.00 23,796.98 24.6

400.400.534.000 PWKS LABORER/JANITOR 1,446.93 8,398.27 14,958.00 6,559.73 56.2

400.400.536.000 LIBRARIAN 561.77 2,808.85 6,743.00 3,934.15 41.7

400.400.537.000 OFFICE SPECIALIST II 2,516.80 13,703.02 33,891.00 20,187.98 40.4

400.400.590.000 SOCIAL SECURITY 1,272.56 6,350.01 16,484.00 10,133.99 38.5

400.400.592.000 WORKERS COMPENSATION 3.65 2,408.39 3,672.00 1,263.61 65.6

400.400.594.000 HEALTH INSURANCE 3,838.27 16,831.16 55,910.00 39,078.84 30.1

400.400.596.000 PERS RETIREMENT 4,336.34 17,419.60 63,355.00 45,935.40 27.5

400.400.598.000 LIFE/DISABILITY INSURANCE 28.96 133.22 311.00 177.78 42.8

400.400.599.000 UNEMPLOYMENT 6.03 56.69 1,714.00 1,657.31 3.3

TOTAL PERSONNEL 26,626.45 126,574.01 356,851.00 230,276.99 35.5

37



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

SEWER FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:51PM       PAGE: 38

MATERIALS & SERVICES

400.400.600.000 UTILITIES - ELECTRICITY 1,862.08 7,237.86 44,444.00 37,206.14 16.3

400.400.600.100 UTILITIES - PROPANE 180.15 282.23 1,183.00 900.77 23.9

400.400.600.200 UTILITIES - WATER .00 529.16 18,965.00 18,435.84 2.8

400.400.601.000 OFFICE EXPENSE 808.62 6,339.70 14,700.00 8,360.30 43.1

400.400.601.100 POSTAGE 288.82 2,005.02 5,693.00 3,687.98 35.2

400.400.602.000 TELEPHONE & RELATED .00 1,044.39 3,444.00 2,399.61 30.3

400.400.604.000 INSURANCE .00 19,065.50 15,667.00 (                3,398.50) 121.7

400.400.608.000 AUDIT .00 911.00 7,288.00 6,377.00 12.5

400.400.611.000 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 238.10 485.30 7,777.00 7,291.70 6.2

400.400.612.000 TRAINING 360.00 1,767.20 .00 (                1,767.20) .0

400.400.614.000 EQUIPMENT REPAIR & MAINTENANCE .00 2,643.23 7,500.00 4,856.77 35.2

400.400.614.100 FUEL (                   119.43) 938.42 5,000.00 4,061.58 18.8

400.400.614.300 FOOTBRIDGE REPAIR & MAINTENANC .00 .00 4,000.00 4,000.00 .0

400.400.614.400 SEWER POND REPAIR & MAINTENANC 8,050.00 9,061.08 15,000.00 5,938.92 60.4

400.400.614.410 GRAVEL 18.90 18.90 1,000.00 981.10 1.9

400.400.614.500 LIFTSTATION REPAIR & MAINTENAN .00 .00 6,000.00 6,000.00 .0

400.400.614.600 SEWER LINES REPAIR & MAINTENAN .00 72,404.00 5,000.00 (              67,404.00) 1448.1

400.400.616.000 SUPPLIES 2,033.50 2,498.18 20,000.00 17,501.82 12.5

400.400.616.100 SAFETY/UNIFORMS 139.32 1,549.21 3,500.00 1,950.79 44.3

400.400.617.000 SHOP SUPPLIES/SMALL TOOLS .00 230.24 1,000.00 769.76 23.0

400.400.700.000 LEGAL SERVICES 33.84 336.74 1,000.00 663.26 33.7

400.400.700.100 MISC LEGAL (NON-ATTORNEY) .00 223.72 500.00 276.28 44.7

400.400.705.000 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 745.96 11,851.63 12,668.00 816.37 93.6

400.400.705.100 ENGINEERING SERVICES 251.82 2,194.33 17,135.00 14,940.67 12.8

400.400.705.200 I & I PROJECT .00 6,367.50 8,000.00 1,632.50 79.6

400.400.705.300 DATA PROCESSING 565.69 5,450.41 11,105.00 5,654.59 49.1

400.400.705.800 TMDL IMPLEMENTATION PLAN .00 .00 2,500.00 2,500.00 .0

400.400.706.000 DUES & CERTIFICATIONS .00 710.11 2,071.00 1,360.89 34.3

400.400.707.000 CITY HALL MAINTENANCE 364.31 1,533.96 2,500.00 966.04 61.4

TOTAL MATERIALS & SERVICES 15,821.68 157,679.02 244,640.00 86,960.98 64.5

CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS

400.400.710.000 CONTRACT SERVICES .00 .00 7,500.00 7,500.00 .0

400.400.751.000 SEWER ANALYSIS 293.50 2,057.29 7,000.00 4,942.71 29.4

400.400.799.000 MISC EXPENSE 6.93 70.84 4,500.00 4,429.16 1.6

400.400.840.000 TRANSFER TO EQUIPMENT REPLACE .00 .00 19,850.00 19,850.00 .0

400.400.850.000 TRANSFER TO SEWER RESERVE FUND .00 .00 204,407.00 204,407.00 .0

400.400.861.100 TRANSFER TO DEBT SERVICE .00 .00 220,020.00 220,020.00 .0

400.400.880.000 CONTINGENCY .00 .00 18,116.00 18,116.00 .0

400.400.903.000 EQUIPMENT .00 3,243.42 100.00 (                3,143.42) 3243.4

400.400.904.000 CITY HALL IMPROVEMENTS .00 338.00 500.00 162.00 67.6

400.400.904.001 CITY HALL ANNEX IMPROVEMENTS .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

400.400.904.200 CITY SHOPS/YARDS IMPROVEMENTS .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

400.400.905.000 SEWER POND IMPROVEMENTS .00 .00 1,000.00 1,000.00 .0

400.400.910.000 SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS .00 .00 1,000.00 1,000.00 .0

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS 300.43 5,709.55 484,993.00 479,283.45 1.2

38



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

SEWER FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:51PM       PAGE: 39

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 42,748.56 289,962.58 1,086,484.00 796,521.42 26.7

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES 42,748.56 289,962.58 1,086,484.00 796,521.42 26.7

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 25,522.69 66,492.21 .00 (              66,492.21) .0

39



CITY OF DAYTON

BALANCE SHEET

NOVEMBER 30, 2025

STORMWATER FUND

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:51PM       PAGE: 40

ASSETS

450.000.101.000 CASH ALLOCATED TO STORMWATER 71,437.16

TOTAL ASSETS 71,437.16

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

FUND EQUITY

REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES - YTD 71,437.16

BALANCE - CURRENT DATE 71,437.16

TOTAL FUND EQUITY 71,437.16

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 71,437.16

40



CITY OF DAYTON

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

STORMWATER FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEARNED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:51PM       PAGE: 41

REVENUE

450.000.404.000 INTEREST 235.78 487.16 .00 (                   487.16) .0

TOTAL REVENUE 404 235.78 487.16 .00 (                   487.16) .0

LOAN PROCEEDS

450.000.441.000 LOAN PROCEEDS .00 70,950.00 .00 (              70,950.00) .0

TOTAL LOAN PROCEEDS .00 70,950.00 .00 (              70,950.00) .0

STORMWATER CHARGES

450.000.450.000 STORMWATER CHARGES .00 .00 25,380.00 25,380.00 .0

TOTAL STORMWATER CHARGES .00 .00 25,380.00 25,380.00 .0

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 235.78 71,437.16 25,380.00 (              46,057.16) 281.5

41



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

STORMWATER FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:51PM       PAGE: 42

EXPENDITURES

CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS

450.450.860.100 TRANSFER TO DEBT SERVICE FUND .00 .00 25,034.00 25,034.00 .0

450.450.999.000 UNAPPROPRIATED ENDING FUND BAL .00 .00 346.00 346.00 .0

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS .00 .00 25,380.00 25,380.00 .0

TOTAL EXPENDITURES .00 .00 25,380.00 25,380.00 .0

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES .00 .00 25,380.00 25,380.00 .0

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 235.78 71,437.16 .00 (              71,437.16) .0

42



CITY OF DAYTON

BALANCE SHEET

NOVEMBER 30, 2025

STATE REVENUE SHARING FUND

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:52PM       PAGE: 43

ASSETS

500.000.101.000 CASH ALLOC TO STATE REV SHARNG 29,301.91

TOTAL ASSETS 29,301.91

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

FUND EQUITY

500.000.288.000 FUND EQUITY 1,225.45

REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES - YTD 28,076.46

BALANCE - CURRENT DATE 28,076.46

TOTAL FUND EQUITY 29,301.91

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 29,301.91

43



CITY OF DAYTON

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

STATE REVENUE SHARING FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEARNED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:52PM       PAGE: 44

REVENUE

INTEREST

500.000.404.000 INTEREST 96.71 163.40 100.00 (                     63.40) 163.4

TOTAL INTEREST 96.71 163.40 100.00 (                     63.40) 163.4

STATE OF OREGON

500.000.424.000 STATE OF OREGON 5,696.14 34,354.51 27,106.00 (                7,248.51) 126.7

TOTAL STATE OF OREGON 5,696.14 34,354.51 27,106.00 (                7,248.51) 126.7

TRANSFERS IN

500.000.459.300 TRANSFER FROM WATER FUND 5,000.00 5,000.00 .00 (                5,000.00) .0

TOTAL TRANSFERS IN 5,000.00 5,000.00 .00 (                5,000.00) .0

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE

500.000.480.000 MISC INCOME .00 413.17 .00 (                   413.17) .0

TOTAL MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE .00 413.17 .00 (                   413.17) .0

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 10,792.85 39,931.08 27,206.00 (              12,725.08) 146.8

44



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

STATE REVENUE SHARING FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:52PM       PAGE: 45

EXPENDITURES

MATERIALS & SERVICES

500.500.604.000 INSURANCE .00 1,648.48 1,354.00 (                   294.48) 121.8

500.500.608.000 AUDIT .00 70.00 560.00 490.00 12.5

500.500.611.000 TRAVEL & RELATED EXPENSES .00 37.17 250.00 212.83 14.9

500.500.612.000 TRAINING 90.00 745.00 1,129.00 384.00 66.0

500.500.700.000 LEGAL SERVICES 225.24 2,078.60 .00 (                2,078.60) .0

500.500.706.000 DUES & CERTIFICATIONS .00 131.84 275.00 143.16 47.9

TOTAL MATERIALS & SERVICES 315.24 4,711.09 3,568.00 (                1,143.09) 132.0

CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS

500.500.752.000 CITY COUNCIL EXPENSE 65.00 200.00 2,100.00 1,900.00 9.5

500.500.752.400 COMMUNITY-WIDE CLEAN-UP .00 .00 4,000.00 4,000.00 .0

500.500.752.600 COMMUNITY EVENTS .00 6,943.53 10,500.00 3,556.47 66.1

500.500.799.000 MISC EXPENSE .00 .00 7,038.00 7,038.00 .0

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS 65.00 7,143.53 23,638.00 16,494.47 30.2

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 380.24 11,854.62 27,206.00 15,351.38 43.6

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES 380.24 11,854.62 27,206.00 15,351.38 43.6

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 10,412.61 28,076.46 .00 (              28,076.46) .0

45



CITY OF DAYTON

BALANCE SHEET

NOVEMBER 30, 2025

WATER SYS CAPITAL PROJ FUND

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:52PM       PAGE: 46

ASSETS

600.000.101.000 CASH ALLOC TO WATR SYS CAP PRJ 138,378.62

TOTAL ASSETS 138,378.62

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

FUND EQUITY

600.000.288.000 FUND EQUITY 160,825.31

REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES - YTD (              22,446.69)

BALANCE - CURRENT DATE (              22,446.69)

TOTAL FUND EQUITY 138,378.62

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 138,378.62

46



CITY OF DAYTON

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

WATER SYS CAPITAL PROJ FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEARNED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:52PM       PAGE: 47

REVENUE

WORKING CAPITAL

600.000.400.000 WORKING CAPITAL .00 .00 141,117.00 141,117.00 .0

TOTAL WORKING CAPITAL .00 .00 141,117.00 141,117.00 .0

INTEREST

600.000.404.000 INTEREST 456.73 2,713.31 2,700.00 (                     13.31) 100.5

TOTAL INTEREST 456.73 2,713.31 2,700.00 (                     13.31) 100.5

SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT CHANGES

600.000.420.000 SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT CHARGES .00 550.00 .00 (                   550.00) .0

TOTAL SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT CHANGES .00 550.00 .00 (                   550.00) .0

TRNSFRS IN & CITY OF LAFAYETTE

600.000.459.200 TRANSFER FM WATER FUND .00 .00 165,383.00 165,383.00 .0

TOTAL TRNSFRS IN & CITY OF LAFAYETTE .00 .00 165,383.00 165,383.00 .0

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 456.73 3,263.31 309,200.00 305,936.69 1.1

47



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

WATER SYS CAPITAL PROJ FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:52PM       PAGE: 48

EXPENDITURES

CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS

600.600.880.000 CONTINGENCY .00 .00 9,397.00 9,397.00 .0

600.600.910.100 ENGINEERING SERVICES .00 .00 5,000.00 5,000.00 .0

600.600.920.100 FISHER FARMS INTERTIE .00 416.25 .00 (                   416.25) .0

600.600.920.300 CHLORINE GENERATOR .00 .00 5,000.00 5,000.00 .0

600.600.920.350 UTILITY BR WATERLINE UPGR .00 9,641.77 .00 (                9,641.77) .0

600.600.920.400 WATER MAINLINE REPLACEMENTS .00 .00 22,875.00 22,875.00 .0

600.600.930.100 WELLS & SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS .00 .00 96,928.00 96,928.00 .0

600.600.930.200 WELLS MAINTENANCE .00 .00 70,000.00 70,000.00 .0

600.600.930.600 RESERVOIR MAINTENANCE .00 15,651.98 100,000.00 84,348.02 15.7

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS .00 25,710.00 309,200.00 283,490.00 8.3

TOTAL EXPENDITURES .00 25,710.00 309,200.00 283,490.00 8.3

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES .00 25,710.00 309,200.00 283,490.00 8.3

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 456.73 (              22,446.69) .00 22,446.69 .0

48



CITY OF DAYTON

BALANCE SHEET

NOVEMBER 30, 2025

SEWER RESERVE FUND

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:52PM       PAGE: 49

ASSETS

700.000.101.000 CASH ALLOC TO SEWER RESERVE 411,301.52

TOTAL ASSETS 411,301.52

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

FUND EQUITY

700.000.288.000 FUND EQUITY 708,256.77

REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES - YTD (            296,955.25)

BALANCE - CURRENT DATE (            296,955.25)

TOTAL FUND EQUITY 411,301.52

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 411,301.52

49



CITY OF DAYTON

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

SEWER RESERVE FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEARNED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:52PM       PAGE: 50

REVENUE

WORKING CAPITAL

700.000.400.000 WORKING CAPITAL .00 .00 (              73,144.00) (              73,144.00) .0

TOTAL WORKING CAPITAL .00 .00 (              73,144.00) (              73,144.00) .0

INTEREST

700.000.404.000 INTEREST 1,357.53 5,186.62 1,600.00 (                3,586.62) 324.2

TOTAL INTEREST 1,357.53 5,186.62 1,600.00 (                3,586.62) 324.2

SYSTEM IMPROVEMENT GRANTS/LOAN

700.000.422.000 SYSTEM IMPROVEMENT GRANTS/LOAN .00 .00 600,000.00 600,000.00 .0

TOTAL SYSTEM IMPROVEMENT GRANTS/LOA .00 .00 600,000.00 600,000.00 .0

UTILITY BRIDGE DEQ LOANS

700.000.425.000 UTILITY BRIDGE DEQ LOANS .00 305,739.78 500,000.00 194,260.22 61.2

TOTAL UTILITY BRIDGE DEQ LOANS .00 305,739.78 500,000.00 194,260.22 61.2

TRANSFERS IN

700.000.459.300 TRANSFER FROM SEWER FUND .00 .00 204,407.00 204,407.00 .0

TOTAL TRANSFERS IN .00 .00 204,407.00 204,407.00 .0

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 1,357.53 310,926.40 1,232,863.00 921,936.60 25.2

50



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

SEWER RESERVE FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:52PM       PAGE: 51

EXPENDITURES

CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS

700.700.880.000 CONTINGENCY .00 .00 92,863.00 92,863.00 .0

700.700.910.000 SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS .00 .00 20,000.00 20,000.00 .0

700.700.910.105 CCTV SEWER LINES FOR I & I .00 .00 20,000.00 20,000.00 .0

700.700.910.410 UTILITY BRIDGE IMPROVEMENTS 53.00 402,877.02 500,000.00 97,122.98 80.6

700.700.920.000 HWY 221 LIFT STATION REPL 1,138.63 205,004.63 600,000.00 394,995.37 34.2

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS 1,191.63 607,881.65 1,232,863.00 624,981.35 49.3

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 1,191.63 607,881.65 1,232,863.00 624,981.35 49.3

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES 1,191.63 607,881.65 1,232,863.00 624,981.35 49.3

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 165.90 (            296,955.25) .00 296,955.25 .0

51



CITY OF DAYTON

BALANCE SHEET

NOVEMBER 30, 2025

EQUIP REPLACEMENT RESERVE FUND

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:52PM       PAGE: 52

ASSETS

750.000.101.000 CASH ALLOC TO EQUIP REPLACE RS 4,038.21

TOTAL ASSETS 4,038.21

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

FUND EQUITY

750.000.288.000 FUND EQUITY 3,961.73

REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES - YTD 76.48

BALANCE - CURRENT DATE 76.48

TOTAL FUND EQUITY 4,038.21

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 4,038.21

52



CITY OF DAYTON

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

EQUIP REPLACEMENT RESERVE FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEARNED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:52PM       PAGE: 53

REVENUE

WORKING CAPIITAL

750.000.400.000 WORKING CAPITAL .00 .00 4,817.00 4,817.00 .0

TOTAL WORKING CAPIITAL .00 .00 4,817.00 4,817.00 .0

INTEREST

750.000.404.000 INTEREST 13.33 76.48 300.00 223.52 25.5

TOTAL INTEREST 13.33 76.48 300.00 223.52 25.5

TRANSFERS IN & MISC REVENUE

750.000.459.200 TRANSFER FROM WATER FUND .00 .00 19,850.00 19,850.00 .0

750.000.459.300 TRANSFER FROM SEWER FUND .00 .00 19,850.00 19,850.00 .0

TOTAL TRANSFERS IN & MISC REVENUE .00 .00 39,700.00 39,700.00 .0

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 13.33 76.48 44,817.00 44,740.52 .2

53



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

EQUIP REPLACEMENT RESERVE FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:52PM       PAGE: 54

EXPENDITURES

CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS

750.750.880.000 CONTINGENCY .00 .00 4,177.00 4,177.00 .0

750.750.903.000 EQUIPMENT .00 .00 25,140.00 25,140.00 .0

750.750.903.200 REPLACE MOWER .00 .00 12,000.00 12,000.00 .0

750.750.903.400 LEAF VAC .00 .00 3,500.00 3,500.00 .0

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS .00 .00 44,817.00 44,817.00 .0

TOTAL EXPENDITURES .00 .00 44,817.00 44,817.00 .0

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES .00 .00 44,817.00 44,817.00 .0

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 13.33 76.48 .00 (                     76.48) .0

54



CITY OF DAYTON

BALANCE SHEET

NOVEMBER 30, 2025

BUILDING RESERVE FUND

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:52PM       PAGE: 55

ASSETS

760.000.101.000 CASH ALLOC TO BLDG RESERVE 360,256.40

TOTAL ASSETS 360,256.40

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

FUND EQUITY

760.000.288.000 FUND EQUITY 354,616.42

REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES - YTD 5,639.98

BALANCE - CURRENT DATE 5,639.98

TOTAL FUND EQUITY 360,256.40

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 360,256.40

55



CITY OF DAYTON

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

BUILDING RESERVE FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEARNED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:52PM       PAGE: 56

REVENUE

WORKING CAPITAL

760.000.400.000 WORKING CAPITAL .00 .00 355,629.00 355,629.00 .0

TOTAL WORKING CAPITAL .00 .00 355,629.00 355,629.00 .0

INTEREST

760.000.404.000 INTEREST 1,189.05 6,841.23 900.00 (                5,941.23) 760.1

TOTAL INTEREST 1,189.05 6,841.23 900.00 (                5,941.23) 760.1

TRANSFERS IN

760.000.459.100 TRANSFER FROM STREET FUND .00 .00 10,000.00 10,000.00 .0

TOTAL TRANSFERS IN .00 .00 10,000.00 10,000.00 .0

GRANTS

760.000.490.001 USDA GRANT .00 .00 500,000.00 500,000.00 .0

TOTAL GRANTS .00 .00 500,000.00 500,000.00 .0

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 1,189.05 6,841.23 866,529.00 859,687.77 .8

56



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

BUILDING RESERVE FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:52PM       PAGE: 57

EXPENDITURES

CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS

760.760.880.000 CONTINGENCY .00 .00 903.00 903.00 .0

760.760.930.000 BUILDING CONSTRUCTION 1,201.25 1,201.25 865,626.00 864,424.75 .1

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS 1,201.25 1,201.25 866,529.00 865,327.75 .1

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 1,201.25 1,201.25 866,529.00 865,327.75 .1

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES 1,201.25 1,201.25 866,529.00 865,327.75 .1

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES (                     12.20) 5,639.98 .00 (                5,639.98) .0

57



CITY OF DAYTON

BALANCE SHEET

NOVEMBER 30, 2025

STREET RESERVE FUND

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:52PM       PAGE: 58

ASSETS

770.000.101.000 CASH ALLOC TO STREET RESERVE 184,628.14

TOTAL ASSETS 184,628.14

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

FUND EQUITY

770.000.288.000 FUND EQUITY 181,131.72

REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES - YTD 3,496.42

BALANCE - CURRENT DATE 3,496.42

TOTAL FUND EQUITY 184,628.14

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 184,628.14

58



CITY OF DAYTON

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

STREET RESERVE FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEARNED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:52PM       PAGE: 59

REVENUE

WORKING CAPITAL

770.000.400.000 WORKING CAPITAL .00 .00 178,459.00 178,459.00 .0

TOTAL WORKING CAPITAL .00 .00 178,459.00 178,459.00 .0

INTEREST

770.000.404.000 INTEREST 609.38 3,496.42 1,500.00 (                1,996.42) 233.1

TOTAL INTEREST 609.38 3,496.42 1,500.00 (                1,996.42) 233.1

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 609.38 3,496.42 179,959.00 176,462.58 1.9

59



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

STREET RESERVE FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:52PM       PAGE: 60

EXPENDITURES

CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS

770.770.880.000 CONTINGENCY .00 .00 169,959.00 169,959.00 .0

770.770.910.000 STREET CAPITAL PROJECTS .00 .00 10,000.00 10,000.00 .0

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS .00 .00 179,959.00 179,959.00 .0

TOTAL EXPENDITURES .00 .00 179,959.00 179,959.00 .0

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES .00 .00 179,959.00 179,959.00 .0

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 609.38 3,496.42 .00 (                3,496.42) .0

60



CITY OF DAYTON

BALANCE SHEET

NOVEMBER 30, 2025

PARKS RESERVE FUND

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:52PM       PAGE: 61

ASSETS

780.000.101.000 CASH ALLOC TO PARKS RESERVE 31,750.02

TOTAL ASSETS 31,750.02

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

FUND EQUITY

780.000.288.000 FUND EQUITY 21,299.92

REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES - YTD 10,450.10

BALANCE - CURRENT DATE 10,450.10

TOTAL FUND EQUITY 31,750.02

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 31,750.02

61



CITY OF DAYTON

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

PARKS RESERVE FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEARNED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:52PM       PAGE: 62

REVENUE

WORKING CAPITAL

780.000.400.000 WORKING CAPITAL .00 .00 7,921.00 7,921.00 .0

TOTAL WORKING CAPITAL .00 .00 7,921.00 7,921.00 .0

INTEREST

780.000.404.000 INTEREST 104.79 373.95 1,500.00 1,126.05 24.9

TOTAL INTEREST 104.79 373.95 1,500.00 1,126.05 24.9

STATE OF OREGON PARKS GRANT

780.000.430.000 GRANT - STATE OF OR PARKS PRGM .00 23,735.45 26,240.00 2,504.55 90.5

TOTAL STATE OF OREGON PARKS GRANT .00 23,735.45 26,240.00 2,504.55 90.5

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 104.79 24,109.40 35,661.00 11,551.60 67.6

62



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

PARKS RESERVE FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:52PM       PAGE: 63

EXPENDITURES

MATERIALS & SERVICES

780.780.705.000 PARKS MASTER PLAN .00 13,659.30 35,000.00 21,340.70 39.0

TOTAL MATERIALS & SERVICES .00 13,659.30 35,000.00 21,340.70 39.0

CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS

780.780.880.000 CONTINGENCY .00 .00 661.00 661.00 .0

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS .00 .00 661.00 661.00 .0

TOTAL EXPENDITURES .00 13,659.30 35,661.00 22,001.70 38.3

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES .00 13,659.30 35,661.00 22,001.70 38.3

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 104.79 10,450.10 .00 (              10,450.10) .0

63



CITY OF DAYTON

BALANCE SHEET

NOVEMBER 30, 2025

DEBT SERVICE FUND

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:52PM       PAGE: 64

ASSETS

850.000.101.000 CASH ALLOCATED TO DEBT SERVICE 290,244.17

TOTAL ASSETS 290,244.17

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

FUND EQUITY

850.000.288.000 FUND EQUITY 493,417.38

REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES - YTD (            203,173.21)

BALANCE - CURRENT DATE (            203,173.21)

TOTAL FUND EQUITY 290,244.17

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 290,244.17

64



CITY OF DAYTON

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

DEBT SERVICE FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEARNED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:52PM       PAGE: 65

REVENUE

WORKING CAPITAL

850.000.400.000 WORKING CAPITAL .00 .00 358,810.00 358,810.00 .0

TOTAL WORKING CAPITAL .00 .00 358,810.00 358,810.00 .0

INTEREST

850.000.404.000 INTEREST 957.97 8,822.44 1,700.00 (                7,122.44) 519.0

TOTAL INTEREST 957.97 8,822.44 1,700.00 (                7,122.44) 519.0

TRANSFERS IN & LOAN & LAFAYETT

850.000.459.000 TRANSFER FROM WATER FUND .00 .00 160,965.00 160,965.00 .0

850.000.459.300 TRANSFER FR SEWER FUND .00 .00 220,020.00 220,020.00 .0

850.000.459.501 TRANSFER FROM STORMWATER FUND .00 .00 25,034.00 25,034.00 .0

TOTAL TRANSFERS IN & LOAN & LAFAYETT .00 .00 406,019.00 406,019.00 .0

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 957.97 8,822.44 766,529.00 757,706.56 1.2

65



CITY OF DAYTON

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 5 MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2025

DEBT SERVICE FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 42 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 12/31/2025     12:52PM       PAGE: 66

EXPENDITURES

CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS

850.850.774.000 DEBT SVC TO BONDS  (PRINCIPAL) 128,470.55 128,470.55 151,736.00 23,265.45 84.7

850.850.775.100 DEBT SERVICE - 221 (PRINCIPAL) 32,594.87 32,594.87 .00 (              32,594.87) .0

850.850.775.200 DEBT SERVICE - 221 (INTEREST) 18,437.35 18,437.35 .00 (              18,437.35) .0

850.850.776.000 DEBT SVC TO BONDS (INTEREST) 14,862.49 14,862.49 14,863.00 .51 100.0

850.850.778.000 DEBT SERVICE TO SPRINGS (PRIN) 14,448.89 14,448.89 14,449.00 .11 100.0

850.850.778.100 DEBT SERVICE TO SPRINGS (INT) 3,181.50 3,181.50 3,182.00 .50 100.0

850.850.779.000 RESERVE FOR LAFAYETTE LOAN .00 .00 23,249.00 23,249.00 .0

850.850.779.100 DEBT SERVICE - DEQ (PRINCIPAL) .00 .00 33,355.00 33,355.00 .0

850.850.779.200 DEBT SERVICE - DEQ (INTEREST) .00 .00 18,461.00 18,461.00 .0

850.850.785.100 DEBT SVC TO BOND MPS/FSTS (P) .00 .00 42,931.00 42,931.00 .0

850.850.785.200 DEBT SVC TO BOND MPS/FSTS (I) .00 .00 39,318.00 39,318.00 .0

850.850.785.400 DEBT SVC TO FOOTBRIDGE (INT) .00 .00 85,955.00 85,955.00 .0

850.850.786.400 MERCHANT BLOCK LOAN(PRINCIPAL) .00 .00 25,034.00 25,034.00 .0

850.850.900.100 WATER RESERVE .00 .00 99,414.00 99,414.00 .0

850.850.900.300 RESERVE- LAFAYETTE LOAN PAYOFF .00 .00 23,625.00 23,625.00 .0

850.850.900.305 RESERVE FOR MPS FSTS USDA LOAN .00 .00 82,248.00 82,248.00 .0

850.850.900.310 RSV FOR BRIDGE DEQ LOAN PMT .00 .00 107,461.00 107,461.00 .0

850.850.999.000 UNAPPROPRIATED ENDING FUND BAL .00 .00 1,248.00 1,248.00 .0

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY & TRANSFERS 211,995.65 211,995.65 766,529.00 554,533.35 27.7

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 211,995.65 211,995.65 766,529.00 554,533.35 27.7

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES 211,995.65 211,995.65 766,529.00 554,533.35 27.7

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES (            211,037.68) (            203,173.21) .00 203,173.21 .0

66



Dayton City Council Minutes 
Page 1 of 7 
 

MINUTES  
DAYTON CITY COUNCIL 

REGULAR SESSION  
November 3, 2025 

PRESENT: Mayor Annette Frank ABSENT:  
 Council President Drew Hildebrandt   
 Councilor Scott Hover   
 Councilor Kitty Mackin   
 Councilor Robin Pederson   
 Councilor Chris Teichroew   
 Councilor Colt Wilkins   
   

STAFF: Jeremy Caudle, City Manager 
Rocio Vargas, City Recorder 
Don Cutler, Public Works Supervisor 
Rob Walker, Finance Director 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Mayor Frank called the meeting to order at 6:30 pm and all those present gave the Pledge of Allegiance. 

B. ROLL CALL 

Mayor Frank noted that there was a quorum with Councilors Hildebrandt, Hover, Mackin, Pederson, 
Teichroew, and Wilkins present in person. 

C. APPEARANCE OF INTERESTED CITIZENS 

Linda McGrew, Dayton resident, commented on the water wells that were discussed at the last meeting 
regarding the bidding process. Inquired about the Mayor’s voting on action items, believes that the Mayor 
should not vote only to break a tie. 

Rose Dodson, Yamhill County resident, discussed an issue about a drainage pipe that crosses her property. 
Requested an exception of a permit for the relocation of the drainage pipe. 

Sam Dickson, Yamhill County resident, spoke to the integrity of Rose Dodson. 

 

D. CONSENT AGENDA 
1. September 2025 Financials 

Rob Walker, Finance Director, reviewed the financials to date.  

DREW HIDLEBRANDT MOVED TO APPROVE THE CONSENT 
AGENDA. SECOND BY CHRIS TEICHROEW. Motion carried with 
Frank, Hildebrandt, Hover, Mackin, Pederson, Teichroew, Wilkins 
voting aye. 

67



Dayton City Council Minutes 
Page 2 of 7 
 

 

E. ACTION ITEMS 
1. Intent to Award Fisher Farms Permitting, Water Quality Testing, and Groundwater 

Strategy Project 

Jeremy Caudle, City Manager, reviewed the process to obtain the quotes of this project, reviewed the 
quotes, and answered some questions Council had at the last meeting. 

There was a clarification on the use of calibrated pumps versus current pumps. 

Councilor Hover inquired about the testing on all the wells and what would happen if the smaller wells were 
not testable. Would there be a price adjustment or would the City have to pay for those wells even if they 
are not testable.    

Discussion continued.  

DREW HILDEBRANDT MOVED TO SELECT GSI WATER 
SOLUTIONS INC. AS THE CONSULTANT FOR THE FISHER 
FARMS WELLS PROJECT, AND DIRECT TO PREPARE A 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES CONTRACT WITH GSI FOR 
COUNCIL CONSIDERATION. FINAL COUNCIL APPROVAL OF 
THE CONTRACT SHALL BE CONTINGENT UPON REVIEW BY 
BUSINESS OREGON AND RECEIPT OF A FULLY EXECUTED 
TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE FUNDING AGREEMENT FROM 
BUSINESS OREGON. SECOND BY PEDERSON. Motion carried 
with Frank, Hildebrandt, Mackin, Pederson, Teichroew, and 
Wilkins voting aye. Hover opposed. 

 

2. Approval of Resolution 2025/26-08 Authorizing a Loan From the Water Fund by 
Entering into a Financing Contract With the Oregon Infrastructure Finance Authority 

Jeremy presented the details of the loan contract. 

DREW HILDEBRANDT MOVED TO APPROVE RESOLUTION 
2025/26-08 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING A LOAN FROM 
THE WATER FUND BY ENTERING INTO A FINANCING 
CONTRACT WITH THE OREGON INFRASTRUCTURE FINANCE 
AUTHORITY. SECOND BY COLT WILKINS. Motion carried with 
Frank, Hildebrandt, Hover, Mackin, Pederson, Teichroew, Wilkins 
voting aye. 

 

3. Approval of Resolution 2025/26-09 Accepting the City of Dayton Parks and Recreation 
Master Plan as Complete and Directing Its Inclusion in the Comprehensive Plan 
Adoption Process 

68



Dayton City Council Minutes 
Page 3 of 7 
 
Councilor Mackin stated that she could not support the proposed parks and master plan. She stated that 
there had not been any discussion on the rebuilding of the bandstand. 

There was a discussion on the bandstand and clarification that it was a renovation not a rebuild. 

Council President Hildebrandt stated that there are projects in the parks master plan that require ADA 
compliance. He inquired where in the plan the ADA compliance target is missing. 

Discussion continued. 

ROBIN PEDERSON MOVED TO APPROVE RESOLUTION 
2025/26-09 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE CITY OF 
DAYTON PARKS AND RECREATION MASTER PLAN AS 
COMPLETE AND DIRECTING STAFF ITS INCLUSION IN THE 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN ADOPTION PROCESS. SECOND BY 
CHRIS TEICHROEW. Motion carried with Frank, Hildebrandt, 
Hover, Pederson, Teichroew, Wilkins voting aye. Mackin opposed. 

 

4. Approval of Resolution 2025/26-10 Authorizing Interfund Operating Loans Pursuant to 
ORS 294.468 

SCOTT HOVER MOVED TO APPROVE RESOLUTION 2025/26-
10 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING INTERFUND LOANS 
PURSUANT TO ORS 297.468. SECOND BY COLT WILKINS. 
Motion carried with Frank, Hildebrandt, Hover, Mackin, Pederson, 
Teichroew, Wilkins voting aye. 

 

5. First Reading of Ordinance 667 An Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Dayton 
Authorizing the Establishment of a Public Safety Fee, Enacting Section 20 to Municipal 
Code Chapter 1 

Council President Hildebrandt asked if there is a sunset clause to this ordinance, considering that this a 
temporary measure, that would drop the fee once a levy that covers costs is approved. 

Jeremy clarified that this ordinance authorizes a fee to be established for the purpose of public safety, and a 
resolution would set the fee amount or remove the fee amount. 

Councilor Hover inquired if there would be a public hearing to hear public input on the fee. 

Discussion continued and concluded at the consensus of a public hearing for the fees at the next meeting. 

Council President Hildebrandt preformed the first reading of Ordinance 667 by title only. 

DREW HILDEBRANDT MOVED TO APPROVE THE FIRST 
READING OF ORDINANCE 667 BY TITLE ONLY. SECOND BY 
SCOTT HOVER. Motion carried with Frank, Hildebrandt, Hover, 
Mackin, Pederson, Teichroew, Wilkins voting aye. 

69



Dayton City Council Minutes 
Page 4 of 7 
 
 

6. Approval Memorandum of Understanding between City of Dayton and City of Lafayette 

Councilor Hover clarified if this was just for the current wellfield and not the Fisher 
Farm’s property. 

CHRIS TEICHREOW MOVED TO APPROVE THE 
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING WITH THE CITY OF 
LAFAYETTE AS PRESENTED AND AUTHORIZE THE CITY 
MANAGER TO SIGN. SECOND BY COLT WILKINS. Motion 
carried with Frank, Hildebrandt, Hover, Mackin, Pederson, 
Teichroew, Wilkins voting aye. 

 

7. Local Government Grant Program Opportunity for Alderman Park 

Jeremy presented the information on a possible grant opportunity for Alderman Park though the small 
project program with LGGP to make the park ADA compliant. The Tourism and Economic Development 
Director secured a donation match for the grant. 

Discussion continued. 

Councilor Mackin stated that she would prefer that the grant be used for the playground, because there isn’t 
much use for wheelchair users to do at the dog park, she couldn’t take care of her dog from other dogs. She 
stated that she would rather the grant be used for woodchips at the playground or to accomplish a little bit 
of both. 

Councilor Pederson asked to clarify that this grant was specific for the dog park, because the match had 
been secured in advance. 

Jeremy stated that this grant is for small projects with a $100,000 limit, and it requires a 20% in kind match 
that has been specifically sourced for the dog park already, if Council would like to opt for a different park, 
the in-kind match would have to be different.  

 

DREW HILDEBRANDT MOVED THAT CITY STAFF SUBMIT AN 
LGGP GRANT AS SPECIFIED IN THE STAFF REPORT. SECOND 
BY KITTY MACKIN. Motion carried with Frank, Hildebrandt, 
Hover, Mackin, Pederson, Teichroew, Wilkins voting aye. 

 

8. Proposed Ordinance and Amendments to Chapter 5 of the Dayton Municipal Code 
“Door to Door Solicitation or Material Distribution” 

SCOTT HOVER MOVED TO DIRECT STAFF TO PROCEED WITH 
ALL THE NECESSARY STEPS TO SCHEDULE THE FIRST 
READING OF THE PROPOSED ORDINANCE. SECOND BY 

70



Dayton City Council Minutes 
Page 5 of 7 
 

DREW HILDEBRANDT. Motion carried with Frank, Hildebrandt, 
Hover, Mackin, Pederson, Teichroew, Wilkins voting aye. 

 

9. Dayton CODE 1 Distribution of Funds 

Rob explained that the funds will need to be transferred to a nonprofit organization and asked Council to 
name an organization. 

Council discussed the use of the funds must be for educational purposes and selected the DCDA to receive 
the funds and use them for educational purposes. 

KITTY MACKIN MOVED TO AUTHORIZE THE DISTRIBUTION 
OF THE REMAINING DAYTON CODE 1 FUNDS TO DCDA FOR 
AN EDUCATIONAL YOUTH ADVISORY COMMITTEE, A 
QUALIFIED 501(C)(3) NONPROFIT ORGANIZATION. SECOND 
BY COLT WILKINS. Motion carried with Frank, Hildebrandt, 
Hover, Mackin, Pederson, Teichroew, Wilkins voting aye. 

 

10. Local Option Levy Update 

Rocio Vargas, City Recorder, updated Council on the tasks management will be working on based on the 
timeline approved by Council. 

Council President Hildebrandt inquired if Scarlet Communications could be involved in the promotion 
materials other than just written materials. 

Councilor Mackin recommended Council to start thinking of individuals to involve in a taskforce in support 
of the levy.  

Discussion continued. 

 

11. Open Burning Ordinance Discussion, Sponsor: Mayor Frank 

Mayor Frank presented her proposal to add an open burning ordinance for city limits in the interest of the 
common health and safety of the residents. She invited the Council to discuss this proposal. 

Sample documents and current Dayton Municipal Code were reviewed and enforcement was discussed. 

Fire Chief Scott Law explained that the extent of the Fire Department’s involvement in an open burning call 
or enforcement is limited to education. 

 

12. Tree Lighting Event Planning, Sponsor: Councilor Pederson 

Councilor Pederson wanted to discuss the plan and volunteers needed for the event. 

71



Dayton City Council Minutes 
Page 6 of 7 
 
Rocio stated that volunteers for set up, hot coco serving, and Santa were needed for the event. 

Discussion continued. 

F. CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS AND CONCERNS 

Councilor Hover stated that he was disappointed with the decision made today on the Fisher Farm’s bid for 
well study. 

Councilor Teichroew stated that he had a discussion with the business owners in the town square of the fire 
siren being intrusive to business. He requested to add this as an item for discussion at a future meeting. 

 INFORMATION REPORTS 

1. Public Works 

Don Cutler, Public Works Supervisor reported two leaks in October at Katie rose place and ash the other on 
mill street both were fixed. 

The chlorine generator at the treatment plant was down for two weeks waiting for replacement parts. It is 
now fixed and operational.  

The new park signs with the current park rules were placed at Andrew Smith park. 

The final inspection for the Dayton Food pantry has been completed. 

The merchant block electrical issue was resolved, and they are no longer on the temporary generators, 
everything went smoothly. 

HWY 221 lift station generator was tested final programing will be done before final testing. 

Discharging from the ponds began. 

Jake passed his CDL test, and the City now has two CDL drivers. 

The DAR tree was planted in the park; public works dug the hole for the tree. 

The street closure on Joel palmer way was successful, and the community thanked the Council for closing 
the street for trick or treating. 

2. Finance 

Rob presented answers to the questions Councilor Mackin had about finance. Council discussed the 
answers. 

Reviewed funding sources for the city and when they are received for the Council. 

G. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

Jeremy informed council that he will be signing an audit agreement not to exceed $40,000 to start the audit 
process that is currently behind. An extension will be required from the deadline of December 31, 2025, 
deadline. 

72



Dayton City Council Minutes 
Page 7 of 7 
 
Jeremey and Mayor Frank are registered for the City County Dinner in Newberg on Wednesday, November 
5, 2025. 

The Oregon Water Resource Department will be cutting back on the general fund appropriations including 
the grant the City will receive through the state legislature. This will reduce the grant by about $200,000 
from the $1.2 million that was allocated to the City. The impact to the City and infrastructure impact with this 
change was communicated to the department. As information comes from the legislature Council will be 
informed. 

Reminded the Council about the temporary closure of Plamer Creek Lodge Community Center as of 
December 31, 2025. All frequent users have been communicated with the temporary closure. Informed 
Council of conversations with the VFW about a third-party management arrangement for the community 
center.  

Cash flow projections are better than expected – this could mean that re-opening the community center 
sooner rather than later is possible. 

Councilor orientation went well with Councilors Hover and Wilkins. 

Ziply franchise agreement renewal is in the works. 

The RFP for an integrator of record is still in the works and will be presented to Council at the December 
meeting with a resolution. This will allow for more efficient construction and maintenance contracting. 

Staff is working on a stormwater fee that will be coming to Council. 

TSP plan approval will be brought to council expect public hearings. 

Staff are participating in the regional water feasibility study. 

The proposed Hotel Design Review is online. 

Participated in Oregon Government Finance Officers panel on Thursday October 30, 2025, in Eugene. 

Business Oregon will open a grant in February 2026 for a utility rate study and planning. 

H.  ADJOURN 

 There being no further business to discuss the meeting adjourned at 8:53pm. 

Respectfully submitted:    APPROVED BY COUNCIL on January 5, 2027 

By:       ☐ As Written   ☐ As Amended 

Rocio Vargas, City Recorder 

 

       _________________________________________ 

       Annette Frank, Mayor 

 

73



Dayton City Council Minutes 
Page 1 of 2 
 

MINUTES  
DAYTON CITY COUNCIL 

SPECIAL SESSION  
November 20, 2025 

PRESENT: Mayor Annette Frank ABSENT:  
 Council President Drew Hildebrandt, arrived at 6:05pm   
 Councilor Scott Hover   
 Councilor Kitty Mackin, Zoom   
 Councilor Robin Pederson   
 Councilor Chris Teichroew, Zoom   
 Councilor Colt Wilkins, Zoom   
   

STAFF: Jeremy Caudle, City Manager 
Rocio Vargas, City Recorder 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Mayor Frank called the meeting to order at 6:03pm and all those present gave the Pledge of Allegiance. 

B. ROLL CALL 

Mayor Frank noted that there was a quorum present with Councilors Hildebrandt, Hover, and Pederson 
present in person and Councilors Mackin, Teichroew, and Wilkins present via Zoom. 

C. APPEARANCE OF INTERESTED CITIZENS 

None.  

D. ACTION ITEMS 
1. GSI Personal Services Approval in the amount of $174,910 for the Fisher Farms Well 

Improvements Project and to Authorize the City Manager to Sign. 

Jeremy Caudle, City Manager, presented the PSA for approval and stated that the master PSA document 
was also updated by the City Attorney. 

ROBIN PEDERSON MOVED TO APPROVE THE PERSONAL 
SERVICE AGREEMENT WITH GSI WATER SOLUTIONS INC., AS 
PRESENTED, FOR THE FISHER FARMS WELL IMPROVEMENTS 
PROJECT IN THE AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $174,910, AND 
TO AUTHORIZE THE CITY MANAGER TO SIGN. SECOND BY 
SCOTT HOVER. Motion carried with Frank, Hildebrandt, Hover, 
Mackin, Pederson, Teichroew, Wilkins. 

E. CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS AND CONCERNS 

Councilor Hover stated that this new PSA document going forward is very good and covers the City in many 
ways. 

74



Dayton City Council Minutes 
Page 2 of 2 
 
Council President Hildebrandt inquired about a parade on the same night of the tree lighting.  

Rocio Vargas, City Recorder, clarified the events dates. 

Discussion continued. 

F. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

Jeremy updated council on grants that are opening soon that require quick action, and he will bring them to 
council approval or acceptance. 

Wetland Inventory Consultant by DLCD. 

Housing Infrastructure Program to help finance infrastructure for possible development on Neck Rd. 

Code enforcement sent out letters to the most concerning properties to bring them into compliance. 

City staff and Council will be present at the Dayton School District Board meeting to make an update. 

Council President Hildebrandt inquired if Council will be notified of which properties were sent letters by 
code enforcement. 

Jeremey stated that if additional steps are required Council will be notified, for now, he hopes to make 
progress with initial contact.  

G.  ADJOURN 

 There being no further business to discuss the meeting adjourned at 6:14pm. 

Respectfully submitted:    APPROVED BY COUNCIL on January 5, 2026 

By:       ☐ As Written   ☐ As Amended 

Rocio Vargas, City Recorder 

 

       _________________________________________ 

       Annette Frank, Mayor 

75



Dayton City Council Minutes 
Page 1 of 8 
 

MINUTES  
DAYTON CITY COUNCIL 

REGULAR SESSION  
DECEMBER 1, 2025 

PRESENT: Mayor Annette Frank ABSENT:  
 Council President Drew Hildebrandt   
 Councilor Scott Hover   
 Councilor Kitty Mackin   
 Councilor Robin Pederson   
 Councilor Chris Teichroew, Zoom   
 Councilor Colt Wilkins   
   

STAFF: Jeremy Caudle, City Manager 
Rocio Vargas, City Recorder 
Dave Rucklos, Tourism and Economic Development Director 
Don Cutler, Public Works Supervisor 
Rob Walker, Finance Director  
Curt Fisher, City Planner 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Mayor Frank called the meeting to order at 6:30pm   and all those present gave the Pledge of 
Allegiance. 

B. ROLL CALL 

Mayor Frank noted that there was a quorum present with Councilors Hildebrandt, Hover, Mackin, 
Pederson, and Wilkins were present in person. Councilor Teichroew present via zoom. 

A. APPEARANCE OF INTERESTED CITIZENS 

Ukiah Bunn, Dayton Resident, DCDA President, to report on the Friday Nights series. 

Judy Gerard, Dayton Resident, DCDA Secretary Treasurer, presented a report to Council of the Friday 
Nights series. 

Council President requested DCDA to present as an agenda item in the future. 

B. CONSENT AGENDA 
1. October 6, 2025, Regular Session Minutes 
2. October 9, 2025, Joint Session with Planning Commission Minutes 
3. October 20, 2025, Special Work Session Minutes 

Mayor Frank noted that Council President Hildebrandt absence on October 20, 2025, was excused. 

KITTY MACKIN MOVED TO APPROVE THE CONSENT 
AGENDA AS AMENDED. SECOND BY ROBIN PEDERSON. 

76



Dayton City Council Minutes 
Page 2 of 8 
 

Motion carried with Frank, Hildebrandt, Hover, Mackin, 
Pederson, Teichroew, Wilkins voting aye. 

 

C. PUBLIC HEARING 

1. City Council held a public hearing to obtain public comments on proposed 
adjustments to the water and sewer rates, and the creation of a new Public Safety 
fee. 

Mayor Frank opened the Public Hearing at 6:49pm 
No public comment. 
Mayor Frank closed the Public Hearing at 6:50pm 
 

2. City Council held a public hearing to obtain public comments on the adoption of 
amendments to the transportation element Chapter 10 of the Dayton 
Comprehensive Plan. 

Mayor Frank opened the public hearing at 6:50pm 
 
Curt Fisher, City Planner presented the staff report. He introduced Carl Springer, DKS Associates, who 
had a power point presentation for City Council about the Transportation System Plan for City of 
Dayton. 
 

DREW HILDEBRANDT MOVED FOR THE CITY COUNCIL 
TO ADOPT A REVISED STAFF REPORT WITH THE 
REVISION NOTED BY COUNCILOR HOVER AND 
CLARIFICATION OF THE ORDINANCE NUMBER AND 
RECOMMEND THE CITY COUNCIL TO APPROVE THE 
REVISED AMENDMENTS. SECOND BY COLT WILKINS. 
Motion carried with Frank, Hildebrandt, Hover, Mackin, 
Pederson, Teichroew, Wilkins voting aye. 

Mayor Frank closed the public hearing at 7:08pm. 
 
 

D. ACTION ITEMS 
1. First Reading of Ordinance 668 Amending the City Of Dayton Comprehensive Plan 

Adopting the 2025 Transportation System Plan and Amending Title 7 (Dayton Land 
Use and Development Code) Of the Dayton Municipal Code 

Council President Hildebrandt preformed the first reading of Ordinance 668 by title only. 

DREW HILDEBRANDT MOVED TO APPROVE THE FIRST 
READING OF ORDINANCE 668 BY TITLE ONLY. SECOND 
BY COLT WILKINS. Motion carried with Frank, Hildebrandt, 
Hover, Mackin, Pederson, Teichroew, Wilkins voting aye. 

77



Dayton City Council Minutes 
Page 3 of 8 
 
 

2. Action on City Manager annual performance evaluation instrument and process 

Jeremy Caudle, City Manager, stated that his contract stipulates an annual review and he briefed the 
Council on the performance evaluation instrument, criteria, and process. 

ROBIN PEDERSON MOVED TO APPROVE THE CITY 
MANAGER’S RECOMMENDED 1-YEAR EVALUATION 
PROCESS AND TIMELINE. SECOND BY DREW 
HILDEBRANDT. Motion carried with Frank, Hildebrandt, 
Hover, Mackin, Pederson, Teichroew, Wilkins voting aye. 

 

3. Second Reading of Ordinance 667 Authorizing the Establishment of a Public 
Safety Fee, Enacting Section 20 to Municipal Code Chapter 1 

Councilor Hover commented on the current rates for an average of 544 cubic feet compared to other 
cities. He is concerned that the increase will be a hardship for the residents if the increase continues at 
5% each year. He proposed a possible base rate change from 200 cubic feet to 300 cubic feet. 

There was a discussion on changing cubic feet base rate or changing the way water is billed.  

Mayor Frank clarified that the 5% would be only this time to catch up to maintenance costs, after this it 
would be evaluated and lower. 

Discussion continued. 

DREW HILDEBRANDT MOVED TO APPROVE THE 
SECOND READING OF ORDINANCE 667 BY TITLE ONLY. 
SECOND BY CHRIS TEICHROEW. Motion carried with 
Frank, Hildebrandt, Hover, Mackin, Pederson, Teichroew, 
Wilkins voting aye. 

ROBING PEDERSON MOVED TO ADOPT ORDINANCE 
667 AND ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF DAYTON AUTHORIZING THE ESTABLISHMENT 
OF A PUBLIC SAFETY FEE, ENACTING SECTION 20 TO 
MUNICIPAL CODE CHAPTER 1. SECON KITTY MACKIN. 
Motion carried with Frank, Hildebrandt, Hover, Mackin, 
Pederson, Teichroew, Wilkins voting aye. 

 

4. Approval of Resolution 25/26-12 Update to the City of Dayton Fee Schedule  

Jeremy noted some corrections that the Utility Specialist noted and presented an updated table that 
calculates the average 544 cubic feet correctly, and it should not charge residents at Tier 3. He also 
corrected some dates on page 295. 

78



Dayton City Council Minutes 
Page 4 of 8 
 
 

DREW HILDEBRANDT MOVED TO APPROVE 
RESOLUTION 2025/26-12 A RESOLUTION AMENDING 
THE CITY OF DAYTON FEE SCHEDULE TO ADD A PUBLIC 
SAFETY FEE, UPDATE WATER AND SEWER RATE 
SCHEDULE, AND ADD A FRANCHISE APPLICATION FEE. 
SECOND BY SCOTT HOVER. Motion carried with Frank, 
Hildebrandt, Hover, Mackin, Pederson, Teichroew, Wilkins 
voting aye. 

 

5. Authorization of Contract Cancellation – 100,000 and 600,000 water tank 
maintenance with Utility Service Co. Inc. 

DREW HILDEBRANDT MOVED TO AUTHORIZE MAYOR 
FRANK, COUNCIL PRESIDENT HILDEBRANDT, AND 
COUNCILOR MACKIN TO SIGN THE TERMINATION 
NOTICE LETTER TO UTILITY SERVICE CO. INC., FOR THE 
WATER TANK MAINTENANCE CONTRACTS FOR THE 
100,000 -GALLON TANK AND THE 600,000-GALLON 
TANK. SECOND BY COLT WILKINS. Motion carried with 
Frank, Hildebrandt, Hover, Mackin, Pederson, Teichroew, 
Wilkins voting aye. 

 

6. Approval of Amendment No. 3 of the Utility Bridge Project Loan with DEQ 
(R26753) 

KITTY MACKIN MOVED TO APPROVE AMENDMENT NO. 
3 TO THE LOAN DOCUMENTS WITH THE OREGON 
DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY 
THROUGH THE CLEAN WATER STATE REVOLVING 
FUND; AND AUTHORIZE THE CITY MANAGER TO 
EXECUTE THE LOAN AMENDMENT DOCUMENTS. 
SECON BY COLT WILKINS. Motion carried with Frank, 
Hildebrandt, Hover, Mackin, Pederson, Teichroew, Wilkins 
voting aye. 

 

7. Housing Infrastructure Financing Program Application Review 

Jeremy stated that this is a grant that opened in October, and the deadline is very close. The city 
engineer advised to target the main water transmission lines that could serve development on Neck 
Road. 

79



Dayton City Council Minutes 
Page 5 of 8 
 
Don Cutler, Public Works Supervisor, stated that this has been a high interest property for developers, 
but the need and cost of the water main line is what has stopped the project proposals. 

KITTY MACKIN MOVED TO AUTHORIZE STAFF TO 
SUBMIT A HOUSING INFRASTRUCTURE FINANCING 
PROGRAM APPLICATION TO BUSINESS OREGON FOR 
WATER TRANSMISSION UPGRADES FOR NECK ROAD 
HOUSING DEVELOPMENT, WITH AN ESTIMATED 
PROJECT BUDGET UP TO $2 MILLION, AND TO 
AUTHORIZE THE MAYOR TO SIGN THE APPLICATION 
UPON ITS COMPLETION. SECOND BY DREW 
HILDEBRANDT. Motion carried with Frank, Hildebrandt, 
Hover, Mackin, Pederson, Teichroew, Wilkins voting aye. 

 

8. Approval of Resolution 25/26-13 Authorizing an Interfund Budget and Line-Item 
Transfer between the General Fund and the ARPA Fund, and Dissolution of the 
ARPA Fund 

DREW HILDEBRANDT MOVED TO APPROVE 
RESOLUTION 2025/26-13 A RESOLUTION 
AUTHORIZING AN INTERFUND BUDGET AND LINE-ITEM 
TRANSFER BETWEEN THE GENERAL FUND AND THE 
ARPA FUND, AND DISSOLUTION OF THE ARPA FUND. 
SECOND BY KITTY MACKIN. Motion carried with Frank, 
Hildebrandt, Hover, Mackin, Pederson, Teichroew, Wilkins 
voting aye. 

9. Community Center Analysis Discussion 

Dave Rucklos, Tourism and Economic Development Director, presented Council with an analysis of the 
revenue, cost, and maintenance of the Palmer Creek Lodge Community Center. 

He presented some options to increase the use and revenue of the community center to cover the cost 
of having the building. His goal is to reopen the community center for community use while being cost 
efficient. 

Council President Hildebrandt inquired about the idea of converting the community center into a city 
hall.  

Dave stated that this is only a short-term objective. The use of the center as a city hall takes more 
planning. 

Jeremy stated that there are plans for a facility analysis to see what the best way is to use the city 
assets. 

Discussion continued. 

Dave will return with more information for Council. 

80



Dayton City Council Minutes 
Page 6 of 8 
 

10. Local Option Levy Update  

Rocio Vargas, City Recorder, requested that council is available for town hall in February to present the 
levy information from Council with School and Sharrif’s Office.  

Council President Hildebrandt suggested a video interview of the sheriff explaining what they do for 
the community. 

Councilor Pederson proposed February 10, 11, or 12.  

Council agreed on the dates. 

Jerey shared the website created for the Local Option Levy Renewal information. 

E. CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS AND CONCERNS 

Mayor Frank asked Council for feedback on what date the City should have the fireworks show. 

Councilor Teichroew stated that personally he thinks it should be on Friday, July 3, 2026, in conjunction 
with Friday Nights. 

There was discussion on the pros of the fireworks show on July 3rd relating to cost and public 
attendance and cons of the show being on the 4th.  

Council agreed on the 3rd.  

Mayor Frank proposed a holiday potluck for council and staff. Council and staff present determined 
the 18th at 5pm would work. 

Council President Hildebrandt mentioned the fire incident in the city that affected a family in the 
community. He inquired if there is a way that the city could be involved in the efforts that have been 
started.  

Discussion continued and the consensus was that individual support of the community efforts is the 
best route the city could only refer to resources. 

Councilor Mackin inquired if PGE has reached out to make a presentation to Council. 

F. INFORMATION REPORTS 

With the new reports written by the management team council will only ask questions for clarification 
instead of hearing a report from the department heads. 

Mayor Frank asked Public Works if there is a way to enforce tree replant on the house on Church street 
next to Andrew Smith park. 

Councilor Hover stated that the City should have a tree ordinance. 

Discussion continued for tree ordinance research. 

Council President Hildebrandt inquired about McDougall being out of commission and if this would 
affect the water supply for the City.  

81



Dayton City Council Minutes 
Page 7 of 8 
 
Don Cultler, Public Works Supervisor, stated that it is not affecting water supply and the repairs will be 
happening in the next couple of days. 

Council President Hildebrandt inquired about the two leaks mentioned in the report if they were minor 
or major leaks. 

Don stated that there were minor leaks and they had been repaired. 

Council President Hildebrandt inquired about the street sweeper repairs mentioned in the report, if 
the sweeper had broken down again. 

Don clarified that it was a new issue the needed to be looked at. 

There was a discussion on other options, either a replacement or contract the street sweeping out.  

Staff will investigate the contract option. 

Rob Walker, Finance Director, stated that he would be meeting with the DCDA on Thursday December 
4th.  

Council President Hildebrandt inquired about the legislative grant and when would the City know if it 
was reduced. 

Jeremy stated that there would be an update after the 2026 legislative session in the spring. 

Councilor Pederson inquired about the beginning of the audit. 

 

G. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

Jeremy updated Council on the Code Enforcement areas and letters sent out. 

The integrator of record RFP will need to be re-published in a State newspaper and moved to January. 

Fisher Farms kickoff meeting will be next week. 

Curt Fisher, City Planner, submitted a grant application for a wetlands inventory. This will require a 
resolution of support from Council. 

The Mid-Willamette Council of Governments (COG) there are funds available in Yamhill County 
through the Economic Development Administration that could be used for infrastructure projects. 

Sustainable Infrastructure planning grant is now open for applicants. This grant would pay for a 
consultant to analyze the long-term infrastructure needs for the water system. 

The engagement letter with the auditors for $36,000 was signed and this includes one single audit. 

There is an appeal request that the review is tentative for January 8th. 

Rob Hallyburton verified his intention to step down from the Planning Commission. There are 
advertisements in the Ferry Street News for applicants. 

Northwest Natural Gas has intentions of establishing service in Dayton. 

82



Dayton City Council Minutes 
Page 8 of 8 
 
MOU with Lafayette was signed. 

Mayor, Council President, City Manager, Finance Directo, and TED Director will be presenting at the 
December 9, 2025, School Board meeting about Urban Renewal. 

Council President Hildebrandt stated that there are invasive species in town that should be removed 
from public spaces. He inquired if there is a way to enforce the control of invasive species.  

H. ADJOURN 

 There being no further business to discuss the meeting adjourned at 8:38pm. 

I. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

The executive session held pursuant to ORS 192.660(2)(i) – To review and evaluate the 
employment-related performance of the chief executive officer of any public body, a public officer, 

employee or staff member who does not request an open hearing. 

 

Respectfully submitted:    APPROVED BY COUNCIL on January 5, 2027 

By:       ☐ As Written   ☐ As Amended 

Rocio Vargas, City Recorder 

 

       _________________________________________ 

       Annette Frank, Mayor 

83



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

84



PUBLIC NOTICE 
CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 

 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING BEFORE THE DAYTON CITY COUNCIL  

ACTING AS THE LOCAL CONTRACT REVIEW BOARD 
 
Notice is hereby given that the Dayton City Council, acting as the Local Contract Review Board for the 
City of Dayton, Oregon, will hold a public hearing on January 5, 2026, at 6:30 pm at Dayton City Hall 
Annex, 408 Ferry Street, Dayton, Oregon. 
 
The purpose of the public hearing is to provide an opportunity for any interested party to appear and 
comment on the City’s proposed �indings for an exemption from competitive bidding requirements 
under ORS 279C.335(2) for certain public improvement contracts related to the City’s Supervisory 
Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) systems. 
 
The proposed exemption would authorize the City to enter into a Master Procurement and 
Installation Contract for future SCADA-related public improvement projects with a consultant 
designated as the City’s Integrator of Record. The exemption would allow the City to issue task orders 
under the Master Contract for the procurement, installation, and integration of SCADA system 
components without separate competitive bidding for each individual project. 
 
The City has made draft �indings in support of the exemption, which demonstrate that: 
 

1. The exemption is unlikely to encourage favoritism in awarding public improvement contracts 
or substantially diminish competition; and 

2. Awarding contracts under the exemption will likely result in substantial cost savings and 
other substantial bene�its to the City, including standardization of equipment, increased 
operational ef�iciency, enhanced system reliability, reduced project delivery time, improved 
public safety, and minimized compatibility issues across the City’s water and wastewater 
utility systems. 
 

A copy of the draft �indings and the proposed resolution granting the exemption are available for 
public inspection at Dayton City Hall, 416 Ferry Street, Dayton, OR 97114 during regular business 
hours (Monday through Thursday, 8:00 am to 5:30 pm, except lunch from 12:00 pm to 12:30 pm), or 
may be requested by contacting City Manager Jeremy Caudle, jcaudle@daytonoregon.gov (e-mail), 
503-864-2221 (telephone). 
 
Any interested party may appear and present comments at the public hearing or may submit written 
comments in advance of the hearing to City Recorder Rocio Vargas, rvargas@daytonoregon.gov (e-
mail), in-person at Dayton City Hall, or by mail to PO Box 339, Dayton, OR 97114. Written comments 
must be received by 4:00 pm on January 5, 2026 to be considered. 
 
Following the public hearing, the City Council, acting as the Local Contract Review Board, will 
consider adoption of a resolution approving the �indings and granting the exemption as provided 
under ORS 279C.335(2). 

85



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

86



To:   Honorable Mayor and City Councilors 
 
From:  Jeremy Caudle, City Manager 
 
Issue:   Election of the Council President 
 
Date:  January 5, 2026 
 
  
Background Information:  
 
Per Section 9 of the Dayton City Charter, “At its first meeting each year, the council must elect 
a president from its membership. The president presides in the absence of the mayor and acts 
as mayor when the mayor is unable to perform duties.”  
 
Per our Dayton Municipal Code, here are the duties of the Mayor, Council President, and 
Councilors for your reference.  

 
1.05.01 Mayor Duties 

1. The mayor is chair of the Council and the political head of the city government. 
2. The duties of the mayor include: 

1. Preside over all Council deliberations and with authority to preserve 
order, enforce rules of the Council, and determine council order of 
business; 

2. Vote on all questions before the Council; 
3. Sign all records of proceedings approved by the Council; 
4. Meet with manager to prepare Council agendas and review items for 

presentation to the Council 
5. Represent the city at county, regional, state and other meetings of 

elected officials 
6. Appoint City committees and commissions with the consent of Council 
7. Appoint Council liaisons to City committees; 
8. Respond to correspondence directed to the mayor or Council on topics 

relating to Council policy; and 
9. Declare a state of emergency due to disaster and request state and 

federal assistance without a special meeting of the Council. 

1.05.02 Council President Duties 

1. The council president is a member of the Council elected from its membership 
at its first meeting each year. 

2. The duties of the council president include the following: 
1. Attend and participate at Council meetings; 
2. Vote on all questions before Council; 
3. Preside at Council meetings in the absence of mayor; 
4. Act as mayor whenever the mayor is unable to perform the functions of 

that office; 

87

https://dayton.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=1.05.01_Mayor_Duties
https://dayton.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=1.05.02_Council_President_Duties


5. In absence of mayor, declare state of emergency due to disaster and 
request state and federal assistance without a special meeting of the 
Council; and 

6. Represent city in absence of mayor. 

1.05.03 Councilor Duties 

1. Each councilor is a member of the Council. 
2. The duties of each councilor include the following: 

1. Attend and participate at Council meetings; 
2. Vote on all questions before Council; 
3. Represent Council as liaison at committee meetings; and 
4. Represent city in absence of mayor and council president. 

Nominations: 
 
Per Council Rules Section 7.1.(C), Motions for nominations do not require a second.  
 
Council President Election:  
 
After nominations are made, each Council member will vote by writing the name of the 
Council member they are voting for on a ballot. The ballots will be passed to the City 
Recorder who will read each vote out loud into the record.  The nominated Council member 
who receives a majority of the votes will be appointed the Council President.  
 
 
 
 

88

https://dayton.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=1.05.03_Councilor_Duties


To:   Honorable Mayor and City Councilors 

From:   Jeremy Caudle, City Manager 

Issue:   Approval of Resolution 2025/26-11 Adopting Findings to Support an Exemption 
from Competitive Bidding Requirements and Authorizing the Use of a 
Competitive Request for Proposal Solicitation for a Consultant to Serve as the 
City’s Integrator of Record 

Date:   January 5, 2026 

Background and Information:  

At the 8/4/25 meeting, City Council authorized staff to prepare and issue a request for 
proposals (RFP) for an integrator of record. The agenda packet for that meeting included the 
RFP that we intended to issue. 
 
As I explained in my staff report at the time:  
 

The City does not have a system integrator of record (IOR). Instead, the City has been procuring 
IOR services on an as-needed basis. The IOR’s responsibilities are to manage, update, and 
maintain our supervisory control and data acquisition (SCADA) and telemetry systems. It is to the 
City’s advantage to have an IOR under a master services contract to provide maintenance and 
emergency response as needed, instead of constantly having to bid out certain projects. In this 
sense, the IOR is similar to other professional services, such as our engineer, legal, and planning 
services, each of which is provided by the same consultant. 

 

Since that meeting, staff have had numerous meetings with our legal counsel on the most 
efficient and legally sound way to procure these services. The intention is to have an integrator 
of record who can: (1) provide ongoing maintenance, troubleshooting, and consulting; and (2) 
who can fulfil public construction contracting needs for larger projects. It is to the City’s 
advantage to have one integrator of record for reasons explained in the accompanying 
resolution. 
 
As staff worked through this process, following the 8/4/25 meeting, we found that Oregon’s 
public contracting law does not have a straightforward mechanism for the City to encompass 
both types of service—ongoing maintenance plus large construction—under one contract. The 
default process would be to procure consulting services through an RFP. Large construction 
projects would have to be bid separately as they arise using competitive sealed proposals. This 
defeats the purpose of having one integrator of record. 
 
Due to the unique nature of the services that the City wants to procure, authorization of a 
procurement exemption per the City’s public contracting rules and state law was the only 
option. The procurement exemption would allow the City to select one consultant who can 
provide both ongoing maintenance and public construction projects.  
 
As specified in the resolution and following contract documents, the City would select a 
consultant using a competitive process. The contracts would be in place for an initial 5-year 

89



term, with the option to renew for two additional 5-year terms for a potential maximum of 15 
years.  
 
Here is a description of documents following this staff report: 
 

1. Public hearing advertisement for your information. 
2. Resolution authorizing the exemption from competitive bidding requirements. This 

resolution adopts findings of fact supporting this exemption. The resolution also 
authorizes the City Manager to use a competitive solicitation process to select an 
Integrator of Record. 

3. Next, you will find the full RFP documents. The RFP includes a description on the scope 
of services we’re seeking, how to submit proposals, the required format of proposals, 
and the timeline for submitting and evaluating proposals. The RFP also includes 
numerous appendices. Those appendices include: 

a. Master procurement and installation contract. This is what we will use for large 
construction projects.  

b. Master services contract. This is for ongoing maintenance and troubleshooting 
needs. 

c. Project background and scope of work so that proposers know what we’re 
looking for. 

d. Other forms and information that proposers will need. 
 
These documents have been prepared by our legal team, following collaboration with our City 
Engineer and Public Works teams. Once City Council holds the public hearing and approves 
the resolution, I will advertised the RFP. The next step after that is a mandatory pre-bid meeting 
in January. The timeline anticipates City Council award of the contract in April. 
 
The notice for the public hearing associated with this item was published in the Daily Journal 
of Commerce on 12/5/25, which was at least 14 days prior to the hearing, as required by law. 
 
City Manager Recommendation: Approve the resolution as presented. Approval of this 
resolution authorizes me to issue the accompanying RFP documents and to start the process 
of selecting an integrator of record for a final vote of approval by City Council.  
 
Potential Motion: “I move to approve Resolution No. 2025/26-11, ‘A Resolution Adopting 
Findings to Support an Exemption from Competitive Bidding Requirements and Authorizing 
the Use of a Competitive Request for Proposal Solicitation for a Consultant to Serve as the City’s 
Integrator of Record, Declaring Such Exemption and Authorizing a Process to Award Two 
Contracts to the Selected Consultant.’” 
 
Council Options:  

1. Approve the resolution as presented. 
2. Approve the resolution as amended. (Please specify.) 
3. Do not approve the resolution, in which case the City will not obtain integrator of 

record services at this time. 
4. Some other action not listed here. 

90



PUBLIC NOTICE 
CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 

 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING BEFORE THE DAYTON CITY COUNCIL  

ACTING AS THE LOCAL CONTRACT REVIEW BOARD 
 
Notice is hereby given that the Dayton City Council, acting as the Local Contract Review Board for the 
City of Dayton, Oregon, will hold a public hearing on January 5, 2026, at 6:30 pm at Dayton City Hall 
Annex, 408 Ferry Street, Dayton, Oregon. 
 
The purpose of the public hearing is to provide an opportunity for any interested party to appear and 
comment on the City’s proposed �indings for an exemption from competitive bidding requirements 
under ORS 279C.335(2) for certain public improvement contracts related to the City’s Supervisory 
Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) systems. 
 
The proposed exemption would authorize the City to enter into a Master Procurement and 
Installation Contract for future SCADA-related public improvement projects with a consultant 
designated as the City’s Integrator of Record. The exemption would allow the City to issue task orders 
under the Master Contract for the procurement, installation, and integration of SCADA system 
components without separate competitive bidding for each individual project. 
 
The City has made draft �indings in support of the exemption, which demonstrate that: 
 

1. The exemption is unlikely to encourage favoritism in awarding public improvement contracts 
or substantially diminish competition; and 

2. Awarding contracts under the exemption will likely result in substantial cost savings and 
other substantial bene�its to the City, including standardization of equipment, increased 
operational ef�iciency, enhanced system reliability, reduced project delivery time, improved 
public safety, and minimized compatibility issues across the City’s water and wastewater 
utility systems. 
 

A copy of the draft �indings and the proposed resolution granting the exemption are available for 
public inspection at Dayton City Hall, 416 Ferry Street, Dayton, OR 97114 during regular business 
hours (Monday through Thursday, 8:00 am to 5:30 pm, except lunch from 12:00 pm to 12:30 pm), or 
may be requested by contacting City Manager Jeremy Caudle, jcaudle@daytonoregon.gov (e-mail), 
503-864-2221 (telephone). 
 
Any interested party may appear and present comments at the public hearing or may submit written 
comments in advance of the hearing to City Recorder Rocio Vargas, rvargas@daytonoregon.gov (e-
mail), in-person at Dayton City Hall, or by mail to PO Box 339, Dayton, OR 97114. Written comments 
must be received by 4:00 pm on January 5, 2026 to be considered. 
 
Following the public hearing, the City Council, acting as the Local Contract Review Board, will 
consider adoption of a resolution approving the �indings and granting the exemption as provided 
under ORS 279C.335(2). 

91



Daily Journal of Commerce
1618 SW First Ave., Suite 400
Portland, OR, 97201
Phone: 503-226-1311 Fax: 503-222-5358

Affidavit of Publication

To: City of Dayton - City Manager
PO Box 339
Dayton, OR, 971140339

Re: Legal Notice 4116962, CITY’S SUPERVISORY CONTROL AND DATA ACQUISITION (SCADA) SYSTEMS

State of OR }
} SS:

County of Multnomah }

I, Michelle A. Ropp, being duly sworn, depose and say that I am the Principal Clerk of the Daily Journal of Commerce, a
newspaper of general circulation in the counties of CLACKAMAS, MULTNOMAH, and WASHINGTON as defined by ORS
193.010 and 193.020, published in Portland in the aforesaid County and State; that I know from my personal knowledge that
the notice described as:
CITY’S SUPERVISORY CONTROL AND DATA ACQUISITION (SCADA) SYSTEMS
CITY OF DAYTON
a printed copy of which is hereto annexed, was published in the entire issue of said newspaper 1 time(s) in the following
issues:
12/05/2025.

SEE EXHIBIT A
State of Oregon
County of Multnomah

SIGNED OR ATTESTED BEFORE ME ON 9th day of December 2025

Page 1 of 2

By:

Michelle A. Ropp

By:

Nicholas Bjork
Notary Public, State of OR

No. 1044188
My commission expires on January 10, 2028

92



EXHIBIT A

Page 2 of 2

93



1 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025/26-11 
CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 

 
A Resolution Adopting Findings to Support an Exemption from Competitive Bidding 
Requirements and Authorizing the Use of a Competitive Request for Proposal Solicitation 
for a Consultant to Serve as the City’s Integrator of Record, Declaring Such Exemption and 
Authorizing a Process to Award Two Contracts to the Selected Consultant.  
 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Dayton (City) owns and operates a number of water supply wells and 
associated booster pumps, municipal springs, a municipal PRV station, a municipal water 
treatment plant (WTP) and three potable water storage reservoirs, four municipal sanitary 
sewer pump stations and a municipal wastewater treatment plant, as well as associated 
ancillary systems and appurtenances; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City owns and operates supervisory control and data acquisition (SCADA) 
systems, i.e. control & telemetry systems and project specific and ongoing system integration 
and programming services, connected to many of these utilities; and 
 
WHEREAS, partial upgrades to the City’s SCADA system were completed over the past several 
years in order to replace and upgrade certain obsolete components and expand the SCADA 
systems’ capabilities and resiliency, and additional upgrades and improvements to various 
water & sewer system components are currently under construction or in the planning stages; 
and   
 
WHEREAS, the City seeks to solicit a consultant to serve as the City’s integrator of record  
(“Integrator of Record”) to develop, maintain, update, and provide technical support for all of 
the City’s SCADA systems that will include (1) acquiring and installing upgraded SCADA for 
existing bespoke systems and programs that are particularized to the City’s infrastructure and 
programming needs, (2) acquiring SCADA related equipment for certain contemplated future 
City infrastructure projects, and (3)  ongoing ordinary repairs and maintenance services for the 
existing SCADA systems and infrastructure; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City believes that it is in the best interest of the City for the Integrator of Record 
to complete items (1) and (2) identified above (the “Improvement Projects”) by entering into 
task orders under the Master Procurement and Installation Contract (as defined below), 
because each Improvement Project will need to be procured and installed pursuant to unique 
system requirements and will integrate with public infrastructure for which the security and 
precision of the systems will be critical; and 
 
WHEREAS, the systems and programs that the Integrator of Record plans, acquires, installs, 
and maintains will be unique to the City, will be unable to communicate using other 

94



2 

programming or equipment without significant time and expense because it will have been 
developed specifically for the City’s infrastructure, programs, and systems; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City intends to enter into two contracts with the selected consultant: (1) a 
Master Procurement and Installation Contract; and (2) a Master Services Contract as further 
described in the findings; and 
 
WHEREAS, the installation scope of the Improvement Projects may be considered public 
improvements under the Public Contracting Code and, to the extent they are, the City wishes 
to exempt such public improvements entered into under task orders from the competitive 
bidding requirements under ORS 279C as permitted by ORS 279C.335(2); and  
 
WHEREAS, control and telemetry system components must be procured from Rockwell 
Automation and the selected Consultant must be a Rockwell Certified Systems Inegrator; and  
 
WHEREAS, ORS 279B.085(4) authorizes a Local Contract Review Board to exempt from the 
competitive proposal or bidding procurement requirements of ORS 279B the purchase of 
goods and materials upon approval of certain findings of fact; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City desires to ensure that its Integrator of Record consultant is solicited widely 
among all potential proposers prior to adopting a single SCADA system in order to encourage 
maximum competition from all potential proposers and to ensure there is no favoritism in its 
contracting process; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City believes that the exemption will result in substantial cost savings and other 
substantial benefits by reducing duplicative procurement processes, standardizing hardware 
and software across facilities, minimizing compatibility issues, shortening project delivery 
times, and ensuring that the City has a single point of accountability for the procurement, 
programming, installation, and maintenance of its SCADA systems, thereby enhancing 
operational efficiency, reliability, and public safety; and 
 
WHEREAS, findings addressing competition, favoritism, operational, budget, financial data, 
public benefits, value engineering, specialized expertise, public safety, market conditions, 
technical complexity and funding sources recommended by the City Manager were made 
available and a notice of the public hearing of this Resolution was published at least fourteen 
(14) days in advance of granting the exemption in a trade newspaper of general statewide 
circulation; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City will invite prospective contractors to submit competitive proposals in 
response to the City’s solicitation requirements, and the City’s selection of an Integrator of 
Record will be based upon an evaluation of the proposals as required by the solicitation 
documents. 

95



3 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, the City of Dayton resolves as follows: 
 

Section 1: Council hereby adopts the Factual Findings for Proposed Exemptions from 
ORS 279B and 279C formal procurement requirement, attached as Exhibit A, and 
on that basis: (1) exempts the solicitation and any resulting projects executed under 
the Master Installation and Procurement Contract from the competitive low bid 
requirements of ORS 279C; and (2) exempts the solicitation from the requirements 
of ORS 279B and authorizes the award of a contract to an Integrator of Record to 
procure and install control and telemetry systems from Rockwell in connection with 
existing and future City infrastructure projects.  

 
Section 2: The City Manager is authorized to use a competitive solicitation process to 

select an Integrator of Record. 
 
Section 3: As required by ORS 279C.335(2), the City Manager will prepare and deliver a 

post project evaluation to the Council within 30 days of the date the City accepts 
the last Improvement Contract under the Master Procurement and Installation 
Contract or upon the termination or expiration of the Master Procurement and 
Installation Contract. 

 
Section 4: This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption.  
 

 
 ADOPTED on this 5th day of January 2026. 
 
In Favor:                                                                                    
 
Opposed:                                                                                 
 
Absent:                                                                                     
 
Abstained:                                                                                       
 
____________________________                      ______________________                                               
Annette Frank, Mayor   Date Signed 
 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________                      _______________________                      
Rocio Vargas, City Recorder    Date of Enactment 
Attachment: Exhibit A 

96



5 

EXHIBIT A 
 

DAYTON SCADA SYSTEM UPGRADE, EXPANSION & MAINTENANCE 
FACTUAL FINDINGS FOR PROPOSED EXEMPTION FROM COMPETITIVE 
BIDDING 

 
The City Manager recommends that the Dayton City Council (“Council”) approve the following 
factual findings, including the Additional Findings (as hereinafter defined) (collectively, the 
“Findings”) to exempt the City’s Integrator of Record Master Procurement and Installation 
Contract (the “Contract”) and the resulting procurement of goods and installation services 
provided thereunder (the “Services”) from the competitive bidding requirements of ORS 
Chapter 279B and 279C, and to approve a competitive request for proposals (“RFP”) for the 
Contract. Capitalized terms used herein have the meaning ascribed to them in the Resolution. 
 

BACKGROUND 

The City of Dayton (the “City”) owns and operates critical public water and wastewater 
infrastructure, including water supply wells, booster pumps, municipal springs, a municipal 
pressure reducing valve (PRV) station, a municipal water treatment plant, three potable water 
storage reservoirs, four sanitary sewer pump stations, and a municipal wastewater treatment 
plant, along with associated ancillary systems. Many of these facilities rely on supervisory 
control and data acquisition (“SCADA”) systems, programmable logic controllers (“PLCs”), 
telemetry, and other automated control equipment to ensure safe, reliable, and efficient 
operation. 
 
Over the past several years, the City has undertaken partial upgrades to its SCADA and related 
control systems, replacing obsolete components and expanding system resiliency. Additional 
improvements are currently in design and construction phases. These investments have 
demonstrated the critical importance of integrated, secure, and well-maintained control 
systems. However, under the City’s existing procurement approach, each new project or 
upgrade requires a separate bidding process, which can lead to inconsistent hardware and 
software platforms, compatibility issues, and duplicative costs. 
 
To address these challenges, the City seeks to procure the services of an Integrator of Record. 
The selected Integrator of Record will provide turnkey professional and construction services 
for the City’s SCADA, PLC, and telemetry systems, including procurement, programming, 
integration, equipment installation, and ongoing technical support (the “Project”) under two 
contracts: (1) a Master Procurement and Installation Contract; and (2) a Master Services 
Contract. The Master Contracts are expected to be in effect for five (5) years, with an option for 
two five (5) year extensions, after which the City will re-solicit to maintain competition and avoid 
long-term exclusivity. 

97



6 

 
Under the Master Procurement and Installation Contract, the consultant will procure and install 
control and telemetry systems for existing and future contemplated City infrastructure projects. 
Because each SCADA-related improvement project must be tailored to the City’s unique 
system architecture, the City believes it is in the public interest to authorize an exemption from 
competitive low-bid contracting and instead use a competitive Request for Proposals (“RFP”) 
process to select a single qualified Integrator of Record. Task Orders under the Master 
Procurement and Installation Contract will then be negotiated and executed for specific 
projects, ensuring continuity and compatibility across the City’s infrastructure. 
 
In addition, control and telemetry system components must be procured from Rockwell 
Automation and the selected consultant must be a Rockwell Certified Systems Inegrator. As 
such, the selected consultant will procure and/or install the required control and telemetry 
system components.  
 
This contracting approach will reduce costs, increase efficiency, and improve long-term system 
reliability by standardizing equipment and software, streamlining procurement, and 
leveraging the Integrator of Record’s familiarity with the City’s systems. At the same time, the 
exemption will not diminish competition, because the Integrator of Record will be selected 
through an open and widely publicized competitive solicitation process. 
 
Based on the Findings, using a competitive RFP to award the contracts will support successful 
completion of the Services in the most efficient and cost-effective manner to achieve the City’s 
goals. Ordinarily, the City would be required to use competitive sealed bidding for any 
installation contracts that it awards. In addition, awarding the procurement of components  to 
a single consultant requires the approval of a special procurement under ORS 279B.085(4). In 
order to ensure that the Agreement does not violate state statutes, the City desires to exempt 
the solicitation process from the competitive bidding requirements of ORS 279C.335 and ORS 
279B.085. Council is the Local Contract Review Board with the authority to exempt certain 
public contracts or classes of contracts from the formal procurement requirements of ORS 
279B and ORS 279C based on the Findings. With the present action, Council will exempt the 
RFP, the Master Procurement and Installation Contract and any Services from the formal 
procurement requirements of ORS 279B and ORS 279C and will authorize the Improvement 
Projects to be awarded under the Master Procurement and Installation Contract via Task 
Orders. State law and the City’s public contracting rules permit the City to exempt certain 
contracts if Council is able to approve certain findings justifying an alternative approach. The 
factual bases to support the Findings in connection with the Project, including the Additional 
Findings (as hereinafter defined) are set forth below. 
 

98



7 

NO FAVORITISM OR DIMINISHED COMPETITION 

ORS 279B.085(4) and ORS 279C.335(2) require that Council make certain findings as a part of 
exempting public contracts or classes of public contracts from competitive bidding. Council 
must make a finding that the exemption is unlikely to encourage favoritism in the awarding of 
public contracts or substantially diminish competition for public contracts. This finding is 
appropriate for the Dayton SCADA System Upgrade, Expansion & Maintenance project and is 
supported by the following facts. 
 
It is unlikely that this exemption will encourage favoritism in the awarding of public contracts 
or substantially diminish competition for such contracts. The City intends to use a competitive 
Request for Proposals (RFP) process that will be broadly advertised as required by State law 
and the City’s procurement rules, including advertisement in the local paper of record, a trade 
publication of statewide circulation, ORPIN, and other relevant outlets. Multiple qualified firms 
provide PLC, SCADA, and telemetry integration services across Oregon and the Pacific 
Northwest. All interested firms will have equal access to the solicitation documents, evaluation 
criteria, and proposal process. 
 
The exemption does not pre-select or favor a particular firm; instead, it establishes a framework 
for fair competition among firms with the necessary expertise. Because the contracts will be 
time-limited (five years, with one optional five-year renewal), other firms will have future 
recurring opportunities to compete. This structure ensures that competition is not diminished 
and favoritism is avoided. 
 

SUBSTANTIAL COST SAVINGS 

ORS 279B.085(4) and ORS 279C.335(2) require that Council make certain findings as part of 
exempting public contracts or classes of public contracts from the required formal 
procurement process.  Council must find that the awarding of public contracts under the 
exemption will result in substantial cost savings to the public contracting agency. This finding 
is appropriate for the Project and is supported by the following facts. 
 
Awarding contracts under this exemption will result in substantial cost savings to the City. 
Without a single Integrator of Record, each Improvement Project would require separate 
bidding and procurement efforts, leading to duplicative engineering, integration, and 
procurement costs. Additionally, competing integrators may propose hardware and software 
solutions that are not compatible with existing systems, resulting in costly retrofits, 
inefficiencies, potential service disruptions, as well as potential lack of resiliency and 
redundancy. 
 
Engaging a Rockwell Certified Systems Inegrator to directly procure and install the necessary 
control and telemetry system components will help mitigate Project risks because the 

99



8 

consultant will have expertise in Rockwell Automation products, best practices and system 
implementation. These benefits will result in Project efficiencies and acceleration while 
reducing overall Project cots.  
 
By engaging a single Integrator of Record, the City will avoid repeated re-design, ensure 
hardware and software standardization, reduce training and maintenance costs, and 
streamline procurement of parts and services. The City will also save on Project delivery time, 
as the Integrator of Record will already be familiar with system architecture, cybersecurity 
protocols, and operational requirements. Over the 15-year potential life of the contracts, these 
efficiencies are expected to save the City significant capital and operating funds. 
 

The factual bases to support the ADDITIONAL findings 

 

A. How Many Persons are Available to Propose 
 

A Web search indicates that there are at least 11 firms in the Portland Metro area and the 
Willamette Valley offering PLC programming and automation services. The City anticipates that 
at least three to six regional firms are capable of performing the Integrator of Record services. 
The RFP will be posted through ORPIN and advertised in trade publications to ensure wide 
notice. No qualified provider will be excluded from consideration. 
 

B. The Construction Budget and the Projected Operating Costs for the Services 
 

The City anticipates approximately $250,000 in SCADA and control system projects over the 
first five years of the contracts (although this amount is a rough estimate subject to additional 
review and clarification as the Projects progress). Each Improvement Project will be negotiated 
under a task order structure with not-to-exceed pricing. System planning services will be 
competitively priced as part of the original RFP response, and construction task orders will be 
priced on actual costs plus a negotiated and capped markup. Independent cost estimators will 
be used, as appropriate, to validate pricing. 
 

C. Public Benefits That May Result from Granting the Exemption 
 
The primary public benefit is the assurance of reliable, secure, and compatible water and 
wastewater control systems. A single Integrator of Record reduces risks of communication 
failures, improves system resilience, enhances cybersecurity, and ensures rapid 
troubleshooting. These benefits support the City’s mission to provide safe, reliable water and 
wastewater service to residents, based on secure, resilient and flexible systems providing these 
services. 
 

D. Whether Value Engineering Techniques May Decrease the Cost of the Services 

100



9 

 
Yes. A long-term relationship with an Integrator of Record will allow continuous improvement 
and cost optimization across projects. Standardized equipment, programming methods, and 
documentation will reduce redundancy. The Integrator of Record can propose iterative 
improvements and reuse proven designs, lowering both capital and lifecycle costs without 
sacrificing system capabilities. 
 

E. The Cost and Availability of Specialized Expertise Required for the Services 
 
PLC/SCADA integration requires highly specialized expertise not typically available in-house 
for a city the size of Dayton. A single Integrator of Record ensures availability of such expertise 
while maintaining familiarity with the City’s infrastructure. This reduces onboarding time for 
each project and avoids errors from contractors unfamiliar with the City systems. 
 

F. Likely Increases in Public Safety 
 
A secure and reliable SCADA system is vital to protecting public health. Failures or breaches 
could compromise water quality, wastewater treatment, or emergency operations. A single 
Integrator of Record improves reliability and cybersecurity, directly enhancing public safety. 
 

G. Whether Granting the Exemption May Reduce Risks to the City related to the 
Services 

 
Yes. With one Integrator of Record, the City minimizes the risk of integration failures, 
incompatible equipment, and project delays. While reliance on a single firm does present 
continuity risks if the firm ceases operations, this risk is mitigated by requiring all programming, 
documentation, and passwords to be turned over to the City. This ensures continuity of 
operations. 
 

H. Whether Granting the Exemption will Affect the Funding Sources for the Services 
 
No. The exemption has no impact on funding sources. Projects will continue to be funded 
through existing utility capital improvement budgets and rates. 
 

I. Whether Granting the Exemption will Better Enable the City to Control the Impact 
That Market Conditions May Have on the Cost of and Time Necessary to Complete 
the Services 

 
Yes. By locking in markup percentages and contractual terms up front, the City will insulate itself from 
volatile market conditions for labor and materials. The task order approach for Improvement Projects 
allows flexibility to time or scope projects according to market conditions while maintaining cost 
transparency. still be constrained by the cost and time requirements of each task order. 

101



10 

 
J. Whether Granting the Exemption Will Better Enable the City to Address the Size 

and Technical Complexity of the Services 
 

Yes. The City’s control systems span multiple facilities, including wells & booster pump systems, 
a water treatment plant, water storage reservoirs, a wastewater treatment plant, sewer pump 
stations, and remote telemetry sites monitoring various aspects of these systems. This technical 
complexity requires consistent design and oversight. A single Integrator of Record is best 
positioned to address this complexity across multiple systems and projects. 
 

K. Whether the Services Involve New Construction or Renovates an Existing 
Structure. 

 
Both. Some task orders will involve new construction, while others will involve renovations or 
retrofits of existing facilities. 
 

L. Whether the Project Will be Occupied or Unoccupied During Construction 
 
Varies by task order. Some work will occur in continuously operating water or wastewater 
facilities, requiring careful planning to avoid service interruptions. Other projects may be new 
facilities and unoccupied during construction. 
 

M. Whether the Services Will Require a Single Phase or Multiple Phases of 
Construction Work to Address Specific Project Conditions. 

 
Multiple phases. The City anticipates multiple task orders over the term of the contracts, 
phased to align with budget cycles and operational priorities. 
 

N. Whether the City Has or Will Retain Personnel, Consultants and Legal Counsel that 
Have Necessary Expertise and Substantial Experience in Alternative Contracting 
Methods to Assist in Developing the Alternative Contracting Method and to Help 
Negotiate, Administer and Enforce the Terms of the Project Contract 

 
Yes. The City has contracted civil & electrical engineers, a public works project management 
team, as well as outside legal counsel experienced with alternative contracting methods. These 
resources will be available to develop, negotiate, and administer the Integrator of Record 
contracts. 
 
 
 
 

102



REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 
FOR 

SYSTEM INTEGRATOR OF RECORD (IOR) 

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 

PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL DEADLINE: 
February 19, 2026  2:00 PM 

WESTECH ENGINEERING, INC. 
3841 Fairview Industrial Drive SE, Suite 100 

Salem, Oregon  97302 
(503) 585-2474

103



REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 
SYSTEM INTEGRATOR OF RECORD 

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 

TABLE OF CONTENTS Page 

1. PURPOSE OF RFP AND PROJECT BACKGROUND: .................................................................................. 1 
2. DEFINITIONS: ......................................................................................................................................... 1 
3. SCOPE OF SERVICES: ............................................................................................................................. 2 
4. INFORMATION CONCERNING RFP: ....................................................................................................... 3 
5. SCHEDULE OF EVENTS: .......................................................................................................................... 4 
6. ADDENDA TO THE REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS ...................................................................................... 4 
7. FORMAT OF PROPOSALS: ...................................................................................................................... 4 
8. CONTENT OF PROPOSALS: .................................................................................................................... 5 
9. CONTRACT: ............................................................................................................................................ 7 
10. WORK ASSIGNMENTS: ..................................................................................................................... 7 
11. SUBMISSION OF PROPOSALS: .......................................................................................................... 8 
12. WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSALS: ....................................................................................................... 9 
13. EVALUATION OF PROPOSALS: .......................................................................................................... 9 
14. SELECTION: ....................................................................................................................................... 9 

APPENDICES 

APPENDIX A.1 – System Integrator Master Procurement and Installation Contract 

APPENDIX A.2 – System Integrator Master Services Contract 

APPENDIX B – Project Background and Anticipated Scope of Work for System Integrator 

APPENDIX C – Proposer’s Response Form 

APPENDIX D – Invitation to Propose 

APPENDIX E – Subcontractor Disclosure Form 

15. MISCELLANEOUS: ..............................................................................................................................12 

104



1. PURPOSE OF RFP AND PROJECT BACKGROUND:

The City of Dayton (City) is requesting proposals from consultants to (1) procure and install 
control & telemetry systems for existing City infrastructure, (2) procure control and telemetry 
systems in connection with future contemplated City infrastructure projects that involve a 
separate design and construction scope, and (3) provide ongoing system maintenance and 
minor repair work (Project), collectively, to serve as the City’s System Integrator of Record 
(Consultant). Control and telemetry system components must be procured from Rockwell 
Automation, and the selected Consultant must be a Rockwell Certified Systems Integrator. 
This Request for Proposals (RFP) is intended to provide interested parties with sufficient 
information to prepare and submit proposals for consideration by the City. The City intends to 
enter into (the two contracts attached to this RFP as Appendices A.1 and A.2) with the 
selected Consultant under the terms and conditions outlined in this RFP.  The City is seeking 
a Consultant who will be selected and awarded a contract based upon the criteria listed in 
Section 13 of this RFP. To clarify, there will be no design scope that would be required to be 
completed by a licensed engineer for this Project.  

The City of Dayton serves a population of approximately 2,665 people and provides drinking 
water, sanitary sewer, and other public utility services to its user base. The City owns and 
operates a number of water supply wells and associated booster pumps, municipal springs, a 
municipal PRV station, a municipal water treatment plant (WTP) and three potable water 
storage reservoirs, as well as associated ancillary systems and appurtenances. The City also 
owns and operates four sewer pump stations and a wastewater treatment plant, as well as 
associated ancillary systems and appurtenances.  The City owns and operates supervisory 
control and data acquisition (SCADA) systems connected to many of these utilities. 

Partial upgrades to the City’s SCADA system were completed over the past several years in 
order to replace and upgrade certain obsolete components and expand the SCADA system’s 
capabilities and resiliency, as well as additional upgrades and improvements to various water 
& sewer system components which are currently under construction or in the planning stages. 
The selected Consultant will perform services to complete the desired upgrades and 
improvements to the existing SCADA system, and will also provide electrical and control 
system installation and integration support for current projects under construction and in the 
planning stages. Further, the selected consultant will provide similar support for future 
projects, as described in greater detail in Appendix B. Finally, the consultant will provide 
ongoing repairs and maintenance services for the City’s SCADA system. 

2. DEFINITIONS:

Unless otherwise stated or the context otherwise implies, words, terms, and phrases used in 
this Request for Proposal shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the engineering and 
environmental services profession. 

As used in this RFP: 

1 105



 

 

“Addendum” means any document issued by the City to modify the terms  and conditions 
of this RFP document. 

“Consultant” means a respondent selected by the City through this RFP who enters into a 
Master Services Contract and Master Procurement and Installation Contract with 
the City to provide services included under this RFP. 

“City” means City of Dayton, Oregon 

“EOR” means the Engineer of Record (i.e. contract City Engineer), Westech Engineering 
Inc, of the City of Dayton. 

“Master Procurement and Installation Contract” means the written contract between the 
City and a Consultant that will establish the general requirements for Work 
Assignments (see Appendix A.1). 

“Master Services Contract” means the written professional services contract between the 
City and a Consultant that will establish the general requirements for maintenance 
work (see Appendix A.2). 

“Proposal” means a written proposal and statement of qualifications submitted by a 
respondent in response to this RFP. 

“Proposer” or “Respondent” means any person or entity that submits a written proposal 
and statement of qualifications in response to this RFP. 

“Proposer’s Response Form” means the form attached to this RFP as Appendix C. 

“RFP” or “Request for Proposals” means this document, all attached appendices, other 
documents incorporated by reference in this document, and addenda to this RFP.  

“Services” means all labor, equipment, materials, opinions, reports, and other planning, 
consulting, construction, installation or other services which are authorized by the 
City.  

“Shall”:  The term is considered a mandatory obligation, and synonymous with the phrase 
“has a duty to” when referring to a capable actor, and with the word “must” when 
referring to a requirement regarding an inanimate object or a status. 

“Work Assignment” means a discrete written agreement or task order between the City 
and the Consultant pursuant to which the Consultant agrees to perform specific 
defined Services. 

 
When not inconsistent with the context, words in the plural number include the singular 
and words in the singular include the plural.  However, references to “the Consultant” do 
imply that there is only one Consultant providing the same or similar services provided for 
under this RFP. It is the City’s intent to award a Master Services Contract to one 
Consultant under this RFP.  

3. SCOPE OF SERVICES: 

2 106



3.1 The Consultant will be expected to provide services similar to those described in 
Appendix B.  The City intends to enter into a Master Services Contract and Master 
Procurement and Installation Contract in substantially the same forms as the sample 
contracts in Appendix A.   As specific work tasks are defined, the City will solicit a 
scope of work and cost proposal from the Consultant and issue a task order for the 
work under the terms of the Master Procurement and Installation Contract. 
Maintenance and minor repair work will be provided without task order, on an as-
needed basis. 

3.2 The Consultant shall perform the Services to the City as an independent contractor in 
accordance with the highest professional standards prevalent in Consultant’s industry. 
Consultant shall be responsible for the professional quality, technical accuracy and 
coordination of all Services that it performs. 

3.3 The Consultant shall, without additional compensation, correct or revise any errors or 
deficiencies in the Services that are caused by Consultant’s acts or omissions. 

4. INFORMATION CONCERNING RFP:

4.1 The EOR is the sole point of contact in the City for this selection action.  All 
correspondence pertaining to this RFP shall be directed to the EOR at: 

Westech Engineering, Inc. 
Attention: Denny Muchmore, P.E. 
3841 Fairview Industrial Dr. SE, Suite 100 
Salem, OR 97302 

Telephone: (503) 585-2474 
Email: dmuchmore@westech-eng.com 

4.2 Respondents are cautioned not to make any assumptions as to the implied meaning 
or intent of any part of this RFP.  Respondents shall request clarification if needed. 
Every request for information on, or clarification of, this RFP must be submitted to the 
EOR in writing by February 13, 2026 at 10:00am. 

4.3 Respondents submit proposals solely at their own expense and the City is not 
responsible for any of Respondents’ expenses associated with responses to this RFP. 

4.4 Any prospective respondent may protest the provisions of this RFP or any aspect of 
the procurement process by filing a written protest to the RFP by February 10, 2026 
at 5:00pm, or may protest a notice of intent to award by filing a written protest to the 
notice of intent to award (NITA) within 7 days of the City’s issuance of the NITA . 
Failure to file a protest will be deemed a waiver of any claim by a respondent that the 
RFP or procurement procedure violates any provision of ORS Chapter 279A, 279B, 
279C, or the City’s Public Contracting Rules. 

3 107



5. SCHEDULE OF EVENTS:

5.1 The following schedule of events shall be followed for this RFP: 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL ADVERTISED ...................................... January 9, 2026 

LAST DATE FOR SOLICITATION PROTEST ................................. February 10, 2026 

LAST DATE FOR SOLICITATION QUESTIONS ............................. February 13, 2026 

PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL DEADLINE .......................... February 19, 2026 at 2:00 pm. 

NOTIFICATION OF INTENT TO INTERVIEW PROPOSERS ............... March 5, 2026 

INTERVIEWS OF PROPOSERS (IF REQUESTED) ........................... March 19, 2026 

EXPECTED DATE FOR NOTICE OF INTENT TO AWARD ................ March 30, 2026 

END OF CONTRACT AWARD PROTEST PERIOD ................................. April 6, 2026 

EXPECTED DATE FOR CITY COUNCIL AWARD ................................. April 20, 2026 

5.2 The schedule of events in Subsection 5.1 is intended to allow prospective respondents 
sufficient time to submit requests for information and for the preparation of Proposals. 

MANDATORY PRE-SUBMISSION MEETING: All prospective proposers are required to 
attend a mandatory pre-submission meeting and site visit prior to submission of proposals in 
order to become acquainted with the City facilities and project specifics.  

The mandatory pre-submission site visit will be held beginning at the Water Treatment Plant 
located at 1209 Ferry St., Dayton Oregon 97114 on January 22, 2026 at 2:00 pm local time. 
Submissions will not be accepted without proof of attendance at this pre-submittal meeting 
and sit visit. For questions regarding the pre-submission meeting, please contact the City 
EOR. 

6. ADDENDA TO THE REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS

The provisions of this RFP cannot be modified by oral interpretations or statements.  If 
inquiries or comments by respondents raise issues that require clarification by the City or the 
City decides to revise any part of this RFP, addenda will be provided to all persons who receive 
the RFP from the EOR.  Receipt of all Addenda must be acknowledged by completing the 
addenda acknowledgment paragraph of the Proposer’s Response Form and submitting the 
completed and signed form with the Proposal. 

7. FORMAT OF PROPOSALS:

7.1 Proposals shall be submitted in the format described in this section and include the 
content specified in Section 8. 

4 108



 

 

 
7.2 In order to be considered for selection, a respondent must submit a complete, succinct 

response to this RFP.  The proposal shall be prepared simply and economically, 
providing a concise description of the respondent’s capabilities to provide services.  
The City will not reimburse respondents for any costs incurred in the preparation and 
presentation of their proposals.  

 
7.3 The proposal shall be typed.  The proposal shall be organized in accordance with the 

list of contents specified in Section 8.  The proposal shall not exceed the page limits 
listed in Section 8, excluding both the Cover Sheet and the Proposer’s Response 
Form.  If a respondent submits a proposal exceeding this limit, the City will consider 
the pages up to that allowable number and discard all subsequent pages.  One (1) 
page is defined as: one (1) side of a single 8-1/2” x 11” page, with 12-point minimum 
font size for the substantive text.  Any page over this size will be counted as two (2) 
pages. Any page or partial page with substantive text, tables, graphics, charts, 
resumes, etc., will be counted as one (1) page.  Respondents may use their discretion 
for the font size of the other materials (e.g. graphics, charts). 

 
7.4 The proposal shall be signed in ink by a person who is authorized to represent the 

respondent.  
 

7.5 A proposal from a partnership shall be signed by at least one partner authorized to 
sign on behalf of the partnership.  

 
7.6 A proposal from a corporation shall be signed by the President, the Chief Executive 

Officer, or other person authorized to act on behalf of the corporation, and shall include 
evidence of the corporate officer’s authority to sign.  The State of Incorporation shall 
also be identified.  

 
7.7 By submitting a proposal, a respondent acknowledges that:  

7.7.1 The respondent has read and understands this RFP; and  
7.7.2 The respondent is familiar with the conditions that will affect the 

respondent’s performance, if the respondent is selected by the City. 
 

8. CONTENT OF PROPOSALS: 
 

8.1 Content of proposals shall include information and be organized as described below. 
Respondents shall respond to each category. 

 
8.2 Proposals shall include a cover sheet with the following items. 1 page limit. 

8.2.1 Respondent’s name, address, email address, and telephone number;  
8.2.2 Name and contact information of primary contact person;  
8.2.3 Signature, printed name, and title of respondent’s authorized 

representative;  
8.2.4 A statement indicating acceptance of the City’s proposed Master Services 

Contract provisions or suggestions of reasonable alternatives that do not 

5 109



substantially impair the City’s rights under the contract in accordance with 
Section 9 of the RFP; 

8.2.5 Date of signature.  

8.3 Minimum Requirements of Proposers:  It is a requirement that Proposers possess the 
following minimum certifications, licensing and facilities.  Proposers shall furnish 
documentation to validate that the following minimum qualifications are met.  Such 
documentation demonstrating compliance with these requirements is not included in 
the page number limit, but shall be provided in a separate section, appropriately 
labeled, at the end of the proposal.   

8.3.1 Proposers shall be officially recognized as a Rockwell Certified System 
Integrator.  Proposers shall furnish documentation from Rockwell to 
validate this status; 

8.3.2 Proposers shall own and operate a UL508A Listed Panel Shop.  Proposers 
shall furnish documentation to validate this status; 

8.3.3 Proposers shall be licensed by the Oregon Construction Contractors Board 
(CCB) as a licensed Contractor in good standing;  

8.3.4 Proposers shall have licensed electricians on staff, including both low 
voltage and high voltage (up to 480v 3 phase power) electricians.  

8.4 Firm Description:  5 page limit. A description of the Proposer’s company, 
documentation of insurance, and a description of the proposer’s resources, including 
a summary of staff, equipment, and facilities.  

8.5 Qualifications, Resources, and Experience. 10 page limit. This section shall describe 
the Proposer’s specific qualifications and experience with control system and 
integration work similar to the work anticipated by the City.  

8.6 Project Team.  10 page limit. This section shall describe the experience of key 
personnel on the proposed project team. Certifications of key staff shall be listed.  This 
section shall include complete contact information for the project manager that will be 
assigned to this project, including a resume of his or her experience.  The individual’s 
education, training, certifications, and experience shall be identified. Indicate whether 
experience is with the Proposer or with a former employer.   

8.7 References: 1 page limit.  Contact information for a minimum of three municipal 
references for which the proposer has provided services similar to those anticipated 
by the City.  These references listed must be familiar with the proposed project team 
members.   

8.8 Hourly Rates:  2 page limit.  Provide hourly rates billing rates for all staff and crew time, 
as well as reimbursables.   

8.9 Additional Information.  5 page limit.  Any additional information respondents feel is 
relevant to assess the capabilities and qualifications of their company to successfully 
complete the Scope of Work. 

6 110



8.10 Proposers must submit the Proposer’s Response Form attached to this RFP as 
Appendix C. 

9. CONTRACT:

9.1 The Consultant selected by the City will be requested to enter into two contracts in the 
forms attached to this RFP as Appendix A.  The contract provisions proposed by the 
City are intended to assign the relative rights and responsibilities of the parties in a 
manner that will promote quality in the Services. 

9.2 The selected Consultant shall provide Certificates of Insurance in an amount not less 
than those listed in the contracts. 

9.3 The proposal shall either indicate acceptance of the City’s proposed contracts 
provisions or suggest reasonable alternatives that do not substantially impair the City’s 
rights under the contracts.  Unconditional refusal to accept the contracts provisions 
proposed by the City without offering acceptable alternatives may result in the 
disqualification of the respondent or result in a less favorable evaluation of its proposal. 

9.4 Following the selection of the successful Consultant, the City may agree to negotiate 
limited changes to the provisions of the sample contracts.  However, the City is not 
required to make any changes.  Prospective Consultants are cautioned that the City 
believes modifications to the standard provisions constitute increased risk and 
increased cost to the City.  The City reserves the right to negotiate final contracts that 
are in the best interest of the City. 

If inclusion of any of the City’s proposed contracts provisions will result in higher cost 
for the Services, such contracts provisions and associated costs shall be specifically 
identified in the proposal. 

9.5 The anticipated initial term of the contracts will be five (5) years with the City’s option 
to extend the term for two additional 5-year periods. 

9.6 The awarded contracts are for public works projects subject to state prevailing rates 
of wage under ORS 279C.800 to 279C.870 and, dependent on federal funding, the 
federal prevailing rates of wage under the Davis-Bacon Act (40 U.S.C. 3141 et seq.), 
or both. The City will not receive or consider a proposal unless the proposal contains 
a statement by the proposer that the proposer will comply with ORS 279C.838 or 
279C.840 or 40 U.S.C. 3141 et seq. 

10. WORK ASSIGNMENTS:

10.1 Before performing any work for which the Consultant will seek compensation under 
the System Integrator Master Services Contract, the selected Consultant shall prepare 
a detailed scope of work, budget of costs, and project schedule for a specific work task 
solicited by the City.  The scope of work shall include all tasks and deliverables 

7 111



necessary to complete the work scope requested by the City.  The budget of costs 
shall assign task numbers to each task outlined in the scope of work and show the 
budgeted number of hours, team member assignments, and hourly rate for each task. 
The City will then issue a work assignment or task order under the provisions of the 
System Integrator Master Services Contract.  

10.2 The selected Consultant shall not begin work on any work assignment or task until the 
City has issued a Notice to Proceed or Task Order for that work assignment or task.  

11. SUBMISSION OF PROPOSALS:

11.1 Proposals shall be delivered to office of the EOR before 2:00 PM on February 19, 
2026.  Proposals received after the specified time and date will not be considered. 
Proposers must also submit a subcontractor disclosure form for the installation scope 
no later than two hours after the RFP closes.  

All proposals shall be signed and dated in ink and submitted in a sealed envelope labeled 
with the name of the proposal (City of Dayton, System Integrator of Record) and the name 
of the proposer.  The color scanned copy of the proposal shall also be submitted digitally 
on a USB flash drive included in the envelope (ie. as a single PDF file containing all pages 
in the proposal and all attachments).  Emailed or faxed submittals will not be accepted or 
considered. 

The City is not responsible for mail delivery delays. Respondents are encouraged to 
submit mailed proposals well prior to the deadline and to confirm receipt of the proposal 
by telephone. 

11.2 Respondents shall submit their proposal to the EOR at the address shown below. 

Denny Muchmore, P.E. 
Westech Engineering, Inc. 
3841 Fairview Industrial Drive SE 
Salem, OR  97302 

11.3 Each respondent’s proposal shall be irrevocable for one hundred and twenty (120) 
days from the submission deadline or until the City specifically rejects the proposal or 
executes a contract with another respondent, whichever occurs first.   

11.4 The City reserves the right to hold the proposals (rather than opening them 
immediately after the submittal deadline) so that the proposals can be opened and 
evaluated by City staff, at a time determined by the City.   

11.5 There will be no public opening of proposals. Proposals received will not be available 
for inspection after the evaluation process has been completed and the notice of intent 
to award has been issued. However, the City will record and make available the 
identity of all proposers after opening of proposals. 

8 112



12. WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSALS:

Any proposal may be withdrawn by delivering a written request to the EOR at any time prior 
to the date of closing.  The request shall be executed by a duly authorized representative of 
the respondent.  Proposals withdrawn early may be resubmitted prior to the deadline.   

13. EVALUATION OF PROPOSALS:

13.1 Proposals will be scored and evaluated by City staff.  Scoring and evaluation will 
focus on the qualifications and response provided in the proposal.  

13.2 The City may interview one or more ranked respondent(s), but the City is not 
required to interview any or all respondents.   

13.3 Proposals that do not contain all information required by this RFP or are otherwise 
non-responsive, may be rejected, or given a lower rating in the evaluation process. 
The City may waive minor informalities in a proposal. 

13.4 The City may request supplemental information from a respondent concerning the 
respondent’s ability to perform services.  If a respondent fails to provide 
supplemental information promptly after receiving a written request from the City, the 
City may refuse to consider the Respondent’s proposal.  

13.5 In cases of doubt or differences of opinion concerning the interpretation of this RFP, 
the City shall have exclusive discretion to determine the intent, purpose, and 
meaning of any provision in this RFP. 

13.6 City staff will apply the following criteria in making a recommendation to the City 
Manager for the award of the contracts.  The criteria are listed with the range of 
points that respondents can score in each category. 

A. Favorable references and proven track record for
control system, integration & programming services. (0-10 pts) 

B. Product & service quality and expected performance (0-30 pts) 
C. Quality and completeness of proposal (0-10 pts) 
D. Service capabilities and support after facility

commissioning, considering location of service 
representatives, track record for other municipalities in
western Oregon.

(0-20 pts) 

E. Cost (Hourly Rates) (0-20 pts) 

F. Interviews (if held) (0-10 pts) 

14. SELECTION:

14.1 The City reserves the right to modify or incorporate additional steps in the evaluation 
process in the best interest of having a thorough and comprehensive body of 

9 113



information in order to make a recommendation on final approval to the City Council. 

14.2 The City may award the contracts to and negotiate the contracts with the most 
qualified, responsive, responsible respondent, as determined in the sole discretion of 
the City. The highest ranked proposal based upon the evaluation criteria described in 
Section 13 may be identified as the finalist.  

14.3 The City will determine if the apparent successful respondent is responsible prior to 
award and execution of the contract. All respondents must sign and submit the 
Responsibility Determination Form set forth in Appendix C-1.  

14.4 If the City and the selected respondent are unable for any reason to negotiate a 
contract, the City will, either orally or in writing, formally terminate negotiations with the 
selected respondent.  The City may then negotiate with the next most qualified 
respondent.  The negotiation process may continue in this manner through successive 
candidates until an agreement is reached or the City terminates this RFP. 

14.5 All respondents not selected will be notified of the City’s decision by issuance of a 
Notice of Intent to Award, which will be sent to all respondents who submitted a timely 
and responsive proposal.  After the City selects a Consultant to perform the services 
and issues a Notice of Intent to Award, any proposer may review the evaluation 
documentation at the office of the EOR.  If there are disagreements with the outcome 
of the selection process, the proposer must submit any protest in writing to the EOR 
within seven (7) days after the issuance of the Notice of Intent to Award.  A written 
response will be issued by the City for any protest from a proposer, prior to execution 
of the contract with the selected proposer.  

14.6 The Services and responsibilities set forth in this RFP, together with any other 
documents required herein, shall be included in the contracts executed by the 
successful Proposer, as indicated in the Contract forms attached as Appendix A.  Any 
open terms in the attached contracts will be completed based on City negotiation and 
the Respondent’s proposal.  Subject to Section 9.3 of this RFP, submittal of a proposal 
indicates a Proposer’s intent to execute the attached contracts and to be bound 
thereby. 

14.7 Rights Reserved – The City reserves the right to: 
14.7.1 Reject any proposal not in compliance with all provisions of the RFP, all 

prescribed public contracting procedures and requirements and other 
applicable laws. 

14.7.2 Reject for good cause any or all proposals upon the City finding that it is in 
the public interest to do so. 

14.7.3 Reject any proposal or proposals not meeting or differing from the 
requirements set forth herein. 

14.7.4 Waive any and all minor irregularities or informality in the proposal submitted 
when, in the opinion of the City, it is in its best interest to do so. 

14.7.5 Consider the competency and responsibility of proposers in making any 
decisions to select a proposer and/or execute a contract. 

10 114



14.7.6 Reject a selected proposer if within a reasonable time, determined solely at 
the discretion of the City, the proposer has not executed a contract with the 
City.   

14.7.7 Hold the three proposals determined best by the City under consideration 
until the final award is made, provided that the City shall award the contract 
within 120 days after the proposal opening date. 

14.7.8 Extend the deadline for submitting proposals. 
14.7.9 Seek other proposals, if deemed in the public interest. 
14.7.10 Cancel the RFP when the cancellation is in the best interest of the City as 

determined by the City, or to reject any proposal not in compliance with all 
prescribed public procurement procedures and requirements, or, for good 
cause, reject all proposals upon a finding of the City that it is in the public 
interest to do so. If the City cancels this procurement after proposals have 
been submitted, the proposals will be returned, but the City will keep a list of 
the proposals received. 

14.8 All information submitted by a proposer shall become and remain the property of the 
City and is considered public information and subject to disclosure pursuant to the 
Oregon Public Records Law, except such portions of the proposal, as identified by 
the proposer, which are exempt from disclosure consistent with Oregon law. If a 
proposal contains any information that the proposer believes is exempt from 
disclosure under the various grounds specified in the Oregon Public Records Law, 
the proposer must clearly designate each such portion of its proposal as exempt at 
the time of proposal submission, along with a justification and citation to the legal 
authority relied upon. Identifying the proposal, in whole, as exempt from disclosure is 
not acceptable. Failure to identify specific portions of the proposal as exempt shall be 
deemed a waiver of any future claim of that information as exempt. 

The City will make available to any person requesting information, through the City 
processes for disclosure of public records, any and all information submitted as a 
result of this RFP not exempted from disclosure without obtaining permission from 
any proposer to do so. City may also, in its sole discretion, elect to publish all such 
information at any time, regardless of whether or not a public records request has 
been received. However, if a public records request is made for material marked by 
the proposer as exempt, the City will attempt to notify the impacted proposer prior to 
any release of the material. Application of the Oregon Public Records Law by the City 
will determine whether any information is actually exempt from disclosure. The City 
accepts no liability for the release of any information submitted 

14.9 Selection of a successful proposer under this RFP is not a guarantee of a contract 
award, nor is the award of a contract for any portion of the work a guarantee of award of 
a contract for any subsequent work. All work is subject to budgetary and funding 
constraints of the City of Dayton. All legal rights and obligations between the successful 
proposer, if any, and the City will come into existence only when a contract is fully 
executed by the parties, and the legal rights and obligations of each party shall at that time 

11 115



be only those rights and obligations which are set forth in the contract and any other 
documents specifically referred to in that contract and executed by the parties. 

15. MISCELLANEOUS:

15.1 RFP documents may be examined at Dayton City Hall, 416 Ferry Street, Dayton, 
Oregon 97114 during normal business hours, Monday through Thursday, 8:00 am to 5:30 
pm. City offices are closed 12:00 pm to 12:30 pm for lunch. 

15.2 Eacher proposer to this RFP must identify in their proposal whether they are a 
“resident Bidder,” as defined in ORS 279A.120. 

15.3 Each proposer to this RFP must identify in their proposal whether they are certified 
as a disadvantaged business enterprise (DBE), minority-owned, woman-owned, veteran-
owned, or emerging small business under ORS 200.055, and must maintain such 
certification for the term of any contract awarded based on that status. 

15.4 This is a public works contract subject to ORS 279C.800 to 279C.870. 

12 116



APPENDIX A.1 

SYSTEM INTEGRATOR MASTER PROCUREMENT  
AND INSTALLATION CONTRACT 

Appendices - p. 1 117



EJCDC® P-520, Master Agreement between Owner and Provider for Procurement and Installation. 
Copyright© 2019 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights reserved. 
TOC Page 1 of 3 

This document has important legal consequences; consultation with an attorney is encouraged with 
respect to its use or modification. This document should be adapted to the particular circumstances of 
the contemplated Project and the controlling Laws and Regulations. 

MASTER AGREEMENT BETWEEN OWNER AND PROVIDER 
FOR PROCUREMENT AND INSTALLATION 

Prepared By 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 2 118



EJCDC® P-520, Master Agreement between Owner and Provider for Procurement and Installation. 
Copyright© 2019 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights reserved. 
TOC Page 2 of 3 

MASTER AGREEMENT BETWEEN OWNER AND PROVIDER 
FOR PROCUREMENT AND INSTALLATION 

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page 

Article 1— Master Agreement ...................................................................................................................... 1 
1.01 Task Orders ................................................................................................................................... 1 
1.02 Work .............................................................................................................................................. 2 
1.03 The Project .................................................................................................................................... 2 
1.04 Engineer ........................................................................................................................................ 2 

Article 2— Contract Times ............................................................................................................................ 2 
2.01 Time of the Essence ....................................................................................................................... 2 
2.02 Schedule of Contract Times ........................................................................................................... 2 
2.03 Shop Drawings and Samples ......................................................................................................... 2 
2.04 Liquidated Damages ..................................................................................................................... 3 
2.05 Term .............................................................................................................................................. 3 

Article 3— Contract Price .............................................................................................................................. 3 
3.01 Contract Price and Total Price ....................................................................................................... 3 

Article 4— Payment Procedures ................................................................................................................... 3 
4.01 Submittal and Processing of Applications for Payment ................................................................ 3 
4.02 Progress Payments; Final Payment ............................................................................................... 4 
4.03 Interest .......................................................................................................................................... 4 

Article 5— Representatives .......................................................................................................................... 4 
5.01 Owner Authorized Representative ................................................................................................ 4 
5.02 Provider Authorized Representative ............................................................................................. 4 

Article 6— Assignment of Master Agreement .............................................................................................. 4 
6.01 Assignment of Master Agreement ................................................................................................ 4 

Article 7— Contract Documents ................................................................................................................... 4 
7.01 List of Contract Documents ........................................................................................................... 4 

Article 8— PROVIDER’s Representations and Certifications ........................................................................ 5 
8.01 Provider’s Representations ........................................................................................................... 5 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 3 119



 

EJCDC® P-520, Master Agreement between Owner and Provider for Procurement and Installation. 
Copyright© 2019 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights reserved. 
TOC Page 3 of 3 

8.02 Provider’s Certifications ................................................................................................................ 6 
Article 9— Confidentiality ............................................................................................................................. 6 

9.01 Confidential Information ............................................................................................................... 6 
9.02 Public Records ............................................................................................................................... 8 
9.03 Waiver of Immunity ...................................................................................................................... 8 

 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 4 120



 

EJCDC® P-520, Agreement between Owner and Provider for Procurement Master Agreement. 
Copyright© 2019 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights reserved. 
Page 1 of 9 

MASTER AGREEMENT BETWEEN OWNER AND PROVIDER 
FOR PROCUREMENT AND INSTALLATION 

This Master Agreement is by and between the City of Dayton, an Oregon municipal corporation (“Owner”) 
and [formal name of entity] (“Provider”). 

Terms used in this Agreement have the meanings stated in the General Conditions. 

Owner and Provider hereby agree as follows: 

ARTICLE 1—MASTER AGREEMENT 

1.01 Task Orders 

A. Upon Owner’s identification of a need for a procurement project, or procurement and 
installation project, each pursuant to this Master Agreement, Owner shall notify Provider in 
writing of the same. The parties shall then work together in good faith to negotiate and 
execute a mutually acceptable Task Order containing all material terms and conditions of 
the particular Work (including, at minimum, the sections set forth in paragraph C). A sample 
Procurement Task Order is attached hereto as Exhibit A.1 and a sample Procurement and 
Installation Task Order is attached hereto as Exhibit A.2. The parties shall negotiate and 
execute a Procurement Task Order for the procurement of Goods and Special Services. The 
parties shall negotiate and execute a Procurement and Installation Task Order for the 
procurement and installation of Goods and related services. 

B. Owner reserves the right to negotiate the terms of a Task Order, including the project cost 
estimate, if doing so is in the best interest of the Owner, or to cancel a Task Order request 
altogether.  

C. Work authorized under this Master Agreement shall only be initiated by a fully executed 
Task Order signed by both the Owner and the Provider.  Task Orders shall include a 
description of the Work to be performed, to include, but not be limited to, the following: 

1. A description of the Goods, quantity of Goods, and other identifying characteristics; 

2. Scope of Special Services, if any; 

3. Items to be furnished by Owner, if applicable; 

4. Contract Price; 

5. Contract Times; 

6. Point of Destination, if applicable; 

7. Warranty terms; and 

8. Reasonable evidence of required bonds, insurance, and consent to assignment, if 
applicable. 

D. Provider shall perform the Work using commercially reasonable efforts. Provider shall be 
responsible for securing all permits, licenses, approvals, and other authorizations necessary 
to perform the Work. Provider shall bear full responsibility for all subcontractors and 
employees performing Work on its behalf, and for prompt payments to the same. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 5 121



 

EJCDC® P-520, Agreement between Owner and Provider for Procurement Master Agreement. 
Copyright© 2019 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights reserved. 
Page 2 of 9 

E. If there are conflicts between the terms of the Master Agreement and any individual Task 
Order, the terms of the Master Agreement shall take precedence. 

1.02 Work 

A. Provider shall, as applicable, furnish the Goods and Special Services, install the Goods, and 
perform and provide all other related services, materials, and equipment, as specified or 
indicated in each fully executed Task Order.  

B. The Goods are generally described within each applicable fully executed Task Order. 

C. The Special Services are generally described within each applicable fully executed Task Order.  

D. Any installation, commissioning, or other related work is generally described within each 
applicable fully executed Task Order. 

E. All Goods, Special Services, and other installation, commissioning, and other related work 
provided pursuant to a particular Task Order is collectively referred to herein as the “Work.” 

1.03 The Project 

A. The Project, of which the Work is a part, is generally described as follows: [brief description 
of Project]. 

1.04 Engineer 

A. Owner has retained [formal name of entity or individual] ("Engineer"), to act as Owner's 
representative. Engineer assumes all duties and responsibilities and has the rights and 
authority assigned to Engineer in the Contract Documents in connection with Provider’s 
provision of the Work. 

ARTICLE 2—CONTRACT TIMES 

2.01 Time of the Essence 

A. All time limits for Milestones, including but not limited to the submittal of Shop Drawings 
and Samples, the delivery of Goods, the furnishing of all Work as stated in the Contract 
Documents, and Substantial Completion and Final Completion, as applicable, are of the 
essence of the Master Agreement. 

2.02 Schedule of Contract Times 

A. The Contract Times are set forth in each fully executed Task Order. 

2.03 Shop Drawings and Samples 

A. Submittal of Shop Drawings and Samples: Provider shall submit all Shop Drawings and 
Samples required by each fully executed Task Order to Engineer for its review and approval. 

B. Engineer’s Review: It is the intent of the parties that Engineer will conduct its review of Shop 
Drawings and Samples and issue its approval, or a denial accompanied by substantive 
comments regarding information needed to gain approval, within [insert number] days after 
Provider's submittal of such Shop Drawings and Samples, or within such longer period that is 
needed because of the quantity and quality of such submittals. Resubmittals will be limited 
whenever possible. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 6 122



 

EJCDC® P-520, Agreement between Owner and Provider for Procurement Master Agreement. 
Copyright© 2019 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights reserved. 
Page 3 of 9 

2.04 Liquidated Damages 

A. Owner and Provider recognize that time is of the essence as stated in Paragraph 2.01, and 
that Owner will suffer financial and other losses if (1) with respect to Procurement Task 
Orders, the Goods are not delivered to the Point of Destination and ready for receipt of 
delivery by Owner within the time specified in the applicable Task Order, plus any extensions 
thereof allowed in accordance with this Master Agreement or (2) with respect to 
Procurement and Installation Task Orders, Provider fails to achieve Substantial Completion 
or Final Completion within the times specified in the applicable Task Order, plus any 
extensions thereof allowed in accordance with this Master Agreement. The parties also 
recognize that the timely performance of services by others involved in the Project is 
materially dependent upon Provider’s specific compliance with the Milestone requirements 
set forth in this paragraph and each fully executed Task Order. Further, the parties recognize 
the time, expense, and difficulties involved in proving, in a legal or arbitration proceeding, 
the loss (whether direct, consequential, or otherwise) suffered by Owner if complete, 
acceptable Goods are not delivered on time, or otherwise if the Work is not completed within 
the times set forth in the applicable Task Order. Accordingly, instead of requiring any such 
proof, Owner and Provider agree that as liquidated damages for delay (but not as a penalty) 
Provider shall pay Owner (I) $[insert dollar amount] for each day that expires after the time 
specified in the applicable Task Order for delivery of acceptable Goods, (II) $[insert dollar 
amount] for each day that expires after the Substantial Completion Date identified in the 
applicable Task Order, and (III) $[insert dollar amount] for each day that expires after the 
Final Completion Date identified in the applicable Task Order. 

2.05 Term 

A. The Master Agreement term shall commence on the Master Agreement Effective Date and 
shall continue for five (5) years thereafter, unless sooner terminated in accordance with the 
terms of this Master Agreement. The Owner may choose, in its discretion, to extend the 
initial five (5) year term for up to two (2) additional five (5) year terms, for a total of no more 
than fifteen (15) years total. 

B. Upon termination or expiration of this Master Agreement, all Task Orders shall also expire or 
terminate.  

ARTICLE 3—CONTRACT PRICE 

3.01 Contract Price and Total Price 

A. The Contract Price is comprised of the amounts set forth in each fully executed Task Order. 

ARTICLE 4—PAYMENT PROCEDURES 

4.01 Submittal and Processing of Applications for Payment 

A. Provider shall submit Applications for Payment in accordance with Article 16 of the General 
Conditions and each applicable, fully executed Task Order. Engineer and Owner will process 
such Applications for Payment in accordance with said Article 16. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 7 123



 

EJCDC® P-520, Agreement between Owner and Provider for Procurement Master Agreement. 
Copyright© 2019 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights reserved. 
Page 4 of 9 

4.02 Progress Payments; Final Payment 

A. Provider may submit an Application for Payment requesting Contract Price payment as 
stated in each applicable fully executed Task Order. 

B. Owner shall pay Provider the amount owed under an Application for Payment within 30 days 
after Engineer’s presentation to Owner of the Application for Payment and Engineer’s 
recommendation. 

4.03 Interest 

A. All amounts not paid when due will bear interest as the rate of the maximum percent 
permitted by law per annum. 

ARTICLE 5—REPRESENTATIVES 

5.01 Owner Authorized Representative 

A. The Owner Authorized Representative is __________________________.  

5.02 Provider Authorized Representative 

A. The Owner Authorized Representative is __________________________. 

ARTICLE 6—ASSIGNMENT OF MASTER AGREEMENT 

6.01 Assignment of Master Agreement 

A. This Master Agreement shall only be assigned upon express written consent of both parties. 
Task Orders may be assigned in accordance with the terms set forth therein. 

ARTICLE 7—CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

7.01 List of Contract Documents 

A. The Contract Documents consist of the following: 

1. This Agreement. 

2. Supplementary Conditions. 

3. General Conditions. 

4. Exhibits to this Agreement (enumerated as follows): 

a. Exhibits A.1, Procurement Task Order Form; 

b. Exhibit A.2, Procurement and Installation Task Order Form; 

c. Exhibit B, Notice of Receipt and Conformity; 

d. Exhibit C, Application for Payment; 

e. Exhibit D, Public Contracting Requirements; 

f. Documentation submitted by Provider [identify]. 

g. Procurement Materials: [identify]. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 8 124



 

EJCDC® P-520, Agreement between Owner and Provider for Procurement Master Agreement. 
Copyright© 2019 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights reserved. 
Page 5 of 9 

5. The following which may be delivered or issued on or after the Effective Date of the 
Master Agreement and are not attached hereto: 

a. All fully executed Task Orders, with corresponding incorporated and attached 
documentation (including, but not limited to, performance and payment bonds, 
Specifications, Drawings, and consent to assignment documentation); 

b. Change Orders; 

c. Change Directives;  

d. Field Orders; and 

e. Amendments. 

B. The documents listed in Paragraph 7.01.A are attached to this Agreement (except as 
expressly noted otherwise above). 

C. There are no Contract Documents other than those listed above. 

D. If there is a conflict between the Contract Documents, the Contract Documents shall take 
precedence in the following order: (1) Exhibit D, (2) Amendments and Change Orders, (3) 
Task Orders, (4) Procurement Materials, (5) this Agreement, (6) Supplementary Conditions, 
(7) General Conditions, and (8) documentation provided by the Provider. 

E. The Contract Documents may only be amended or supplemented as provided in 
Paragraph 12.01 of the General Conditions. 

ARTICLE 8—PROVIDER’S REPRESENTATIONS AND CERTIFICATIONS 

8.01 Provider’s Representations 

A. In order to induce Owner to enter into this Master Agreement, Provider makes the following 
representations: 

1. Provider has examined and carefully studied the Contract Documents. 

2. If required by the applicable Task Order to visit the Point of Destination or the Site, or 
if, in Provider’s judgment, any observable local or Site conditions may affect the 
delivery, cost, progress, or furnishing of the Work, then Provider has visited the Point of 
Destination and Site (as applicable) and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the 
observable local and site conditions that may affect delivery, cost, progress, and 
furnishing of the Work. 

3. Provider is familiar with and is satisfied as to all Laws and Regulations that may affect 
the cost, progress, and performance of Provider's obligations under the Master 
Agreement. 

4. Provider has carefully studied, considered, and correlated the information known to 
Provider with respect to the effect of such information on the cost, progress, and 
performance of Provider's obligations under the Master Agreement. 

5. Provider has given Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or 
discrepancies that Provider has discovered in the Master Agreement Documents, and 
the written resolution (if any) thereof by Engineer is acceptable to Provider. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 9 125



 

EJCDC® P-520, Agreement between Owner and Provider for Procurement Master Agreement. 
Copyright© 2019 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights reserved. 
Page 6 of 9 

6. The Master Agreement Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey 
understanding of all terms and conditions for performance of Provider's obligations 
under the Master Agreement. 

7. Provider’s entry into this Master Agreement constitutes an incontrovertible 
representation by Provider that without exception all prices in the Master Agreement 
are premised upon provision of the Work as required by the Contract Documents. 

8.02 Provider’s Certifications 

A. Provider certifies that it has not engaged in corrupt, fraudulent, collusive, or coercive 
practices in competing for or in executing the Master Agreement. For the purposes of this 
Paragraph 8.02: 

1. “corrupt practice” means the offering, giving, receiving, or soliciting of anything of value 
likely to influence the action of a public official in the procurement process, in the 
Master Agreement execution, or in the execution of any Task Order; 

2. “fraudulent practice” means an intentional misrepresentation of facts made (a) to 
influence the procurement process or the execution of the Master Agreement to the 
detriment of Owner, (b) to establish procurement or contract prices at artificial non-
competitive levels, or (c) to deprive Owner of the benefits of free and open competition; 

3. “collusive practice” means a scheme or arrangement between two or more Bidders, 
with or without the knowledge of Owner, a purpose of which is to establish 
procurement prices at artificial, non-competitive levels; and 

4. “coercive practice” means harming or threatening to harm, directly or indirectly, 
persons or their property to influence their participation in the procurement process or 
affect the execution of the Master Agreement. 

ARTICLE 9—CONFIDENTIALITY 

9.01 Confidential Information 

A. Provider’s Confidential Information. During the term of this Master Agreement, Provider may 
disclose to the Owner certain Provider confidential information pertaining to Provider’s 
business (“Provider Confidential Information”).  Provider shall be required to mark Provider 
Confidential Information CONFIDENTIAL with a restrictive legend or similar marking, together 
with a written statement describing the material which is requested to remain protected from 
disclosure and the justification for such request under Oregon public records laws.  If Provider 
Confidential Information is not clearly marked, or the Provider Confidential Information cannot 
be marked with a restrictive legend or similar marking or is disclosed either orally or by visual 
presentation, Provider shall identify the Provider Confidential Information as confidential at 
the time of disclosure or within a reasonable time thereafter.  This Master Agreement itself 
shall not be considered Provider Confidential Information. Provider Confidential Information 
does not include information that (1) is or becomes (other than by disclosure by the Owner) 
publicly known; (2) is furnished by Provider to others without restrictions similar to those 
imposed by this Master Agreement; (3) is rightfully in the Owner possession without the 
obligation of nondisclosure prior to the time of its disclosure under this Master Agreement; (4) 
is obtained from a source other than Provider without the obligation of confidentiality, (5) is 
disclosed with the written consent of Provider, or; (6) is independently developed by 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 10 126



 

EJCDC® P-520, Agreement between Owner and Provider for Procurement Master Agreement. 
Copyright© 2019 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights reserved. 
Page 7 of 9 

employees or agents of the Owner who can be shown to have had no access to the Provider 
Confidential Information.  Subject to subsection (i) and (ii), the Owner shall: (1) limit disclosure 
of Provider Confidential Information to those directors, elected and appointed officials, 
employees, contractors and agents of the Owner who need to know the Provider Confidential 
Information in connection with the Work and who have been informed of confidentiality 
obligations at least as strict as those contained in this Master Agreement, and (2) exercise 
reasonable care to protect the confidentiality of the Provider Confidential Information, at least 
to the same degree of care as the Owner employs with respect to protecting its own 
proprietary and confidential information. 

B. Owner’s Confidential Information. Any and all information that the Owner provides to Provider 
or its employees or agents in the performance of this Master Agreement that the Owner 
designates as confidential (either on the document itself or through related correspondence), 
as well as all reports and other documents and materials that result from Provider’s use of such 
information and any other work product that the Owner designates as confidential, is deemed 
to be confidential information of the Owner (“Owner Confidential Information”).  Owner 
Confidential Information does not include information that (1) is or becomes (other than by 
disclosure by Provider) publicly known; (2) is furnished by the Owner to others without 
restrictions similar to those imposed by this Master Agreement; (3) is rightfully in Provider’s 
possession without the obligation of nondisclosure prior to the time of its disclosure under this 
Master Agreement; (4) is obtained from a source other than the Owner without the obligation 
of confidentiality, (5) is disclosed with the written consent of Owner, or; (6) is independently 
developed by employees or agents of Provider who can be shown to have had no access to the 
Confidential Information. 

C. Provider shall treat as confidential any Owner Confidential Information that has been made 
known or available to Provider or that Provider has received, learned, heard or observed; or to 
which Provider has had access.  Provider shall use Owner Confidential Information exclusively 
for the Owner benefit in the performance of this Master Agreement.  Except as may be 
expressly authorized in writing by the Owner, in no event shall Provider publish, use, discuss 
or cause or permit to be disclosed to any other person such Owner Confidential Information.  
Provider shall (1) limit disclosure of the Owner Confidential Information to those directors, 
officers, employees, subcontractors, and agents of Provider who need to know the Owner 
Confidential Information in connection with the Work and who have agreed in writing to 
confidentiality obligations at least as strict as those contained in this Master Agreement, (2) 
exercise reasonable care to protect the confidentiality of the Owner Confidential Information, 
at least to the same degree of care as Provider employs with respect to protecting its own 
proprietary and confidential information, and (3) return immediately to the Owner, upon its 
request, all materials containing Owner Confidential Information, in whatever form, that are 
in Provider’s possession or custody or under its control.  Provider is expressly restricted from 
and shall not use the intellectual property rights of the Owner’s without the Owner’s prior 
written consent.  

D. Retroactivity. This Section shall apply to all Owner Confidential Information previously 
received, learned, observed, known by or made available to Provider and related to this Master 
Agreement.   

E. Survival. Provider’s confidentiality obligations under this Master Agreement shall survive 
termination or expiration of this Master Agreement.  

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 11 127



 

EJCDC® P-520, Agreement between Owner and Provider for Procurement Master Agreement. 
Copyright© 2019 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights reserved. 
Page 8 of 9 

F. Equitable Relief. Provider acknowledges that unauthorized disclosure of Owner Confidential 
Information will result in irreparable harm to the Owner.  The Parties agree that, 
notwithstanding any other section of this Master Agreement, in the event of a breach or a 
threatened breach of the Master Agreement’s terms related to Confidential Information or 
intellectual property rights, the non-breaching Party shall be entitled to seek equitable relief 
to protect its interests, including but not limited to injunctive relief.  Nothing stated herein 
shall be construed to limit any other remedies available to the Parties. 

G. Discovery of Documents. In the event a court of competent jurisdiction orders the release of 
Confidential Information submitted by one Party, the other Party will notify the Party whose 
Confidential Information is being requested to be disclosed of the request.  The Party receiving 
the request shall allow the other Party to participate in the response at its own expense.  Each 
Party will comply with any effective court order. 

9.02 Public Records 

A. Public Records Request. Provider acknowledges that the Owner is subject to the Oregon 
Public Records Act and federal law.  Third persons may claim that the Provider Confidential 
Information (as defined above) that Provider submitted to the Owner hereunder may be, by 
virtue of its possession by the Owner, a public record and subject to disclosure pursuant to 
the Oregon Public Records Act.  The Owner’s commitments to maintain certain information 
confidentially under this Master Agreement are all subject to the constraints of Oregon and 
federal laws.  All information submitted by Provider to the Owner is a public record and 
subject to disclosure pursuant to the Oregon Public Records Act, except such portions for 
which Provider requests and meets an exemption from disclosure consistent with federal or 
Oregon law.  Within the limits and discretion allowed by those laws, the Owner will make a 
good faith effort to maintain the confidentiality of information. 

B. The Owner will retain one (1) copy of any public records for the express purposes of complying 
with State of Oregon public records and archiving laws.  

9.03 Waiver of Immunity 

A. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Master Agreement, it is stipulated and agreed 
that by accepting Confidential Information, Owner has not and does not waive its legal 
immunity (if any) from suit or liability. 

 

[Remainder of this page is intentionally left blank, signatures are on the following page.] 

  SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 12 128



 

EJCDC® P-520, Agreement between Owner and Provider for Procurement Master Agreement. 
Copyright© 2019 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights reserved. 
Page 9 of 9 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Owner and Provider have signed this Master Agreement. Counterparts have been 
delivered to Owner and Provider. 

 

The Effective Date of the Master Agreement is [date to be inserted at the time of execution]. 

Owner  Provider 
   

(typed or printed name of organization) (typed or printed name of organization) 

By:   By:  
(individual’s signature) (individual’s signature) 

Date:   Date:  
(date signed) (date signed) 

Name:   Name:  
(typed or printed) (typed or printed) 

Title:   Title:  
(typed or printed) (typed or printed) 

 
(If Provider is a corporation, a partnership, or a joint 
venture, attach evidence of authority to sign.) 

Attest:   Attest:  
(individual’s signature) (individual’s signature) 

Title:   Title:  
(typed or printed) (typed or printed) 

Address for giving notices:  Address for giving notices: 
   
   
   
Designated Representative:  Designated Representative: 
Name:   Name:  

(typed or printed) (typed or printed) 

Title:   Title:  
(typed or printed) (typed or printed) 

Address:  Address: 
   
   
   
Phone:   Phone:  
Email:   Email:  
(If Owner is a corporation, attach evidence of authority 
to sign. If Owner is a public body, attach evidence of 
authority to sign and resolution or other documents 
authorizing execution of this Agreement.)   

 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 13 129



   
 

1 
 

 

General Conditions 

Article 1—Definitions and Terminology 

1.01 Defined Terms 

A. Wherever used in the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents, a term printed with 
initial capital letters, including the term’s singular and plural forms, will have the meaning 
indicated in the definitions below. In addition to terms specifically defined, terms with initial 
capital letters in the Contract Documents include references to identified articles and 
paragraphs, and the titles of other documents or forms. 

1. Addenda—Written or graphic instruments issued prior to the opening of Bids which 
clarify, correct, or change the Bidding Requirements or the proposed Contract 
Documents. 

2. Application for Payment—The document prepared by Provider, in a form acceptable to 
Engineer, to request payments pursuant to an applicable Task Order, and which is to be 
accompanied by such supporting documentation as is required by the Contract 
Documents. A form Application for Payment is attached to the Master Agreement as 
Exhibit C. 

4. Bid—The offer of a Bidder submitted on the prescribed form setting forth the prices for 
the Work to be performed. 

5. Bidder—An individual or entity that submits a Bid to Owner. 

6. Bidding Documents—The Bidding Requirements, the proposed Contract Documents, and 
all Addenda. 

7. Bidding Requirements—The Advertisement or invitation to bid, Instructions to Bidders, 
Bid Bond or other Bid security, if any, the Bid Form, and the Bid with any attachments. 

8. Change Directive – A written directive from Owner to Provider issued on or after the 
Effective Date of a Task Order, ordering an addition, deletion or revision to the applicable 
Work. 

9.Change Order—A document which is signed by Provider and Owner and authorizes an 
addition, deletion, or revision in the Work or an adjustment in the Contract Price or the 
Contract Times, or other revision to a Task Order, issued on or after the Effective Date of 
an applicable Task Order. 

10. Change Proposal—A written request by Provider, duly submitted in compliance with the 
procedural requirements set forth herein, seeking an adjustment in Contract Price or 
Contract Times; contesting an initial decision by Engineer concerning the requirements of 
the Contract Documents or the acceptability of Work under the Contract Documents; 
challenging a set-off against payments due; or seeking other relief with respect to the 
terms of the Master Agreement or an applicable Task Order, or both. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 14 130



   
 

2 
 

11. Claim 

a. A demand or assertion by Owner or Provider seeking an adjustment of applicable 
Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, or other relief with respect to the terms of 
the Master Agreement or a particular Task Order.  

b. A demand or assertion by Owner or Provider made pursuant to Paragraph 12.01.A.4, 
concerning disputes arising after Engineer has issued a recommendation of a final 
payment. 

c. A demand for money or services by a third party is not a Claim. 

12. Constituent of Concern—Asbestos, petroleum, radioactive materials, polychlorinated 
biphenyls (PCBs), lead-based paint (as defined by the HUD/EPA standard), hazardous 
waste, and any substance, product, waste, or other material of any nature whatsoever 
that is or becomes listed, regulated, or addressed pursuant to Laws and Regulations 
regulating, relating to, or imposing liability or standards of conduct concerning, any 
hazardous, toxic, or dangerous waste, substance, or material. 

13. Contract Documents— As defined pursuant to the Master Agreement. 

14. Contract Price—The money that Owner has agreed to pay Provider for completion of the 
Work under each applicable Task Order. 

15. Contract Times—The number of days or the dates by which Provider shall complete the 
Work under each applicable Task Order. 

16. Contractor/Assignee— A construction contractor with which Project Owner enters into a 
construction contract, and to which Project Owner, as initial Owner, assigns the applicable 
Task Order and, as it pertains to such Task Order, this Master Agreement. 

17. Cost of the Work—See Paragraph 14.01 for definition. 

28. Days - Calendar days, including weekdays, weekends and holidays, unless otherwise 
specified. 

19. Drawings—The part of each applicable Task Order that graphically shows the scope, 
extent, and character of the Work to be performed by Provider. 

20. Effective Date of the Master Agreement—The date, indicated in the Master Agreement, 
on which the Master Agreement becomes effective. 

21. Effective Date of a Task Order – The date, indicated in each fully executed Task Order, on 
which the Task Order becomes effective. 

22. Electronic Document—Any Work-related correspondence, attachments to 
correspondence, data, documents, drawings, information, or graphics, including but not 
limited to Shop Drawings and other Submittals, that are in an electronic or digital format. 

23. Electronic Means—Electronic mail (email), upload/download from a secure Work 
website, or other communications methods that allow: (a) the transmission or 
communication of Electronic Documents; (b) the documentation of transmissions, 
including sending and receipt; (c) printing of the transmitted Electronic Document by the 
recipient; (d) the storage and archiving of the Electronic Document by sender and 
recipient; and (e) the use by recipient of the Electronic Document for purposes permitted 
by this Master Agreement. Electronic Means does not include the use of text messaging, 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 15 131



   
 

3 
 

or of Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, or similar social media services for transmission of 
Electronic Documents. 

24. Engineer—The individual or entity named as such in the executed Master Agreement. 

25. Field Order—A written order issued by Engineer which requires minor changes in the 
Work but does not change the Contract Price or the Contract Times. 

26. Final Completion - The final completion of all requirements under an applicable Task 
Order, including Correction Period as described in 16.08 but excluding Warranty Work as 
described in Articles 7 and 16, and the final payment and release of all retainage, if any, 
released. 

27. Force Majeure - An act, event or occurrence caused by fire, riot, war, acts of God, nature, 
sovereign, or public enemy, strikes, freight embargoes or any other act, event or 
occurrence that is beyond the control of the party to this Master Agreement or an 
applicable Task Order who is asserting Force Majeure 

28. Goods – As defined pursuant to the Master Agreement and each fully executed Task 
Order. 

29. Hazardous Environmental Condition—The presence at the Site of Constituents of Concern 
in such quantities or circumstances that may present a danger to persons or property 
exposed thereto. 

a. The presence at the Site of materials that are necessary for the execution of the Work, 
or that are to be incorporated into the Work, and that are controlled and contained 
pursuant to industry practices, Laws and Regulations, and the requirements of the 
Master Agreement and applicable Task Order, is not a Hazardous Environmental 
Condition. 

b. The presence of Constituents of Concern that are to be removed or remediated as 
part of the Work is not a Hazardous Environmental Condition. 

c. The presence of Constituents of Concern as part of the routine, anticipated, and 
obvious working conditions at the Site, is not a Hazardous Environmental Condition. 

30. Laws and Regulations; Laws or Regulations—Any and all applicable laws, statutes, rules, 
regulations, ordinances, codes, and binding decrees, resolutions, and orders of any and 
all governmental bodies, agencies, authorities, and courts having jurisdiction, including 
but not limited to those rules, regulations, and requirements set forth in Exhibit D. 

31. Liens—Charges, security interests, or encumbrances upon Master Agreement-related or 
specific Task Order-related funds, real property, or personal property. 

32. Master Agreement—The written instrument, executed by Owner and Provider, that sets 
forth terms by which the parties may enter Task Orders, identifies the parties and the 
Engineer, and designates the specific items that are Contract Documents. 

33. Milestone—A principal event in the performance of the Work that the Provider must 
attain by the date or within the number of days indicated, including but not limited to the 
delivery of the Goods, the furnishing of Work, Substantial Completion of Work, and Final 
Completion of Work, as applicable. 

34. Notice of Award—The written notice by Owner to a Bidder of Owner’s acceptance of the 
Bid. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 16 132



   
 

4 
 

35. Owner—The individual or entity with which Provider has contracted regarding the Work, 
and which has agreed to pay Provider for the performance of the Work, pursuant to the 
terms of the Master Agreement. 

36. Owner Authorized Representative -- As defined pursuant to the Master Agreement. 

37. Point of Destination -- The specific address of the location where delivery of Goods will be 
made, as stated in the applicable Task Order. 

38. Progress Schedule—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Provider, describing the 
sequence and duration of the activities comprising Provider’s plan to accomplish the 
Work within the Contract Times of an applicable Task Order. 

39. Project – As defined pursuant to the Master Agreement. 

40. Project Owner — The Owner. 

41. Punchlist - The list of Work yet to be completed or deficiencies which need to be corrected 
in order to achieve Final Completion of a Task Order. 

42. Resident Project Representative—The authorized representative of Engineer assigned to 
assist Engineer at the Site. As used herein, the term Resident Project Representative (RPR) 
includes any assistants or field staff of Resident Project Representative. 

43. Samples—Physical examples of materials, equipment, or workmanship that are 
representative of some portion of the Work and that establish the standards by which 
such portion of the Work will be judged. 

44. Schedule of Submittals—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Provider, of required 
submittals and the time requirements for Engineer’s review of the submittals. 

45. Schedule of Values—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Provider, allocating 
portions of the Contract Price to various portions of the Work and used as the basis for 
reviewing Provider’s Applications for Payment. 

46. Provider -- The individual or entity with which Owner has contracted for performance of 
the Work. 

47. Provider Authorized Representative - As defined pursuant to the Master Agreement. 

48. Shop Drawings—All drawings, diagrams, illustrations, schedules, and other data or 
information that are specifically prepared or assembled by or for Provider and submitted 
by Provider to illustrate some portion of the Work. Shop Drawings, whether approved or 
not, are not Drawings and are not Contract Documents. 

49. Site—Lands or areas indicated in each fully executed Task Order upon which the Work is 
to be performed, including rights-of-way and easements, and such other lands or areas 
furnished by Owner which are designated for the use of Provider. 

50. Special Services -- As defined pursuant to the Master Agreement and each fully executed 
Task Order. 

51. Specifications—The part of a fully executed Task Order that consists of written 
requirements for materials, equipment, systems, standards, and workmanship as applied 
to the Work, and certain administrative requirements and procedural matters applicable 
to the Work. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 17 133



   
 

5 
 

52. Subcontractor—An individual or entity having a direct contract with Provider or with any 
other Subcontractor for the performance of a part of the Work. 

53. Submittal—A written or graphic document, prepared by or for Provider, which the 
Contract Documents require Provider to submit to Engineer, or that is indicated as a 
Submittal in the Schedule of Submittals accepted by Engineer. Submittals may include 
Shop Drawings and Samples; schedules; product data; Owner-delegated designs; 
sustainable design information; information on special procedures; testing plans; results 
of tests and evaluations, source quality-control testing and inspections, and field or Site 
quality-control testing and inspections; warranties and certifications; Suppliers’ 
instructions and reports; records of delivery of spare parts and tools; operations and 
maintenance data; Work photographic documentation; record documents; and other 
such documents required by the Contract Documents or a fully executed Task Order. 
Submittals, whether or not approved or accepted by Engineer, are not Contract 
Documents. Change Proposals, Change Orders, Claims, notices, Applications for Payment, 
and requests for interpretation or clarification are not Submittals. 

54. Substantial Completion—The time at which the Work (or a specified part thereof) has 
progressed to the point where, in the opinion of Engineer, the Work (or a specified part 
thereof) is sufficiently complete, in accordance with the Contract Documents and 
applicable Task Order, so that the Work (or a specified part thereof) can be utilized for 
the purposes for which it is intended. The terms “substantially complete” and 
“substantially completed” as applied to all or part of the Work refer to Substantial 
Completion of such Work. 

55. Successful Bidder—The Bidder to which the Owner makes an award of the Master 
Agreement. 

56. Supplementary Conditions—The part of the Master Agreement that amends or 
supplements these General Conditions. 

57. Supplier—A manufacturer, fabricator, supplier, distributor, or vendor having a direct 
contract with Provider or with any Subcontractor to furnish materials or equipment to be 
incorporated in the Work by Provider or a Subcontractor. 

58. Technical Data 

a. Those items expressly identified as Technical Data, with respect to either (1) existing 
subsurface conditions at or adjacent to the Site, or existing physical conditions at or 
adjacent to the Site including existing surface or subsurface structures (except 
Underground Facilities) or (2) Hazardous Environmental Conditions at the Site. 

b. If no such express identifications of Technical Data have been made with respect to 
conditions at the Site, then Technical Data is defined, with respect to conditions at 
the Site under Paragraphs 5.04, 5.05, and 5.07, as the data contained in boring logs, 
recorded measurements of subsurface water levels, assessments of the condition of 
subsurface facilities, laboratory test results, and other factual, objective information 
regarding conditions at the Site that are set forth in any geotechnical, environmental, 
or other Site or facilities conditions report prepared for the Work and made available 
to Provider. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 18 134



   
 

6 
 

c. Information and data regarding the presence or location of Underground Facilities 
are not intended to be categorized, identified, or defined as Technical Data, and 
instead Underground Facilities are shown or indicated on the Drawings. 

59. Underground Facilities—All active or not-in-service underground lines, pipelines, 
conduits, ducts, encasements, cables, wires, manholes, vaults, tanks, tunnels, or other 
such facilities or systems at the Site, including but not limited to those facilities or systems 
that produce, transmit, distribute, or convey telephone or other communications, cable 
television, fiber optic transmissions, power, electricity, light, heat, gases, oil, crude oil 
products, liquid petroleum products, water, steam, waste, wastewater, storm water, 
other liquids or chemicals, or traffic or other control systems. An abandoned facility or 
system is not an Underground Facility. 

60. Unit Price Work—Work to be paid for on the basis of unit prices (if any). 

61. Work—As defined pursuant to the Master Agreement. 

62. Work Change Directive—A written directive to Provider issued on or after the Effective 
Date of an applicable Task Order, signed by Owner and recommended by Engineer, 
ordering an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work. 

1.02 Terminology 

A. The words and terms discussed in Paragraphs 1.02.B, C, D, and E are not defined terms that 
require initial capital letters, but, when used in the Bidding Requirements or Contract 
Documents, have the indicated meaning. 

B. Intent of Certain Terms or Adjectives: The Contract Documents include the terms “as allowed,” 
“as approved,” “as ordered,” “as directed” or terms of like effect or import to authorize an 
exercise of professional judgment by Engineer. In addition, the adjectives “reasonable,” 
“suitable,” “acceptable,” “proper,” “satisfactory,” or adjectives of like effect or import are 
used to describe an action or determination of Engineer as to the Work. It is intended that 
such exercise of professional judgment, action, or determination will be solely to evaluate, in 
general, the Work for compliance with the information in the Contract Documents and with 
the design concept of the Work as a functioning whole as shown or indicated in the Contract 
Documents (unless there is a specific statement indicating otherwise). The use of any such 
term or adjective is not intended to and shall not be effective to assign to Engineer any duty 
or authority to supervise or direct the performance of the Work, or any duty or authority to 
undertake responsibility contrary to the provisions of Article 11 or any other provision of the 
Contract Documents. 

C. Day: The word “day” means a calendar day of 24 hours measured from midnight to the next 
midnight. 

D. Non-conforming: The word “non-conforming,” when modifying the word “Work” or words 
“Goods and Special Services” refers to Work that is unsatisfactory, faulty, or deficient in that 
it: 

1. does not conform to or otherwise comply with the Contract Documents; 

2. does not meet the requirements of any applicable inspection, reference standard, test, 
or approval referred to in the Contract Documents; or 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 19 135



   
 

7 
 

3. has been damaged prior to Engineer’s recommendation of final payment (unless 
responsibility for the protection thereof has been assumed by Owner at Substantial 
Completion or final delivery, as applicable, in accordance with Paragraph 15.03 or 
Paragraph 15.04). 

E. Furnish, Install, Perform, Provide 

1. The word “furnish,” when used in connection with services, materials, Goods, Special 
Services, or equipment, means to supply and deliver said services, materials, Goods, 
Special Services, or equipment to the Site (or some other specified location) ready for use 
or installation and in usable or operable condition. 

2. The word “install,” when used in connection with services, materials, Goods, Special 
Services, or equipment, means to put into use or place in final position said services, 
materials, or equipment complete and ready for intended use. 

3. The words “perform” or “provide,” when used in connection with services, materials, 
Goods, Special Services or equipment, means to furnish and install said services, 
materials, Goods, Special Services, or equipment complete and ready for intended use. 

4. If the Contract Documents establish an obligation of Provider with respect to specific 
services, materials, Goods, Special Services, or equipment, but do not expressly use any 
of the four words “furnish,” “install,” “perform,” or “provide,” then Provider shall furnish 
and install said services, materials, Goods, Special Services, or equipment complete and 
ready for intended use. 

F. Contract Price or Contract Times: References to a change in “Contract Price or Contract Times” 
or “Contract Times or Contract Price” or similar, indicate that such change applies to 
(1) Contract Price, (2) Contract Times, or (3) both Contract Price and Contract Times, as 
warranted, even if the term “or both” is not expressed. 

G. Unless stated otherwise in the Contract Documents, words or phrases that have a well-known 
technical or construction industry or trade meaning are used in the Contract Documents in 
accordance with such recognized meaning. 

ARTICLE 2—PRELIMINARY MATTERS 

2.01 Delivery of Performance and Payment Bonds; Evidence of Insurance 

A. Performance and Payment Bonds: When Provider delivers the signed counterparts of a Task 
Order to Owner, Provider shall also deliver to Owner the performance bond and payment 
bond (if the Task Order requires Provider to furnish such bonds). 

B. Evidence of Provider’s Insurance: When Provider delivers the signed counterparts of a Task 
Order to Owner, Provider shall also deliver to Owner, with copies to each additional insured 
(as identified in the Master Agreement), the certificates, endorsements, and other evidence 
of insurance required to be provided by Provider in accordance with the Contract Documents 
and the applicable Task Order. 

C. Evidence of Owner’s Insurance: After receipt of the signed counterparts of the Task Order, 
and all required bonds and insurance documentation, as applicable, Owner shall promptly 
deliver to Provider, with copies to each additional insured (as identified in the Master 
Agreement), the certificates and other evidence of insurance required to be provided by 
Owner under the terms of the applicable Task Order. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 20 136



   
 

8 
 

D. The Provider hereby certifies that the Provider is licensed with the Construction Providers 
Board in accordance with ORS 701.035 to 701.055 and, further, that all Subcontractors 
performing work as described in ORS 701.025(2) (i.e., construction work) will be licensed with 
the Construction Providers Board in accordance with ORS 701.035 to 701.055 before the 
Subcontractors commence Work that constitutes construction work under each applicable 
Task Order. 

2.02 Copies of Documents 

A. Owner shall furnish to Provider one (1) copy in electronic portable document format (PDF) of 
the Contract Documents including one fully signed counterpart of the Master Agreement and 
each Task Order. Provider may request up to three (3) printed copies of the Contract 
Documents (including one fully signed counterpart of the Master Agreement and each Task 
Order). Additional printed copies will be furnished upon request at the cost of reproduction. 

B. Owner shall maintain and safeguard at least one original printed record version of the Master 
Agreement and each Task Order, including Drawings and Specifications signed and sealed by 
Engineer and other design professionals. Owner shall make such original printed record 
version of the Master Agreement and each Task Order available to Provider for review. Owner 
may delegate the responsibilities under this provision to Engineer. 

2.03 Before Starting Construction 

A. Preliminary Schedules: Within 10 days after the Effective Date of a Task Order (or as otherwise 
required by the Task Order), Provider shall submit to Engineer for timely review: 

1. a preliminary Progress Schedule indicating the times (numbers of days or dates) for 
starting and completing the various stages of the applicable Work, including any 
Milestones specified in the Task Order; 

a. The Progress Schedule will be acceptable to Owner and Engineer if it provides an 
orderly progression of the Submittals, tests, and deliveries to completion within 
the specified Milestones of the Contract Times. 

b. Such acceptance will not impose on Owner or Engineer responsibility for the 
Progress Schedule, for sequencing, scheduling, or progress of Provider’s 
performance of its obligations under the Task Order, nor interfere with or relieve 
Provider from Provider’s full responsibility therefor. 

2. a preliminary Schedule of Submittals; and 

3. a preliminary Schedule of Values for all of the Work to be performed pursuant to the Task 
Order, which includes quantities and prices of items which when added together equal 
the Contract Price and subdivides the Work into component parts in sufficient detail to 
serve as the basis for progress payments during performance of the Work, if applicable. 
Such prices will include an appropriate amount of overhead and profit applicable to each 
item of Work. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 21 137



   
 

9 
 

B. No progress payment will be made to Provider until an acceptable Progress Schedule and 
acceptable schedule of Submittals are submitted to Owner and Engineer (and other 
conditions applicable to progress payments are met). 

2.04 Preliminary Conference 

A. Within 20 days after a Task Order’s Contract Times start to run, a conference attended by 
Owner, Provider, Engineer, and others as appropriate will be held to establish a working 
understanding among the parties as to the Work, and to discuss the schedules referred to in 
Paragraph 2.03.A, procedures for handling Shop Drawings, Samples, and other Submittals, 
processing Applications for Payment, electronic or digital transmittals, and maintaining 
required records. 

2.05 Acceptance of Schedules 

A. At least 10 days before submission of the first Application for Payment, a conference, 
attended by Provider, Engineer, and others as appropriate, will be held to review the 
schedules submitted in accordance with Paragraph 2.03.A. No payment will be made to 
Provider until acceptable schedules are submitted to Engineer. 

1. The Progress Schedule will be acceptable to Engineer if it provides an orderly progression 
of the Work to completion within the Contract Times. Such acceptance will not impose 
on Engineer responsibility for the Progress Schedule, for sequencing, scheduling, or 
progress of the Work, nor interfere with or relieve Provider from Contractor’s full 
responsibility therefore. 

2. Contractor’s Schedule of Submittals will be acceptable to Engineer if it provides a 
workable arrangement for reviewing and processing the required submittals. 

3. Contractor’s Schedule of Values will be acceptable to Engineer as to form and substance 
if it provides a reasonable allocation of the Contract Price to the component parts of the 
Work. 

4. If a schedule is not acceptable, Provider will have an additional 10 days to revise and 
resubmit the schedule. 

2.06 Electronic Transmittals 

A. Except as otherwise stated elsewhere in the Contract Documents, the Owner, Engineer, and 
Provider may send, and shall accept, Electronic Documents transmitted by Electronic Means. 

B. Electronic Documents Protocol: The parties shall conform to the following provisions in 
Paragraphs 2.06.B and 2.06.C, together referred to as the Electronic Documents Protocol 
(“EDP” or “Protocol”) for exchange of electronic transmittals. 

1. Basic Requirements 

a. To the fullest extent practical, the parties agree to and will transmit and accept 
Electronic Documents in an electronic or digital format using the procedures 
described in this Protocol. Use of the Electronic Documents and any information 
contained therein is subject to the requirements of this Protocol and other 
provisions of the Contract Documents. 

b. The contents of the information in any Electronic Document will be the 
responsibility of the transmitting party. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 22 138



   
 

10 
 

c. Electronic Documents as exchanged by this Protocol may be used in the same 
manner as the printed versions of the same documents that are exchanged using 
non-electronic format and methods, subject to the same governing requirements, 
limitations, and restrictions, set forth in the Contract Documents. 

d. Except as otherwise explicitly stated herein, the terms of this Protocol will be 
incorporated into any other agreement or subcontract between a party and any 
third party for any portion of the Work on the Project, or any Project-related 
services, where that third party is, either directly or indirectly, required to exchange 
Electronic Documents with a party or with Engineer. Nothing herein will modify the 
requirements of the Contract Documents regarding communications between and 
among the parties and their subcontractors and consultants. 

e. Electronic files shall be transmitted in electronic portable file (.PDF) format unless 
noted otherwise in the Contract Documents.  

f. Nothing herein negates any obligation 1) in the Contract Documents to create, 
provide, or maintain an original printed record version of Drawings and 
Specifications, signed and sealed according to applicable Laws and Regulations; 
2) to comply with any applicable Law or Regulation governing the signing and 
sealing of design documents or the signing and electronic transmission of any other 
documents; or 3) to comply with the notice requirements of Paragraph 19.01 of 
the General Conditions. 

2. System Infrastructure for Electronic Document Exchange 

a. Each party will provide hardware, operating system(s) software, internet, e-mail, 
and large file transfer functions (“System Infrastructure”) at its own cost and 
sufficient for complying with the EDP requirements. With the exception of 
minimum standards set forth in this EDP, and any explicit system requirements 
specified by attachment to this EDP, it is the obligation of each party to determine, 
for itself, its own System Infrastructure. 

1) The maximum size of an email attachment for exchange of Electronic 
Documents under this EDP is 15 MB. Attachments larger than that may be 
exchanged using large file transfer functions or physical media. 

2) Each Party assumes full and complete responsibility for any and all of its own 
costs, delays, deficiencies, and errors associated with converting, translating, 
updating, verifying, licensing, or otherwise enabling its System Infrastructure, 
including operating systems and software, for use with respect to this EDP. 

d. In the case of disputes, conflicts, or modifications to the EDP required to address 
issues affecting System Infrastructure, the parties shall cooperatively resolve the 
issues; but, failing resolution, the Owner is authorized to make and require 
reasonable and necessary changes to the EDP to effectuate its original intent. If the 
changes cause additional cost or time to Provider, not reasonably anticipated 
under the original EDP, Provider may seek an adjustment in price or time under the 
appropriate process in the Contract Documents. 

e. Each party is responsible for its own back-up and archive of documents sent and 
received during the term of the contract under this EDP, unless this EDP establishes 
a Project document archive, either as part of a mandatory Project website or other 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 23 139



   
 

11 
 

communications protocol, upon which the parties may rely for document archiving 
during the specified term of operation of such Project document archive. Further, 
each party remains solely responsible for its own post-Project back-up and archive 
of Project documents after the term of the Contract Documents, or after 
termination of the Project document archive, if one is established, for as long as 
required by the Contract Documents and as each party deems necessary for its own 
purposes. 

C. Software Requirements for Electronic Document Exchange; Limitations 

1. Each party will acquire the software and software licenses necessary to create and 
transmit Electronic Documents and to read and to use any Electronic Documents 
received from the other party (and if relevant from third parties), using the software 
formats required in this section of the EDP. 

a. Prior to using any updated version of the software required in this paragraph for 
sending Electronic Documents to the other party, the originating party will first 
notify and receive concurrence from the other party for use of the updated version 
or adjust its transmission to comply with this EDP. 

2. The parties agree not to intentionally edit, reverse engineer, decrypt, remove security 
or encryption features, or convert to another format for modification purposes any 
Electronic Document or information contained therein that was transmitted in a 
software data format, including Portable Document Format (PDF), intended by sender 
not to be modified, unless the receiving party obtains the permission of the sending 
party or is citing or quoting excerpts of the Electronic Document for Project purposes. 

ARTICLE 3—CONTRACT DOCUMENTS: INTENT, REQUIREMENTS, REUSE 

3.01 Intent 

A. The Contract Documents are complementary; what is required by one Contract Document is 
as binding as if required by all. 

B. Any labor, documentation, services, materials, or equipment that may reasonably be inferred 
from the Contract Documents or from prevailing custom or trade usage as being required to 
produce, furnish, or provide the indicated Work will be provided, whether or not specifically 
called for, at no additional cost to Owner. It is the intent of the Contract Documents to 
describe a functionally complete Work (or part thereof) to be constructed in accordance with 
the Contract Documents. 

C. Unless otherwise stated in the Contract Documents, if there is a discrepancy between the 
electronic versions of the Contract Documents (including any printed copies derived from 
such electronic versions) and the printed record version, the printed record version will 
govern. 

D. The Master Agreement and all Contract Documents supersede prior negotiations, 
representations, and agreements, whether written or oral. 

E. Engineer will issue clarifications and interpretations of the Contract Documents as provided 
herein. 

F. Any provision or part of the Contract Documents held to be void or unenforceable under any 
Law or Regulation will be deemed stricken, and all remaining provisions will continue to be 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 24 140



   
 

12 
 

valid and binding upon Owner and Provider, which agree that the Contract Documents will be 
reformed to replace such stricken provision or part thereof with a valid and enforceable 
provision that comes as close as possible to expressing the intention of the stricken provision. 

G. Nothing in the Contract Documents creates: 

1. any contractual relationship between Owner or Engineer and any Subcontractor, 
Supplier, or other individual or entity performing or furnishing any of the Work, for the 
benefit of such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity; or 

2. any obligation on the part of Owner or Engineer to pay or to see to the payment of any 
money due any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity, except as may 
otherwise be required by Laws and Regulations. 

3.02 Standards Specifications, Codes, Laws and Regulations 

A. Reference in the Contract Documents to standard specifications, manuals, reference 
standards, or codes of any technical society, organization, or association, or to Laws or 
Regulations, whether such reference be specific or by implication, means the standard 
specification, manual, reference standard, code, or Laws or Regulations in effect on the 
Effective Date of the applicable Task Order, except as may be otherwise specifically stated in 
the Contract Documents. 

B. No provision of any such standard specification, manual, reference standard, or code, and no 
instruction of a Supplier, will be effective to change the duties or responsibilities of Owner, 
Provider, or Engineer from those set forth in the part of the Contract Documents prepared by 
or for Engineer. No such provision or instruction shall be effective to assign to Owner or 
Engineer any duty or authority to supervise or direct the performance of the Work, or any 
duty or authority to undertake responsibility inconsistent with the provisions of the part of 
the Contract Documents prepared by or for Engineer. 

C. The provisions of the Contract Documents shall be construed in accordance with the laws of 
the State of Oregon and ordinances of the City of Dayton, Oregon.  Any action or suits 
involving any question arising under this Master Agreement must be brought in the 
appropriate court in Yamhill County, Oregon.  If the claim must be brought in a federal forum, 
then it shall be brought and conducted in the United States District Court for the District of 
Oregon.  Provider, by the signature herein of its authorized representative, hereby consents 
to the in personam jurisdiction of said courts.  In no event shall this paragraph be construed 
as a waiver of the Owner of any form of defense or immunity. 

3.03 Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies 

A. Reporting Discrepancies 

1. Provider’s Verification of Figures and Field Measurements: Before undertaking each part 
of the Work, Provider shall carefully study the Contract Documents, and check and verify 
pertinent figures and dimensions therein, particularly with respect to applicable field 
measurements. Provider shall promptly report in writing to Engineer (or if the applicable 
Task Order is assigned, then directly to Contractor/Assignee) any conflict, error, 
ambiguity, or discrepancy within the Contract Documents, or between the Contract 
Documents and (a) any applicable Law or Regulation, (b) actual field conditions, (c) any 
standard specification, manual, reference standard, or code, or (d) any instruction of any 
supplier to Provider, that Provider discovers, or has actual knowledge of. Provider shall 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 25 141



   
 

13 
 

not proceed with any Work affected thereby (except in an emergency as required by 
Paragraph 7.07) until the conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy is resolved by a 
clarification or interpretation by Engineer (or if the applicable Task Order is assigned, then 
directly to Contractor/Assignee), or by an amendment or supplement to the Task Order 
issued pursuant to Article 12. 

2. Provider shall not be liable to Owner or Engineer for failure to report any conflict, error, 
ambiguity, or discrepancy in the Contract Documents unless Provider had actual 
knowledge thereof. 

B. Resolving Discrepancies 

1. Except as may be otherwise specifically stated in the Contract Documents, the provisions 
of the part of the Contract Documents prepared by or for Engineer take precedence in 
resolving any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy between such provisions of the 
Contract Documents and: 

a. the provisions of any standard specification, manual, reference standard, or code, or 
the instruction (whether or not specifically incorporated by reference as a Contract 
Document); or 

b. the provisions of any Laws or Regulations applicable to the furnishing and 
performance of the Work (unless such an interpretation of the provisions of the 
Contract Documents would result in violation of such Law or Regulation). 

3.04 Requirements of the Contract Documents 

A. During the performance of the Work and until each final payment, Provider and Owner shall 
submit to the Engineer in writing all matters in question concerning the requirements of the 
Contract Documents and/or an applicable Task Order (sometimes referred to as requests for 
information or interpretation—RFIs), or relating to the acceptability of the Work under the 
Contract Documents and applicable Task Order, as soon as possible after such matters arise. 
Engineer will be the initial interpreter of the requirements of the Contract Documents and 
applicable Task Order, and judge of the acceptability of the Work. 

1. After assignment (if any) Provider shall submit such matters directly to 
Contractor/Assignee for response or administration. 

B. Engineer will, with reasonable promptness, render a written clarification, interpretation, or 
decision on the issue submitted, and if necessary, initiate an amendment or supplement to 
the Contract Documents or applicable Task Order. Engineer’s written clarification, 
interpretation, or decision will be final and binding on Provider, unless it appeals by 
submitting a Change Proposal, and on Owner, unless it appeals by filing a Claim. 

C. If a submitted matter in question concerns terms and conditions of the Contract Documents 
that do not involve (1) the performance or acceptability of the Work under the Contract 
Documents, (2) the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or (3) 
other engineering or technical matters, then Engineer will promptly notify Owner and 
Provider in writing that Engineer is unable to provide a decision or interpretation. If Owner 
and Provider are unable to agree on resolution of such a matter in question, either party may 
pursue resolution as provided in Article 13.  

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 26 142



   
 

14 
 

3.05 Reuse of Documents 

A. Provider and its Subcontractors and Suppliers shall not: 

1. have or acquire any title to or ownership rights in any of the Drawings, Specifications, or 
other documents (or copies of any thereof) prepared by or bearing the seal of Engineer 
or its consultants, including electronic media versions, or reuse any such Drawings, 
Specifications, other documents, or copies thereof on extensions of the Work or any other 
project without written consent of Owner and Engineer and specific written verification 
or adaptation by Engineer; or 

2. have or acquire any title or ownership rights in any other Contract Documents, reuse any 
such Contract Documents for any purpose without Owner’s express written consent, or 
violate any copyrights pertaining to such Contract Documents. 

B. The prohibitions of this Paragraph 3.05 will survive final payment, or termination of the 
Master Agreement and each applicable Task Order. Nothing herein precludes Provider from 
retaining copies of the Contract Documents for record purposes. 

ARTICLE 4—COMMENCEMENT AND PROGRESS OF THE WORK 

4.01 Commencement of Contract Times; Notice to Proceed 

A. The applicable Contract Times will commence to run on the Effective Date of each Task Order. 

4.02 Starting the Work and Continuing Performance 

A. Provider shall start to perform the Work as identified in each Task Order. No Work may be 
done at the Site prior to such date. 

B. Provider shall adhere to the Progress Schedule established in accordance with Paragraph 2.05, 
as duly adjusted, and the Work will be provided within the Contract Times. 

4.03 Reference Points 

A. Owner shall provide engineering surveys to establish reference points for construction which 
in Engineer’s judgment are necessary to enable Provider to proceed with the Work. Provider 
shall be responsible for laying out the Work, shall protect and preserve the established 
reference points and property monuments, and shall make no changes or relocations without 
the prior written approval of Owner. Provider shall report to Engineer whenever any 
reference point or property monument is lost or destroyed or requires relocation because of 
necessary changes in grades or locations, and shall be responsible for the accurate 
replacement or relocation of such reference points or property monuments by professionally 
qualified personnel. 

4.04 Progress Schedule 

A. Provider shall adhere to the Progress Schedule established in accordance with Paragraph 2.05 
as it may be adjusted from time to time as provided below. 

1. Provider shall submit to Engineer for acceptance (to the extent indicated in 
Paragraph 2.05) proposed adjustments in the Progress Schedule that will not result in 
changing the Contract Times. Such adjustments will comply with any applicable provisions 
of the Specifications. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 27 143



   
 

15 
 

2. Proposed adjustments in the Progress Schedule that will change the Contract Times must 
be submitted in accordance with the requirements of Article 12. Adjustments in Contract 
Times may only be made by a Change Order. 

B. Provider shall carry on the Work and adhere to the Progress Schedule during all disputes or 
disagreements with Owner, unless otherwise expressly provided or directed by Owner. No 
Work will be delayed or postponed pending resolution of any disputes or disagreements, or 
during any appeal process, except as permitted by Paragraph 17.04, or as Owner and Provider 
may otherwise agree in writing. 

4.05 Delays  

A. If Owner, Engineer, or anyone for whom Owner is responsible, delays, disrupts, or interferes 
with the performance or progress of the Work, then Provider shall be entitled to an equitable 
adjustment in applicable Contract Price or Contract Times. 

B. Provider shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for delay, 
disruption, or interference caused by or within the control of Provider. Delay, disruption, and 
interference attributable to and within the control of a Subcontractor or Supplier, or any other 
person or entity for whom Provider is responsible, shall be deemed to be within the control 
of Provider. 

C. If Provider’s performance or progress is delayed, disrupted, or interfered with by Force 
Majeure events, or events for which Owner is solely responsible, then Provider shall be 
entitled to an equitable adjustment in Contract Times. Such an adjustment will be Provider’s 
sole and exclusive remedy for the delays, disruption, and interference described in this 
paragraph. Causes of delay, disruption, or interference that may give rise to an adjustment in 
Contract Times or Contract Price under this paragraph include but are not limited to the 
following: 

1. Severe and unavoidable natural catastrophes such as fires, floods, epidemics, and 
earthquakes; 

2. Abnormal weather conditions; 

3. Acts or failures to act of third-party utility owners or other third-party entities (other than 
those third-party utility owners or other third-party entities performing other work at or 
adjacent to the Site as arranged by or under contract with Owner, as contemplated in 
Article 8);  

4. Inspection delays by governmental authorities and custom delays (but in no event tariff 
related delays or costs);  

5. International shipping delays;  

6. Pandemics and epidemics; and 

7. Acts of war or terrorism. 

D. Provider’s entitlement to an adjustment of Contract Times or Contract Price is limited as 
follows: 

1. Provider’s entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on the 
delay, disruption, or interference adversely affecting an activity on the critical path to 
completion of the Work, as of the time of the delay, disruption, or interference. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 28 144



   
 

16 
 

2. Provider shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price for any delay, disruption, 
or interference if such delay is concurrent with a delay, disruption, or interference caused 
by or within the control of Provider. Such a concurrent delay by Provider shall not 
preclude an adjustment of Contract Times to which Provider is otherwise entitled. 

3. Adjustments of Contract Times or Contract Price are subject to the provisions of 
Article 12. 

E. Each request or Change Proposal seeking an adjustment to Contract Times or Contract Price 
must be supplemented by supporting data that sets forth in detail the following: 

1. The circumstances that form the basis for the requested adjustment; 

2. The date upon which each cause of delay, disruption, or interference began to affect the 
progress of the Work; 

3. The date upon which each cause of delay, disruption, or interference ceased to affect the 
progress of the Work; 

4. The number of days’ increase in Contract Times claimed as a consequence of each such 
cause of delay, disruption, or interference; and 

5. The impact on Contract Price, in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 12.08. 

Provider shall also furnish such additional supporting documentation as Owner or Engineer 
may require including, where appropriate, a revised Progress Schedule indicating all the 
activities affected by the delay, disruption, or interference, and an explanation of the effect 
of the delay, disruption, or interference on the critical path to completion of the Work. 

F. Delays, disruption, and interference to the performance or progress of the Work resulting 
from the existence of a differing subsurface or physical condition, an Underground Facility 
that was not shown or indicated by the Contract Documents or an applicable Task Order, or 
not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy, and those resulting from Hazardous 
Environmental Conditions, are governed by Article 5, together with the provisions of 
Paragraphs 4.05.D and 4.05.E. 

G. Paragraph 8.02 addresses delays, disruption, and interference to the performance or progress 
of the Work resulting from the performance of certain other work at or adjacent to the Site. 

ARTICLE 5—SITE; SUBSURFACE AND PHYSICAL CONDITIONS; HAZARDOUS ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONDITIONS 

5.01 Applicability 

A. This Article 5 applies to Work completed pursuant to a Procurement and Installation Task 
Order. 

5.02 Availability of Lands 

A. Owner shall furnish the Site. Owner shall notify Provider in writing of any encumbrances or 
restrictions not of general application but specifically related to use of the Site with which 
Provider must comply in performing the Work. 

B. Upon reasonable written request, Owner shall furnish Provider with a current statement of 
record legal title and legal description of the lands upon which permanent improvements are 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 29 145



   
 

17 
 

to be made and Owner’s interest therein as necessary for giving notice of or filing a mechanic’s 
or construction lien against such lands in accordance with applicable Laws and Regulations. 

C. Provider shall provide for all additional lands and access thereto that may be required for 
temporary construction facilities or storage of materials and equipment. 

5.03 Use of Site and Other Areas 

A. Limitation on Use of Site and Other Areas 

1. Provider shall confine construction equipment, temporary construction facilities, the 
storage of materials and equipment, and the operations of workers to the Site, adjacent 
areas that Provider has arranged to use through construction easements or otherwise, 
and other adjacent areas permitted by Laws and Regulations, and shall not unreasonably 
encumber the Site and such other adjacent areas with construction equipment or other 
materials or equipment. Provider shall assume full responsibility for (a) damage to the 
Site; (b) damage to any such other adjacent areas used for Provider’s operations; (c) 
damage to any other adjacent land or areas, or to improvements, structures, utilities, or 
similar facilities located at such adjacent lands or areas; and (d) for injuries and losses 
sustained by the owners or occupants of any such land or areas; provided that such 
damage or injuries result from the performance of the Work or from other actions or 
conduct of the Provider or those for which Provider is responsible. 

2. If a damage or injury claim is made by the owner or occupant of any such land or area 
because of the performance of the Work, or because of other actions or conduct of the 
Provider or those for which Provider is responsible, Provider shall (a) take immediate 
corrective or remedial action as required by Paragraph 7.14, or otherwise; (b) promptly 
attempt to settle the claim as to all parties through negotiations with such owner or 
occupant, or otherwise resolve the claim by arbitration or other dispute resolution 
proceeding, or in a court of competent jurisdiction; and (c) to the fullest extent permitted 
by Laws and Regulations, indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and 
the partners, employees, agents, consultants, elected and appointed officials, and 
subcontractors of each and any of them, from and against any such claim, and against all 
costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, 
architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute 
resolution costs) arising out of or relating to any claim or action, legal or equitable, 
brought by any such owner or occupant against Owner, Engineer, or any other party 
indemnified hereunder to the extent caused directly or indirectly, in whole or in part by, 
or based upon, Provider’s performance of the Work, or because of other actions or 
conduct of the Provider or those for which Provider is responsible. 

B. Removal of Debris During Performance of the Work: During the progress of the Work the 
Provider shall keep the Site and other adjacent areas free from accumulations of waste 
materials, rubbish, and other debris. Removal and disposal of such waste materials, rubbish, 
and other debris will conform to applicable Laws and Regulations. 

C. Cleaning: Prior to Substantial Completion of the Work, Provider shall clean the Site and the 
Work and make it ready for utilization by Owner. At the final completion of the Work, Provider 
shall remove from the Site and adjacent areas all tools, appliances, construction equipment 
and machinery, and surplus materials and shall restore to original condition all property not 
designated for alteration by the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 30 146



   
 

18 
 

D. Loading of Structures: Provider shall not load nor permit any part of any structure to be loaded 
in any manner that will endanger the structure, nor shall Provider subject any part of the Work 
or adjacent structures or land to stresses or pressures that will endanger them. 

5.04 Subsurface and Physical Conditions 

A. Reports and Drawings: Provider shall identify: 

1. Those reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or adjacent to the Site 
that contain Technical Data; 

2. Those drawings of existing physical conditions at or adjacent to the Site, including those 
drawings depicting existing surface or subsurface structures at or adjacent to the Site 
(except Underground Facilities), that contain Technical Data; and 

3. Technical Data contained in such reports and drawings. 

B. Underground Facilities: Underground Facilities are shown or indicated on the Drawings, 
pursuant to Paragraph 5.06, and not in the drawings referred to in Paragraph 5.04.A. 
Information and data regarding the presence or location of Underground Facilities are not 
intended to be categorized, identified, or defined as Technical Data. 

C. Reliance by Provider on Technical Data: Provider may rely upon the accuracy of the Technical 
Data expressly identified in the Contract Documents and an applicable Task Order with 
respect to such reports and drawings, but such reports and drawings are not Contract 
Documents. If no such express identification has been made, then Provider may rely upon the 
accuracy of the Technical Data as defined in Paragraph 1.01.A.58.b. 

D. Limitations of Other Data and Documents: Except for such reliance on Technical Data, 
Provider may not rely upon or make any claim against Owner or Engineer, or any of their 
officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors, 
with respect to: 

1. the completeness of such reports and drawings for Provider’s purposes, including, but not 
limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of 
construction to be employed by Provider, and safety precautions and programs incident 
thereto; 

2. other data, interpretations, opinions, and information contained in such reports or shown 
or indicated in such drawings; 

3. the contents of other Site-related documents made available to Provider, such as record 
drawings from other projects at or adjacent to the Site, or Owner’s archival documents 
concerning the Site; or 

4. any Provider interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any Technical Data or any such 
other data, interpretations, opinions, or information. 

5.05 Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions 

A. Notice by Provider: If Provider believes that any subsurface or physical condition that is 
uncovered or revealed at the Site: 

1. is of such a nature as to establish that any Technical Data on which Provider is entitled to 
rely as provided in Paragraph 5.04 is materially inaccurate; 

2. is of such a nature as to require a change in the Drawings or Specifications; 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 31 147



   
 

19 
 

3. differs materially from that shown or indicated in the Contract Documents and applicable 
Task Order; or 

4. is of an unusual nature, and differs materially from conditions ordinarily encountered and 
generally recognized as inherent in work of the character provided for in the Contract 
Documents and applicable Task Order; 

then Provider shall, promptly after becoming aware thereof and before further disturbing the 
subsurface or physical conditions or performing any Work in connection therewith (except in 
an emergency as required by Paragraph 7.07), notify Owner and Engineer in writing about 
such condition. Provider shall not further disturb such condition or perform any Work in 
connection therewith (except with respect to an emergency) until receipt of a written 
statement permitting Provider to do so. 

B. Engineer’s Review: After receipt of written notice as required by the preceding paragraph, 
Engineer will promptly review the subsurface or physical condition in question; determine 
whether it is necessary for Owner to obtain additional exploration or tests with respect to the 
condition; conclude whether the condition falls within any one or more of the differing site 
condition categories in Paragraph 5.05.A; obtain any pertinent cost or schedule information 
from Provider; prepare recommendations to Owner regarding the Provider’s resumption of 
Work in connection with the subsurface or physical condition in question and the need for 
any change in the Drawings or Specifications; and advise Owner in writing of Engineer’s 
findings, conclusions, and recommendations. 

C. Owner’s Statement to Provider Regarding Site Condition: After receipt of Engineer’s written 
findings, conclusions, and recommendations, Owner shall issue a written statement to 
Provider (with a copy to Engineer) regarding the subsurface or physical condition in question, 
addressing the resumption of Work in connection with such condition, indicating whether any 
change in the Drawings or Specifications will be made, and adopting or rejecting Engineer’s 
written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, in whole or in part. 

D. Early Resumption of Work: If at any time Engineer determines that Work in connection with 
the subsurface or physical condition in question may resume prior to completion of Engineer’s 
review or Owner’s issuance of its statement to Provider, because the condition in question 
has been adequately documented, and analyzed on a preliminary basis, then the Engineer 
may at its discretion instruct Provider to resume such Work. 

E. Possible Price and Times Adjustments 

1. Provider shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, 
to the extent that the existence of a differing subsurface or physical condition, or any 
related delay, disruption, or interference, causes an increase or decrease in Provider’s 
cost of, or time required for, performance of the Work; subject, however, to the following: 

a. Such condition must fall within any one or more of the categories described in 
Paragraph 5.05.A; 

b. With respect to Work that is paid for on a unit price basis, any adjustment in Contract 
Price will be subject to the provisions of Paragraph 14.03; and, 

c. Provider’s entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is subject to the 
provisions of Paragraphs 4.05.D and 4.05.E. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 32 148



   
 

20 
 

2. Provider shall not be entitled to any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times 
with respect to a subsurface or physical condition if: 

a. Provider knew of the existence of such condition at the time Provider made a 
commitment to Owner with respect to Contract Price and Contract Times by the 
execution of the applicable Task Order, or becoming bound under a negotiated 
contract, or otherwise; 

b. The existence of such condition reasonably could have been discovered or revealed 
as a result of any examination, investigation, exploration, test, or study of the Site and 
contiguous areas expressly required by the Bidding Requirements, Contract 
Documents, and/or applicable Task Order to be conducted by or for Provider prior to 
Provider’s making such commitment; or 

c. Provider failed to pause the Work or give the written notice required by 
Paragraph 5.05.A. 

3. If Owner and Provider agree regarding Provider’s entitlement to and the amount or 
extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, then any such 
adjustment will be set forth in a Change Order. 

4. Provider may submit a Change Proposal regarding its entitlement to or the amount or 
extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, no later than 30 days 
after Owner’s issuance of the Owner’s written statement to Provider regarding the 
subsurface or physical condition in question. 

F. Underground Facilities; Hazardous Environmental Conditions: Paragraph 5.06 governs rights 
and responsibilities regarding the presence or location of Underground Facilities. 
Paragraph 5.07 governs rights and responsibilities regarding Hazardous Environmental 
Conditions. The provisions of Paragraphs 5.04 and 5.05 are not applicable to the presence or 
location of Underground Facilities, or to Hazardous Environmental Conditions. 

5.06 Underground Facilities 

A. Provider’s Responsibilities: Unless it is otherwise expressly provided in the Contract 
Documents or applicable Task Order, the cost of all of the following shall be included in the 
Contract Price, and Provider shall have full responsibility for: 

1. reviewing and checking all information and data regarding existing Underground Facilities 
at the Site; 

2. complying with applicable state and local utility damage prevention Laws and 
Regulations; 

3. verifying the actual location of those Underground Facilities shown or indicated in the 
Contract Documents or applicable Task Order as being within the area affected by the 
Work, by exposing such Underground Facilities during the performance of the Work; 

4. coordination of the Work with the owners (including Owner) of such Underground 
Facilities, during the performance of the Work; and 

5. the safety and protection of all existing Underground Facilities at the Site, and repairing 
any damage thereto resulting from the Work. 

B. Notice by Provider: If Provider believes that an Underground Facility that is uncovered or 
revealed at the Site was not shown or indicated on the Drawings, or was not shown or 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 33 149



   
 

21 
 

indicated on the Drawings with reasonable accuracy, then Provider shall, promptly after 
becoming aware thereof and before further disturbing conditions affected thereby or 
performing any Work in connection therewith (except in an emergency as required by 
Paragraph 7.07), notify Owner and Engineer in writing regarding such Underground Facility. 

C. Engineer’s Review: Engineer will: 

1. promptly review the Underground Facility and conclude whether such Underground 
Facility was not shown or indicated on the Drawings, or was not shown or indicated with 
reasonable accuracy; 

2. identify and communicate with the owner of the Underground Facility; prepare 
recommendations to Owner (and if necessary issue any preliminary instructions to 
Provider) regarding the Provider’s resumption of Work in connection with the 
Underground Facility in question; 

3. obtain any pertinent cost or schedule information from Provider; determine the extent, 
if any, to which a change is required in the Drawings or Specifications to reflect and 
document the consequences of the existence or location of the Underground Facility; and 

4. advise Owner in writing of Engineer’s findings, conclusions, and recommendations. 

During such time, Provider shall be responsible for the safety and protection of such 
Underground Facility. 

D. Owner’s Statement to Provider Regarding Underground Facility: After receipt of Engineer’s 
written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, Owner shall issue a written statement 
to Provider (with a copy to Engineer) regarding the Underground Facility in question 
addressing the resumption of Work in connection with such Underground Facility, indicating 
whether any change in the Drawings or Specifications will be made, and adopting or rejecting 
Engineer’s written findings, conclusions, and recommendations in whole or in part. 

E. Early Resumption of Work: If at any time Engineer determines that Work in connection with 
the Underground Facility may resume prior to completion of Engineer’s review or Owner’s 
issuance of its statement to Provider, because the Underground Facility in question and 
conditions affected by its presence have been adequately documented, and analyzed on a 
preliminary basis, then the Engineer may at its discretion instruct Provider to resume such 
Work. 

F. Possible Price and Times Adjustments 

1. Provider shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract 
Times, to the extent that any existing Underground Facility at the Site that was not shown 
or indicated on the Drawings, or was not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy, 
or any related delay, disruption, or interference, causes an increase or decrease in 
Provider’s cost of, or time required for, performance of the Work; subject, however, to 
the following: 

a. With respect to Work that is paid for on a unit price basis, any adjustment in Contract 
Price will be subject to the provisions of Paragraph 14.03; 

b. Provider’s entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is subject to the 
provisions of Paragraphs 4.05.D and 4.05.E; and 

c. Provider gave the notice required in Paragraph 5.06.B. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 34 150



22 

2. If Owner and Provider agree regarding Provider’s entitlement to and the amount or
extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, then any such
adjustment will be set forth in a Change Order.

3. Provider may submit a Change Proposal regarding its entitlement to or the amount or
extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, no later than 30 days
after Owner’s issuance of the Owner’s written statement to Provider regarding the
Underground Facility in question.

4. The information and data shown or indicated on the Drawings with respect to existing
Underground Facilities at each Site is based on information and data (a) furnished by the
owners of such Underground Facilities, or by others, (b) obtained from available records,
or (c) gathered in an investigation conducted in accordance with the current edition of
ASCE 38, Standard Guideline for the Collection and Depiction of Existing Subsurface Utility
Data, by the American Society of Civil Engineers. If such information or data is incorrect
or incomplete, Provider’s remedies are limited to those set forth in this Paragraph 5.06.F.

5.07 Hazardous Environmental Conditions at Site 

A. Reports and Drawings: The Owner shall identify:

1. those reports known to Owner relating to Hazardous Environmental Conditions that have
been identified at or adjacent to the Site;

2. drawings known to Owner relating to Hazardous Environmental Conditions that have
been identified at or adjacent to the Site; and

3. Technical Data contained in such reports and drawings.

B. Reliance by Provider on Technical Data Authorized: Provider may rely upon the accuracy of
the Technical Data expressly identified by Owner with respect to such reports and drawings,
but such reports and drawings are not Contract Documents. If no such express identification
has been made, then Provider may rely on the accuracy of the Technical Data as defined in
Paragraph 1.01.A.58.b. Except for such reliance on Technical Data, Provider may not rely upon
or make any claim against Owner or Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members,
partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors, with respect to:

1. the completeness of such reports and drawings for Provider’s purposes, including, but not
limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures of
construction to be employed by Provider, and safety precautions and programs incident
thereto;

2. other data, interpretations, opinions, and information contained in such reports or shown
or indicated in such drawings; or

3. any Provider interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any Technical Data or any such
other data, interpretations, opinions or information.

C. Provider shall not be responsible for removing or remediating any Hazardous Environmental
Condition encountered, uncovered, or revealed at the Site unless such removal or
remediation is expressly identified in the Contract Documents or applicable Task Order to be
within the scope of the Work.

D. Provider shall be responsible for controlling, containing, and duly removing all Constituents
of Concern brought to the Site by Provider, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or anyone else for

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 35 151



23 

whom Provider is responsible, and for any associated costs; and for the costs of removing and 
remediating any Hazardous Environmental Condition created by the presence of any such 
Constituents of Concern. 

E. If Provider encounters, uncovers, or reveals a Hazardous Environmental Condition whose
removal or remediation is not expressly identified in the Contract Documents or applicable
Task Order as being within the scope of the Work, or if Provider or anyone for whom Provider
is responsible creates a Hazardous Environmental Condition, then Provider shall immediately:
(1) secure or otherwise isolate such condition; (2) stop all Work in connection with such
condition and in any area affected thereby (except in an emergency as required by
Paragraph 7.07); and (3) notify Owner and Engineer (and promptly thereafter confirm such
notice in writing). Owner shall promptly consult with Engineer concerning the necessity for
Owner to retain a qualified expert to evaluate such condition or take corrective action, if any.
Promptly after consulting with Engineer, Owner shall take such actions as are necessary to
permit Owner to timely obtain required permits and provide Provider the written notice
required by Paragraph 5.07.F. If Provider or anyone for whom Provider is responsible created
the Hazardous Environmental Condition in question, then Owner may remove and remediate
the Hazardous Environmental Condition, and impose a set-off against payments to account
for the associated costs.

F. Provider shall not resume Work in connection with such Hazardous Environmental Condition
or in any affected area until after Owner has obtained any required permits related thereto,
and delivered written notice to Provider either (1) specifying that such condition and any
affected area is or has been rendered safe for the resumption of Work, or (2) specifying any
special conditions under which such Work may be resumed safely.

G. If Owner and Provider cannot agree as to entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any,
of any adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, as a result of such Work stoppage, such
special conditions under which Work is agreed to be resumed by Provider, or any costs or
expenses incurred in response to the Hazardous Environmental Condition, then within 30
days of Owner’s written notice regarding the resumption of Work, Provider may submit a
Change Proposal, or Owner may impose a set-off. Entitlement to any such adjustment is
subject to the provisions of Paragraphs 4.05.D, 4.05.E, 12.07, and 12.08.

H. If, after receipt of such written notice, Provider does not agree to resume such Work based
on a reasonable belief it is unsafe, or does not agree to resume such Work under such special
conditions, then Owner may order the portion of the Work that is in the area affected by such
condition to be deleted from the Work, following the contractual change procedures in
Article 12. Owner may have such deleted portion of the Work performed by Owner’s own
forces or others in accordance with Article 8.

I. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Provider shall indemnify, defend,
and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the employees, agents, consultants, elected and
appointed officials, and subcontractors of each and any of them, from and against all claims,
costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers,
architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute
resolution costs) arising out of or relating to the failure to control, contain, or remove a
Constituent of Concern brought to the Site by Provider or by anyone for whom Provider is
responsible, or to a Hazardous Environmental Condition created by Provider or by anyone for
whom Provider is responsible. Nothing in this Paragraph 5.07.I obligates Provider to

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 36 152



   
 

24 
 

indemnify any individual or entity from and against the consequences of that individual’s or 
entity’s own negligence. 

J. The provisions of Paragraphs 5.04, 5.05, and 5.06 do not apply to the presence of Constituents 
of Concern or to a Hazardous Environmental Condition uncovered or revealed at the Site. 

ARTICLE 6—BONDS AND INSURANCE 

6.01 Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds 

A. Provider shall furnish a performance bond and a payment bond, in accordance with the terms 
of the each fully executed Task Order, as security for the faithful performance and payment 
of Provider’s obligations under the Contract Documents. These bonds must remain in effect 
until one year after the date when final payment becomes due or until completion of the 
correction period specified in Paragraph 16.08, whichever is later, except as provided 
otherwise by Laws or Regulations, the terms of a prescribed bond form, the Supplementary 
Conditions, or other provisions of the Master Agreement. Each required bond shall be for the 
full value of the applicable Task Order’s Contract Price. 

B. Provider shall also furnish such other bonds (if any) as are required by the Supplementary 
Conditions, or other provisions of the Master Agreement. 

C. All bonds must be in the form included in the Bidding Documents or otherwise specified by 
Owner prior to execution of a Task Order, if any, except as provided otherwise by Laws or 
Regulations, and must be issued and signed by a surety named in “Companies Holding 
Certificates of Authority as Acceptable Sureties on Federal Bonds and as Acceptable 
Reinsuring Companies” as published in Department Circular 570 (as amended and 
supplemented) by the Bureau of the Fiscal Service, U.S. Department of the Treasury. A bond 
signed by an agent or attorney-in-fact must be accompanied by a certified copy of that 
individual’s authority to bind the surety. The evidence of authority must show that it is 
effective on the date the agent or attorney-in-fact signed the accompanying bond. 

D. Provider shall obtain the required bonds from surety companies that are duly licensed or 
authorized, in the state or jurisdiction in which the project is located, to issue bonds in the 
required amounts. 

E. If the surety on a bond furnished by Provider is declared bankrupt or becomes insolvent, or 
the surety ceases to meet the requirements above, then Provider shall promptly notify Owner 
and Engineer in writing and shall, within 20 days after the event giving rise to such notification, 
provide another bond and surety, both of which must comply with the bond and surety 
requirements above. 

F. If Provider has failed to obtain a required bond, Owner may exclude the Provider from the 
Site and exercise Owner’s termination rights under Article 17. 

G. Upon request to Owner from any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other person or entity claiming 
to have furnished labor, services, materials, or equipment used in the performance of the 
Work, Owner shall provide a copy of the payment bond to such person or entity. 

6.02 Insurance—General Provisions 

A. Owner and Provider shall obtain and maintain insurance as required in the Contract 
Documents and each fully executed Task Order. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 37 153



   
 

25 
 

B. All insurance required by the Contract Documents to be purchased and maintained by Owner 
or Provider shall be obtained from insurance companies that are duly licensed or authorized 
in the state or jurisdiction in which the Project is located to issue insurance policies for the 
required limits and coverages. Unless a different standard is indicated in the Supplementary 
Conditions or a Task Order, all companies that provide insurance policies required under this 
Master Agreement shall have an A.M. Best rating of A-VII or better. 

C. Alternative forms of insurance coverage, including but not limited to self-insurance and 
“Occupational Accident and Excess Employer’s Indemnity Policies,” are not sufficient to meet 
the insurance requirements of this Master Agreement, unless expressly allowed in the 
Supplementary Conditions or a Task Order. 

D. Provider shall deliver to Owner, with copies to each additional insured identified in the 
applicable Task Order, certificates of insurance and endorsements establishing that Provider 
has obtained and is maintaining the policies and coverages required by the Master Agreement 
and applicable Task Order. Upon request by Owner or any other insured, Provider shall also 
furnish other evidence of such required insurance, including but not limited to copies of 
policies, documentation of applicable self-insured retentions (if allowed) and deductibles, full 
disclosure of all relevant exclusions, and evidence of insurance required to be purchased and 
maintained by Subcontractors or Suppliers. In any documentation furnished under this 
provision, Provider, Subcontractors, and Suppliers may block out (redact) (1) any confidential 
premium or pricing information and (2) any wording specific to a project or jurisdiction other 
than those applicable to this Master Agreement and applicable Task Order. 

E. Owner shall deliver to Provider, with copies to each additional insured identified in the 
applicable Task Order, certificates of insurance and endorsements establishing that Owner 
has obtained and is maintaining the policies and coverages required of Owner by the Contract 
Documents and applicable Task Order. Upon request by Provider or any other insured, Owner 
shall also provide other evidence of such required insurance (if any), including but not limited 
to copies of policies, documentation of applicable self-insured retentions (if allowed) and 
deductibles, and full disclosure of all relevant exclusions. In any documentation furnished 
under this provision, Owner may block out (redact) (1) any confidential premium or pricing 
information and (2) any wording specific to a project or jurisdiction other than those relevant 
to this Master Agreement and applicable Task Order. 

F. Failure of Owner or Provider to demand such certificates or other evidence of the other 
party’s full compliance with these insurance requirements, or failure of Owner or Provider to 
identify a deficiency in compliance from the evidence provided, will not be construed as a 
waiver of the other party’s obligation to obtain and maintain such insurance. 

G. In addition to the liability insurance required to be provided by Provider, the Owner, at 
Owner’s option, may purchase and maintain Owner’s own liability insurance. Owner’s liability 
policies, if any, operate separately and independently from policies required to be provided 
by Provider, and Provider cannot rely upon Owner’s liability policies for any of Provider’s 
obligations to the Owner, Engineer, or third parties. 

H. Provider shall require: 

1. Subcontractors to purchase and maintain worker’s compensation, commercial general 
liability, and other insurance that is appropriate for their participation in the Work, and 
to name as additional insureds Owner and Engineer (and any other individuals or entities 
identified in the Supplementary Conditions or applicable Task Order as additional 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 38 154



   
 

26 
 

insureds on Provider’s liability policies) on each Subcontractor’s commercial general 
liability insurance policy; and 

2. Suppliers to purchase and maintain insurance that is appropriate for their participation in 
the Work. 

I. If either party does not purchase or maintain the insurance required of such party by the 
Master Agreement or applicable Task Order, such party shall notify the other party in writing 
of such failure to purchase prior to the start of the Work, or of such failure to maintain prior 
to any change in the required coverage. 

J. If Provider has failed to obtain and maintain required insurance, Provider’s entitlement to 
enter or remain at the Site or Point of Destination, as applicable, will end immediately, and 
Owner may impose an appropriate set-off against payment for any associated costs (including 
but not limited to the cost of purchasing necessary insurance coverage), and exercise Owner’s 
termination rights under Article 17. 

K. Without prejudice to any other right or remedy, if a party has failed to obtain required 
insurance, the other party may elect (but is in no way obligated) to obtain equivalent 
insurance to protect such other party’s interests at the expense of the party who was required 
to provide such coverage, and the Contract Price will be adjusted accordingly. 

L. Owner does not represent that insurance coverage and limits established in this Master 
Agreement and applicable Task Order necessarily will be adequate to protect Provider or 
Provider’s interests. Provider is responsible for determining whether such coverage and limits 
are adequate to protect its interests, and for obtaining and maintaining any additional 
insurance that Provider deems necessary. 

M. The insurance and insurance limits required herein will not be deemed as a limitation on 
Contractor’s liability, or that of its Subcontractors or Suppliers, under the indemnities granted 
to Owner and other individuals and entities in the Master Agreement, applicable Task Order, 
or otherwise. 

N. All the policies of insurance required to be purchased and maintained under this Master 
Agreement and applicable Task Order will contain a provision or endorsement that the 
coverage afforded will not be canceled, or renewal refused, until at least 10 days prior written 
notice has been given to the purchasing policyholder. Within three days of receipt of any such 
written notice, the purchasing policyholder shall provide a copy of the notice to each other 
insured and Engineer. 

O. Failure of Owner to demand certificates of insurance or other evidence of Provider’s full 
compliance with these insurance requirements or failure of Owner to identify a deficiency in 
compliance from the evidence provided will not be construed as a waiver of Provider’s 
obligation to maintain such insurance. 

P. Upon assignment of a Task Order and the applicable terms of the Contract Documents, if any, 
Provider shall name the Contractor/Assignee as an additional insured and comply with the 
written request of Contractor/Assignee to provide evidence of insurance. 

6.03 Provider’s Insurance 

A. Required Insurance: Provider shall purchase and maintain Worker’s Compensation, 
Commercial General Liability, and other insurance pursuant to the specific requirements 
identified herein: 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 39 155



   
 

27 
 

 1. Workers Compensation at statutory limits. 

 2. Commercial general liability as follows: 

Commercial General Liability Policy limits of not less than 

General aggregate $2,000,000 

Products – completed operations aggregate $2,000,000 

Personal and Advertising Injury $2,000,000 

Each occurrence $2,000,000 

 3. Automobile liability as follows: 

Automobile Liability Policy limits of not less than 

Combined single limit (bodily injury and 
property damage) 

$2,000,000 

 4. Professional Liability as follows: 

Contractor’s professional liability Policy limit of not less than 

Each claim $3,000,000 

Annual aggregate $3,000,000 

 5. Excess Umbrella Liability Coverage: Provider shall provide excess umbrella liability 
coverage, on an occurrence basis, issued as broad form excess to all other professional 
liability, errors and omissions, commercial general liability, and commercial auto liability 
coverage’s not less than $5,000,000. 

B. General Provisions: The policies of insurance required by this Paragraph 6.03 as supplemented 
must: 

1. include at least the specific coverages required; 

2. be written for not less than the limits provided, or those required by Laws or Regulations, 
whichever is greater; 

3. remain in effect at least until each applicable scope of Work is complete (as set forth in 
Paragraph 16.06.D), and longer if expressly required elsewhere in this Master Agreement 
or an applicable Task Order, and at all times thereafter when Provider may be correcting, 
removing, or replacing non-conforming or defective Work as a warranty or correction 
obligation, or otherwise, or returning to the Site to conduct other tasks arising from the 
applicable Task Order; 

4. apply with respect to the performance of the Work, whether such performance is by 
Provider, any Subcontractor or Supplier, or by anyone directly or indirectly employed by 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 40 156



   
 

28 
 

any of them to perform any of the Work, or by anyone for whose acts any of them may 
be liable; and 

5. include all necessary endorsements to support the stated requirements. 

C. Additional Insureds: The Provider’s commercial general liability, automobile liability, 
employer’s liability, umbrella or excess, pollution liability, and unmanned aerial vehicle 
liability policies, if required by this Master Agreement or applicable Task Order, must: 

1. include and list as additional insureds Owner and Engineer, and any individuals or entities 
identified as additional insureds in the Supplementary Conditions or applicable Task 
Order; 

2. include coverage for the respective officers, elected and appointed officials, directors, 
members, partners, employees, agents, and consultants of all such additional insureds; 

3. afford primary coverage to these additional insureds for all claims covered thereby 
(including as applicable those arising from both ongoing and completed operations); 

4. not seek contribution from insurance maintained by the additional insured; and 

5. as to commercial general liability insurance, apply to additional insureds with respect to 
liability caused in whole or in part by Provider’s acts or omissions, or the acts and 
omissions of those working on Provider’s behalf, in the performance of Provider’s 
operations. 

6.04 Builder’s Risk and Other Property Insurance (For Work completed under a Procurement and 
Installation Task Order only) 

A. Builder’s Risk: Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions or a Task Order, 
Provider is not required to purchase and/or maintain builder’s risk insurance in connection 
with the Work. 

B. Property Insurance for Facilities of Owner Where Work Will Occur: Owner is responsible for 
obtaining and maintaining property insurance covering each existing structure, building, or 
facility in which any part of the Work will occur, or to which any part of the Work will attach 
or be adjoined. Such property insurance will be written on a special perils (all-risk) form, on a 
replacement cost basis, providing coverage consistent with that required for the builder’s risk 
insurance, and will be maintained until the Work is complete, as set forth in 
Paragraph 16.06.D. 

C. Property Insurance for Substantially Complete Facilities: promptly after Substantial 
Completion, and before actual occupancy or use of the substantially completed Work, Owner 
will obtain property insurance for such substantially completed Work, and maintain such 
property insurance at least until the Work is complete, as set forth in Paragraph 16.06.D. Such 
property insurance will be written on a special perils (all-risk) form, on a replacement cost 
basis, and provide coverage consistent with that required for the builder’s risk insurance. The 
builder’s risk insurance may terminate upon written confirmation of Owner’s procurement of 
such property insurance. 

D. Partial Occupancy or Use by Owner: If Owner will occupy or use a portion or portions of the 
Work prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work, as provided in Paragraph 16.04, then 
Owner (directly, if it is the purchaser of the builder’s risk policy, or through Provider) will 
provide advance notice of such occupancy or use to the builder’s risk insurer, and obtain an 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 41 157



   
 

29 
 

endorsement consenting to the continuation of coverage prior to commencing such partial 
occupancy or use. 

E. Insurance of Other Property; Additional Insurance: If the express insurance provisions of the 
Master Agreement and applicable Task Order do not require or address the insurance of a 
property item or interest, then the entity or individual owning such property item will be 
responsible for insuring it. If Provider elects to obtain other special insurance to be included 
in or supplement the builder’s risk or property insurance policies provided under this 
Paragraph 6.04, it may do so at Provider’s expense. 

6.05 Property Losses; Subrogation (for Work completed under a Procurement and Installation Task 
Order only) 

A. The builder’s risk insurance policy purchased and maintained in accordance with 
Paragraph 6.04 (or an installation floater policy if authorized by the Supplementary 
Conditions or a Task Order), will contain provisions to the effect that in the event of payment 
of any loss or damage the insurer will have no rights of recovery against any insureds 
thereunder. 

1. Owner and Provider waive all rights against each other and the respective officers, 
directors, elected and appointed officials, members, partners, employees, agents, 
consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them, for all losses and damages 
caused by, arising out of, or resulting from any of the perils, risks, or causes of loss covered 
by such policies and any other property insurance applicable to the Work. 

2. None of the above waivers extends to the rights that any party making such waiver may 
have to the proceeds of insurance held by Owner or Provider as trustee or fiduciary, or 
otherwise payable under any policy so issued. 

B. Any property insurance policy maintained by Owner covering any loss, damage, or 
consequential loss to Owner’s existing structures, buildings, or facilities in which any part of 
the Work will occur, or to which any part of the Work will attach or adjoin; to adjacent 
structures, buildings, or facilities of Owner; or to part or all of the completed or substantially 
completed Work, during partial occupancy or use pursuant to Paragraph 16.04, after 
Substantial Completion pursuant to Paragraph 16.03, or after final payment pursuant to 
Paragraph 16.06, will contain provisions to the effect that in the event of payment of any loss 
or damage the insurer will have no rights of recovery against any insureds thereunder, or 
against Provider, Subcontractors, or Engineer, or the officers, directors, members, partners, 
employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors of each and any of them, and that the 
insured is allowed to waive the insurer’s rights of subrogation in a written contract executed 
prior to the loss, damage, or consequential loss. 

C. The waivers in this Paragraph 6.05 include the waiver of rights due to business interruption, 
loss of use, or other consequential loss extending beyond direct physical loss or damage to 
Owner’s property or the Work caused by, arising out of, or resulting from fire or other insured 
peril, risk, or cause of loss. 

D. Provider shall be responsible for assuring that each subcontract contains provisions whereby 
the Subcontractor waives all rights against Owner, all individuals or entities identified in the 
Supplementary Conditions or applicable Task Order as insureds, and the officers, directors, 
members, elected and appointed officials, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and 
subcontractors of each and any of them, for all losses and damages caused by, arising out of, 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 42 158



   
 

30 
 

relating to, or resulting from fire or other peril, risk, or cause of loss covered by builder’s risk 
insurance, installation floater, and any other property insurance applicable to the Work. 

6.06 Receipt and Application of Property Insurance Proceeds (For Work completed under a Procurement 
and Installation Task Order only) 

A. Any insured loss under the builder’s risk and other policies of property insurance required by 
Paragraph 6.04 will be adjusted and settled with the named insured that purchased the policy. 
Such named insured shall act as fiduciary for the other insureds, and give notice to such other 
insureds that adjustment and settlement of a claim is in progress. Any other insured may state 
its position regarding a claim for insured loss in writing within 15 days after notice of such 
claim. 

B. Proceeds for such insured losses may be made payable by the insurer either jointly to multiple 
insureds, or to the named insured that purchased the policy in its own right and as fiduciary 
for other insureds, subject to the requirements of any applicable mortgage clause. A named 
insured receiving insurance proceeds under the builder’s risk and other policies of insurance 
required by Paragraph 6.04 shall maintain such proceeds in a segregated account, and 
distribute such proceeds in accordance with such agreement as the parties in interest may 
reach, or as otherwise required under the dispute resolution provisions of this Master 
Agreement or applicable Laws and Regulations. 

C. If no other special agreement is reached, Provider shall repair or replace the damaged Work, 
using allocated insurance proceeds. 

ARTICLE 7—PROVIDER’S RESPONSIBILITIES 

7.01 Performance of Obligations 

A. Provider shall be solely responsible for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 
procedures of construction necessary to perform its obligations in accordance with the 
Contract Documents and each fully executed Task Order. 

B. If the Contract Documents or a Task Order note, or Provider determines, that professional 
engineering or other design services are needed to carry out Provider’s responsibilities for 
construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures, or for Site safety, then 
Provider shall cause such services to be provided by a properly licensed design professional, 
at Provider’s expense. Such services are not Owner-delegated professional design services 
under this Master Agreement, and neither Owner nor Engineer has any responsibility with 
respect to (1) Provider’s determination of the need for such services, (2) the qualifications or 
licensing of the design professionals retained or employed by Provider, (3) the performance 
of such services, or (4) any errors, omissions, or defects in such services. 

C. Provider shall coordinate the provision of any Special Services to avoid or limit interference 
or disruption of other activities at the location where the Special Services are to occur, 
including but not limited to ongoing facility operations and construction activities. 

7.02 Supervision and Superintendence 

A. Provider shall supervise, inspect, and direct the Work competently and efficiently, devoting 
such attention thereto and applying such skills and expertise as may be necessary to perform 
the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents and Task Order(s). 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 43 159



   
 

31 
 

B. At all times during the progress of the Work, Provider shall assign a competent resident 
superintendent who will not be replaced without written notice to Owner and Engineer 
except under extraordinary circumstances. 

C. Any person employed on the Project, by the Provider or a Subcontractor, who, in the opinion 
of the Engineer, does not act in a courteous and professional manner towards the adjacent 
property owners, the traveling public, or Owner shall, at the written request of the Engineer, 
be removed from the Project.  That employee shall not return to work on the Project without 
the approval of the Engineer. 

7.03 Labor; Working Hours 

A. Provider shall provide competent, suitably qualified personnel to survey and lay out the Work 
and perform construction as required by the Contract Documents and Task Order(s). Provider 
shall maintain good discipline and order at the Site. 

B. Provider shall be fully responsible to Owner and Engineer for all acts and omissions of 
Provider’s employees; of Suppliers and Subcontractors, and their employees; and of any other 
individuals or entities performing or furnishing any of the Work, just as Provider is responsible 
for Provider’s own acts and omissions. 

7.04 Goods, Services, Materials, and Equipment 

A. Unless otherwise specified in the Contract Documents or Task Order(s), Provider shall provide 
and assume full responsibility for all services, materials, equipment, labor, transportation, 
construction equipment and machinery, tools, appliances, fuel, power, light, heat, telephone, 
water, sanitary facilities, temporary facilities, and all other facilities and incidentals necessary 
for the performance, testing, start up, and completion of the Work, whether or not such items 
are specifically called for in the Contract Documents or a Task Order. 

B. All materials and equipment incorporated into the Work must be new and of good quality, 
except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents or a Task Order. All special 
warranties and guarantees required by the Specifications or otherwise provided will expressly 
run to the benefit of Owner. If required by Engineer, Provider shall furnish satisfactory 
evidence (including reports of required tests) as to the source, kind, and quality of materials 
and equipment. 

C. All materials and equipment must be stored, applied, installed, connected, erected, 
protected, used, cleaned, and conditioned in accordance with instructions of the applicable 
Supplier, except as otherwise may be provided in the Contract Documents or a Task Order. 

D. All Goods, and all equipment and material incorporated into the Goods, must be as specified, 
and unless specified otherwise in the Contract Documents or a Task Order, must be:  

1. new, and of good quality;  

2. protected, assembled, connected, cleaned, and conditioned in accordance with the 
original manufacturer’s instructions; and  

3. shop-assembled to the greatest extent practicable. 

7.05 Concerning Subcontractors and Suppliers 

A. Provider may retain Subcontractors and Suppliers for the performance of parts of the Work. 
Such Subcontractors and Suppliers must be acceptable to Owner. The Provider’s retention of 
a Subcontractor or Supplier for the performance of parts of the Work will not relieve 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 44 160



   
 

32 
 

Provider’s obligation to Owner to perform and complete the Work in accordance with the 
Contract Documents and applicable Task Order. 

B. Provider shall retain specific Subcontractors and Suppliers for the performance of designated 
parts of the Work if required by the Contract Documents or applicable Task Order to do so. 

C. Subsequent to the submittal of Provider’s Bid or final negotiation of the terms of a Task Order, 
Owner may not require Provider to retain any Subcontractor or Supplier to furnish or perform 
any of the Work against which Provider has reasonable objection. 

D. Prior to entry into any binding subcontract or purchase order, Provider shall submit to Owner 
the identity of the proposed Subcontractor or Supplier (unless Owner has already deemed 
such proposed Subcontractor or Supplier acceptable during the bidding process or otherwise). 
Such proposed Subcontractor or Supplier shall be deemed acceptable to Owner unless Owner 
raises a substantive, reasonable objection within 5 days. 

E. Provider shall not assign, sell, dispose of, or transfer rights, or delegate duties under the 
Master Agreement or a Task Order, either in whole or in part, without the Owner’s prior 
written consent. Unless otherwise agreed by the Owner in writing, such consent shall not 
relieve the Provider of any obligations under the Master Agreement or applicable Task Order. 
Any assignee or transferee shall be considered the agent of the Provider and be bound to 
abide by all provisions of the Master Agreement and/or applicable Task Order. If the Owner 
consents in writing to an assignment, sale, disposal or transfer of the Provider 's rights or 
delegation of Provider 's duties, the Provider and its surety, if any, shall remain liable to the 
Owner for complete performance of the Master Agreement as if no such assignment, sale, 
disposal, transfer or delegation had occurred unless the Owner otherwise agrees in writing. 

F. Owner may require the replacement of any Subcontractor or Supplier. Owner also may 
require Provider to retain specific replacements; provided, however, that Owner may not 
require a replacement to which Provider has a reasonable objection. If Provider has submitted 
the identity of certain Subcontractors or Suppliers for acceptance by Owner, and Owner has 
accepted it (either in writing or by failing to make written objection thereto), then Owner may 
subsequently revoke the acceptance of any such Subcontractor or Supplier so identified solely 
on the basis of substantive, reasonable objection after due investigation. Provider shall 
submit an acceptable replacement for the rejected Subcontractor or Supplier. 

G. If Owner requires the replacement of any Subcontractor or Supplier retained by Provider to 
perform any part of the Work, then Provider shall be entitled to an adjustment in Contract 
Price or Contract Times with respect to the replacement, and Provider shall initiate a Change 
Proposal for such adjustment within 30 days of Owner’s requirement of replacement. 

H. No acceptance by Owner of any such Subcontractor or Supplier, whether initially or as a 
replacement, will constitute a waiver of the right of Owner to the completion of the Work in 
accordance with the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order. 

I. On a monthly basis, Provider shall submit to Engineer a complete list of all Subcontractors and 
Suppliers having a direct contract with Provider, and of all other Subcontractors and Suppliers 
known to Provider at the time of submittal. 

J. Provider shall be solely responsible for scheduling and coordinating the work of 
Subcontractors and Suppliers. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 45 161



   
 

33 
 

K. The divisions and sections of the Specifications and the identifications of any Drawings do not 
control Provider in dividing the Work among Subcontractors or Suppliers, or in delineating the 
Work to be performed by any specific trade. 

L. Subcontractor and Supplier Contracting Requirements 

1. Provider further agrees that if Subcontractors are employed in the performance of this 
Master Agreement or applicable Task Order, the Provider and its Subcontractors are 
subject to the requirements and sanction of ORS Chapter 656, Workers’ Compensation. 

2. All Work performed for Provider by a Subcontractor or Supplier must be pursuant to an 
appropriate contractual agreement that specifically binds the Subcontractor or Supplier 
to the applicable terms and conditions of the Master Agreement and applicable Task 
Order for the benefit of Owner and Engineer. 

M. Owner may furnish to any Subcontractor or Supplier, to the extent practicable, information 
about amounts paid to Provider for Work performed for Provider by the Subcontractor or 
Supplier. 

N. Provider shall restrict all Subcontractors and Suppliers from communicating with Engineer or 
Owner, except through Provider or in case of an emergency, or as otherwise expressly allowed 
in these Contract Documents or a Task Order. 

7.06 Hazard Communication Programs 

A. Provider shall be responsible for coordinating any exchange of safety data sheets (formerly 
known as material safety data sheets) or other hazard communication information required 
to be made available to or exchanged between or among employers at the Site or Point of 
Destination in accordance with Laws or Regulations. 

7.07 Emergencies 

A. In emergencies affecting the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property at the 
Site, the Point of Destination, or adjacent thereto, Provider is obligated to act to prevent 
damage, injury, or loss. Provider shall give Engineer prompt written notice if Provider believes 
that any significant changes in the Work or variations from the Contract Documents or 
applicable Task Order have been caused by an emergency, or are required as a result of 
Provider’s response to an emergency. If Engineer determines that a change in the Contract 
Documents or Task Order(s) is required because of an emergency or Provider’s response, a 
Work Change Directive or Change Order will be issued. 

7.08 “Or Equals” 

A. Provider’s Request; Governing Criteria: Whenever an item of equipment or material to be 
incorporated into the Work is specified or described in the Contract Documents or a Task 
Order by using the names of one or more proprietary items or specific Suppliers or 
manufacturers, the Contract Price has been based upon Provider furnishing such item as 
specified. The specification or description of such an item is intended to establish the type, 
function, appearance, and quality required. Unless the specification or description contains 
or is followed by words reading that no like, equivalent, or “or equal” item is permitted, 
Provider may request that Engineer authorize the use of other items of equipment or 
material, or items from other proposed Suppliers, under the circumstances described below. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 46 162



   
 

34 
 

1. If Engineer in its sole discretion determines that an item of equipment or material 
proposed by Provider is functionally equal to that named and sufficiently similar so that 
no change in related Work will be required, Engineer will deem it an “or equal” item.  

2. For the purposes of this paragraph, a proposed item of equipment or material will be 
considered functionally equal to an item so named if: 

a. in the exercise of reasonable judgment Engineer determines that the proposed item: 

1) is at least equal in materials of construction, quality, durability, appearance, 
strength, and design characteristics; 

2) will reliably perform at least equally well the function and achieve the results 
imposed by the design concept of the completed Work as a functioning whole; 

3) has a proven record of performance and availability of responsive service; and 

4) is not objectionable to Owner. 

b. Provider certifies that, if the proposed item is approved and incorporated into the 
Work: 

1) there will be no increase in the Contract Price or Contract Times; and 

2) the item will conform substantially to the detailed requirements of the item 
named in the Contract Documents. 

B. Provider’s Expense: Provider shall provide all data in support of any proposed “or equal” item 
at Provider’s expense. 

C. Engineer’s Evaluation and Determination: Engineer will be allowed a reasonable time to 
evaluate each “or-equal” request. Engineer may require Provider to furnish additional data 
about the proposed “or-equal” item. Engineer will be the sole judge of acceptability. No “or-
equal” item will be ordered, furnished, installed, or utilized until Engineer’s review is complete 
and Engineer determines that the proposed item is an “or-equal,” which will be evidenced by 
an approved Shop Drawing or other written communication. Engineer will advise Provider in 
writing of any negative determination. Notwithstanding Engineer’s approval of an “or-equal” 
item, Provider shall remain obligated to comply with the requirements of the Contract 
Documents and applicable Task Order. 

D. Effect of Engineer’s Determination: Neither approval nor denial of an “or-equal” request will 
result in any change in Contract Price. The Engineer’s denial of an “or-equal” request will be 
final and binding, and may not be reversed through an appeal under any provision of the 
Contract Documents. 

E. Special Guarantee: Owner may require Provider to furnish at Provider’s expense a special 
performance guarantee or other surety with respect to any such proposed “or-equal.”  

7.09 Intellectual Property and License Fees 

A. Provider shall pay all license fees and royalties and assume all costs incident to the use in the 
performance of the Work or the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, 
product, or device which is the subject of patent rights or copyrights held by others. If an 
invention, design, process, product, or device is specified in the Contract Documents or 
applicable Task Order for use in the performance of the Work and if, to the actual knowledge 
of Owner or Engineer, its use is subject to patent rights or copyrights calling for the payment 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 47 163



   
 

35 
 

of any license fee or royalty to others, the existence of such rights will be disclosed in the 
applicable Task Order. Except to the extent stated elsewhere in the Contract Documents or a 
Task Order, Provider is not transferring any patent rights, copyrights, or other intellectual 
property rights for any Goods delivered. 

B. All work products of the Provider that result from this Master Agreement or applicable Task 
Order, including but not limited to background data, documentation and staff work that is 
preliminary to final reports, are the property of Owner.  Draft documents and preliminary 
work submitted to the Owner for review and comment shall not be considered as owned, 
used or retained by the Owner until the final document is submitted. The Owner shall own all 
proprietary rights, including but not limited to copyrights, trade secrets, patents and all other 
intellectual or other property rights in and to such work products.  Preexisting trade secrets 
of the Provider shall be noted as such and shall not be considered as a work product of this 
Master Agreement or applicable Task Order.  All such work products shall be considered 
“works made for hire” under the provisions of the United States Copyright Act and all other 
equivalent laws. 

C. Use of any work product of the Provider by the Owner for any purpose other than the use 
intended by this Master Agreement and applicable Task Order(s) is at the risk of the Owner.  
Use of any work product by Provider is prohibited without the written consent of the Owner.  
All documents or other materials submitted to Owner by Provider shall become the sole and 
exclusive property of Owner.  Such materials are subject to Oregon Public Records Laws. 

D. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Provider shall indemnify, defend, 
and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, 
employees, agents, consultants, elected and appointed officials, and subcontractors of each 
and any of them, from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not 
limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and 
all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to any 
infringement of patent rights or copyrights incident to the use in the performance of the Work 
or resulting from the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, product, or 
device not specified in the Contract Documents or applicable Task Order. 

7.10 Permits 

A. Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents or a Task Order, Provider shall obtain 
and pay for all construction permits, licenses, and certificates of occupancy. Owner shall assist 
Provider, when necessary, in obtaining such permits and licenses. Provider shall pay all 
governmental charges and inspection fees necessary for the prosecution of the Work which 
are applicable at the time of the full execution of the applicable Task Order). Owner shall pay 
all charges of utility owners for connections for providing permanent service to the Work. 

7.11 Taxes 

A. Provider shall pay all sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes required to be paid by 
Provider in accordance with the Laws and Regulations of the place of the Work which are 
applicable during the performance of the Work. All taxes and duties are included in the 
Contract Price, except as noted in the Supplementary Conditions or applicable Task Order. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 48 164



   
 

36 
 

7.12 Laws and Regulations 

A. Provider shall give all notices required by and shall comply with all Laws and Regulations 
applicable to the performance of the Work. Neither Owner nor Engineer shall be responsible 
for monitoring Provider’s compliance with any Laws or Regulations. 

B. If Provider performs any Work or takes any other action knowing or having reason to know 
that it is contrary to Laws or Regulations, Provider shall bear all resulting costs and losses, and 
shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, 
members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, elected and appointed officials, and 
subcontractors of each and any of them, from and against all claims, costs, losses, and 
damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, 
and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising 
out of or relating to such Work or other action. It is not Provider’s responsibility to make 
certain that the Work described in the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order(s) is in 
accordance with Laws and Regulations, but this does not relieve Provider of its obligations 
under Paragraph 3.03. 

C. Owner or Provider may give written notice to the other party of any changes after the date 
when Provider became bound under each fully executed Task Order in Laws or Regulations 
having an effect on the cost or time of performance of the particular Work covered by such 
Task Order, including but not limited to changes in Laws or Regulations having an effect on 
procuring permits and on sales, use, value-added, consumption, and other similar taxes. If 
Owner and Provider are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, 
of any adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times resulting from such changes, then 
within 30 days of such written notice Provider may submit a Change Proposal, or Owner may 
initiate a Claim.  

7.13 Record Documents 

A. Provider shall maintain in a safe place one printed record copy of all Drawings, Specifications, 
Addenda, Change Orders, Work Change Directives, Field Orders, Task Orders, written 
interpretations and clarifications, and approved Shop Drawings. Provider shall keep such 
record documents in good order and annotate them to show changes made during 
construction. These record documents, together with all approved Samples, will be available 
to Engineer for reference. Upon completion of the Work, Provider shall deliver these record 
documents to Engineer.  

B. Provider agrees to maintain and retain and retain all financial records, supporting documents, 
statistical records and all other records pertinent to this Master Agreement and each 
applicable Task Order during the term of this Master Agreement and for a minimum of six (6) 
years after the expiration or termination date of this Master Agreement, or for a minimum of 
six (6) years after all other pending matters in connection with this Master Agreement are 
closed, whichever is longer. The Owner and its duly authorized representatives shall have 
access, for a period not less than six (6) years to books, documents, papers and records of 
Provider which are pertinent to the Contract Documents and each Task Order including 
records pertaining to overhead and indirect costs, for the purpose of making audit, 
examination, excerpts and transcripts. If for any reason, any part of the Master Agreement is 
involved in litigation, Provider shall retain all pertinent records until all litigation is resolved. 
The Owner and/or its agents will continue to be provided full access to the records during 
litigation. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 49 165



   
 

37 
 

7.14 Safety and Protection 

A. Provider shall be solely responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs in connection with the Work. Such responsibility does not relieve 
Subcontractors of their responsibility for the safety of persons or property in the performance 
of their work, nor for compliance with applicable safety Laws and Regulations.  

B. If Owner or its representatives visit the Provider’s manufacturing or storage facilities, for 
testing, inspection, or other purposes, Provider shall inform Owner in advance of any safety 
preparations, standards, or programs with which Owner and its representatives must comply. 

C. Provider shall designate a qualified and experienced safety representative whose duties and 
responsibilities are the prevention of Work-related accidents and the maintenance and 
supervision of safety precautions and programs. 

D. Provider shall take all necessary precautions for the safety of, and shall provide the necessary 
protection to prevent damage, injury, or loss to: 

1. all persons on the Site, at the Point of Destination, or who may be affected by the Work; 

2. all the Work and materials and equipment to be incorporated therein, whether in storage 
on or off the Site or on or off the Point of Destination; and 

3. other property at the Site, the Point of Destination, or adjacent thereto, including trees, 
shrubs, lawns, walks, pavements, roadways, structures, other work in progress, utilities, 
and Underground Facilities not designated for removal, relocation, or replacement in the 
course of Task Order performance. 

E. All damage, injury, or loss to any property referred to in Paragraph 7.14.D.2 or 7.14.D.3 
caused, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, by Provider, any Subcontractor, Supplier, or 
any other individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any 
of the Work, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, shall be remedied by 
Provider at its expense (except damage or loss attributable to the fault of Drawings or 
Specifications or to the negligent acts or omissions of Owner or Engineer or anyone employed 
by any of them, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable). 

F. Provider shall comply with all applicable Laws and Regulations relating to the safety of 
persons or property, or to the protection of persons or property from damage, injury, or loss; 
and shall erect and maintain all necessary safeguards for such safety and protection. 

G. Provider shall notify Owner; the owners of adjacent property; the owners of Underground 
Facilities and other utilities (if the identity of such owners is known to Provider); and other 
contractors and utility owners performing work at or adjacent to the Site or Point of 
Destination, in writing, when Provider knows that prosecution of the Work may affect them, 
and shall cooperate with them in the protection, removal, relocation, and replacement of 
their property or work in progress. 

H. Provider shall comply with the applicable requirements of Owner’s safety programs, if any. 
Any Owner’s safety programs that are applicable to the Work are identified or included in the 
Supplementary Conditions, Specifications, or applicable Task Order. When Provider’s 
personnel, or the personnel of any Subcontractor to Provider, are present at the Point of 
Destination, the Site, or any work area controlled by Owner, the Provider shall be responsible 
for the compliance by such personnel with any applicable requirements of Owner’s safety 
programs that are made known to Provider. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 50 166



   
 

38 
 

I. Provider shall inform Owner and Engineer of the specific requirements of Provider’s safety 
program with which Owner’s and Engineer’s Subcontractors, employees and representatives 
must comply while at the Site or the Point of Destination.  

J. Provider’s duties and responsibilities for safety and protection will continue until all the Work 
is completed, Engineer has issued a written notice to Owner and Provider in accordance with 
Paragraph 16.06.C that the Work is acceptable, and, Provider has left the Site or Point of 
Destination (except as otherwise expressly provided in connection with Substantial 
Completion). 

K. Provider’s duties and responsibilities for safety and protection will resume whenever Provider 
or any Subcontractor or Supplier returns to the Site or other location of the Goods to fulfill 
warranty or correction obligations, or to conduct other tasks arising from the Contract 
Documents or applicable Task Order. 

7.15 Submittals 

A. Shop Drawing and Sample Requirements 

1. Before submitting a Shop Drawing or Sample, Provider shall: 

a. review and coordinate the Shop Drawing or Sample with other Shop Drawings and 
Samples and with the requirements of the Work, the Contract Documents, and the 
applicable Task Order; 

b. determine and verify: 

1) all field measurements, quantities, dimensions, specified performance and design 
criteria, installation requirements, materials, catalog numbers, and similar 
information with respect to the Submittal; 

2) the suitability of all materials and equipment offered with respect to the indicated 
application, fabrication, shipping, handling, storage, assembly, and installation 
pertaining to the performance of the Work; and 

3) if applicable to the particular Task Order, all information relative to Provider’s 
responsibilities for means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of 
construction, and safety precautions and programs incident thereto. 

c. confirm that the Submittal is complete with respect to all related data included in the 
Submittal. 

2. Each Shop Drawing or Sample must bear a stamp or specific written certification that 
Provider has satisfied Provider’s obligations under the Contract Documents and 
applicable Task Order with respect to Provider’s review of that Submittal, and that 
Provider approves the Submittal. 

3. With each Shop Drawing or Sample, Provider shall give Engineer specific written notice of 
any variations that the Submittal may have from the requirements of the Contract 
Documents and applicable Task Order. This notice must be set forth in a written 
communication separate from the Submittal; and, in addition, in the case of a Shop 
Drawing by a specific notation made on the Shop Drawing itself. 

B. Submittal Procedures for Shop Drawings and Samples: Provider shall label and submit Shop 
Drawings and Samples to Engineer for review and approval in accordance with the accepted 
Schedule of Submittals. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 51 167



   
 

39 
 

1. Shop Drawings 

a. Provider shall submit the number of copies required in the Specifications. 

b. Data shown on the Shop Drawings must be complete with respect to quantities, 
dimensions, specified performance and design criteria, materials, and similar data to 
show Engineer the services, materials, and equipment Provider proposes to provide, 
and to enable Engineer to review the information for the limited purposes required 
by Paragraph 7.15.C. 

2. Samples 

a. Provider shall submit the number of Samples required in the Specifications. 

b. Provider shall clearly identify each Sample as to material, Supplier, pertinent data 
such as catalog numbers, the use for which intended and other data as Engineer may 
require to enable Engineer to review the Submittal for the limited purposes required 
by Paragraph 7.15.C. 

3. Where a Shop Drawing or Sample is required by the Contract Documents, a particular 
Task Order, or the Schedule of Submittals, any related Work performed prior to Engineer’s 
review and approval of the pertinent submittal will be at the sole expense and 
responsibility of Provider. 

C. Engineer’s Review of Shop Drawings and Samples 

1. Engineer will provide timely review of Shop Drawings and Samples in accordance with the 
accepted Schedule of Submittals. Engineer’s review and approval will be only to 
determine if the items covered by the Submittals will, after installation or incorporation 
in the Work, comply with the requirements of the Contract Documents and particular 
Task Order, and be compatible with the design concept of the completed Work as a 
functioning whole as indicated by the Contract Documents and particular Task Order. 

2. Engineer’s review and approval will not extend to means, methods, techniques, 
sequences, or procedures of construction, manufacturing, fabrication, installation, or 
shipping, or to safety precautions or programs incident thereto. 

3. Engineer’s review and approval of a separate item as such will not indicate approval of 
the assembly in which the item functions. 

4. Engineer’s review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample will not relieve Provider 
from responsibility for any variation from the requirements of the Contract Documents 
and applicable Task Order unless Provider has complied with the requirements of 
Paragraph 7.15.A.3 and Engineer has given written approval of each such variation by 
specific written notation thereof incorporated in or accompanying the Shop Drawing or 
Sample. Engineer will document any such approved variation from the requirements of 
the Contract Documents and/or applicable Task Order in a Field Order or other 
appropriate Master Agreement modification. 

5. Engineer’s review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample will not relieve Provider 
from responsibility for complying with the requirements of Paragraphs 7.15.A and B. 

6. Engineer’s review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample, or of a variation from the 
requirements of the Contract Documents or an applicable Task Order, will not, under any 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 52 168



   
 

40 
 

circumstances, change the Contract Times or Contract Price, unless such changes are 
included in a Change Order. 

7. Neither Engineer’s receipt, review, acceptance, or approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample 
will result in such item becoming a Contract Document. 

8. Provider shall perform the Work in compliance with the requirements and commitments 
set forth in approved Shop Drawings and Samples, subject to the provisions of 
Paragraph 7.15.C.4. 

D. Resubmittal Procedures for Shop Drawings and Samples 

1. Provider shall make corrections required by Engineer and shall return the required 
number of corrected copies of Shop Drawings and submit, as required, new Samples for 
review and approval. Provider shall direct specific attention in writing to revisions other 
than the corrections called for by Engineer on previous Submittals. 

2. Provider shall furnish required Shop Drawing and Sample submittals with sufficient 
information and accuracy to obtain required approval of an item with no more than two 
resubmittals. Engineer will record Engineer’s time for reviewing a third or subsequent 
resubmittal of a Shop Drawing or Sample, and Provider shall be responsible for Engineer’s 
charges to Owner for such time. Owner may impose a set-off against payments due 
Provider to secure reimbursement for such charges. 

3. If Provider requests a change of a previously approved Shop Drawing or Sample, Provider 
shall be responsible for Engineer’s charges to Owner for its review time, and Owner may 
impose a set-off against payments due Provider to secure reimbursement for such 
charges, unless the need for such change was unforeseeable and is beyond the control of 
Provider. 

E. Submittals Other than Shop Drawings, Samples, and Owner-Delegated Designs 

1. The following provisions apply to all Submittals other than Shop Drawings, Samples, and 
Owner-delegated designs: 

a. Provider shall submit all such Submittals to the Engineer in accordance with the 
Schedule of Submittals and pursuant to the applicable terms of the Contract 
Documents and applicable Task Order. 

b. Engineer will provide timely review of all such Submittals in accordance with the 
Schedule of Submittals and return such Submittals with a notation of either Accepted 
or Not Accepted. Any such Submittal that is not returned within the time established 
in the Schedule of Submittals will be deemed accepted. 

c. Engineer’s review will be only to determine if the Submittal is acceptable under the 
requirements of the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order as to general 
form and content of the Submittal. 

d. If any such Submittal is not accepted, Provider shall confer with Engineer regarding 
the reason for the non-acceptance, and resubmit an acceptable document. 

2. Procedures for the submittal and acceptance of the Progress Schedule, the Schedule of 
Submittals, and the Schedule of Values are set forth in Paragraphs 2.03. 2.04, and 2.05. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 53 169



   
 

41 
 

7.16 Provider’s General Warranty and Guarantee 

A. Provider warrants and guarantees to Owner that all Work will be in accordance with the 
Contract Documents and applicable Task Order and will not be non-conforming or defective 
in materials and workmanship and shall in all material respects comply with the terms of the 
Contract Documents and each applicable Task Order. Further, Provider warrants and 
guarantees to Owner that the title to the Goods conveyed will be proper, its transfer rightful, 
and free from any security interest, lien, or other encumbrance. Provider shall defend, 
indemnify, and hold Buyer harmless against any liens, claims, or demands contesting or 
affecting title of the Goods conveyed. 

B. Owner’s rights under this warranty and guarantee are in addition to, and are not limited by, 
Owner’s rights under the correction period provisions of Paragraph 16.08 and any other 
manufacturers warranties or other warranties that Provider passes on to Owner. The time in 
which Owner may enforce its warranty and guarantee rights under this Paragraph 7.16 is 
limited only by applicable Laws and Regulations restricting actions to enforce such rights; 
provided, however, that after the end of the correction period under Paragraph 16.08: 

1. Owner shall give Provider written notice of any non-conforming or defective Work within 
60 days of the discovery that such Work is non-conforming or defective; and 

2. Such notice will be deemed the start of an event giving rise to a Claim under 
Paragraph 13.01.B, such that any related Claim must be brought within 30 days of the 
notice. 

C. Provider’s warranty and guarantee hereunder excludes defects or damage caused by: 

1. abuse, or improper modification, maintenance, or operation, by persons other than 
Provider, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or any other individual or entity for whom Provider 
is responsible;  

2. excessive corrosion or chemical attack, unless corrosive or chemically-damaging 
conditions were disclosed by Owner in the Contract Documents or applicable Task Order 
and the Contract Documents or applicable Task Order required the Goods to withstand 
such conditions;  

3. use of Goods in a manner contrary to Provider’s written instructions for installation, 
operation, and maintenance; or 

2. normal wear and tear under normal usage. 

D. Provider’s obligation to perform and complete the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents and applicable Task Order is absolute. None of the following will constitute an 
acceptance of Work that is not in accordance with the Contract Documents and applicable 
Task Order, a release of Provider’s obligation to perform the Work in accordance with the 
Contract Documents and applicable Task Order, or a release of Owner’s warranty and 
guarantee rights under this Paragraph 7.16: 

1. Observations by Owner or Engineer; 

2. Recommendation by Engineer or payment by Owner of any payment; 

3. Delivery acceptance or other general acceptance of any Goods by Owner or Engineer, or 
any failure to do so; 

4. Use of the Goods by Owner; 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 54 170



   
 

42 
 

5. The issuance of a certificate of Substantial Completion by Engineer or any payment 
related thereto by Owner; 

6. Use or occupancy of the Work or any part thereof by Owner; 

7. Any review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample submittal; 

8. The issuance of a notice of acceptability by Engineer; 

9. The end of the correction period established in Paragraph 16.08; 

10. Any inspection, test, or approval by others; or 

11. Any correction of defective or non-conforming Work by Owner. 

E. Owner shall promptly notify Provider of any breach of Provider’s warranties and guarantees. 

F. If the Master Agreement or an applicable Task Order requires the Provider to accept the 
assignment of a contract entered into by Owner, then the specific warranties, guarantees, 
and correction obligations contained in the assigned contract will govern with respect to 
Provider’s performance obligations to Owner for the Work described in the assigned contract. 

7.17 Indemnification 

A. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, and in addition to any other 
obligations of Provider under the Master Agreement or otherwise, Provider shall indemnify, 
defend, and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants, elected and appointed officials, and subcontractors 
of each and any of them, from losses, damages, costs, and judgments (including but not 
limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals, 
and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising from claims or actions 
relating to or resulting from the acts or omissions of Provider, or Provider’s Subcontractors or 
Suppliers,  or any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform 
any of the Work pursuant to this Master Agreement and each fully executed Task Order. 

B. In any and all claims against Owner or Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants, elected or appointed officials, or subcontractors, 
by any employee (or the survivor or personal representative of such employee) of Provider, 
any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by 
any of them to perform any of the Work, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, 
the indemnification obligation under Paragraph 7.17.A will not be limited in any way by any 
limitation on the amount or type of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by or for 
Provider or any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity under workers’ 
compensation acts, disability benefit acts, or other employee benefit acts. 

C. The terms of this Paragraph 7.17 shall survive termination or expiration of these Contract 
Documents and all Task Orders. 

ARTICLE 8—OTHER WORK AT THE SITE 

8.01 Applicability 

A. This Article 8 applies to Work completed pursuant to a Procurement and Installation Task 
Order. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 55 171



   
 

43 
 

8.02 Other Work 

A. In addition to and apart from the Work under the Contract Documents and executed Task 
Orders, the Owner may perform other work at or adjacent to the Site. Such other work may 
be performed by Owner’s employees, or through contracts between the Owner and third 
parties. Owner may also arrange to have third-party utility owners perform work on their 
utilities and facilities at or adjacent to the Site. 

B. If Owner performs other work at or adjacent to the Site with Owner’s employees, or through 
contracts for such other work, then Owner shall give Provider written notice thereof prior to 
starting any such other work. If Owner has advance information regarding the start of any 
third-party utility work that Owner has arranged to take place at or adjacent to the Site, 
Owner shall provide such information to Provider. 

C. Provider shall afford proper and safe access to the Site to each contractor that performs such 
other work, each utility owner performing other work, and Owner, if Owner is performing 
other work with Owner’s employees, and provide a reasonable opportunity for the 
introduction and storage of materials and equipment and the execution of such other work. 

D. Provider shall do all cutting, fitting, and patching of the Work that may be required to properly 
connect or otherwise make its several parts come together and properly integrate with such 
other work. Provider shall not endanger any work of others by cutting, excavating, or 
otherwise altering such work; provided, however, that Provider may cut or alter others' work 
with the written consent of Engineer and the others whose work will be affected. 

E. If the proper execution or results of any part of Provider’s Work depends upon work 
performed by others, Provider shall inspect such other work and promptly report to Engineer 
in writing any delays, defects, or deficiencies in such other work that render it unavailable or 
unsuitable for the proper execution and results of Provider’s Work. Provider’s failure to so 
report will constitute an acceptance of such other work as fit and proper for integration with 
Provider’s Work except for latent defects and deficiencies in such other work. 

F. The provisions of this article are not applicable to work that is performed by third-party 
utilities or other third-party entities without a contract with Owner, or that is performed 
without having been arranged by Owner. If such work occurs, then any related delay, 
disruption, or interference incurred by Provider is governed by the provisions of 
Paragraph 4.05.C.3. 

8.03 Coordination 

A. If Owner intends to contract with others for the performance of other work at or adjacent to 
the Site, to perform other work at or adjacent to the Site with Owner’s employees, or to 
arrange to have utility owners perform work at or adjacent to the Site, the following will be 
set forth in the Supplementary Conditions, the applicable Task Order, or provided to Provider 
prior to the start of any such other work: 

1. The identity of the individual or entity that will have authority and responsibility for 
coordination of the activities among the various contractors; 

2. An itemization of the specific matters to be covered by such authority and responsibility; 
and 

3. The extent of such authority and responsibilities. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 56 172



   
 

44 
 

B. Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions or applicable Task Order, Owner 
shall have sole authority and responsibility for such coordination. 

8.04 Legal Relationships 

A. If, in the course of performing other work for Owner at or adjacent to the Site, the Owner’s 
employees, any other contractor working for Owner, or any utility owner that Owner has 
arranged to perform work, causes damage to the Work or to the property of Provider or its 
Subcontractors, or delays, disrupts, interferes with, or increases the scope or cost of the 
performance of the Work, through actions or inaction, then Provider shall be entitled to an 
equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times. Provider must submit any 
Change Proposal seeking an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times 
under this paragraph within 30 days of the damaging, delaying, disrupting, or interfering 
event. The entitlement to, and extent of, any such equitable adjustment will take into account 
information (if any) regarding such other work that was provided to Provider in the Contract 
Documents or applicable Task Order prior to the final negotiation of the terms of the 
applicable Task Order, and any remedies available to Provider under Laws or Regulations 
concerning utility action or inaction. When applicable, any such equitable adjustment in 
Contract Price will be conditioned on Provider assigning to Owner all Provider’s rights against 
such other contractor or utility owner with respect to the damage, delay, disruption, or 
interference that is the subject of the adjustment. Provider’s entitlement to an adjustment of 
the Contract Times or Contract Price is subject to the provisions of Paragraphs 4.05.D and 
4.05.E. 

B. Provider shall take reasonable and customary measures to avoid damaging, delaying, 
disrupting, or interfering with the work of Owner, any other contractor, or any utility owner 
performing other work at or adjacent to the Site. 

1. If Provider fails to take such measures and as a result damages, delays, disrupts, or 
interferes with the work of any such other contractor or utility owner, then Owner may 
impose a set-off against payments due Provider, and assign to such other contractor or 
utility owner the Owner’s contractual rights against Provider with respect to the breach 
of the obligations set forth in this Paragraph 8.04.B. 

2. When Owner is performing other work at or adjacent to the Site with Owner’s employees, 
Provider shall be liable to Owner for damage to such other work, and for the reasonable 
direct delay, disruption, and interference costs incurred by Owner as a result of Provider’s 
failure to take reasonable and customary measures with respect to Owner’s other work. 
In response to such damage, delay, disruption, or interference, Owner may impose a set-
off against payments due Provider. 

C. If Provider damages, delays, disrupts, or interferes with the work of any other contractor, or 
any utility owner performing other work at or adjacent to the Site, through Provider’s failure 
to take reasonable and customary measures to avoid such impacts, or if any claim arising out 
of Provider’s actions, inactions, or negligence in performance of the Work at or adjacent to 
the Site is made by any such other contractor or utility owner against Provider, Owner, or 
Engineer, then Provider shall (1) promptly attempt to settle the claim as to all parties through 
negotiations with such other contractor or utility owner, or otherwise resolve the claim by 
arbitration or other dispute resolution proceeding or at law, and (2) indemnify, defend, and 
hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, 
employees, agents, consultants, elected and appointed officials, and subcontractors of each 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 57 173



   
 

45 
 

and any of them from and against any such claims, and against all costs, losses, and damages 
(including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other 
professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or 
relating to such damage, delay, disruption, or interference. 

ARTICLE 9—OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES 

9.01 Communications to Provider 

A. Except as otherwise provided in these General Conditions or a Task Order, Owner shall issue 
all communications to Provider through Engineer. 

9.02 Replacement of Engineer 

A. Owner may at its discretion appoint an engineer to replace Engineer, provided Provider makes 
no reasonable objection to the replacement engineer. The replacement engineer’s status 
under the Contract Documents will be that of the former Engineer. 

9.03 Furnish Data 

A. Owner shall promptly furnish the data required of Owner under the Contract Documents. 

9.04 Pay When Due 

A. Owner shall make payments to Provider when they are due as provided in the Contract 
Documents. 

9.05 Lands and Easements; Reports, Tests, and Drawings 

A. Owner’s duties with respect to providing lands and easements are set forth in Paragraph 5.02. 

B. Owner’s duties with respect to providing engineering surveys to establish reference points 
are set forth in Paragraph 4.03. 

C. Article 5 refers to Owner’s identifying and making available to Provider copies of reports of 
explorations and tests of conditions at the Site, and drawings of physical conditions relating 
to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site. 

9.06 Insurance 

A. Owner’s responsibilities, if any, with respect to purchasing and maintaining liability and 
property insurance are set forth in Article 6. 

9.07 Change Orders 

A. Owner’s responsibilities with respect to Change Orders are set forth in Article 21. 

9.08 Inspections, Tests, and Approvals 

A. Owner’s responsibility with respect to certain inspections, tests, and approvals is set forth in 
Paragraph 15.02.B. 

9.09 Limitations on Owner’s Responsibilities 

A. The Owner shall not supervise, direct, or have control or authority over, nor be responsible 
for, Provider’s means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the 
safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Provider to comply 
with Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Owner will not be 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 58 174



   
 

46 
 

responsible for Provider’s failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents and applicable Task Order(s). 

9.10 Undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition 

A. Owner’s responsibility in respect to an undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition is set 
forth in Paragraph 5.07. 

9.11 Safety Programs 

A. While at the Site, Owner’s employees and representatives shall comply with the specific 
applicable requirements of Provider’s safety programs of which Owner has been informed 
and which do not contradict the Laws and Regulations or any Owner safety program. 

B. While at the Site, Owner’s employees and representatives shall comply with the specific 
applicable requirements of Owner’s own safety programs. 

C. Owner shall furnish copies of any applicable Owner safety programs to Provider. 

ARTICLE 10 -- SHIPPING AND DELIVERY 

10.01 Applicability 

A. This Article 10 applies to Work completed pursuant to a Procurement Task Order. 

10.02 Shipping  

A. Provider shall select the carrier and bear all costs of packaging, transportation, insurance, 
special handling, and all other costs associated with shipment and delivery of the Goods.  

10.03 Delivery  

A.  Provider shall deliver the Goods free on board (FOB) to the Point of Destination, freight 
prepaid, in accordance with the Contract Times set forth in the applicable Task Order, or other 
date agreed to by Owner and Provider.  

B.  At least 10 days before shipment, Provider shall provide written notice to Owner of the 
manner of shipment and the anticipated delivery date. The notice must also include any 
instructions concerning special equipment or services required at the Point of Destination to 
unload, store, maintain and care for the Goods. Provider shall also require the carrier to give 
Owner at least 24 hours’ notice by telephone prior to the anticipated time of delivery.  

C.  Unless otherwise stated in a particular Task Order, Owner will be responsible and bear all 
costs for unloading the Goods from carrier.  

D.  Owner will assure that adequate facilities are available to receive delivery of the Goods at the 
time established for delivery, or on another date agreed to by Owner and Provider.  

E.  No partial deliveries will be allowed, unless permitted or required by the applicable Task 
Order or agreed to in writing by Owner.  

F. Provisions governing inspection on delivery are set forth in Paragraph 15.02.  

10.04 Risk of Loss  

A.  Risk of loss and insurable interests transfer from Provider to Owner upon Owner’s receipt of 
the Goods.  

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 59 175



   
 

47 
 

B. Notwithstanding the provisions of Paragraph 10.03.A, if Owner rejects the Goods as 
nonconforming or defective, the risk of loss on such Goods will remain with Provider until 
Provider corrects the non-conformity or defect or Owner accepts the Goods. If rejected Goods 
remain at the Point of Destination pending modification and acceptance, then Provider shall 
be responsible for arranging adequate protection and maintenance of the Goods at Provider’s 
expense. 

ARTICLE 11 —ENGINEER’S STATUS DURING WORK 

11.01 Owner’s Representative 

A. Engineer will be Owner’s representative during the term of each Task Order until assignment 
(if any). The duties and responsibilities and the limitations of authority of Engineer as Owner’s 
representative are set forth in the Contract Documents.  

11.02 Visits to Site 

A. With respect to Work completed under Procurement and Installation Task Orders, Engineer 
will make visits to the Site at intervals appropriate to the various stages of the Work as 
Engineer deems necessary in order to observe, as an experienced and qualified design 
professional, the progress that has been made and the quality of the various aspects of 
Provider’s executed Work. Based on information obtained during such visits and 
observations, Engineer, for the benefit of Owner, will determine, in general, if the Work is 
proceeding in accordance with the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order. Engineer 
will not be required to make exhaustive or continuous inspections on the Site to check the 
quality or quantity of the Work. Engineer’s efforts will be directed toward providing for Owner 
a greater degree of confidence that the completed Work will conform generally to the 
Contract Documents. On the basis of such visits and observations, Engineer will keep Owner 
informed of the progress of the Work and will endeavor to guard Owner against defective or 
non-conforming Work. 

B. Engineer’s visits and observations are subject to all the limitations on Engineer’s authority and 
responsibility set forth in Paragraph 11.07. Particularly, but without limitation, during or as a 
result of Engineer’s visits or observations of Provider’s Work, Engineer will not supervise, 
direct, control, or have authority over or be responsible for Provider’s means, methods, 
techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and 
programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Provider to comply with Laws and Regulations 
applicable to the performance of the Work. 

11.03 Resident Project Representative 

A. This paragraph 11.03 applies to Work completed under Procurement and Installation Task 
Orders.  

B. The Resident Project Representative (RPR) will be Engineer's representative at the Site, will 
act as directed by and under the supervision of Engineer, and will confer with Engineer 
regarding RPR's actions. 

1. General: RPR's dealings in matters pertaining to the Work in general shall be with 
Engineer and Provider. RPR's dealings with Subcontractors shall only be through or with 
the full knowledge and approval of Provider. RPR shall generally communicate with 
Owner only with the knowledge of and under the direction of Engineer. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 60 176



   
 

48 
 

2. Schedules: Review the Progress Schedule, schedule of Shop Drawing and Sample 
submittals, and Schedule of Values prepared by Provider and consult with Engineer 
concerning acceptability. 

3. Conferences and Meetings: As invited, attend meetings with Provider, such as 
preconstruction conferences, progress meetings, job conferences, and other Project-
related meetings, and prepare and circulate copies of minutes thereof. 

4. Liaison: 

a. Serve as Engineer’s liaison with Provider. Working principally through Provider’s 
authorized representative or designee, assist in providing information regarding the 
provisions and intent of the Contract Documents and fully executed Task Orders. 

b. Assist Engineer in serving as Owner’s liaison with Provider when Provider’s operations 
affect Owner’s on-Site operations. 

c. Assist in obtaining from Owner additional details or information, when required for 
proper execution of the Work. 

5. Interpretation of Contract Documents: Report to Engineer when clarifications and 
interpretations of the Contract Documents are needed, and transmit to Provider 
clarifications and interpretations as issued by Engineer. 

6. Shop Drawings and Samples: 

a. Record date of receipt of Samples and Provider -approved Shop Drawings. 

b. Receive Samples which are furnished at the Site by Provider, and notify Engineer of 
availability of Samples for examination. 

c. Advise Engineer and Provider of the commencement of any portion of the Work 
requiring a Shop Drawing or Sample submittal for which RPR believes that the 
submittal has not been approved by Engineer. 

7. Modifications: Consider and evaluate Provider’s suggestions for modifications in 
Drawings or Specifications and report such suggestions, together with RPR’s 
recommendations, if any, to Engineer. Transmit to Provider in writing decisions as issued 
by Engineer. 

8. Review of Work and Rejection of Defective or Non-Conforming Work: 

a. Conduct on-Site observations of Provider’s work in progress to assist Engineer in 
determining if the Work is in general proceeding in accordance with the Contract 
Documents and applicable Task Order. 

b. Report to Engineer whenever RPR believes that any part of Provider’s Work in 
progress is defective or non-conforming, will not produce a completed Project that 
conforms generally to the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order, or will 
imperil the integrity of the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning 
whole as indicated in the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order, or has been 
damaged, or does not meet the requirements of any inspection, test or approval 
required to be made; and advise Engineer of that part of work in progress that RPR 
believes should be corrected or rejected or should be uncovered for observation, or 
requires special testing, inspection or approval. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 61 177



   
 

49 
 

9. Inspections, Tests, and System Start-ups: 

a. Observe that tests, equipment, and systems start-ups and operating and 
maintenance training are conducted in the presence of appropriate Owner’s 
personnel, and that Provider maintains adequate records thereof. 

b. Observe, record, and report to Engineer appropriate details relative to the test 
procedures and systems start-ups. 

10. Records: 

a. Prepare a daily report or keep a diary or log book, recording Provider’s hours on the 
Site, Subcontractors present at the Site, weather conditions, data relative to 
questions of Change Orders, Field Orders, Work Change Directives, or changed 
conditions, Site visitors, deliveries of equipment or materials, daily activities, 
decisions, observations in general, and specific observations in more detail as in the 
case of observing test procedures; and send copies to Engineer. 

b. Record names, addresses, e-mail addresses, web site locations, and telephone 
numbers of Provider s, Subcontractors, and major Suppliers of materials and 
equipment. 

c. Maintain records for use in preparing Project documentation. 

11. Reports: 

a. Furnish to Engineer periodic reports as required of progress of the Work and of 
Provider’s compliance with the Progress Schedule and schedule of Shop Drawing and 
Sample submittals. 

b. Recommend to Engineer proposed Change Orders, Work Change Directives, and Field 
Orders. Obtain backup material from Provider. 

c. Immediately notify Engineer of the occurrence of any Site accidents, emergencies, 
Force Majeure events endangering the Work, damage to property by fire or other 
causes, or the discovery of any Constituent of Concern or Hazardous Environmental 
Condition. 

12. Payment Requests:  Review applications for payment with Provider for compliance with 
the established procedure for their submission and forward with recommendations to 
Engineer, noting particularly the relationship of the payment requested to the Schedule 
of Values, Work completed, and materials and equipment delivered at the Site but not 
incorporated in the Work. 

13. Certificates, Operation and Maintenance Manuals:  During the course of the Work, 
observe if materials and equipment certificates, operation and maintenance manuals and 
other data required by the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order to be 
assembled and furnished by Provider are applicable to the items actually installed and in 
accordance with the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order, and have these 
documents delivered to Engineer for review and forwarding to Owner prior to payment 
for that part of the Work. 

14. Completion: 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 62 178



   
 

50 
 

a. Participate in Engineer’s visits to the Site to determine Substantial Completion, assist 
in the determination of Substantial Completion, and the preparation of a punch list 
of items to be completed or corrected prior to completion of the Work. 

b. Participate in Engineer’s final visit to the Site to determine completion of the Work, 
in the company of Owner and Provider, and prepare a final punch list of items to be 
completed and deficiencies to be remedied. 

c. Observe whether all items on the final list have been completed or corrected and 
make recommendations to Engineer concerning acceptance and issuance of the 
notice of acceptability of the Work. 

C. The RPR shall not: 

1. Authorize any deviation from the Contract Documents or Task Order or substitution of 
materials or equipment (including “or-equal” items). 

2. Exceed limitations of Engineer’s authority as set forth in the Contract Documents or Task 
Order. 

3. Undertake any of the responsibilities of Provider, Subcontractors, or Suppliers. 

4. Advise on, issue directions relative to, or assume control over any aspect of the means, 
methods, techniques, sequences or procedures of Provider’s Work. 

5. Advise on, issue directions regarding, or assume control over security or safety practices, 
precautions, and programs in connection with the activities or operations of Owner or 
Provider. 

6. Participate in specialized field or laboratory tests or inspections conducted off-Site or 
outside the Point of Destination by others except as specifically authorized by Engineer. 

7. Accept Shop Drawing or Sample submittals from anyone other than Provider. 

8. Authorize Owner to occupy the Project in whole or in part. 

11.04 Engineer’s Authority 

A. Engineer has the authority to reject Work in accordance with Article 15. 

B. Engineer’s authority as to Submittals is set forth in Paragraph 7.15. 

C. Engineer’s authority as to design drawings, calculations, specifications, certifications and 
other Submittals from Provider in response to Owner’s delegation (if any) to Provider of 
professional design services, is set forth in Paragraph 7.15. 

D. Engineer’s authority as to changes in the Work is set forth in Article 12. 

E. Engineer’s authority as to Applications for Payment is set forth in Article 16. 

F. As set forth in Article 3, Engineer will be the initial interpreter of the Contract Documents and 
each Task Order and judge of the acceptability of the Work, and will issue clarifications, 
interpretations, and decisions regarding such issues. 

11.05 Determinations for Unit Price Work 

A. Engineer will determine the actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work performed 
by Provider as set forth in Paragraph 14.03. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 63 179



   
 

51 
 

11.06 Decisions on Requirements of Contract Documents and Acceptability of Work 

A. Engineer will render decisions regarding the requirements of the Contract Documents and 
applicable Task Orders, and judge the acceptability of the Work, pursuant to the specific 
procedures set forth herein for initial interpretations, Change Proposals, and acceptance of 
the Work. In rendering such decisions and judgments, Engineer will not show partiality to 
Owner or Provider, and will not be liable to Owner, Provider, or others in connection with any 
proceedings, interpretations, decisions, or judgments conducted or rendered in good faith. 

11.07 Limitations on Engineer’s Authority and Responsibilities 

A. Neither Engineer’s authority or responsibility under this Article 11 or under any other 
provision of the Master Agreement or Task Order, nor any decision made by Engineer in good 
faith either to exercise or not exercise such authority or responsibility or the undertaking, 
exercise, or performance of any authority or responsibility by Engineer, will create, impose, 
or give rise to any duty in contract, tort, or otherwise owed by Engineer to Provider, any 
Subcontractor, any Supplier, any other individual or entity, or to any surety for or employee 
or agent of any of them. 

B. Engineer will not supervise, direct, control, or have authority over or be responsible for 
Provider’s means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the 
safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Provider to comply 
with Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Engineer will not be 
responsible for Provider’s failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents or applicable Task Order. 

C. Engineer will not be responsible for the acts or omissions of Provider or of any Subcontractor, 
any Supplier, or of any other individual or entity performing any of the Work. 

D. Engineer’s review of the final Application for Payment and accompanying documentation, and 
all maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, bonds, certificates of 
inspection, tests and approvals, and other documentation required to be delivered by 
Provider under Paragraph 16.06.A, will only be to determine generally that their content 
complies with the requirements of, and in the case of certificates of inspections, tests, and 
approvals, that the results certified indicate compliance with the Contract Documents and 
applicable Task Order. 

E. The limitations upon authority and responsibility set forth in this Paragraph 11.07 also apply 
to the Resident Project Representative, if any. 

11.08 Compliance with Safety Program 

A. While at the Site or Point of Destination, Engineer’s employees and representatives will 
comply with the specific applicable requirements of Owner’s and Provider’s safety programs 
of which Engineer has been informed. 

ARTICLE 12—CHANGES TO THE MASTER AGREEMENT OR TASK ORDER 

12.01 Amending and Supplementing the Master Agreement or a Task Order 

A. The Contract Documents or a fully executed Task Order may be amended or supplemented 
by a Change Order, a Work Change Directive, or a Field Order. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 64 180



   
 

52 
 

B. If an amendment or supplement to the fully executed Task Order includes a change in the 
Contract Price or the Contract Times, such amendment or supplement must be set forth in a 
Change Order. 

C. All changes to the Contract Documents and Task Orders that involve (1) the performance, 
conformance, or acceptability of the Work, (2) the design (as set forth in the Drawings, 
Specifications, or otherwise), or (3) other engineering or technical matters, must be 
supported by Engineer’s recommendation. Owner and Provider may amend other terms and 
conditions of the Master Agreement or a Task Order without the recommendation of the 
Engineer. 

12.02 Change Orders 

A. Owner and Provider shall execute appropriate Change Orders covering: 

1. Changes in Contract Price or Contract Times which are agreed to by the parties, including 
any undisputed sum or amount of time for Work actually performed in accordance with 
a Work Change Directive; 

2. Changes in Contract Price resulting from an Owner set-off, unless Provider has duly 
contested such set-off; 

3. Changes in the Work which are: (a) ordered by Owner pursuant to Paragraph 12.05, 
(b) required because of Owner’s acceptance of defective or non-conforming Work under 
Paragraph 15.04 or Owner’s correction of defective or non-conforming Work under 
Paragraph 15.07, or (c) agreed to by the parties, subject to the need for Engineer’s 
recommendation if the change in the Work involves the design (as set forth in the 
Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise) or other engineering or technical matters; and 

4. Changes that embody the substance of any final and binding results under: 
Paragraph 12.03.B, resolving the impact of a Work Change Directive; Paragraph 11.09, 
concerning Change Proposals; Article 13, Claims; Paragraph 14.02.D, final adjustments 
resulting from allowances; Paragraph 14.03.D, final adjustments relating to 
determination of quantities for Unit Price Work; and similar provisions. 

B. If Owner or Provider refuses to execute a Change Order that is required to be executed under 
the terms of Paragraph 12.02.A, it will be deemed to be of full force and effect, as if fully 
executed. 

12.03 Work Change Directives 

A. A Work Change Directive will not change the Contract Price or the Contract Times but is 
evidence that the parties expect that the modification ordered or documented by a Work 
Change Directive will be incorporated in a subsequently issued Change Order, following 
negotiations by the parties as to the Work Change Directive’s effect, if any, on the Contract 
Price and Contract Times; or, if negotiations are unsuccessful, by a determination under the 
terms of the Contract Documents governing adjustments, expressly including 
Paragraph 12.08 regarding change of Contract Price. 

B. If Owner has issued a Work Change Directive and: 

1. Provider believes that an adjustment in Contract Times or Contract Price is necessary, 
then Provider shall submit any Change Proposal seeking such an adjustment no later than 
30 days after the completion of the Work set out in the Work Change Directive. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 65 181



   
 

53 
 

2. Owner believes that an adjustment in Contract Times or Contract Price is necessary, then 
Owner shall submit any Claim seeking such an adjustment no later than 60 days after 
issuance of the Work Change Directive. 

12.04 Field Orders 

A. Engineer may authorize minor changes in the Work if the changes do not involve an 
adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times and are compatible with the design 
concept of the completed Work as a functioning whole as indicated by the Contract 
Documents and applicable Task Order. Such changes will be accomplished by a Field Order 
and will be binding on Owner and also on Provider, which shall perform the Work involved 
promptly. 

B. If Provider believes that a Field Order justifies an adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract 
Times, then before proceeding with the Work at issue, Provider shall submit a Change 
Proposal as provided herein. 

12.05 Owner-Authorized Changes in the Work 

A. Without invalidating the Master Agreement or any Task Order, and without notice to any 
surety, Owner may, at any time or from time to time, order additions, deletions, or revisions 
in the Work. Changes involving the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or 
otherwise) or other engineering or technical matters will be supported by Engineer’s 
recommendation. 

B. Such changes in the Work may be accomplished by a Change Order, if Owner and Provider 
have agreed as to the effect, if any, of the changes on Contract Times or Contract Price; or by 
a Work Change Directive. Upon receipt of any such document, Provider shall promptly 
proceed with the Work involved; or, in the case of a deletion in the Work, promptly cease 
construction activities with respect to such deleted Work. Added or revised Work must be 
performed under the applicable conditions of the Contract Documents and applicable Task 
Order. 

C. Nothing in this Paragraph 11.05 obligates Provider to undertake work that Provider 
reasonably concludes cannot be performed in a manner consistent with Provider’s safety 
obligations under the Contract Documents, applicable Task Order, or Laws and Regulations. 

12.06 Owner’s Contingency Allowance 

A. The Owner’s Contingency Allowance, if any such is set forth in the applicable Task Order, is 
for the sole use of Owner to cover unanticipated costs.  

B. If Owner exercises its unilateral right to use all or a portion of the Owner’s Contingency 
Allowance, Owner will issue a written directive that documents the costs to which the 
allowance is applied, Provider’s entitlement to compensation, and the consequent reduction 
in such allowance.  

C. Prior to final payment, the Contract Price, as set forth in the applicable Task Order, will be 
duly adjusted to account for any unused portion of the Owner’s Contingency Allowance.  

D.   Each Task Order addresses the impact on Owner’s Contingency Allowance of an assignment 
of the Task Order. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 66 182



   
 

54 
 

12.07 Unauthorized Changes in the Work 

A. Provider shall not be entitled to an increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the 
Contract Times with respect to any work performed that is not required by the Contract 
Documents or fully executed Task Orders, as amended, modified, or supplemented, except in 
the case of an emergency as provided in Paragraph 7.07 or in the case of uncovering Work as 
provided in Paragraph 15.05.C.2. 

12.08 Change of Contract Price 

A. The Contract Price may only be changed by a Change Order. Any Change Proposal for an 
adjustment in the Contract Price must comply with the provisions of Paragraph 12.10. Any 
Claim for an adjustment of Contract Price must comply with the provisions of Article 12. 

B. An adjustment in the Contract Price will be determined as follows: 

1. Where the Work involved is covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents 
or applicable Task Order, then by application of such unit prices to the quantities of the 
items involved (subject to the provisions of the applicable Task Order); 

2. Where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract 
Documents or applicable Task Order, then by a mutually agreed lump sum(which may 
include an allowance for overhead and profit not necessarily in accordance with 
Paragraph 121.08.C.2); or 

3. Where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract 
Documents and the parties do not reach mutual agreement to a lump sum, then on the 
basis of the Cost of the Work (determined as provided in Paragraph 14.01) plus a 
Provider’s fee for overhead and profit (determined as provided in Paragraph 12.08.C). 

C. Provider’s Fee: When applicable, the Provider’s fee for overhead and profit will be determined 
as follows: 

1. A mutually acceptable fixed fee; or 

2. If a fixed fee is not agreed upon, then a fee based on the following percentages of the 
various portions of the Cost of the Work: 

a. For costs incurred under Paragraphs 14.01.B.1 and 14.01.B.2, the Provider’s fee will 
be 15 percent; 

b. For costs incurred under Paragraph 14.01.B.3, the Provider’s fee will be 5 percent; 

c. Where one or more tiers of Subcontracts are on the basis of Cost of the Work plus a 
fee and no fixed fee is agreed upon, the intent of Paragraphs 12.08.C.2.a and 
12.08.C.2.b is that the Provider’s fee will be based on: (1) a fee of 15 percent of the 
costs incurred under Paragraphs 13401.B.1 and 14.01.B.2 by the Subcontractor that 
actually performs the Work, at whatever tier, and (2) with respect to Provider itself 
and to any Subcontractors of a tier higher than that of the Subcontractor that actually 
performs the Work, a fee of 5 percent of the amount (fee plus underlying costs 
incurred) attributable to the next lower tier Subcontractor; provided, however, that 
for any such subcontracted Work the maximum total fee to be paid by Owner will be 
no greater than 27 percent of the costs incurred by the Subcontractor that actually 
performs the Work; 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 67 183



   
 

55 
 

d. No fee will be payable on the basis of costs itemized under Paragraphs 14.01.B.4, 
14.01.B.5, and 14.01.C; 

e. The amount of credit to be allowed by Provider to Owner for any change which results 
in a net decrease in Cost of the Work will be the amount of the actual net decrease in 
Cost of the Work and a deduction of an additional amount equal to 5 percent of such 
actual net decrease in Cost of the Work; and 

f. When both additions and credits are involved in any one change or Change Proposal, 
the adjustment in Provider’s fee will be computed by determining the sum of the 
costs in each of the cost categories in Paragraph 14.01.B (specifically, payroll costs, 
Paragraph 14.01.B.1; incorporated materials and equipment costs, 
Paragraph 14.01.B.2; Subcontract costs, Paragraph 14.01.B.3; special consultants 
costs, Paragraph 14.01.B.4; and other costs, Paragraph 14.01.B.5) and applying to 
each such cost category sum the appropriate fee from Paragraphs 12.07.C.2.a 
through 12.07.C.2.e, inclusive. 

12.09 Change of Contract Times 

A. The Contract Times may only be changed by a Change Order. Any Change Proposal for an 
adjustment in the Contract Times must comply with the provisions of Paragraph 12.09. Any 
Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Times must comply with the provisions of Article 12. 

B. Delay, disruption, and interference in the Work, and any related changes in Contract Times, 
are addressed in and governed by Paragraph 4.05. 

12.10 Change Proposals 

A. Purpose and Content: Provider shall submit a Change Proposal to Engineer to request an 
adjustment in the Contract Times or Contract Price; contest an initial decision by Engineer 
concerning the requirements of the Contract Documents or a Task Order or relating to the 
acceptability of the Work under the Contract Documents or a Task Order; challenge a set-off 
against payment due; or seek other relief under the Master Agreement or applicable Change 
Order. The Change Proposal will specify any proposed change in Contract Times or Contract 
Price, or other proposed relief, and explain the reason for the proposed change, with citations 
to any governing or applicable provisions of the Contract Documents or applicable Task Order. 
Each Change Proposal will address only one issue, or a set of closely related issues. 

B. Change Proposal Procedures 

1. Submittal: Provider shall submit each Change Proposal to Engineer within 30 days after 
the start of the event giving rise thereto, or after such initial decision. 

2. Supporting Data: The Provider shall submit supporting data, including the proposed 
change in Contract Price or Contract Time (if any), to the Engineer and Owner within 
15 days after the submittal of the Change Proposal. 

a. Change Proposals based on or related to delay, interruption, or interference must 
comply with the provisions of Paragraphs 4.05.D and 4.05.E. 

b. Change proposals related to a change of Contract Price must include full and detailed 
accounts of materials incorporated into the Work and labor and equipment used for 
the subject Work. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 68 184



   
 

56 
 

c. The supporting data must be accompanied by a written statement that the supporting 
data are accurate and complete, and that any requested time or price adjustment is 
the entire adjustment to which Provider believes it is entitled as a result of said event. 

3. Engineer’s Initial Review: Engineer will advise Owner regarding the Change Proposal, and 
consider any comments or response from Owner regarding the Change Proposal. If in its 
discretion Engineer concludes that additional supporting data is needed before 
conducting a full review and making a decision regarding the Change Proposal, then 
Engineer may request that Provider submit such additional supporting data by a date 
specified by Engineer, prior to Engineer beginning its full review of the Change Proposal. 

4. Engineer’s Full Review and Action on the Change Proposal: Upon receipt of Provider’s 
supporting data (including any additional data requested by Engineer), Engineer will 
conduct a full review of each Change Proposal and, within 30 days after such receipt of 
the Provider’s supporting data, either approve the Change Proposal in whole, deny it in 
whole, or approve it in part and deny it in part. Such actions must be in writing, with a 
copy provided to Owner and Provider. If Engineer does not take action on the Change 
Proposal within 30 days, then either Owner or Provider may at any time thereafter submit 
a letter to the other party indicating that as a result of Engineer’s inaction the Change 
Proposal is deemed denied, thereby commencing the time for appeal of the denial under 
Article 13. 

5. Binding Decision: Engineer’s decision is final and binding upon Owner and Provider, unless 
Owner or Provider appeals the decision by filing a Claim under Article 13. 

C. Resolution of Certain Change Proposals: If the Change Proposal does not involve the design 
(as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), the acceptability of the Work, or 
other engineering or technical matters, then Engineer will notify the parties in writing that 
the Engineer is unable to resolve the Change Proposal. For purposes of further resolution of 
such a Change Proposal, such notice will be deemed a denial, and Provider may choose to 
seek resolution under the terms of Article 13. 

D. Post-Completion: Provider shall not submit any Change Proposals after Engineer issues a 
written recommendation of final payment pursuant to Paragraph 16.06. 

12.11 Notification to Surety 

A. If the provisions of any bond require notice to be given to a surety of any change affecting the 
general scope of the Work or the provisions of the Contract Documents or a Task Order 
(including, but not limited to, Contract Price or Contract Times), the giving of any such notice 
will be Provider’s responsibility. The amount of each applicable bond will be adjusted to 
reflect the effect of any such change. 

ARTICLE 13—CLAIMS 

13.01 Claims Process: The following disputes between Owner and Provider are subject to the Claims 
process set forth in this Article: 

A. Appeals by Owner or Provider of Engineer’s decisions regarding Change Proposals; 

B. Owner demands for adjustments in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or other relief under 
the Contract Documents or a particular Task Order; 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 69 185



   
 

57 
 

C. Disputes that Engineer has been unable to address because they do not involve the design (as 
set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), the acceptability of the Work, or other 
engineering or technical matters; and 

D. Subject to the waiver provisions of Paragraph 16.07, any dispute arising after Engineer has 
issued a written recommendation of final payment pursuant to Paragraph 16.06.B. 

13.02 Submittal of Claim: The party submitting a Claim shall deliver it directly to the other party to the 
Master Agreement promptly (but in no event later than 30 days) after the start of the event giving 
rise thereto; in the case of appeals regarding Change Proposals within 30 days of the decision 
under appeal. The party submitting the Claim shall also furnish a copy to the Engineer, for its 
information only. The responsibility to substantiate a Claim rests with the party making the Claim. 
In the case of a Claim by Provider seeking an increase in the Contract Times or Contract Price, 
Provider shall certify that the Claim is made in good faith, that the supporting data are accurate 
and complete, and that to the best of Provider’s knowledge and belief the amount of time or 
money requested accurately reflects the full amount to which Provider is entitled. 

13.03 Review and Resolution: The party receiving a Claim shall review it thoroughly, giving full 
consideration to its merits. The two parties shall seek to resolve the Claim through the exchange 
of information and direct negotiations. The parties may extend the time for resolving the Claim 
by mutual agreement. All actions taken on a Claim will be stated in writing and submitted to the 
other party, with a copy to Engineer. 

13.04 Mediation 

A. At any time after initiation of a Claim, Owner and Provider may mutually agree to mediation 
of the underlying dispute. The agreement to mediate will stay the Claim submittal and 
response process. 

B. If Owner and Provider agree to mediation, then after 60 days from such agreement, either 
Owner or Provider may unilaterally terminate the mediation process, and the Claim submittal 
and decision process will resume as of the date of the termination. If the mediation proceeds 
but is unsuccessful in resolving the dispute, the Claim submittal and decision process will 
resume as of the date of the conclusion of the mediation, as determined by the mediator. 

C. Owner and Provider shall each pay one-half of the mediator’s fees and costs. 

13.05. Partial Approval: If the party receiving a Claim approves the Claim in part and denies it in part, 
such action will be final and binding unless within 30 days of such action the other party invokes 
the procedure set forth in Article 18 for final resolution of disputes. 

13.06 Denial of Claim: If efforts to resolve a Claim are not successful, the party receiving the Claim may 
deny it by giving written notice of denial to the other party. If the receiving party does not take 
action on the Claim within 90 days, then either Owner or Provider may at any time thereafter 
submit a letter to the other party indicating that as a result of the inaction, the Claim is deemed 
denied, thereby commencing the time for appeal of the denial. A denial of the Claim will be final 
and binding unless within 30 days of the denial the other party invokes the procedure set forth in 
Article 18 for the final resolution of disputes. 

13.07 Final and Binding Results: If the parties reach a mutual agreement regarding a Claim, whether 
through approval of the Claim, direct negotiations, mediation, or otherwise; or if a Claim is 
approved in part and denied in part, or denied in full, and such actions become final and binding; 
then the results of the agreement or action on the Claim will be incorporated in a Change Order 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 70 186



   
 

58 
 

or other written document to the extent they affect the Master Agreement and the applicable 
Task Order(s), including the Work, the Contract Times, or the Contract Price. 

ARTICLE 14—COST OF THE WORK; ALLOWANCES; UNIT PRICE WORK 

14.01 Cost of the Work 

A. Purposes for Determination of Cost of the Work: The term Cost of the Work means the sum 
of all costs necessary for the proper performance of the Work at issue, as further defined 
below. The provisions of this Paragraph 14.01 are used for two distinct purposes: 

1. To determine Cost of the Work when Cost of the Work is a component of the Contract 
Price, under cost-plus-fee, time-and-materials, or other cost-based terms; or 

2. When needed to determine the value of a Change Order, Change Proposal, Claim, set-off, 
or other adjustment in Contract Price. When the value of any such adjustment is 
determined on the basis of Cost of the Work, Provider is entitled only to those additional 
or incremental costs required because of the change in the Work or because of the event 
giving rise to the adjustment. 

B. Costs Included: Except as otherwise may be agreed to in writing by Owner, costs included in 
the Cost of the Work will be in amounts no higher than those commonly incurred in the 
locality of the Work, will not include any of the costs itemized in Paragraph 14.01.C, and will 
include only the following items: 

1. Payroll costs for employees in the direct employ of Provider in the performance of the 
Work under schedules of job classifications agreed upon by Owner and Provider in 
advance of the subject Work. Such employees include, without limitation, 
superintendents, foremen, safety managers, safety representatives, and other personnel 
employed full time on the Work. Payroll costs for employees not employed full time on 
the Work will be apportioned on the basis of their time spent on the Work. Payroll costs 
include, but are not limited to, salaries and wages plus the cost of fringe benefits, which 
include social security contributions, unemployment, excise, and payroll taxes, workers’ 
compensation, health and retirement benefits, sick leave, and vacation and holiday pay 
applicable thereto. The expenses of performing Work outside of regular working hours, 
on Saturday, Sunday, or legal holidays, will be included in the above to the extent 
authorized by Owner. 

2. Cost of all materials and equipment furnished and incorporated in the Work, including 
costs of transportation and storage thereof, and Suppliers’ field services required in 
connection therewith. All cash discounts accrue to Provider unless Owner deposits funds 
with Provider with which to make payments, in which case the cash discounts will accrue 
to Owner. All trade discounts, rebates, and refunds and returns from sale of surplus 
materials and equipment will accrue to Owner, and Provider shall make provisions so that 
they may be obtained. 

3. Payments made by Provider to Subcontractors for Work performed by Subcontractors. If 
required by Owner, Provider shall obtain competitive bids from subcontractors 
acceptable to Owner and Provider and shall deliver such bids to Owner, which will then 
determine, with the advice of Engineer, which bids, if any, will be acceptable. If any 
subcontract provides that the Subcontractor is to be paid on the basis of Cost of the Work 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 71 187



   
 

59 
 

plus a fee, the Subcontractor’s Cost of the Work and fee will be determined in the same 
manner as Provider’s Cost of the Work and fee as provided in this Paragraph 14.01. 

4. Costs of special consultants (including but not limited to engineers, architects, testing 
laboratories, surveyors, attorneys, and accountants) employed or retained for services 
specifically related to the Work. 

5. Other costs consisting of the following: 

a. The proportion of necessary transportation, travel, and subsistence expenses of 
Provider’s employees incurred in discharge of duties connected with the Work. 

b. Cost, including transportation and maintenance, of all materials, supplies, equipment, 
machinery, appliances, office, and temporary facilities at the Site or Point of 
Destination, which are consumed in the performance of the Work, and cost, less 
market value, of such items used but not consumed which remain the property of 
Provider. 

1) In establishing included costs for materials such as scaffolding, plating, or 
sheeting, consideration will be given to the actual or the estimated life of the 
material for use on other projects; or rental rates may be established on the basis 
of purchase or salvage value of such items, whichever is less. Provider will not be 
eligible for compensation for such items in an amount that exceeds the purchase 
cost of such item. 

c. Construction Equipment Rental 

1) Rentals of all construction equipment and machinery, and the parts thereof, in 
accordance with rental agreements approved by Owner as to price (including any 
surcharge or special rates applicable to overtime use of the construction 
equipment or machinery), and the costs of transportation, loading, unloading, 
assembly, dismantling, and removal thereof. All such costs will be in accordance 
with the terms of said rental agreements. The rental of any such equipment, 
machinery, or parts must cease when the use thereof is no longer necessary for 
the Work. 

2) For Provider owned equipment, or for equipment rented or leased from lessor 
firms associated with or owned by the Provider, equipment use approved by the 
Engineer will be paid at the rental rates given in the most current edition of the 
EquipmentWatch Cost Recovery (Blue Book) published by EquipmentWatch, a 
division of Penton Business Media, Inc., and available from EquipmentWatch 
(phone 1-800-669-3282) at https://equipmentwatch.com/blue-book-cost-
recovery/. 

a.) The hourly rates shall be developed by dividing the monthly Blue Book rates 
by 176 hours a month (the weekly, hourly and daily rates listed in the Blue 
Book shall not be used).  For equipment rented or leased from lessor firms 
not owned by, or associated with, the Provider, the hourly rates shall be 
based on the Blue Book rates for the actual period of rental or lease.  Rates 
in all cases shall be adjusted by application of the Rate Adjustment Tables, 
reductions for the machine age and equipment overhead, and regional 
adjustments. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 72 188

https://equipmentwatch.com/blue-book-cost-recovery/
https://equipmentwatch.com/blue-book-cost-recovery/


   
 

60 
 

b.) The allowable equipment rates for the first operating shift necessitated by 
the Change Order work shall not exceed 100% of the Blue Book rate, as 
adjusted, plus operating costs.  The allowable equipment rates for the second 
operating shift and third operating shift necessitated by the Change Order 
work shall not exceed 50% of the Blue Book rate, as adjusted, plus operating 
costs. 

c.) The allowable equipment rates for equipment at the site, and not in actual 
use, as a direct result of the changed work (standby equipment) shall be paid 
at 50% of the Blue Book rate after application of the rate adjustment tables 
with no operating costs applied.  Payments for standby equipment shall come 
due only as long as the equipment was idled solely by the actions of the 
Owner, and that the idle period exceeds that normally experienced for such 
equipment.  Reimbursement for standby equipment shall not exceed eight 
hours per day, and 40 hours per week.  There will be no reimbursement for 
equipment idled at the discretion of the Provider, or by actions not under the 
control of the Owner, such as, but not limited to, acts of God, strikes or 
adverse weather conditions. 

3) With respect to Work that is the result of a Change Order, Change Proposal, 
Claim, set-off, or other adjustment in Contract Price (“changed Work”), included 
costs will be based on the time the equipment or machinery is in use on the 
changed Work and the costs of transportation, loading, unloading, assembly, 
dismantling, and removal when directly attributable to the changed Work. The 
cost of any such equipment or machinery, or parts thereof, must cease to accrue 
when the use thereof is no longer necessary for the changed Work. 

 d. Deposits lost for causes other than negligence of Provider, any Subcontractor, or 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them 
may be liable, and royalty payments and fees for permits and licenses. 

e. Losses and damages (and related expenses) caused by damage to the Work, not 
compensated by insurance or otherwise, sustained by Provider in connection with the 
performance of the Work (except losses and damages within the deductible amounts 
of builder’s risk or other property insurance established in accordance with 
Paragraph 6.04), provided such losses and damages have resulted from causes other 
than the negligence of Provider, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly 
employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable. Such losses 
include settlements made with the written consent and approval of Owner. No such 
losses, damages, and expenses will be included in the Cost of the Work for the 
purpose of determining Provider’s fee. 

f. The cost of utilities, fuel, and sanitary facilities at the Site. 

g. Minor expenses such as communication service at the Site, express and courier 
services, and similar petty cash items in connection with the Work. 

h. The costs of premiums for all bonds and insurance that Provider is required by the 
Contract Documents and applicable Task Order to purchase and maintain. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 73 189



61 

C. Costs Excluded: The term Cost of the Work does not include any of the following items:

1. Payroll costs and other compensation of Provider’s officers, executives, principals,
general managers, construction managers, site superintendents (above the level of
foreman) engineers, architects, estimators, attorneys, auditors, accountants, purchasing
and contracting agents, expediters, timekeepers, clerks, and other personnel employed
by Provider, whether at the Site, the Point of Destination or in Provider’s principal or
branch office for general administration of the Work and not specifically included in the
agreed upon schedule of job classifications referred to in Paragraph 14.01.B.1 or
specifically covered by Paragraph 14.01.B.4. The payroll costs and other compensation
excluded here are to be considered administrative costs covered by the Provider’s fee.

2. The cost of purchasing, renting, or furnishing small tools and hand tools.

3. Expenses of Provider’s principal and branch offices other than Provider’s office at the Site
or Point of Destination.

4. Any part of Provider’s capital expenses, including interest on Provider’s capital employed
for the Work and charges against Provider for delinquent payments.

5. Costs due to the negligence of Provider, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or
indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable, including
but not limited to, the correction of defective Work, disposal of materials or equipment
wrongly supplied, and making good any damage to property.

6. Expenses incurred in preparing and advancing Claims.

7. Other overhead or general expense costs of any kind and the costs of any item not
specifically and expressly included in Paragraph 14.01.B.

8. Sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes including Oregon Corporate Activity Tax
(CAT) related to the Work, and for which Provider is liable, as imposed by laws and
regulations except as otherwise identified in Paragraph 14.01.B.5.

D. Provider’s Fee

1. When the Work as a whole is performed on the basis of cost-plus-a-fee, then:

a. Provider’s fee for the Work set forth in the applicable Task Order will be determined
as set forth in the applicable Task Order.

b. for any Work covered by a Change Order, Change Proposal, Claim, set-off, or other
adjustment in Contract Price on the basis of Cost of the Work, Provider’s fee will be
determined as follows:

1) When the fee for the Work as a whole is a percentage of the Cost of the Work,
the fee will automatically adjust as the Cost of the Work changes.

2) When the fee for the Work as a whole is a fixed fee, the fee for any additions or
deletions will be determined in accordance with Paragraph 12.08.C.2.

2. When the Work as a whole is performed on the basis of a stipulated sum, or any other
basis other than cost-plus-a-fee, then Provider’s fee for any Work covered by a Change
Order, Change Proposal, Claim, set-off, or other adjustment in Contract Price on the basis
of Cost of the Work will be determined in accordance with Paragraph 12.08.C.2.

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 74 190



62 

E. Documentation and Audit: Whenever the Cost of the Work for any purpose is to be
determined pursuant to this Article 14, Provider and pertinent Subcontractors will establish
and maintain records of the costs in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices.
Subject to prior written notice, Owner will be afforded reasonable access, during normal
business hours, to all Provider’s accounts, records, books, correspondence, instructions,
drawings, receipts, vouchers, memoranda, and similar data relating to the Cost of the Work
and Provider’s fee. Provider shall preserve all such documents for a period of six years after
the final payment by Owner. Pertinent Subcontractors will afford such access to Owner, and
preserve such documents, to the same extent required of Provider.

14.02 Allowances 

A. It is understood that Provider has included in the Contract Price all allowances so named in
the Contract Documents and fully executed Task Orders and shall cause the Work so covered
to be performed for such sums and by such persons or entities as may be acceptable to Owner
and Engineer.

B. Cash Allowances: Provider agrees that:

1. the cash allowances include the cost to Provider (less any applicable trade discounts) of
materials and equipment required by the allowances to be delivered at the Site or to the
Point of Destination, and all applicable taxes; and

2. Provider’s costs for unloading and handling on the Site or at the Point of Destination,
labor, installation, overhead, profit, and other expenses contemplated for the cash
allowances have been included in the Contract Price and not in the allowances, and no
demand for additional payment for any of the foregoing will be valid.

C. Owner’s Contingency Allowance: Provider agrees that an Owner’s contingency allowance, if
any, is for the sole use of Owner to cover unanticipated costs.

D. Prior to final payment, an appropriate Change Order will be issued as recommended by
Engineer to reflect actual amounts due Provider for Work covered by allowances, and the
Contract Price will be correspondingly adjusted.

14.03 Unit Price Work 

A. Where the Contract Documents or applicable Task Order provide that all or part of the Work
is to be Unit Price Work, initially the Contract Price will be deemed to include for all Unit Price
Work an amount equal to the sum of the unit price for each separately identified item of Unit
Price Work times the estimated quantity of each item as indicated in the Contract Documents
or applicable Task Order.

B. The estimated quantities of items of Unit Price Work are not guaranteed and are solely for
the purpose of comparison of Bids and determining an initial Contract Price. Payments to
Provider for Unit Price Work will be based on actual quantities.

C. Each unit price will be deemed to include an amount considered by Provider to be adequate
to cover Provider’s overhead and profit for each separately identified item.

D. Engineer will determine the actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work performed
by Provider. Engineer will review with Provider the Engineer’s preliminary determinations on
such matters before rendering a written decision thereon (by recommendation of an
Application for Payment or otherwise). Engineer’s written decision thereon will be final and

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 75 191



   
 

63 
 

binding (except as modified by Engineer to reflect changed factual conditions or more 
accurate data) upon Owner and Provider, and the final adjustment of Contract Price will be 
set forth in a Change Order, subject to the provisions of the following paragraph. 

E. Adjustments in Unit Price 

1. Provider or Owner shall be entitled to an adjustment in the unit price with respect to an 
item of Unit Price Work if: 

a. the extended price of a particular item of Unit Price Work amounts to 25 percent or 
more of the Contract Price and the variation in the quantity of that particular item of 
Unit Price Work actually furnished or performed by Provider differs by more than 25 
percent from the estimated quantity of such item indicated; and 

b. Provider’s unit costs to perform the item of Unit Price Work have changed materially 
and significantly as a result of the quantity change. 

2. The adjustment in unit price will account for and be coordinated with any related changes 
in quantities of other items of Work, and in Provider’s costs to perform such other Work, 
such that the resulting overall change in Contract Price is equitable to Owner and 
Provider. 

3. Adjusted unit prices will apply to all units of that item. 

ARTICLE 15—TESTS AND INSPECTIONS; CORRECTION, REMOVAL, OR ACCEPTANCE OF DEFECTIVE WORK 

15.01 Access to Work 

A. Owner, Engineer, their consultants and other representatives and personnel of Owner, 
independent testing laboratories, and authorities having jurisdiction have access to the Site 
and the Work, as applicable, at reasonable times for their observation, inspection, and testing. 
Provider shall provide them proper and safe conditions for such access and advise them of 
Provider’s safety procedures and programs so that they may comply with such procedures 
and programs as applicable. 

15.02 Tests, Inspections, and Approvals 

A. The Contract Documents and executed Task Order(s) specify required inspections and tests. 
Owner shall have the right to perform, or cause to be performed, reasonable inspections and 
require reasonable tests of the Goods at Provider’s facility, at the Point of Destination, and at 
the Site. Provider shall allow Owner a reasonable time to perform such inspections or tests. 
Further, Provider shall give Engineer timely notice of readiness of the Work (or specific parts 
thereof) for all required inspections and tests, and shall cooperate with inspection and testing 
personnel to facilitate required inspections and tests. 

B. Provider shall reimburse Owner for all expenses, except for travel, lodging, and subsistence 
expenses of Owner’s and Engineer's representatives, for inspections and tests specified in the 
Contract Documents and applicable Task Order. If as the result of any such specified testing 
the Work is determined to be non-conforming or defective, then Provider shall also bear the 
travel, lodging, and subsistence expenses of Owner’s and Engineer's representatives, and all 
expenses of re-inspection or retesting.  

C. Provider shall retain and pay for the services of an independent inspector, testing laboratory, 
or other qualified individual or entity to perform all inspection and tests expressly required 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 76 192



   
 

64 
 

by the Contract Documents as identified in Paragraph 15.02.D. Owner shall bear all expenses 
of inspections and tests that are not specified in the Contract Documents (other than any re-
inspection or retesting resulting from a determination of defect or non-conformity); provided, 
however, that if as the result of any such non-specified inspections or testing the Work is 
determined to be non-conforming or defective, then Provider shall bear all expenses of such 
inspections and testing, and of any necessary re-inspection and retesting. 

D. If Laws or Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction require any Work (or part thereof) 
specifically to be inspected, tested, or approved by an employee or other representative of 
such public body, Provider shall assume full responsibility for arranging and obtaining such 
inspections, tests, or approvals, pay all costs in connection therewith, and furnish Engineer 
the required certificates of inspection or approval. 

E. Provider shall be responsible for arranging, obtaining, and paying for all inspections and tests 
required: 

1. by the Contract Documents or an applicable Task Order, unless the Contract Documents 
or applicable Task Order expressly allocate responsibility for a specific inspection or test 
to Owner; 

2. to attain Owner’s and Engineer’s acceptance of materials or equipment to be 
incorporated in the Work; 

3. by manufacturers of equipment furnished under the Contract Documents and any 
applicable Task Order; 

4. for testing, adjusting, and balancing of mechanical, electrical, and other equipment to be 
incorporated into the Work; and 

5. for acceptance of materials, mix designs, or equipment submitted for approval prior to 
Provider’s purchase thereof for incorporation in the Work. 

Such inspections and tests will be performed by independent inspectors, testing laboratories, 
or other qualified individuals or entities acceptable to Owner and Engineer. 

F. If the Contract Documents or a Task Order require the Work (or part thereof) to be approved 
by Owner, Engineer, or another designated individual or entity, then Provider shall assume 
full responsibility for arranging and obtaining such approvals. 

G. If any Work (or the work of others) that is to be inspected, tested, or approved is covered by 
Provider without written concurrence of Engineer, Provider shall, if requested by Engineer, 
uncover such Work for observation. Such uncovering will be at Provider’s expense unless 
Provider had given Engineer timely notice of Provider’s intention to cover the same and 
Engineer had not acted with reasonable promptness in response to such notice. 

H. With respect to Work issued pursuant to a Procurement Task Order: SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 77 193



   
 

65 
 

1. Provider shall provide Owner timely written notice of the readiness of the Goods for all 
inspections, tests, or approvals which the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order 
specify are to be observed by Owner prior to shipment. 

2. Owner will give Provider timely notice of all specified tests, inspections, and approvals of 
the Goods which are to be conducted at the Point of Destination, and a representative of 
Provider will attend such tests, inspections, and approvals. 

3. If, on the basis of inspections or testing, the Goods appear to be conforming and not 
defective, Owner will give Provider prompt notice thereof. If on the basis of inspections 
or testing, the Goods appear to be non-conforming or defective, Owner will give Provider 
prompt notice thereof and will advise Provider of the remedy Owner elects under the 
provisions of Paragraph 15.04. 

4. Neither payments made by Owner to Provider prior to any tests or inspections, nor any 
tests or inspections, will constitute acceptance of non-conforming or defective Goods, or 
prejudice Owner’s rights under the Master Agreement. 

I.  Visual Inspection on Delivery. With respect to Work issued pursuant to a Procurement Task 
Order: 

1. Owner will visually inspect the Goods upon delivery solely for purposes of identifying the 
Goods, general verification of quantities, and observation of apparent condition. Such 
visual inspection will not be construed as final or as receipt of any Goods and Special 
Services that, as a result of subsequent inspections and tests, are determined to be 
nonconforming or defective.  

2. If, on the basis of the visual inspection specified in Paragraph 15.02.I.1, the Goods appear 
to comply with the requirements of the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order 
as to quantities and condition and do not contain any apparent defects or non-
conformities, then within 10 days of delivery Owner shall issue to Provider Owner’s 
acknowledgment of the receipt of Goods. 

J. Final Inspection. With respect to Work issued pursuant to a Procurement Task Order: 

1.  After all of the Goods have been incorporated into the Project, tested in accordance with 
such testing requirements as are specified, and are functioning as required, and Provider 
has performed and completed all Special Services, Owner will make a final inspection.  

2. If, on the basis of the final inspection, Owner determines that the Goods and Special 
Services are conforming, Owner’s notice thereof will constitute Owner’s acceptance of 
the Goods and Special Services, subject to any limitations stated in the notice.  

3. If, on the basis of the final inspection, the Goods and Special Services are nonconforming, 
Owner will identify the non-conformity in writing. 

15.03 Non-Conforming or Defective Work 

A. Provider’s Obligation: It is Provider’s obligation to assure that the Work is not defective in 
materials or workmanship, and otherwise is not non-conforming.  

B. Engineer’s Authority: Engineer has the authority to determine whether Work is defective or 
non-conforming, and to reject defective or non-conforming Work. 

C. Notice of Defects: Prompt written notice of all defective or non-conforming Work of which 
Owner or Engineer has actual knowledge will be given to Provider.  

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 78 194



   
 

66 
 

D. Rejection of Work: If Owner elects to reject the Work in whole or in part, Owner’s notice to 
Provider will describe in sufficient detail the non-conforming or defective aspect of the Work. 
If Goods have been delivered to Owner, Provider shall promptly, and within the Contract 
Times, remove and replace the rejected Goods. Provider shall bear all costs, losses and 
damages attributable to the removal, replacement, reinspection, and retesting of the non-
conforming or defective Work. Upon rejection of Goods, Owner retains a security interest in 
the Goods to the extent of any payments made and expenses incurred in their testing and 
inspection. 

E. Correction, or Removal and Replacement: Promptly after receipt of written notice of defective 
or non-conforming Work, Provider shall, at no cost to Owner and in response to written 
instructions from Owner, either correct all such defective or non-conforming Work, whether 
or not fabricated, installed, or completed, or, if Engineer has rejected the defective or non-
conforming Work, remove it from the Project and replace it with Work that is not defective 
or non-conforming, including all work required for reinstallation. 

F. Remedying Non-Conforming or Defective Work: If Owner elects to permit the Provider to 
modify the Work to correct the non-conformance or defect, then Provider shall promptly 
provide a schedule for such modifications and shall make the Work conforming and not 
defective within a reasonable time. 

G. Preservation of Warranties: When correcting defective or non-conforming Work, Provider 
shall take no action that would void or otherwise impair Owner’s special warranty and 
guarantee, if any, on said Work. 

H. Costs and Damages: In addition to its correction, removal, and replacement obligations with 
respect to defective or non-conforming Work, Provider shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and 
damages arising out of or relating to defective or non-conforming Work, including but not 
limited to the cost of the inspection, testing, correction, removal, replacement, or 
reconstruction of such defective or non-conforming Work, fines levied against Owner by 
governmental authorities because the Work is defective or non-conforming, and the costs of 
repair or replacement of work of others resulting from defective or non-conforming Work. 
Provider’s obligations will include the costs of the correction or removal and replacement of 
the nonconforming or defective Work and the replacement of property of Owner and others 
destroyed by the correction or removal and replacement of the non-conforming or defective 
Work, and obtaining conforming and non-defective Work from others. Prior to final payment, 
if Owner and Provider are unable to agree as to the measure of such claims, costs, losses, and 
damages resulting from defective or non-conforming Work, then Owner may impose a 
reasonable set-off against payments due under Article 16. 

15.04 Acceptance of Defective or Non-Conforming Work 

A. If, instead of requiring correction or removal and replacement of defective or non-conforming 
Work, Owner prefers to accept it, Owner may do so (subject, if such acceptance occurs prior 
to final payment, to Engineer’s confirmation that such acceptance is in general accord with 
the design intent and applicable engineering principles, and will not endanger public safety). 
Provider shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages attributable to Owner’s evaluation of 
and determination to accept such defective Work, and for the diminished value of the Work 
to the extent not otherwise paid by Provider. If any such acceptance occurs prior to final 
payment, the necessary revisions in the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order with 
respect to the Work will be incorporated in a Change Order. If the parties are unable to agree 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 79 195



   
 

67 
 

as to the decrease in the Contract Price, reflecting the diminished value of Work so accepted, 
then Owner may impose a reasonable set-off against payments due under Article 16. If the 
acceptance of non-conforming or defective Work occurs after final payment, Provider shall 
pay an appropriate amount to Owner. 

 15.05 Uncovering Work 

A. Engineer has the authority to require additional inspection or testing of the Work, whether 
or not the Work is fabricated, installed, or completed. 

B. If any Work is covered contrary to the written request of Engineer, then Provider shall, if 
requested by Engineer, uncover such Work for Engineer’s observation, and then replace the 
covering, all at Provider’s expense. 

C. If Engineer considers it necessary or advisable that covered Work be observed by Engineer or 
inspected or tested by others, then Provider, at Engineer’s request, shall uncover, expose, or 
otherwise make available for observation, inspection, or testing as Engineer may require, that 
portion of the Work in question, and provide all necessary labor, material, and equipment. 

1. If it is found that the uncovered Work is defective or non-conforming, Provider shall be 
responsible for all claims, costs, losses, and damages arising out of or relating to such 
uncovering, exposure, observation, inspection, and testing, and of satisfactory 
replacement or reconstruction (including but not limited to all costs of repair or 
replacement of work of others); and pending Provider’s full discharge of this responsibility 
the Owner shall be entitled to impose a reasonable set-off against payments due under 
Article 16. 

2. If the uncovered Work is not found to be defective or non-conforming, Provider shall be 
allowed an increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Times, directly 
attributable to such uncovering, exposure, observation, inspection, testing, replacement, 
and reconstruction. If the parties are unable to agree as to the amount or extent thereof, 
then Provider may submit a Change Proposal within 30 days of the determination that 
the Work is not defective or non-conforming. 

15.06 Owner May Stop the Work 

A. If the Work is defective or non-conforming, or Provider fails to supply sufficient skilled 
workers or suitable materials or equipment, or fails to perform the Work in such a way that 
the completed Work will conform to the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order, then 
Owner may order Provider to stop the Work, or any portion thereof, until the cause for such 
order has been eliminated; however, this right of Owner to stop the Work will not give rise to 
any duty on the part of Owner to exercise this right for the benefit of Provider, any 
Subcontractor, any Supplier, any other individual or entity, or any surety for, or employee or 
agent of any of them. 

15.07 Owner May Correct Defective or Non-Conforming Work 

A. If Provider fails within a reasonable time after written notice from Engineer to correct 
defective or non-conforming Work, or to remove and replace defective or non-conforming 
Work as required by Engineer, then Owner may, after 7 days’ written notice to Provider, 
correct or remedy any such deficiency or non-conformity. 

B. In exercising the rights and remedies under this Paragraph 15.07, Owner shall proceed 
expeditiously. In connection with such corrective or remedial action, Owner may, as 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 80 196



   
 

68 
 

applicable to the executed Task Order in question, exclude Provider from all or part of the 
Site, take possession of all or part of the Work, and suspend Provider’s services related 
thereto, and incorporate in the Work all materials and equipment stored at the Site or Point 
of Destination, or for which Owner has paid Provider but which are stored elsewhere. Provider 
shall allow Owner, Owner’s representatives, agents and employees, Owner’s other 
contractors, and Engineer and Engineer’s consultants access to the Site or Point of Destination 
to enable Owner to exercise the rights and remedies under this paragraph. 

C. All claims, costs, losses, and damages incurred or sustained by Owner in exercising the rights 
and remedies under this Paragraph 15.07 will be charged against Provider as set-offs against 
payments due under Article 16. Such claims, costs, losses and damages will include but not 
be limited to all costs of repair, or replacement of work of others destroyed or damaged by 
correction, removal, or replacement of Provider’s defective or non-conforming Work. 

D. Provider shall not be allowed an extension of the Contract Times or Contract Price increase 
because of any delay in the performance of the Work attributable to the exercise by Owner 
of Owner’s rights and remedies under this Paragraph 15.07. 

ARTICLE 16—PAYMENTS TO PROVIDER; SET-OFFS; COMPLETION; CORRECTION PERIOD 

16.01 Progress Payments 

A. Basis for Progress Payments: The Schedule of Values established as provided in Article 2 will 
serve as the basis for progress payments and will be incorporated into a form of Application 
for Payment acceptable to Engineer. Progress payments for Unit Price Work will be based on 
the number of units completed during the pay period, as determined under the provisions of 
Paragraph 14.03. Progress payments for cost-based Work will be based on Cost of the Work 
completed by Provider during the pay period. 

B. Applications for Payments 

1. At least 20 days before the date established for each progress payment (but not more 
often than once a month), Provider shall submit to Engineer for review an Application for 
Payment filled out and signed by Provider covering the Work completed as of the date of 
the application and accompanied by such supporting documentation as is required by the 
Contract Documents and applicable Task Order. 

2. If payment is requested on the basis of materials and equipment not incorporated in the 
Work but delivered and suitably stored at the Site, Point of Delivery, or at another location 
agreed to in writing, the Application for Payment must also be accompanied by: (a) a bill 
of sale, invoice, copies of subcontract or purchase order payments, or other 
documentation establishing full payment by Provider for the materials and equipment; 
(b) at Owner’s request, documentation warranting that Owner has received the materials 
and equipment free and clear of all Liens; and (c) evidence that the materials and 
equipment are covered by appropriate property insurance, a warehouse bond, or other 
arrangements to protect Owner’s interest therein, all of which must be satisfactory to 
Owner. 

3. Any Application for Payment that is based in whole or in part on the delivery of Goods 
must be accompanied by a bill of sale, invoice, or other documentation reasonably 
satisfactory to Owner warranting that Owner has rightfully received good title to the 
Goods from Provider and that, upon payment, the Goods will be free and clear of all liens. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 81 197



   
 

69 
 

Such documentation will include releases and waivers from all parties with viable lien 
rights. 

4. Beginning with the second Application for Payment, each Application must include an 
affidavit of Provider stating that all previous progress payments received by Provider have 
been applied to discharge Provider’s legitimate obligations associated with prior 
Applications for Payment. 

5. The amount of retainage, if any with respect to progress payments will be as stipulated 
in the applicable Task Order. 

6. Owner shall notify Provider promptly of any deficiency in the required documentation. 

C. Review of Applications 

1. Engineer will, within 10 days after receipt of each Application for Payment, including each 
resubmittal, either indicate in writing a recommendation of payment and present the 
Application to Owner, or return the Application to Provider indicating in writing 
Engineer’s reasons for refusing to recommend payment. In the latter case, Provider may 
make the necessary corrections and resubmit the Application. 

2. Engineer’s recommendation of any payment requested in an Application for Payment will 
constitute a representation by Engineer to Owner, based on Engineer’s observations of 
the executed Work as an experienced and qualified design professional, and on Engineer’s 
review of the Application for Payment and the accompanying data and schedules, that to 
the best of Engineer’s knowledge, information and belief: 

a. the Work has progressed to the point indicated; 

b. the quality of the Work is generally in accordance with the Contract Documents and 
applicable Task Order (subject to an evaluation of the Work as a functioning whole 
prior to or upon Substantial Completion, if applicable, the results of any subsequent 
tests called for in the Contract Documents or applicable Task Order, a final 
determination of quantities and classifications for Unit Price Work under 
Paragraph 14.03, and any other qualifications stated in the recommendation); and 

c. the conditions precedent to Provider’s being entitled to such payment appear to have 
been fulfilled in so far as it is Engineer’s responsibility to observe the Work. 

3. By recommending any such payment Engineer will not thereby be deemed to have 
represented that: 

a. inspections made to check the quality or the quantity of the Work as it has been 
performed have been exhaustive, extended to every aspect of the Work in progress, 
or involved detailed inspections of the Work beyond the responsibilities specifically 
assigned to Engineer in the Master Agreement or applicable Task Order; or 

b. there may not be other matters or issues between the parties that might entitle 
Provider to be paid additionally by Owner or entitle Owner to withhold payment to 
Provider. 

4. Neither Engineer’s review of Provider’s Work for the purposes of recommending 
payments nor Engineer’s recommendation of any payment, including final payment, will 
impose responsibility on Engineer: 

a. to supervise, direct, or control the Work; 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 82 198



   
 

70 
 

b. for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or 
the safety precautions and programs incident thereto; 

c. for Provider’s failure to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to Provider’s 
performance of the Work; 

d. to make any examination to ascertain how or for what purposes Provider has used 
the money paid by Owner; or 

e. to determine that title to any of the Work, materials, or equipment has passed to 
Owner free and clear of any Liens. 

5. Engineer may refuse to recommend the whole or any part of any payment if, in Engineer’s 
opinion, it would be incorrect to make the representations to Owner stated in 
Paragraph 16.01.C.2. 

6. Engineer will recommend reductions in payment (set-offs) necessary in Engineer’s 
opinion to protect Owner from loss because: 

a. the Work is defective or non-conforming, requiring correction or replacement; 

b. the Contract Price has been reduced by Change Orders; 

c. Owner has been required to correct defective or non-conforming Work in accordance 
with Paragraph 15.07, or has accepted defective or non-conforming Work pursuant 
to Paragraph 15.04; 

d. Owner has been required to remove or remediate a Hazardous Environmental 
Condition for which Provider is responsible; or 

e. Engineer has actual knowledge of the occurrence of any of the events that would 
constitute a default by Provider and therefore justify termination for cause under the 
Contract Documents. 

D. Payment Becomes Due 

1. Thirty days after presentation of the Application for Payment to Owner with Engineer’s 
recommendation, the amount recommended (subject to any Owner set-offs) will become 
due, and when due will be paid by Owner to Provider. 

E. Reductions in Payment by Owner 

1. In addition to any reductions in payment (set-offs) recommended by Engineer, Owner is 
entitled to impose a set-off against payment based on any of the following: 

a. Claims have been made against Owner based on Provider’s conduct in the 
performance or furnishing of the Work, or Owner has incurred costs, losses, or 
damages resulting from Provider’s conduct in the performance or furnishing of the 
Work, including but not limited to claims, costs, losses, or damages from workplace 
injuries, adjacent property damage, non-compliance with Laws and Regulations, and 
patent infringement; 

b. Provider has failed to take reasonable and customary measures to avoid damage, 
delay, disruption, and interference with other work at or adjacent to the Site or Point 
of Destination; 

c. Provider has failed to provide and maintain required bonds or insurance; 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 83 199



   
 

71 
 

d. Owner has been required to remove or remediate a Hazardous Environmental 
Condition for which Provider is responsible; 

e. Owner has incurred extra charges or engineering costs related to submittal reviews, 
evaluations of proposed substitutes, tests and inspections, or return visits to 
manufacturing or assembly facilities; 

f. The Work is non-conforming or defective, requiring correction or replacement; 

g. Owner has been required to correct non-conforming or defective Work in accordance 
with Paragraph 15.07, or has accepted non-conforming or defective Work pursuant 
to Paragraph 15.04; 

h. The Contract Price has been reduced by Change Orders; 

i. An event has occurred that would constitute a default by Provider and therefore 
justify a termination for cause; 

j. Liquidated or other damages have accrued as a result of Provider’s failure to achieve 
milestones, Substantial Completion, delivery, or final completion of the Work; 

k. Liens have been filed in connection with the Work, except where Provider has 
delivered a specific bond satisfactory to Owner to secure the satisfaction and 
discharge of such Liens; or 

l. Other items entitle Owner to a set-off against the amount recommended. 

2. If Owner imposes any set-off against payment, whether based on its own knowledge or 
on the written recommendations of Engineer, Owner will give Provider immediate written 
notice (with a copy to Engineer) stating the reasons for such action and the specific 
amount of the reduction, and promptly pay Provider any amount remaining after 
deduction of the amount so withheld. Owner shall promptly pay Provider the amount so 
withheld, or any adjustment thereto agreed to by Owner and Provider, if Provider 
remedies the reasons for such action. The reduction imposed will be binding on Provider 
unless it duly submits a Change Proposal contesting the reduction. 

3. Upon a subsequent determination that Owner’s refusal of payment was not justified, the 
amount wrongfully withheld will be treated as an amount due as determined by 
Paragraph 16.01.D.1 and subject to interest as provided in the Master Agreement. 

F. Retainage 

1. Retainage shall be withheld and released in accordance with ORS 279C.550 to 279C.570, 
each applicable Task Order, and Exhibit D. 

16.02 Provider’s Warranty of Title 

A. Provider warrants and guarantees that title to all Work, materials, and equipment furnished 
under the Master Agreement and each applicable Task Order will pass to Owner free and clear 
of (1) all Liens and other title defects, and (2) all patent, licensing, copyright, or royalty 
obligations, no later than 7 days after the time of payment by Owner. 

16.03 Substantial Completion 

A. This Paragraph 16.03 applies to Work conducted pursuant to a Procurement and Installation 
Task Order. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 84 200



   
 

72 
 

B. When Provider considers the entire Work is ready for its intended use, Provider shall notify 
Owner and Engineer in writing that such entire Work is substantially complete and request 
that Engineer issue a certificate of Substantial Completion. Provider shall at the same time 
submit to Owner and Engineer an initial draft of punch list items to be completed or corrected 
before final payment. 

C. Promptly after Provider’s notification, Owner, Provider, and Engineer shall make an 
inspection of the Work to determine the status of completion. If Engineer does not consider 
the Work substantially complete, Engineer will notify Provider in writing giving the reasons 
therefor. 

D. If Engineer considers the Work substantially complete, Engineer will deliver to Owner a 
preliminary certificate of Substantial Completion which will fix the date of Substantial 
Completion. Engineer shall attach to the certificate a punch list of items to be completed or 
corrected before final payment. Owner shall have 7 days after receipt of the preliminary 
certificate during which to make written objection to Engineer as to any provisions of the 
certificate or attached punch list. If, after considering the objections to the provisions of the 
preliminary certificate, Engineer concludes that the Work is not substantially complete, 
Engineer will, within 14 days after submission of the preliminary certificate to Owner, notify 
Provider in writing that the Work is not substantially complete, stating the reasons therefor. 
If Owner does not object to the provisions of the certificate, or if despite consideration of 
Owner’s objections Engineer concludes that the Work is substantially complete, then 
Engineer will, within said 14 days, execute and deliver to Owner and Provider a final certificate 
of Substantial Completion (with a revised punch list of items to be completed or corrected) 
reflecting such changes from the preliminary certificate as Engineer believes justified after 
consideration of any objections from Owner. 

E. At the time of receipt of the preliminary certificate of Substantial Completion, Owner and 
Provider will confer regarding Owner’s use or occupancy of the Work following Substantial 
Completion, review the builder’s risk insurance policy with respect to the end of the builder’s 
risk coverage, and confirm the transition to coverage of the Work under a permanent 
property insurance policy held by Owner. Unless Owner and Provider agree otherwise in 
writing, Owner shall bear responsibility for security, operation, protection of the Work, 
property insurance, maintenance, heat, and utilities upon Owner’s use or occupancy of the 
Work. 

F. After Substantial Completion the Provider shall promptly begin work on the punch list of items 
to be completed or corrected prior to final payment. In appropriate cases Provider may 
submit monthly Applications for Payment for completed punch list items, following the 
progress payment procedures set forth above. 

G. Owner shall have the right to exclude Provider from the Site after the date of Substantial 
Completion subject to allowing Provider reasonable access to remove its property and 
complete or correct items on the punch list. 

16.04 Partial Use or Occupancy 

A. This Paragraph 16.04 applies to Work conducted pursuant to a Procurement and Installation 
Task Order. 

B. Prior to Substantial Completion of the Work, Owner may use or occupy any substantially 
completed part of the Work which has specifically been identified in the Contract Documents 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 85 201



   
 

73 
 

or applicable Task Order, or which Owner, Engineer, and Provider agree constitutes a 
separately functioning and usable part of the Work that can be used by Owner for its intended 
purpose without significant interference with Provider’s performance of the remainder of the 
Work, subject to the following conditions: 

1. At any time, Owner may request in writing that Provider permit Owner to use or occupy 
any such part of the Work that Owner believes to be substantially complete. If and when 
Provider agrees that such part of the Work is substantially complete, Provider, Owner, 
and Engineer will follow the procedures of Paragraph 16.03.A through 16.03.E for that 
part of the Work. 

2. At any time, Provider may notify Owner and Engineer in writing that Provider considers 
any such part of the Work substantially complete and request Engineer to issue a 
certificate of Substantial Completion for that part of the Work. 

3. Within a reasonable time after either such request, Owner, Provider, and Engineer shall 
make an inspection of that part of the Work to determine its status of completion. If 
Engineer does not consider that part of the Work to be substantially complete, Engineer 
will notify Owner and Provider in writing giving the reasons therefor. If Engineer considers 
that part of the Work to be substantially complete, the provisions of Paragraph 16.03 will 
apply with respect to certification of Substantial Completion of that part of the Work and 
the division of responsibility in respect thereof and access thereto. 

4. No use or occupancy or separate operation of part of the Work may occur prior to 
compliance with the requirements of Paragraph 6.04 regarding builder’s risk or other 
property insurance. 

16.05 Final Inspection 

A. Upon written notice from Provider that the entire Work or an agreed portion thereof is 
complete, Engineer will promptly make a final inspection with Owner and Provider and will 
notify Provider in writing of all particulars in which this inspection reveals that the Work, or 
agreed portion thereof, is incomplete, non-conforming, or defective. Provider shall 
immediately take such measures as are necessary to complete such Work or remedy such 
deficiencies or non-conformities. 

16.06 Final Payment 

A. Application for Payment 

1. After Provider has, in the opinion of Engineer, satisfactorily completed all corrections 
identified during the final inspection and has delivered, in accordance with the Contract 
Documents and applicable Task Order, all maintenance and operating instructions, 
schedules, guarantees, bonds, certificates or other evidence of insurance, certificates of 
inspection, annotated record documents (as provided in Paragraph 7.13), and other 
documents, Provider may make application for final payment. 

2. The final Application for Payment must be accompanied (except as previously delivered) 
by: 

a. all documentation called for in the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order 
(including but not limited to all final operations and maintenance manuals, and any 
special warranties); 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 86 202



   
 

74 
 

b. consent of the surety, if any, to final payment; 

c. satisfactory evidence that all title issues have been resolved such that title to all Work, 
materials, and equipment has passed to Owner free and clear of any Liens or other 
title defects, or will so pass upon final payment; 

d. a list of all duly pending Change Proposals and Claims; and 

e. complete and legally effective releases or waivers (satisfactory to Owner) of all Lien 
rights arising out of the Work, and of Liens filed in connection with the Work. 

3. In lieu of the releases or waivers of Liens specified in Paragraph 16.01.C.4.e and as 
approved by Owner, Provider may furnish receipts or releases in full and an affidavit of 
Provider that: (a) the releases and receipts include all labor, services, material, and 
equipment for which a Lien could be filed; and (b) all payrolls, material and equipment 
bills, and other indebtedness connected with the Work for which Owner might in any way 
be responsible, or which might in any way result in liens or other burdens on Owner's 
property, have been paid or otherwise satisfied. If any Subcontractor or Supplier fails to 
furnish such a release or receipt in full, Provider may furnish a bond or other collateral 
satisfactory to Owner to indemnify Owner against any Lien, or Owner at its option may 
issue joint checks payable to Provider and specified Subcontractors and Suppliers. 

B. Engineer’s Review of Final Application and Recommendation of Payment: If, on the basis of 
Engineer’s observation of the Work during its completion and final inspection, and Engineer’s 
review of the final Application for Payment and accompanying documentation as required by 
the Contract Documents, Engineer is satisfied that the Work has been completed and 
Provider’s other obligations under the Master Agreement and applicable Task Order have 
been fulfilled, Engineer will, within 10 days after receipt of the final Application for Payment, 
indicate in writing Engineer’s recommendation of final payment and present the final 
Application for Payment to Owner for payment. Such recommendation will account for any 
set-offs against payment that are necessary in Engineer’s opinion to protect Owner from loss 
for the reasons stated above with respect to progress payments. Otherwise, Engineer will 
return the Application for Payment to Provider, indicating in writing the reasons for refusing 
to recommend final payment, in which case Provider shall make the necessary corrections 
and resubmit the Application for Payment. 

C. Notice of Acceptability: In support of its recommendation of payment of the final Application 
for Payment, Engineer will also give written notice to Owner and Provider that the Work is 
acceptable, subject to stated limitations in the notice and to the provisions of 
Paragraph 16.07. 

D. Completion of Work: The Work, or applicable portion thereof, is complete (subject to surviving 
obligations) when it is ready for final payment as established by the Engineer’s written 
recommendation of final payment and issuance of notice of the acceptability of the Work. 

E. Final Payment Becomes Due: Upon receipt from Engineer of the final Application for Payment 
and accompanying documentation, Owner shall set off against the amount recommended by 
Engineer for final payment any further sum to which Owner is entitled, including but not 
limited to set-offs for liquidated damages and set-offs allowed under the provisions of this 
Master Agreement and applicable Task Order with respect to progress payments. Owner shall 
pay the resulting balance due to Provider within 30 days of Owner’s receipt of the final 
Application for Payment from Engineer. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 87 203



   
 

75 
 

F. Owner will not make final payment, or return or release included retainage (if any) at any 
time, unless Provider submits written consent of the surety to such payment, return, or 
release. 

16.07 Waiver of Claims 

A. By making final payment, Owner waives its claim or right to liquidated damages or other 
damages for late completion by Provider of such Work, except as set forth in an outstanding 
Claim, appeal under the provisions of Article 16, set-off, or express reservation of rights by 
Owner. Owner reserves all other claims or rights after final payment and all rights and 
remedies available to it with respect to all other ongoing Work. 

B. The acceptance of final payment by Provider will constitute a waiver by Provider of all claims 
and rights against Owner with respect to that applicable Work other than those pending 
matters that have been duly submitted as a Claim, or appealed under the provisions of 
Article 16, and that Work that is ongoing under the terms of the Contract Documents and 
each applicable Task Order. 

16.08 Correction Period 

A. If within one year after the date of final Acceptance of Work, as applicable, (or such longer 
period of time as may be prescribed by the Supplementary Conditions or applicable Task 
Order, or the terms of any applicable special guarantee required by the Contract Documents), 
Owner gives Provider written notice that any Work has been found to be defective or non-
conforming, or that Provider’s repair of any damages to the Site or adjacent areas has been 
found to be defective or non-conforming, then after receipt of such notice of defect or non-
conformity Provider shall promptly, without cost to Owner and in accordance with Owner’s 
written instructions: 

1. correct the defective or non-conforming repairs to the Site or such adjacent areas; 

2. correct such defective or non-conforming Work; 

3. remove the defective or non-conforming Work from the Project and replace it with Work 
that is not defective or non-conforming, if the defective or non-conforming Work has 
been rejected by Owner, and 

4. satisfactorily correct or repair or remove and replace any damage to other Work, to the 
work of others, or to other land or areas resulting from the corrective measures. 

B. Owner shall give any such notice of defect or non-conformity within 60 days of the discovery 
that such Work or repairs is defective or non-conforming. If such notice is given within such 
60 days but after the end of the correction period, the notice will be deemed a notice of 
defective or non-conforming Work under Paragraph 15.03.C 

C. If, after receipt of a notice of defect or non-conformity within 60 days and within the 
correction period, Provider does not promptly comply with the terms of Owner’s written 
instructions, or in an emergency where delay would cause serious risk of loss or damage, 
Owner may have the defective or non-conforming Work corrected or repaired or may have 
the rejected Work removed and replaced. Provider shall pay all costs, losses, and damages 
(including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other 
professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or 
relating to such correction or repair or such removal and replacement (including but not 
limited to all costs of repair or replacement of work of others). Provider’s failure to pay such 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 88 204



   
 

76 
 

costs, losses, and damages within 10 days of invoice from Owner will be deemed the start of 
an event giving rise to a Claim under Paragraph 13.01.B, such that any related Claim must be 
brought within 30 days of the failure to pay. 

D. In special circumstances where a particular item of equipment is placed in continuous service 
before final completion of all the related Work, the correction period for that item may start 
to run from an earlier date if so provided in the Specifications. 

E. Where defective or non-conforming Work (and damage to other Work resulting therefrom) 
has been corrected or removed and replaced under this paragraph, the correction period 
hereunder with respect to such Work will be extended for an additional period of one year 
after such correction or removal and replacement has been satisfactorily completed. 

F. Provider’s obligations under this paragraph are in addition to all other obligations and 
warranties. The provisions of this paragraph are not to be construed as a substitute for, or a 
waiver of, the provisions of any applicable statute of limitation or repose. 

ARTICLE 17—SUSPENSION OF WORK AND TERMINATION 

17.01 Owner May Suspend Work 

A. At any time and without cause, Owner may suspend the Work or any portion thereof for a 
period of not more than 90 consecutive days by written notice to Provider and Engineer. Such 
notice will fix the date on which Work will be resumed. Provider shall resume the Work on 
the date so fixed. Provider shall be entitled to an adjustment in the Contract Price or an 
extension of the Contract Times directly attributable to any such suspension, provided that 
performance was or would not have been suspended or delayed for causes attributable to 
Provider. Any Change Proposal seeking such adjustments must be submitted no later than 30 
days after the date fixed for resumption of Work. 

17.02 Owner May Terminate for Cause 

A. The occurrence of any one or more of the following events will constitute a default by Provider 
and justify termination for cause: 

1. Provider’s persistent failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents or an applicable Task Order (including, but not limited to, failure to supply 
sufficient skilled workers or suitable materials or equipment, or failure to adhere to the 
Progress Schedule); 

2. Failure of Provider to perform or otherwise to comply with a material term of the Contract 
Documents or an applicable Task Order; 

3. Provider’s disregard of Laws or Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction;  

4. Provider’s failure to pay any Provider employee or Subcontractor for Work performed; or 

5. Provider’s repeated disregard of the authority of Owner or Engineer. 

B. If one or more of the events identified in Paragraph 17.02.A occurs, then after giving Provider 
(and any surety) 10 days’ written notice that Owner is considering a declaration that Provider 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 89 205



   
 

77 
 

is in default and termination of the Master Agreement and/or an applicable Task Order, 
Owner may proceed to: 

1. declare Provider to be in default, and give Provider (and any surety) written notice that 
the Master Agreement and/or applicable Task Order is terminated;  

2. enforce the rights available to Owner under any applicable performance bond; and 

3. pursue any other rights and remedies available to Owner at law or in equity. 

C. Subject to the terms and operation of any applicable performance bond, if Owner has 
terminated the Master Agreement and/or applicable Task Order for cause, Owner may 
exclude Provider from the Site or Point of Destination, take possession of the Work, 
incorporate in the Work all materials and equipment stored at the Site, at the Point of 
Destination, or for which Owner has paid Provider but which are stored elsewhere, and 
complete the Work as Owner may deem expedient. 

D. Owner may not proceed with termination of the Master Agreement and/or applicable Task 
Order under Paragraph 17.02.B if Provider within 7 days of receipt of notice of intent to 
terminate begins to correct its failure to perform and proceeds diligently to cure such failure. 

E. If Owner proceeds as provided in Paragraph 17.02.B, Provider shall not be entitled to receive 
any further payment until the Work is completed. If the cost to complete the Work including 
such related claims, costs, losses, and damages exceeds such unpaid balance of the Contract 
Price, Provider shall pay the difference to Owner. Such claims, costs, losses, and damages 
incurred by Owner will be reviewed by Engineer as to their reasonableness and, when so 
approved by Engineer, incorporated in a Change Order. When exercising any rights or 
remedies under this paragraph, Owner shall not be required to obtain the lowest price for the 
Work performed. 

F. Where Provider’s services have been so terminated by Owner, the termination will not affect 
any rights or remedies of Owner against Provider then existing or which may thereafter 
accrue, or any rights or remedies of Owner against Provider or any surety under any payment 
bond or performance bond. Any retention or payment of money due Provider by Owner will 
not release Provider from liability. 

G. If and to the extent that Provider has provided a performance bond under the provisions of 
Paragraph 6.01.A, the provisions of that bond will govern over any inconsistent provisions of 
Paragraphs 16.02.B and 16.02.D. 

17.03 Owner May Terminate for Convenience 

A. Upon 7 days’ written notice to Provider and Engineer, Owner may, without cause and without 
prejudice to any other right or remedy of Owner, terminate a Procurement and Installation 
Task Order. Termination pursuant to the terms of this paragraph will not constitute a breach 
of contract by Owner. In such case, Provider shall be paid for (without duplication of any 
items): 

1. completed and acceptable Work executed in accordance with the Contract Documents 
prior to the effective date of termination, including fair and reasonable sums for overhead 
and profit on such Work; 

2. expenses sustained prior to the effective date of termination in performing services and 
furnishing labor, materials, or equipment as required by the Contract Documents in 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 90 206



   
 

78 
 

connection with uncompleted Work, plus fair and reasonable sums for overhead and 
profit on such expenses; and 

3. other reasonable expenses directly attributable to termination, including costs incurred 
to prepare a termination for convenience cost proposal. 

B. Owner has the right to terminate a Procurement Task Order, without cause, at any time prior 
to delivery of the Goods, by written notice. Termination pursuant to the terms of this 
paragraph will not constitute a breach of contract by Owner. Upon termination, Owner shall 
pay Provider for the direct costs incurred in producing any Goods that Provider has specially 
manufactured for the Project. 

C. Provider shall not be paid for any loss of anticipated profits or revenue, post-termination 
overhead costs, or other economic loss arising out of or resulting from such termination. 

ARTICLE 18—FINAL RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES 

18.01 Methods and Procedures 

A. Disputes Subject to Final Resolution: The following disputed matters are subject to final 
resolution under the provisions of this Article: 

1. A timely appeal of an approval in part and denial in part of a Claim, or of a denial in full, 
pursuant to Article 13; and 

2. Disputes between Owner and Provider concerning the Work, or obligations under the 
Contract Documents or applicable Task Order, that arise after final payment has been 
made. 

B. Final Resolution of Disputes: For any dispute subject to resolution under this Article, Owner 
or Provider may: 

1. elect in writing to invoke the dispute resolution process provided for in Paragraph 18.02; 
or 

2. agree with the other party to submit the dispute to another dispute resolution process. 

18.02 Claims Review Process and Dispute Resolution 

A. All matters subject to final resolution under this Article will be settled by arbitration 
administered by the American Arbitration Association in accordance with its Construction 
Industry Arbitration Rules (subject to the conditions and limitations of this Paragraph). Any 
controversy or claim in the amount of $100,000 or less will be settled in accordance with the 
American Arbitration Association’s supplemental rules for Fixed Time and Cost Construction 
Arbitration. This agreement to arbitrate will be specifically enforceable under the prevailing 
law of any court having jurisdiction. 

B. The demand for arbitration will be filed in writing with the other party to the Master 
Agreement and applicable Task Order and with the selected arbitration administrator, and a 
copy will be sent to Engineer for information. The demand for arbitration will be made within 
the specific time required in Article 18, or if no specified time is applicable within a 
reasonable time after the matter in question has arisen, and in no event will any such 
demand be made after the date when institution of legal or equitable proceedings based on 
such matter in question would be barred by the applicable statute of limitations. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 91 207



   
 

79 
 

C. The arbitrator(s) must be licensed engineers, contractors, attorneys, or construction 
managers. Hearings will take place pursuant to the standard procedures of the Construction 
Arbitration Rules that contemplate in-person hearings. The arbitrators will have no authority 
to award punitive or other damages not measured by the prevailing party's actual damages, 
except as may be required by statute, the Master Agreement, or the applicable Task Order. 
Any award in an arbitration initiated under this clause will be limited to monetary damages 
and include no injunction or direction to any party other than the direction to pay a monetary 
amount. 

D. The Arbitrators will have the authority to allocate the costs of the arbitration process among 
the parties, but will only have the authority to allocate attorneys' fees if a specific Law or 
Regulation, this Master Agreement, or an applicable Task Order permits them to do so. 

E. The award of the arbitrators must be accompanied by a reasoned written opinion and a 
concise breakdown of the award. The written opinion will cite the Master Agreement or Task 
Order provisions deemed applicable and relied on in making the award. 

F. The parties agree that failure or refusal of a party to pay its required share of the deposits 
for arbitrator compensation or administrative charges will constitute a waiver by that party 
to present evidence or cross-examine witness. In such event, the other party shall be 
required to present evidence and legal argument as the arbitrator(s) may require for the 
making of an award. Such waiver will not allow for a default judgment against the non-paying 
party in the absence of evidence presented as provided for above. 

G. No arbitration arising out of or relating to the Master Agreement or an applicable Task Order 
will include by consolidation, joinder, or in any other manner any other individual or entity 
(including Engineer, and Engineer’s consultants and the officers, directors, partners, agents, 
employees or consultants of any of them) who is not a party to this Master Agreement or 
applicable Task Order unless: 

1. the inclusion of such other individual or entity will allow complete relief to be afforded 
among those who are already parties to the arbitration; 

2. such other individual or entity is substantially involved in a question of law or fact which 
is common to those who are already parties to the arbitration, and which will arise in 
such proceedings; 

3. such other individual or entity is subject to arbitration under a contract with either 
Owner or Provider, or consents to being joined in the arbitration; and 

4. the consolidation or joinder is in compliance with the arbitration administrator’s 
procedural rules. 

H. The award will be final. Judgment may be entered upon it in any court having jurisdiction 
thereof, and it will not be subject to modification or appeal, subject to provisions of the Laws 
and Regulations relating to vacating or modifying an arbitral award. 

I. Except as may be required by Laws or Regulations, neither party nor an arbitrator may disclose 
the existence, content, or results of any arbitration hereunder without the prior written 
consent of both parties, with the exception of any disclosure required by Laws and 
Regulations, the Master Agreement or applicable Task Order. To the extent any disclosure is 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 92 208



   
 

80 
 

allowed pursuant to the exception, the disclosure must be strictly and narrowly limited to 
maintain confidentiality to the extent possible. 

J. Proceedings shall take place in Yamhill County, Oregon. 

18.03 Attorneys’ Fees 

A. For any matter subject to final resolution under this Article, the prevailing party shall be 
entitled to an award of its attorneys’ fees incurred in the final resolution proceedings, in an 
equitable amount to be determined in the discretion of the court, arbitrator, arbitration 
panel, or other arbiter of the matter subject to final resolution, taking into account the 
parties’ initial demand or defense positions in comparison with the final result. 

ARTICLE 19—MISCELLANEOUS 

19.01 Giving Notice 

A. Whenever any provision of the Contract Documents or Task Order requires the giving of 
written notice to Owner, Engineer, or Provider, it will be deemed to have been validly given 
only if delivered: 

1. in person, by a commercial courier service or otherwise, to the recipient’s place of 
business; 

2. by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, to the recipient’s place of business; or 

3. by e-mail to the recipient, with the words “Formal Notice” or similar in the e-mail’s subject 
line. 

19.02 Computation of Times 

A. When any period of time is referred to in the Contract Documents  or Task Order by days, it 
will be computed to exclude the first and include the last day of such period. If the last day of 
any such period falls on a Saturday or Sunday or on a day made a legal holiday by the law of 
the applicable jurisdiction, such day will be omitted from the computation. 

19.03 Cumulative Remedies 

A. The duties and obligations imposed by these General Conditions and the rights and remedies 
available hereunder to the parties hereto are in addition to, and are not to be construed in 
any way as a limitation of, any rights and remedies available to any or all of them which are 
otherwise imposed or available by Laws or Regulations, by special warranty or guarantee, or 
by other provisions of the Contract Documents or executed Task Order. The provisions of this 
paragraph will be as effective as if repeated specifically in the Contract Documents and Task 
Orders in connection with each particular duty, obligation, right, and remedy to which they 
apply. 

19.04 Limitation of Damages 

A. With respect to any and all Change Proposals, Claims, disputes subject to final resolution, and 
other matters at issue, neither Owner nor Engineer, nor any of their officers, directors, 
members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors, shall be liable to 
Provider for any claims, costs, losses, or damages sustained by Provider on or in connection 
with any other project or anticipated project. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 93 209



   
 

81 
 

19.05 No Waiver 

A. A party’s non-enforcement of any provision will not constitute a waiver of that provision, nor 
will it affect the enforceability of that provision or of the remainder of this Master Agreement 
or a Task Order. 

19.06 Survival of Obligations 

A. All representations, indemnifications, warranties, and guarantees made in, required by, or 
given in accordance with the Master Agreement and each Task Order, as well as all continuing 
obligations indicated in the Master Agreement and each Task Order, will survive final 
payment, completion, and acceptance of the Work or termination of the Master Agreement, 
a Task Order, or of the services of Provider. 

19.07 Controlling Law 

A. This Master Agreement is to be governed by the law of the state in which the Project is 
located. 

19.08 Assignment of Master Agreement and Task Orders 

A. Unless expressly agreed to elsewhere in the Master Agreement or a Task Order, no 
assignment by a party to this Master Agreement of any rights under or interests in the Master 
Agreement or a Task Order will be binding on the other party without the written consent of 
the party sought to be bound; and, specifically but without limitation, money that may 
become due and money that is due may not be assigned without such consent (except to the 
extent that the effect of this restriction may be limited by law), and unless specifically stated 
to the contrary in any written consent to an assignment, no assignment will release or 
discharge the assignor from any duty or responsibility under the Master Agreement or Task 
Order. 

19.09 Successors and Assigns 

A. Owner and Provider each binds itself, its successors, assigns, and legal representatives to the 
other party hereto, its successors, assigns, and legal representatives in respect to all 
covenants, agreements, and obligations contained in the Contract Documents and each Task 
Order. 

19.10 Headings 

A. Article and paragraph headings are inserted for convenience only and do not constitute parts 
of these General Conditions. 

19.11 Entire Agreement 

A. Owner and Provider agree that this Master Agreement and each Task Order is the complete 
and final agreement between them, and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations, 
or agreements, either written or oral. This Master Agreement and each Task Order may not 
be altered, modified, or amended except in writing signed by an authorized representative of 
both parties. 

19.12 Successors and Assigns 

A. Owner and Provider each binds itself, its partners, successors, permitted assigns, and legal 
representatives to the other party hereto, its partners, successors, permitted assigns, and 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 94 210



   
 

82 
 

legal representatives in respect to all covenants, agreements, and obligations contained in 
the Master Agreement and each Task Order. 

 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 95 211



Exhibit A.1 

Procurement Task Order Form 

This Task Order Number ____ (“Task Order”) is entered between the City of Dayton (“Owner”) and [name] 
(“Provider”). This Task Order is issued under the authority of the Master Agreement Between Owner and 
Provider for Procurement and InstallaƟon dated [date] between the Owner and Provider (the “Master 
Agreement”) and is subject to all provisions of the Master Agreement, which is incorporated by reference. 

1. Project Background.

2. Contract Times Commencement. The Contract Times will commence to run on the day that this
Task Order is fully executed.

3. Scope of Special Services. Provider shall perform the following Work: [if applicable, describe
planning work here.]

4. Goods. Provider shall deliver the following goods to the Point of DesƟnaƟon.

Good Type QuanƟty IdenƟfier 

5. Items to be furnished by the Owner, if applicable:

6. Required Shop Drawings and Samples:

7. Site descripƟon (if applicable):

8. Contract Price.

a. Owner shall pay Provider a Lump Sum of $[amount] for furnishing the Goods and Special
Services (other than any Unit Price Goods and Special Services) in accordance with the
Contract Documents. Such Lump Sum amount accounts for the following Owner-
accepted alternates: [idenƟfy accepted alternates, if any].

b. For all Unit Price Goods and Special Services furnished by Provider in accordance with the
Contract Documents, Owner shall pay Provider an amount equal to the sum of the
extended prices (established for each separately identified unit price item by multiplying
the unit price by the actual quantity of that item).

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 96 212



Unit Price Goods and Special Services 
Item 
No. Description Unit Estimated 

Quantity 
Unit 
Price 

Extended 
Price 

$ $

$ $

$ $

$ $

$ $
Total of all Extended Prices for Unit Price items (subject to final 
adjustment based on actual quantities) $ 

4.b.1 The extended prices set forth as of the Effective Date of this Task Order
for unit price items are based on estimated quantities. 

4.b.2 The estimated quantities of items of Unit Price Goods and Special
Services are not guaranteed and are solely for the purpose of determining 
an initial Contract Price. Payments to Provider for Unit Price Goods and 
Special Services will be based on actual quantities. 

4.b.3 Each unit price will be deemed to include an amount considered by
Provider to be adequate to cover Provider’s overhead and profit for each 
separately identified unit price item. 

4.b.4 Engineer will determine the actual quantities and classifications of unit
price items furnished by Provider. Engineer will review with Provider the 
Engineer’s preliminary determinations on such matters before rendering 
a written decision (by recommendation of an Application for Payment or 
otherwise). Engineer’s written decision will be final and binding upon 
Owner and Provider (except as modified by Engineer to reflect changed 
factual conditions or more accurate data), subject to the provisions of 
Article 11 of the General Conditions. 

4.b.5 The final adjustment of Contract Price with respect to Unit Price Goods
and Special Services will be set forth in a Change Order. 

c. Owner’s Contingency Allowance is stipulated as $[amount]. If no amount is stated, the
Owner’s Contingency Allowance is zero. Owner’s use of such allowance, including
resulting compensation of Owner, is governed by Paragraph 12.06 of the General
Conditions.

d. The Contract Price is $[amount]. Such Contract Price is comprised of the Lump Sum
amount (taking into account any accepted alternates), Unit Price Goods and Special
Services amount (if any) (subject to final adjustment), and Owner’s ConƟngency
Allowance (if any) (subject to final adjustment).

e. If Provider bases price on Bid: For furnishing the Goods and Special Services in
accordance with the Contract Documents, Owner shall pay Provider the prices stated in
Provider’s Bid, aƩached hereto as an exhibit, subject to final adjustments for Unit Price
Goods and Special Services and Owner’s ConƟngency Allowance, if any, and subject to

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 97 213



 

 

the following Owner-accepted alternates: [idenƟfy accepted alternates, if any]. 
 

9. Payment Terms.  
a. Provider may submit an ApplicaƟon for Payment requesƟng the stated percentages of 

Contract Price upon aƩainment of each of the following payment line items: 
 

Payment Line Item (Lump Sum) Percentage 
of Lump Sum 

1. [Completion of Special Services in accordance with Contract 
Documents] [10] 

2. [Receipt of Approval of Shop Drawings and Samples] [10] 

3. [Completion of acceptable factory testing (if any)] [5] 

4. [Delivery of Goods to Point of Destination in accordance with the 
[Contract Documents] [70] 

5. Final Payment: [Correction of non-conformities, provision of final 
Operations and Maintenance manuals, submittal of warranties and other 
final documentation required by the Contract Documents] 

[5] 

Contract Price (Lump Sum) 100 

 
b. For Unit Price Goods and Special Services, if any, or for payments owed to Provider as a 

result of authorizaƟons by Owner under the Owner’s ConƟngency Allowance (if any), 
Provider shall submit a separate ApplicaƟon for Payment, no more frequently than 
monthly, that states (1) the actual quanƟƟes of such Unit Price Goods and Special 
Services that have been furnished, and the applicable unit prices; and (2) the services or 
items performed or furnished under the Owner’s ConƟngency Allowance, and the 
amounts owed. If pracƟcal, and at Provider’s opƟon, Provider may apply for such unit 
price and Owner’s ConƟngency Allowance payments in a separate secƟon of an 
ApplicaƟon for Payment submiƩed under Paragraph 16.01.B. for lump-sum items. 
 

10. Shipping or Delivery Method:  
 

11. Point of DesƟnaƟon: [address] 
 

12. Offloading: [Y/N] 
 

13. Contract Times. This Task Order is effecƟve and, unless otherwise expressly stated herein, Work 
shall commence on the date it is signed by the Owner and Provider. The Contract Times for the 
Work are as follows: 
 

Milestone  Date or Days Notes 

Commencement Date   

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 98 214



 

 

Commence Special Services for Goods   

Submit Shop Drawings   

Deliver acceptable Goods to Point of 
Destination 

 Delivery may be made in the 15-
day period before delivery date 

Complete Special Services for Goods   

Readiness for Final Inspection and 
Acceptance of Goods and Special Services 

  

 

14. Key Personnel for this Task Order. The Owner is engaging the experƟse, experience, judgment 
and personal aƩenƟon of the Provider’s Key Personnel idenƟfied below.  
 

Key Personnel PosiƟon/Title Role on Project 

   

 

15. Applicable Specifications: [copy of list attached]. 

16. Drawings: (incorporated by reference): 

a. consisting of a cover sheet and sheets numbered [number] through [number], inclusive, 
with each sheet bearing the following general title: [Title]. 

b. [listed on the attached sheet index.] 

17. Storage Requirements and ResponsibiliƟes: [aƩach any requirements]  
 

18. Evidence of performance and payment bonds: (aƩach). [require if TO is over $100k] 
 

19. Evidence of executed Exhibit B: (aƩach). 
 

20. Evidence of insurance: (aƩach), including any addiƟonal insurance limits or types beyond the 
minimum required by the General CondiƟons. 

AddiƟonal Insureds:  

21. Warranty terms: To be provided at [Ɵme]. 
 

22. Task Order Assignment.  

a. Owner has the right to assign this Task Order, but only to a person or entity with sufficient 
apparent ability to satisfy all of Owner’s obligations under this Task Order, and Provider 
hereby consents to such assignment. Forms documenting the assignment of the Task Order, 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 99 215



 

 

and consent of Provider’s surety to the assignment, have been executed by Owner, Provider, 
and Provider’s surety, and are attached as exhibits to this Task Order. If assigned, the 
following provisions apply: 

1. The Task Order is initially executed in the name of the entity identified herein as Owner, 
and will be assigned by such Owner (as assignor) to a construction contractor 
(Contractor/Assignee) designated by such Owner. The assignment will occur on the 
effective date of the construction contract between such Owner (Project Owner) and 
the Contractor/Assignee, which is expected to occur on or about [insert date, or 
number of days from Task Order’s Effective Date]. Commencing on the date of 
acceptance of assignment by the Contractor/Assignee, all references in the Task Order 
and, as applicable to this Task Order, in the Master Agreement, to “Owner” shall mean 
the designated Contractor/Assignee. 

2. The assignment of this Task Order and applicable Master Agreement provisions relieves 
the assignor from all further obligations and liabilities under this Task Order. After 
assignment, Provider shall become a subcontractor or supplier to the 
Contractor/Assignee and, except as noted herein, all rights, duties, and obligations of 
Owner under the Task Order become the rights, duties, and obligations of the 
Contractor/Assignee. 

3. After assignment: 

a. The Drawings and Specifications, and any modifying Addenda provided pursuant to 
this Task Order will become “Contract Documents” under the construction 
contract. 

b. If the Drawings or Specifications, as “Contract Documents” under the construction 
contract, are duly modified under such construction contract, then Provider and 
Contractor/Assignee shall enter into a corresponding Change Order under the 
applicable provisions of the Master Agreement. 

c. The Drawings and Specifications may not be modified by Provider or 
Contractor/Assignee, singly or in tandem, except as such Drawings or 
Specifications, as “Contract Documents” under the construction contract, have 
been duly modified under such construction contract. 

d. All performance warranties, guarantees, and indemnifications required by the Task 
Order and, as applied to this Task Order, the Master Agreement, will continue to 
run for the benefit of assignor (Project Owner) and, in addition, for the benefit of 
the Contractor/Assignee. However, if assignor (Project Owner) and 
Contractor/Assignee make the same warranty or guarantee claim, then Provider 
shall only be liable once for such claim. Other than its remedies under such 
warranties, guarantees, and indemnifications, assignor will not retain direct rights 
under this Task Order, but will have rights and remedies as a party to the 
construction contract, whose scope of work will encompass the Drawings, 
Specifications, and modifying Addenda; provided, however, that any limitations on 
Provider’s liability in this Task Order and, as applied to this Task Order, the Master 
Agreement, will continue to bind the original Owner (assignor) after assignment. 

e. The Contractor/Assignee shall have all the rights of the Owner under the 
Performance Bond and Payment Bond provided pursuant to this Task Order, if any. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 100 216



 

 

f. Provider shall submit all Applications for Payment submitted pursuant to this Task 
Order directly to Contractor/Assignee. 

1) Contractor/Assignee shall review each Application for Payment submitted 
pursuant to this Task Order promptly, determine the amount that 
Contractor/Assignee approves for payment, and then include the amount 
approved in the next application for payment submitted to Project Owner (or 
Engineer) under the construction contract. 

2) Contractor/Assignee shall pay Provider within [number] days of receipt of 
payment from the Project Owner under the construction contract. 

3) After assignment, Engineer will review, approve, or deny the content of 
Applications for Payment under this Task Order only to the extent that 
Contractor/Assignee, as construction contractor, has incorporated such 
content into payment applications that Engineer reviews under the 
construction contract. 

g. The Contractor/Assignee shall have all the rights of the Owner under any pending 
Claim filed in connection with this Task Order by Owner. 

h. All Claims filed in connection with this Task Order and supporting documentation 
will be submitted directly by the claimant party (either Owner 
[Contractor/Assignee] or Provider) to the other party, without submittal to 
Engineer. 

1) The other party will render a response in writing within 30 days of receipt of 
the last submittal from claimant. 

2) If the other party does not render a written response to a Claim within 30 days 
after receipt of the last submittal of the claimant, the other party shall be 
deemed to have approved the Claim in its entirety. 

3) The other party’s written response to a Claim, or the approval of the Claim in 
its entirety as a function of failure to respond within 30 days, will be final and 
binding upon Owner and Provider 30 days after it is issued, unless within such 
30 days of issuance either Owner or Provider appeals the result by initiating 
the mediation of the Claim in accordance with the dispute resolution 
procedures set forth in Paragraph 13.02 of the General Conditions. 

4) Any Claim by Provider that Contractor/Assignee may choose to submit, 
present, or forward to Project Owner must be submitted to Owner within 
sufficient time for Contractor/Assignee to preserve its rights under the 
construction contract, notwithstanding any procedures or time limits in this 
Task Order or the Master Agreement. 

i. Provider’s recovery of additional cost, time, or both cost and time for any Claim 
filed in connection with this Task Order attributable to the Project Owner will be 
limited to the proportionate recovery by Contractor/Assignee against Project 
Owner for such Claim. Provider will cooperate and assist Contractor/Assignee in 
pursuing any Claim filed in connection with this Task Order by Contractor/Assignee 
against Project Owner on behalf of Provider, including the timely preparation and 
delivery of supporting documentation. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 101 217



 

 

j. If the pursuit of any claim by Contractor/Assignee against Project Owner on 
Provider’s behalf requires the expenditure by Contractor/Assignee of legal or 
consulting fees, or results in litigation, arbitration, or any dispute resolution 
procedures, Provider agrees to pay for a proportionate share of attorneys’ fees, 
consultant fees, and litigation, arbitration, and other resolution costs incurred by 
Contractor/Assignee in pursuing the claim on behalf of Provider, based upon the 
amount claimed by Provider as compared to the total value of the claim pursued 
by the Contractor/Assignee. 

k. All rights, duties, and obligations of Engineer to Contractor/Assignee and Provider 
under this Task Order and, as applicable to this Task Order, the Master Agreement, 
will cease. 

l. Subject to the foregoing provisions, all references in this Task Order to submitting 
items to Engineer, or to Engineer having tasks or obligations, will be read after such 
an assignment as requiring submittal to Contractor/Assignee, or as 
Contractor/Assignee having such tasks or obligations (which Contractor/Assignee 
may delegate when appropriate). 

m. If the Task Order includes an Owner’s Contingency Allowance, upon assignment, 
such allowance will be automatically reduced to the amount previously authorized 
by Owner (Project Owner), and cease to be operational. 

b. No other assignment by a party hereto of any rights under or interests in this Task Order and, 
as applicable to this Task Order, the Master Agreement, will be binding on another party 
hereto without the written consent of the party sought to be bound. Specifically, but without 
limitation, Task Order payments or other money that may become due, and Task Order 
payments or other money that are due, may not be assigned without such consent (except 
to the extent that the effect of this restriction may be limited by Laws and Regulations). 
Unless specifically stated to the contrary in any written consent to such an assignment, such 
an assignment will not release or discharge the assignor from any duty or responsibility under 
the Contract Documents. 

23. General CondiƟons. The parƟes acknowledge and agree that this Task Order is subject to, and 
each party is bound by, the General CondiƟons. 
 

24. Order of Precedence.  If a conflict, inconsistency or ambiguity arises in the Task Order 
interpretaƟon, this Task Order shall be interpreted in the following order of precedence: (a) the 
Master Agreement; (b) this Task Order.  
 

25. ExpiraƟon. ExpiraƟon or terminaƟon of this Task Order does not exƟnguish or prejudice the 
Owner’s right to enforce this Task Order with respect to any breach of a Provider warranty or any 
default or defect in Consultant performance that has not been cured. 
 

26. ModificaƟon. No provision of this Task Order may be modified except in wriƟng, signed by the 
Owner and Provider.  
 

 

 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 102 218



 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parƟes hereto have executed this Task Order as of the date last set forth 
below.  

 

Provider: 
 

  Owner: 

 
 

   

Signed:  Signed:  
Name:              
Title:                 

 Name:  
Title: 

 

Date:          Date:  
Address:           
                         

 Address:  

Phone/Email:   
                      

 Phone/Email:   

 

 

  

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 103 219



 

 

ATTACHMENT A -- ASSIGNMENT OF MASTER AGREEMENT, CONSENT TO ASSIGNMENT, AND 
ACCEPTANCE OF ASSIGNMENT 

This assignment will be effective on the effective date of the construction contract between Owner (as 
“Owner”) and Contractor/Assignee (as “Provider”). 

Task Order Number ___ and, to the extent directly applicable to Task Order Number _______, the Master 
Agreement between [insert name of original Owner] (“Owner”) and [insert name of Provider] 
(“Provider”) for Procurement and Installation (Master Agreement) are hereby assigned, transferred, and 
set over to Contractor/Assignee, as assignee, by Owner, as assignor. Upon assignment the 
Contractor/Assignee shall have the duties, rights, and obligations of Owner under the terms of Task Order 
Number ________ and the Master Agreement, and will be responsible to Owner under the construction 
contract for the performance of obligations by Provider, which will become a Subcontractor or Supplier 
to Contractor/Assignee. Owner, Provider, and Contractor/Assignee hereby acknowledge and agree to be 
bound by the terms and conditions of assignment set forth in Article 4of the Master Agreement. 

Assignment Made by Owner 
 

(typed or printed name of organiza on)
By:  Date:  

(individual’s signature) (date signed)
Name:  Title:  

(typed or printed) (typed or printed)
If Owner is a corpora on, a ach evidence of authority to sign. If Owner is a public body, a ach 
evidence of authority to sign and resolu on or other documents authorizing execu on of Owner-
Provider Agreement. 
 
Assignment Acknowledged and Accepted by Provider 
 

(typed or printed name of organiza on)
By:  Date:  

(individual’s signature) (date signed)
Name:  Title:  

(typed or printed) (typed or printed)
If Provider is a corpora on, a ach evidence of authority to sign. 
 
Assignment Accepted by Contractor/Assignee 
 

(typed or printed name of organiza on)
By:  Date:  

(individual’s signature) (date signed)
Name:  Title:  

(typed or printed) (typed or printed)
If Contractor/Assignee is a corpora on, a ach evidence of authority to sign. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 104 220



 

 

 

ATTACHMENT B - SURETY’S CONSENT TO ASSIGNMENT 

Task Order Number ___ and, to the extent directly applicable to Task Order Number _______, the Master 
Agreement between [insert name of original Owner] (“Owner”) and [insert name of Provider] 
(“Provider”) for Procurement and Installation (Master Agreement) may be assigned, transferred, and set 
over to [Name of Contractor/Assignee] (“Contractor/Assignee”), in accordance with Article 4 and 
Attachment A of Task Order Number _____. 

Surety further agrees that, upon assignment of the Master Agreement, the Contractor/Assignee shall have 
all the rights of the Owner under the Performance Bond and the Payment Bond, if any. 

Agreement to Assignment Acknowledged and Accepted by Surety 
 

(typed or printed name of organiza on)
By:  Date:  

(individual’s signature) (date signed)
Name:  Title:  

(typed or printed) (typed or printed)
A ach Power of A orney. 

 

 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 105 221



 

 

Exhibit A.2 

Procurement and Installa on Task Order Form 

This Task Order Number ____ (“Task Order”) is entered between the City of Dayton (“Owner”) and [name] 
(“Provider”). This Task Order is issued under the authority of the Master Agreement Between Owner and 
Provider For Procurement and InstallaƟon dated [date] between the Owner and Provider (the “Master 
Agreement”) and is subject to all provisions of the Master Agreement, which is incorporated by reference. 
Capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the meanings set forth in the Master Agreement. 

1. Project Background: 
 

2. Contract Times Commencement. The Contract Times will commence to run on the day that this 
Task Order is fully executed. 
 

3. Scope of Special Services. Provider shall perform the following Work: [if applicable, describe 
planning work here.] 
 

4. Goods. Provider shall deliver and install the following goods at the Site. 
 

Good Type Quan ty Iden fier 

   

 

5. Items to be furnished by Owner, if applicable: 
 

6. Required Shop Drawings and Samples: 
 

7. Site Descrip on: 
 

8. Contract Price.  
 

a. Guaranteed Maximum Price. The guaranteed maximum price payable to the Provider 
under this Task Order is $[amount] (“Contract Price”).  If the maximum compensaƟon is 
increased by amendment of this Task Order, the amendment must be fully effecƟve 
before Provider performs the work subject to the amendment.    
 

b. Fees. The Owner shall compensate Provider for the performance of Work on the basis of 
the following hourly rates:  

 
c. Unit prices.  

 
d. Reimbursable Expenses.  

 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 106 222



 

 

1    

2   

 Total   

 
9. Retainage Percentage: [no more than 5%] 

 
10. Payment Terms: Payments shall be requested and provided in accordance with the General 

CondiƟons. [add any other parƟcular payment related terms here. Special instrucƟons regarding 
payment? Payment method? Etc.] 
 

11. Shipping or Delivery Method:  
 

12. Installa on Scope:  
 

13. Commissioning Scope: 
 

14. Contract Times. This Task Order is effecƟve and, unless otherwise expressly stated herein, Work 
shall commence on the date it has been signed by the Owner and Provider. The Contract Times 
for the Work are as follows: 
 

Milestone  Date or Days Notes 

Commencement Date   

Commence Special Services for Goods   

Submit Shop Drawings   

Complete Special Services for Goods   

Readiness for Final Inspection and 
Acceptance of Goods and Special Services 

  

Substantial Completion    

Final Completion   

 

15. Key Personnel for this Task Order. The Owner is engaging the experƟse, experience, judgment 
and personal aƩenƟon of the Provider’s Key Personnel idenƟfied below.  
 

Key Personnel Posi on/Title Role on Project 

   

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 107 223



 

 

 
16. Evidence of performance and payment bonds: (aƩach). [require if TO is over $100k] 

 
17. Evidence of insurance: (aƩach), including any addiƟonal insurance limits or types beyond the 

minimum required by the General CondiƟons. 
 

Addi onal Insureds:  

18. Applicable Specifications: [copy of list attached]. 

19. Drawings: (incorporated by reference): 

a. consisting of a cover sheet and sheets numbered [number] through [number], inclusive, 
with each sheet bearing the following general title: [Title]. 

b. [listed on the attached sheet index.] 

20. Warranty terms: To be provided at [Ɵme]. 
 

21. The parƟes understand and agree that this Task Order is subject to prevailing wage laws. The 
Provider shall comply fully with the provisions of ORS 279C.800 through 279C.870. The current 
prevailing wage rates may be found here: hƩps://www.oregon.gov/boli/WHD/PWR/Pages/PWR-
Rate-PublicaƟons---2019.aspx. The rates are those in effect as of the effecƟve date of the Task 
Order. If both state and federal prevailing wage rates apply to the Work, Provider must pay all 
laborers, including those working on behalf of subcontractors, the higher of the applicable state 
or federal wage rate. If Provider is required to pay prevailing wages, Provider will ensure that its 
subcontractors also agree to do so in wriƟng.  If both state and federal wages apply to the Work, 
Provider will ensure that its subcontractors agree in wriƟng to pay the higher of the applicable 
state or federal wage rate. 
 

22. General Condi ons. The parƟes acknowledge and agree that this Task Order is subject to, and 
each party is bound by, the Procurement General CondiƟons and the InstallaƟon General 
CondiƟons. 

 
23. Order of Precedence.  If a conflict, inconsistency or ambiguity arises in the Task Order 

interpretaƟon, this Task Order shall be interpreted in the following order of precedence: (a) the 
Master Agreement; (b) this Task Order.  
 

24. Expira on. ExpiraƟon or terminaƟon of this Task Order does not exƟnguish or prejudice the 
Owner’s right to enforce this Task Order with respect to any breach of a Contractor’s warranty or 
any default or defect in Consultant’s performance that has not been cured. 
 

25. Modifica on. No provision of this Task Order may be modified except in a wriƟng signed by the 
Owner and Provider.  
 

 

 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 108 224



 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parƟes hereto have executed this Task Order as of the dates set forth below.  

 

Provider: 
 

  Owner 

 
 

   

Signed:  Signed:  
Name:              
Title:                 

 Name:  
Title: 

 

Date:          Date:  
Address:           
                         

 Address:  

Phone/Email:   
                      

 Phone/Email:   

 

 

 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 109 225



Exhibit C 

Application for Payment 

Owner: 
 

Application No:  

Provider: 
 

Application Date: 

Engineer:  
 

Application Period: From ___________ to  
_____________. 

Master Agreement and Effective Date: 
 

 

Task Order and Effective Date:   
 

1. Original Contract Price: $ _____________. 
 

2. Net Change by Change Orders and Amendments to date: $_________. 
 

3. Current Contract Price (and lines 1 and 2): $____________. 
 

4. Retainage (if applicable): $______________. 
 

5. Amount due this Application: $______________. 
 

6. Payment Milestone (if applicable): _____________________. 
 

7. Amount to finish Task Order, including retainage: (subtract line 3 and 5): $______________. 
 

 

Seller Certification: Provider certifies, to the best of its knowledge after due inquiry, that: 

1. All previous payments received from Buyer on account of Work done under the Master 
Agreement and the applicable Task Order have been applied on account to discharge Provider’s 
legitimate obligations incurred in connection with the Work covered by prior Applications for 
Payment. 

2. Title to all Work, materials and equipment incorporated in said Work, or otherwise listed in or 
covered by this Application for Payment, will pass to Owner in accordance with the terms of the 
Contract Documents free and clear of all liens, security interests, and encumbrances (except 
such as are covered by a bond acceptable to Owner indemnifying Owner against any such liens, 
security interest, or encumbrances). 

3. All the Work covered by this Application for Payment is in accordance with the Contract 
Documents and is not defective. 

Progress estimate attached: [ ] 

Supporting Documentation: [] 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 110 226



 

 

Provider: 
 

  City of Dayton 

 
 

   

Signed:  Signed:  

Name:              
Title:                 

 Name:  
Title: 

 

Date:          Date:  

Address:           
                         

 Address:  

Phone/Email:   
                      

 Phone/Email:   

 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 111 227



 

 

Exhibit D 

Statutorily Required Public Contrac ng Provisions  

Provider shall observe all applicable state and local laws pertaining to public contracts. Pursuant to ORS 
Chapters 279A, 279B and 279C, which require every public contract to contain certain provisions, and 
other state law, the following provisions shall be a part of this Master Agreement, as applicable. All defined 
terms in this Exhibit shall be interpreted in accordance with the Solicita on, Contract Documents, and the 
relevant statutory provisions. 

1. ORS 279A.110 (Non-discrimination Certification): Provider shall certify that Provider has not 
discriminated and will not discriminate against a subcontractor in the awarding of a subcontract 
because the subcontractor is a disadvantaged, minority owned, woman owned, veteran owned, or 
emerging small business enterprise (certified under ORS 200.055.), or a business that is owned or 
controlled by, or employs a disabled veteran (as defined in ORS 408.225). 

2. No person shall be subject to discrimination in the receipt of the benefits of any services or activities 
made possible by or resulting from this Agreement on the grounds of sex, race, color, creed, marital 
status, age, sexual orientation or national origin. Provider shall comply with provisions of Owner's 
Equal Opportunity Policy and comply with ORS Chapter 659 and ORS Chapter 659A relating to 
unlawful employment practices and discrimination by employers against any employee or applicant 
for employment because of race, religion, color, sex, national origin, marital status or age if the 
individual is 18 years of age or older.  Particular reference is made to ORS 659A.030, which states that 
it is unlawful employment practice for any employer, because of the race, religion, color, sex, national 
origin, marital status or age if the individual is 18 years or older or because of the race, religion, color, 
sex, national origin or age of any other person with whom the individual associates, or because of a 
juvenile record that has been expunged pursuant to ORS 419A.260 and ORS 419A.262 of any 
individual, or to refuse to hire or employ or to bar or discharge from employment such individual or 
to discriminate against such individual in compensation or in terms, conditions or privileges of 
employment.   Any violation of this provision shall be considered a material violation of the Agreement 
and shall be grounds for cancellation, termination, or suspension in whole or in part. 

3. Pursuant to ORS 279B.220 or 279C.505, as applicable, Provider shall make payment promptly, as due, 
to all persons supplying to the Provider labor or material for the performance of the work provided 
for in the Master Agreement or a particular Task Order; shall pay all contributions or amounts due the 
Industrial Accident Fund from the Provider or subcontractor incurred in the performance of the 
Master Agreement or a particular Task Order; not permit any lien or claim to be filed or prosecuted 
against the state or a county, school district, municipality, municipal corporation or subdivision 
thereof, on account of any labor or material furnished, and; pay to the Department of Revenue all 
sums withheld from employees under ORS 316.167. 
 

4. Pursuant to ORS 279B.225, If a Task Order requires the performance of lawn and landscape 
maintenance, Provider shall salvage, recycle, compost or mulch yard waste material at an approved 
site, if feasible and cost-effective. 
 

5. Pursuant to ORS 279B.230(1) or 279C.530(1), as applicable, Provider shall promptly, as due, make 
payment to any person, co-partnership, associa on or corpora on, furnishing medical, surgical and 
hospital care or other needed care and a en on, incident to sickness or injury, to the employees of 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 112 228



 

 

such Provider, of all sums which the Provider agrees to pay for such services and all monies and sums 
which the Provider collected or deducted from the wages of employees pursuant to any law, 
contract or agreement for the purpose of providing or paying for such service.  

6. Pursuant to ORS 279B.230(2) or 279C.530.(2), as applicable, all subject employers working under the 
Master Agreement or an applicable Task Order are either employers that will comply with ORS 
656.017 or employers that are exempt under ORS 656.126.  

7. Pursuant to ORS 279B.235(1) and 279B.020 and ORS 279C.520 and 279C.540 (Hours of Labor, 
Holidays, and Overtime): Except as otherwise provided in an applicable collective bargaining 
agreement with a labor organization, Provider shall not employ and shall require that its 
subcontractors not employ any person to perform construction work for more than ten hours in any 
one day, or 40 hours in any one week, except in cases of necessity, emergency, or where the public 
policy absolutely requires it, and in such cases, except in cases of contracts for personal services as 
defined in ORS 279A.055, the laborer shall be paid at least time and a half pay: 

i. For all overtime in excess of eight hours a day or 40 hours in any one week when the work 
week is five consecutive days, Monday through Friday; and  

ii. For all overtime in excess of ten hours a day or 40 hours in any one week when the work week 
is four consecutive days, Monday through Friday; and 

iii. For work performed on Saturday and on any legal holiday specified in any applicable collective 
bargaining agreement or ORS 279C.540(1)(b). 

iv. The requirement to pay at least time and a half for all overtime worked in excess of 40 hours 
in any one week shall not apply to individuals who are excluded under ORS 653.010 to 653.261 
or under 29 U.S.C. Section 201 to 209 from receiving overtime. 

v. Provider shall and shall require its subcontractors to give notice in writing to their employees 
who work under this Master Agreement or a Task Order, either at the time of hire or before 
commencement of Work on a particular Task Order, or by posting a notice in a location 
frequented by employees, of the number of hours per day and days per week that the 
employees may be required to work. 

8. Environmental Laws. Provider shall comply with all applicable standards, orders, or requirements 
issued under section 306 of the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. 1857(h)), section 508 of the Clean Water Act 
(33 U.S.C. 1368), Executive Order 11738, and Environmental Protection Agency regulations (40 CFR 
part 15). 

9. Oregon Tax Law Compliance: Provider must, throughout the duration of this Master Agreement and 
any extensions, comply with all tax laws of this state and all applicable tax laws of any political 
subdivision of this state. Provider (to the best of Provider’s knowledge, after due inquiry), for a period 
of no fewer than six calendar years preceding the date of this Master Agreement, represents and 
warrants that it has faithfully has complied with, and will continue to comply with during the term of 
this Master Agreement: (A) all tax laws of this state, including but not limited to ORS 305.620 and ORS 
chapters 316, 317, and 318; (B) any tax provisions imposed by a political subdivision of this state that 
applied to Provider, to Provider’s property, operations, receipts, or income, or to Provider’s 
performance of or compensation for any work performed by Provider; (C) any tax provisions imposed 
by a political subdivision of this state that applied to Provider, or to goods, services, or property, 
whether tangible or intangible, provided by Provider; and (D) any rules, regulations, charter 
provisions, or ordinances that implemented or enforced any of the foregoing tax laws or provisions. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 113 229



 

 

Failure to comply with this section is a default for which the Owner may terminate the Master 
Agreement and seek damages and other relief available under the terms of the Master Agreement or 
under applicable law. 

10. Foreign Contractor. If Provider is not domiciled in or registered to do business in the state of Oregon, 
Provider shall promptly provide to the Oregon Department of Revenue and the Secretary of State 
Corporation Division all information required by those agencies relative to this Master Agreement. 
Provider shall demonstrate its legal capacity to perform these services in the state of Oregon prior to 
entering into this Master Agreement. 

11. Assignment or Transfer Restricted. Unless otherwise provided in the Master Agreement, the Provider 
shall not assign, sell, dispose of, or transfer rights, or delegate duties under the Master Agreement or 
a particular Task Order, either in whole or in part, without the Owner’s prior written consent. Unless 
otherwise agreed by the Owner in writing, such consent shall not relieve the Provider of any 
obligations under the Master Agreement or a particular Task Order. Any assignee or transferee shall 
be considered the agent of the Provider and be bound to abide by all provisions of the Master 
Agreement or a particular Task Order. If the Owner consents in writing to an assignment, sale, disposal 
or transfer of the Provider's rights or delegation of Provider's duties, the Provider and its surety, if 
any, shall remain liable to the Owner for complete performance of the Master Agreement and all fully 
executed Task Orders as if no such assignment, sale, disposal, transfer or delegation had occurred 
unless the Owner otherwise agrees in writing. 

 

For all fully executed Procurement and Installation Task Orders: 

1. Pursuant to ORS 279C.505(2), Provider shall demonstrate that an employee drug-testing program is 
in place. Provider will require each subcontractor providing labor for the Project to: 

i. Demonstrate to the Provider that it has a qualifying employee drug-testing program for the 
subcontractor's subject employees, and represent and warrant to the Provider that the 
qualifying employee drug-testing program is in place at the time of subcontract execution and 
will continue in full force and effect for the duration of the subcontract; or 

ii. Require that the subcontractor's subject employees participate in the Provider's qualifying 
employee drug-testing program for the duration of the subcontract. 

2. Pursuant to ORS 279C.510, if a Task Order includes demolition work, Provider shall salvage or recycle 
construction and demolition debris, if feasible and cost-effective. All excavated PCC and AC debris 
from this Project shall be sorted, separated, and taken to a facility or site so that the material may be 
recycled or re-used in the future as appropriate. All costs associated with Project material recycling 
shall be incidental to the Project, and no additional payment will be made. If a Task Order includes 
lawn or landscape maintenance, the Provider shall compost or mulch yard waste material at an 
approved site, if feasible and cost-effective 

3. Pursuant to ORS 279C.515(1), if Provider fails, neglects, or refuses to make prompt payment of any 
Claim for labor or services furnished to the Provider or a subcontractor by any person in connection 
with this Master Agreement or a particular Task Order as such Claim becomes due, the Owner may 
pay such Claim to the person furnishing the labor or services and charge the amount of the payment 
against funds due or to become due the Provider by reason of this Master Agreement or a particular 
Task Order. The payment of a Claim in the manner authorized in this Section shall not relieve the 
Provider or the Provider's surety from any obligation with respect to any unpaid Claims.  

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 114 230



 

 

4. Pursuant to ORS 279C.515(2), if Provider or a first-tier subcontractor fails, neglects or refuses to make 
payment to a person furnishing labor or materials in connection with the Master Agreement or a 
particular Task Order within 30 days after receipt of payment from the Owner or a contractor, the 
Provider or first-tier subcontractor shall owe the person the amount due plus interest charges 
commencing at the end of the 10-day period that payment is due under ORS 279C.580(4) and ending 
upon final payment, unless payment is subject to a good faith dispute as defined in ORS 279C.580.  
The rate of interest charged to the Provider or first-tier subcontractor on the amount due shall equal 
three times the discount rate on 90-day commercial paper in effect at the Federal Reserve Bank in the 
Federal Reserve district that includes Oregon on the date that is 30 days after the date when payment 
was received from the Owner or from the Provider, but the rate of interest may not exceed 30 
percent.  The amount of interest may not be waived.   

5. Pursuant to ORS 279C.515(3), if Provider or a subcontractor fails, neglects or refuses to make payment 
to a person furnishing labor or materials in connection with the Master Agreement or a particular 
Task Order, the person may file a complaint with the Construction Contractors Board, unless payment 
is subject to a good faith dispute as defined in ORS 279C.580. 

6. Pursuant to ORS 279C.525 (Notice of Environmental Regulations): State law requires that solicitation 
documents for the Master Agreement make specific reference to federal, state, and local agencies 
that have enacted ordinances, rules, or regulations dealing with the prevention of environmental 
pollution or the preservation of natural resources that may affect the performance of this Master 
Agreement. These agencies include, but are not limited to: 

i. Federal Agencies: Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Soil and Water Conservation 
Service, Coast Guard, Department of Defense, Army Corps of Engineers, Department of 
Emergency, Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, Environmental Protection Agency, 
Department of Health and Human Services, Department of Housing and Urban Development, 
Solar Energy and Energy Conservation Bank, Department of Interior, Bureau of Land 
Management, Bureau of Indian Affairs, Bureau of Mines, Bureau of Reclamation, Geological 
Survey, Minerals Management Service, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Department of Labor, 
Mine Safety and Health Administration, Occupational Safety and Health Administration, 
Department of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration, and Water Resources 
Council. 

ii. State Agencies: Department of Administrative Services, Department of Agriculture, Soil and 
Water Conservation Commission, Columbia River Gorge Commission, Department of Energy, 
Department of Environmental Quality, Department of Fish and Wildlife, Department of 
Forestry, Department of Geology and Mineral Industries, Department of Human Resources, 
Department of Consumer and Business Services, Land Conservation and Development 
Commission, Department of Parks and Recreation, Division of State Lands, and Department of 
Water Resources. 

iii. Local Agencies: City councils, county courts, county boards of commissioners, metropolitan 
service district councils, design commissions, historic preservation commissions, planning 
commissions, development review commissions, special district boards of directors, and other 
and special governmental agencies such as Tri-Met, urban renewal agencies, and Port districts.  

iv. Tribal Governments. 

7. Pursuant to ORS 279C.545 (Time Limitations on Claims for Overtime): Construction workers employed 
by the Provider or its subcontractor shall be foreclosed from the right to collect for any overtime 
under this Master Agreement or a particular Task Order unless a claim for payment is filed with the 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 115 231



 

 

Provider or subcontractor within 90 days from the completion of the particular Task Order, providing 
the Provider or subcontractor has: 

i. Caused a circular clearly printed in blackface pica type and containing a copy of this Section to be 
posted in a prominent place alongside the door of the timekeeper's office or in a similar place 
which is readily available and freely visible to any or all workers employed on the Work; and 

ii. Maintained such circular continuously posted from the inception to the completion of the Task 
Order on which workers are or have been employed. 

8. Provider is advised of the statutory Retainage requirements in ORS 279C.550 to 570.  

i. Owner may reserve as retainage from any progress payment an amount not to exceed five 
percent of the payment.  As Work progresses, Owner may reduce the amount of the retainage 
and may eliminate retainage on any remaining monthly Task Order payments after 50 percent of 
the Work under the Task Order is completed if, in the Owner's opinion, such Work is progressing 
satisfactorily.  Elimination or reduction of retainage shall be allowed only upon written application 
by the Provider, which application shall include written approval of Provider's surety; except that 
when the Work is 97-1/2 percent completed the Owner may, at its discretion and without 
application by the Provider, reduce the retained amount to 100 percent of the value of the Work 
remaining to be done.  Upon receipt of written application by the Provider, Owner shall respond 
in writing within a reasonable time. 

ii. In accordance with the provisions of ORS 279C.560 and related Oregon administrative rules, 
Provider may request in writing: 

1. to be paid amounts which would otherwise have been retained from progress payments 
where Provider has deposited acceptable bonds and securities of equal value with Owner or 
in an escrow account, satisfactory to Owner, with an approved bank or trust company to be 
held in lieu of the cash retainage for the benefit of Owner; 

2. that retainage be deposited in an interest-bearing account, in a bank, savings bank, trust 
company or savings association for the benefit of Owner, with earnings from such account 
accruing to the Provider; or 

3. that the Owner allow Provider to deposit a surety bond for the benefit of Owner, in a form 
acceptable to Owner, in lieu of all or a portion of funds retained, or to be retained.  Such 
bond and any proceeds therefrom shall be made subject to all claims and liens in the manner 
and priority as set forth for retainage under ORS 279C.550 to ORS 279C.570 

iii. Where the Owner has agreed to the Provider's election of option (1) or (2), Owner may recover 
from Provider any additional costs incurred through such election by reducing Provider's final 
payment.  Where the Owner has agreed to Provider's election of option (3), Provider shall accept 
like bonds from subcontractors and suppliers on the Project. 

iv. The retainage held by Owner shall be included in and paid to the Provider as part of the final 
payment of each Contract Price.  The Owner shall pay to Provider interest at the rate of one and 
one-half percent per month on the final payment due Provider, interest to commence 30 days 
after the Work under the applicable Task Order has been completed and accepted and to run until 
the date when final payment is tendered to Provider.  The Provider shall notify Owner in writing 
when the Provider considers the Work complete and Owner shall, within 15 days after receiving 
the written notice, either accept the Work or notify the Provider of Work yet to be performed on 
the applicable Task Order.  If Owner does not within the time allowed notify the Provider of Work 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 116 232



 

 

yet to be performed to fulfill contractual obligations, the interest provided by this subsection shall 
commence to run 30 days after the end of the 15-day period. 

v. In accordance with the provisions of ORS 279C.560, Owner shall reduce the amount of the 
retainage if the Provider notifies the controller of the Owner that the Provider has deposited in a 
bank or trust company, in a manner authorized by the Owner's Authorized Representative, bonds 
and securities of equal value of a kind approved by the Owner's Authorized Representative. 

9. Provider is advised of the prompt-payment requirements in ORS 279C. 570. 

10. Pursuant to ORS 279C.580(3) (Prompt Payment of First-Tier Subcontractors): Provider shall include in 
each subcontract for property or services with a first-tier subcontractor a clause that obligates the 
Provider to pay the first-tier subcontractor for satisfactory performance under its subcontract within 
ten days out of such amounts as are paid to the Provider by the Owner. Provider shall also include in 
each subcontract a clause that states that if the Provider fails to pay any claim for materials or labor 
furnished under a particular Task Order within 30 days after being paid by Owner, interest shall be 
due on such claim as specified in ORS 279C.515(2) at the end of the ten-day period that payment is 
due under ORS 279C.580(3). Provider shall require each first-tier subcontractor to include a payment 
clause and interest clause conforming to the requirements of ORS 279C.580 in each of its 
subcontracts, and to require each of its subcontractors to include a similar clause in each contract 
with a lower-tiered subcontractor or supplier. 

11. Pursuant to ORS 279C.580(4), Provider shall include in each of its subcontracts for a public 
improvement, for the purpose of performance of such contract condition, a provision requiring the 
subcontractor to include a payment clause and an interest penalty clause conforming to the standards 
of ORS 279C.580 (B) (4) in each of its subcontracts and to require each of its subcontractors to include 
such clauses in their subcontracts with each lower-tier subcontractor or supplier. 

12. Provider is advised of the rights of action and procedures on payment bonds and public works bonds 
under ORS 279C.600-.625. 

13. Pursuant to ORS 279C.800 to 279C.870 (Payment of Prevailing Wage Required): 

i. The hourly rate of wage to be paid by Provider or any subcontractor to workers in each trade or 
occupation required for the public works employed in the performance of this Master Agreement 
and each fully executed Procurement and Installation Task Order shall not be less than the 
specified minimum rate of wage in accordance with ORS 279C.838 and ORS 279C.840 for each 
trade or occupation as defined by the Commissioner of the Oregon Bureau of Labor and Industries 
in the applicable publication entitled Definitions of Covered Occupations for Public Works 
Contracts in Oregon available at https://www.oregon.gov/boli/employers/pages/prevailing-
wage-rates.aspx.  

ii. Each Procurement and Installation Task Order is subject to the prevailing wage rates published as 
specified in the BOLI publication titled “Prevailing Wage Rates for Public Works Contracts in 
Oregon,” including any applicable amendments in effect at the time this Master Agreement is first 
advertised for bid, which are hereby incorporated into this Master Agreement by this reference. 
The applicable rates for this Project are those published [January 1, 2025].  

iii. Provider and all subcontractors shall keep the prevailing wage rates for the Project posted in a 
conspicuous and accessible place in or about the Project. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 117 233



 

 

iv. The Owner shall pay a fee to the Commissioner of the Oregon Bureau of Labor and Industries as 
provided in ORS 279C.825. The fee shall be paid to the Commissioner under the administrative 
rule of the Commissioner. 

v. If Provider or any subcontractor also provides for or contributes to a health and welfare plan or a 
pension plan, or both, for its employees on the Project, it shall post notice describing such plans 
in a conspicuous and accessible place in or about the Project. The notice shall contain information 
on how and where to make claims and where to obtain future information. 

vi. If the Master Agreement utilizes federal funds, the higher of Oregon or federal prevailing wage 
shall apply, and it shall be the Provider’s responsibility to make that determination. 

14. Pursuant to ORS 279C.830(2), on public works contracts, Provider shall have, and ensure that its 
subcontractors have, a public works bond filed with the Construction Contractors Board before 
starting work on an applicable Task Order, unless the Provider or subcontractor are exempt under 
ORS 279C.836. 

15. ORS 279C.845 (Prevailing Wage Certification; Additional Retainage): 

i. Provider and every subcontractor shall file certified statements with Owner in writing in the form 
prescribed by the Commissioner of the Bureau of Labor and Industries, certifying the hourly rate 
of wage paid each worker whom Provider or subcontractor has employed upon such public work, 
and further certifying that no worker employed upon such public work has been paid less than 
the prevailing rate of wage or less than the minimum hourly rate of wage specified in the Contract 
Documents, which certificate and statement shall be verified by the oath of Provider or Provider's 
surety or subcontractor or subcontractor's surety that Provider and any subcontractor has read 
such statement and certificate and knows the contents thereof, and that the same is true to 
Provider or subcontractor's knowledge. The certified statements shall set out accurately and 
completely the payroll records for the prior week including the name and address of each worker, 
the worker's correct classification, rate of pay, daily and weekly number of hours worked, 
deductions made, and actual wages paid. 

ii. The certified statement shall be delivered or mailed by Provider or subcontractor to Owner. 
Certified statements for each week during which the Provider or subcontractor employs a worker 
upon the public work shall be submitted once a month, by the fifth business day of the following 
month. Information submitted on certified statements may be used only to ensure compliance 
with the provisions of ORS 279C.800 to 279C.870. Notwithstanding any other provision of the 
Contract Documents and in addition to any other retainage required under this Contract 
Documents, the Owner shall retain 25% of any amount earned by the Provider until the Provider 
has filed the certified statements with the Owner as required by this Section. The Owner will pay 
the retainage required under this Section within 14 days after Provider files the certified 
statements required by this Section. 

iii. Provider and each subcontractor shall preserve the certified statements for a period of three years 
from the date of completion of the applicable Task Order. 

16. ORS 671.560, 701.026 (Landscape/Construction Contractors License Required): If Provider is 
performing work as a landscape contractor as defined in ORS 671.520(2), Provider must have a 
current, valid landscape contractor's license issued under ORS 671.560. If Provider is performing 
work as a contractor as defined in ORS 701.005(2), Provider must have a current, valid construction 
contractor's license issued under ORS 701.026. Provider shall further certify that all subcontractors 
performing Work described in ORS 701.005(2) are registered with the Construction Contractors 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 118 234



 

 

Board or licensed by the State Landscaping Contractor's Board as required by the above-noted 
statutes before they commence Work under an applicable Task Order. Provider shall maintain in 
effect all licenses, permits, and certifications required for the performance of the Work. Provider 
shall notify Owner immediately if any license, permit, or certification required for performance of an 
applicable Task Order shall cease to be in effect for any reason. 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 119 235



 

  

APPENDIX A.2 
 

SYSTEM INTEGRATOR MASTER SERVICES CONTRACT 
 

  

Appendix - p. 120 236



CITY OF DAYTON 

SYSTEM INTEGRATOR OF RECORD, MASTER SERVICES CONTRACT 

This Master Services Contract (this “Contract”) is by and between City of Dayton (“City”) and 
____________ (“System Integrator of Record”) for the installation and upgrade of control and telemetry 
systems, performance of system integration and programming services as required to meet the City’s 
public utility needs, as defined in Exhibit A – Scope of Work, including but not limited to systems and 
facilities described in Appendix B of the RFP.  

A. RECITALS

City solicited proposals for a System Integrator of Record (hereafter also referenced as “IOR”) from 
qualified firms, to provide control and telemetry system installation and upgrades, system integration and 
programming services through a formal competitive proposal process. 

Whereas, ____________ submitted its proposal, having examined the Request for Proposals, and was 
chosen as the most highly qualified proposer, best suited to meet the City’s needs pursuant to the RFP 
criteria. 

B. CONTRACT EXHIBITS

The following exhibits are hereby incorporated by reference into this Contract: 

Exhibit A – Scope of Work 
Exhibit A-1 – Service Level Agreement  
Exhibit B – Oregon Public Contracting Code Requirements  
Exhibit C – Request for Proposal for System Integrator of Record  
Exhibit D – Selected System Integrator of Record’s Proposal 
Exhibit E – Selected System Integrator of Record’s Fee Schedule 

In the event of a conflict between this Contract and its exhibits, the terms of this Contract shall prevail, 
followed by Exhibit B, then Exhibits A, C, D, and E in that order. 

C. AGREEMENT

1. Term

The initial term of this Contract shall be for a five (5) year term from the date of its execution
(“Effective Date”), unless amended or sooner terminated under the provisions of this Contract.
The date of execution shall be the date on which the City signs this Contract as noted on the
signature page herein.  At the City’s sole discretion, the Contract term may be extended for up to
two (2) additional 5-year periods of time upon execution of an amendment to this Contract
entered into by the parties.  The City may elect in its sole discretion to extend the Contract terms
for shorter periods, provided the total term of this Contract shall not exceed fifteen (15) years.
Such extension(s) will consider whether updates are required to IOR’s fee schedule attached as
Exhibit E to this Contract.

2. Scope of Work

IOR shall provide all services and deliver all materials, products, deliverables and equipment (the
“Services”) as specified in the attached Exhibits, which are hereby incorporated into this Contract
by this reference, and as may be described in Task Orders issued under this Contract.

2.1  Key Positions and Personnel.  For the period of performance under this Contract, the 
parties have identified Key Positions and Key Personnel as set forth in the table below, 
along with the percentage of their time to be allocated to the City’s Project: 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 121 237



 

 

 
 

Name Title/Role % of Time Company 
    
    
    
    
    

 
 

2.2 Substitution of Key Personnel.  IOR shall make no substitutions of Key Personnel unless 
the substitution is necessitated by law, illness, death, resignation, or termination of 
employment. IOR shall notify the City within ten (10) calendar days after the occurrence 
of any of these events.   

 
Any substitutions or replacements of Key Personnel require the written approval of the 
City. IOR shall provide the City with the maximum possible period of notice of 
substitution or replacement of Key Personnel in order to allow for background screening, 
fingerprint checks, and other investigation as may be required in Section 2.2 below. 

 
For any proposed substitute or replacement Key Personnel, IOR shall provide the 
following information to the City: a detailed explanation of the circumstances 
necessitating the proposed substitution or replacement, a complete resume for the 
proposed substitute(s), and any additional information requested by the City. Proposed 
substitutes or replacements should have qualifications comparable to or better than 
those of the persons being replaced. No change in Contract prices may occur as a result 
of substitution or replacement of Key Personnel. 

 
2.3  Security Requirements for Personnel.  If required by the City, IOR shall conduct a 

criminal history/records check of all personnel that will have access to City information, 
systems, or payments and ensure ongoing security requirements for personnel are 
maintained.   

 
3. Compensation 
 

3.1 Compensation.  IOR will be paid by City on a time and materials basis, for approved 
Services actually completed by IOR, accepted by the City and invoiced as described in 
this section. 
3.1.1 Payments shall be made to the IOR based on the fee schedule provided by the 

IOR defined in Exhibit E. 
3.1.2 IOR shall complete its scope of work Services as defined in Exhibit A and in Task 

Orders to be issued by the City. 
 
3.2 Invoices.  Payments shall be based upon monthly invoices which IOR shall submit to the 

City, detailing the previous months’ fees, costs and percentage of the Services  
completed at that time.  Upon request, IOR will provide the City representative with 
documents and records evidencing the progress made on the project to date.  IOR shall 
send invoices to City’s representative at City’s address set forth in Section 7  In the event 
of non-payment due to a fee dispute between the parties, IOR shall continue to provide 
Services to City. 

 
3.3 Reimbursable Expenses.  Reimbursable expenses must be preapproved in writing by the 

City and shall be itemized and include expenses reasonably incurred in the interest of the 
project for:  1) Reproductions, presentations and work session handouts or other 
materials;  2) Postage and handling of documents;  3) Authorized travel expenses; and  
4) Expense of overtime work requiring higher than regular rates, if authorized by City. 

 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 122 238



 

 

3.4 The City shall not pay compensation for any portion of the Services not performed.  
Payment shall not be considered acceptance or approval of any Services or waiver of 
any defects therein. The compensation contemplated in this section shall constitute full 
and complete payment for said Services.  

 
3.5 IOR must promptly pay all sums due to subcontractors for services and reimbursable 

expenses after receiving payment for those services from City. 
 
4. Firm Offer Established; Nonexclusive Contract.  
 

4.1   This Contract constitutes a firm offer by IOR regardless of whether any Task Order for 
Services is executed.  This Contract is enforceable as a firm offer pursuant to ORS 
279B.140 for the Contract term specified in Section 1, and all pricing in Exhibit E is valid 
until the Contract expires or is terminated, unless the pricing is changed according to 
Section 1.  

 
4.2 This Contract is not exclusive.  The City retains the right to contract for Services through 

any selection process authorized by law, or to perform the Services itself.  The City does 
guarantee that any specific number of Task Orders will be entered into or that any 
specific amount of Services will be required. 

 
5. Inspection and Acceptance of Deliverables.  
  
 Any deliverables, hardware, products, equipment or Services (collectively “Deliverables”) to be 

provided by IOR under this Contract shall be subject to inspection and test by the City at times 
and place determined by the City. If the City finds any Deliverable to be incomplete or not in 
compliance with the applicable specifications or requirements, the City may reject the Deliverable 
and require IOR to either correct the Deliverable without charge or deliver the Deliverable at a 
reduced price, whichever is equitable under the circumstances. If IOR is unable or refuses to cure 
any defects in the Deliverable within a time deemed reasonable by the City, the City may reject 
the Deliverable and terminate this Contract in whole or in part. 

 
6. Contractor Is an Independent Contractor 
 
 IOR is an independent contractor for all purposes and shall be entitled to no compensation other 

than the compensation for Services provided for under this Contract.  While City reserves the 
right to set the schedule and evaluate the quality of IOR’s completed work, City cannot and will 
not control the means, methods and manner of IOR’s performance.  IOR is responsible for 
determining the appropriate means, methods and manner of performing Services.  IOR is 
responsible for all federal and state taxes applicable to compensation and payment paid to IOR 
under the Contract and will not have any amounts withheld by City to cover IOR’s tax obligations.  
IOR is not eligible for any City fringe benefit plans.   

 
7. Notices 
 
 All notices provided for hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to be duly served on 

the date of delivery if delivered in person, when receipt of transmission is generated by the 
transmitting facsimile machine if delivered by facsimile transmission, on the day after deposit if 
delivered by overnight courier, or three days after deposit if delivered by placing in the U.S. mail, 
first-class, postage prepaid.  Any notice delivered by facsimile transmission shall be followed by a 
hard copy.  All notices shall be addressed as follows: 

 
City: 

Don Cutler, Public Works Supervisor 
City of Dayton 
PO Box 339 
416 Ferry Street 
Dayton, OR 97114-0339 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 123 239



 

 

 
System Integrator of Record (IOR): 

___________ (name & title) 
___________ (company)  
___________ (address)  

 
8. Indemnification 
 

8.1   IOR shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City, its directors, officers, elected and 
appointed officials, agents, and employees, from all claims, demands, suits, and actions 
for all losses, damages, liabilities, costs and expenses (including all attorneys’ fees and 
costs), resulting from or arising out of the actions, errors, or omissions of IOR or its 
officers, employees, subcontractors, or agents under this Contract. 

 
8.2  Infringement Liability. IOR shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the City, its 

directors, officers, elected and appointed officials, employees, and agents from and 
against any and all claims, demands, suits, and actions for any damages, liabilities, 
losses, costs, and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees, whether or not at trial 
and/or on appeal), arising out of or in connection with any actual or alleged 
misappropriation, violation, or infringement of any proprietary right, whether arising from 
copyright, patent, trademark, trade secret or any other intellectual property right of any 
person whosoever.  The City agrees to notify IOR of the claim and gives IOR sole control 
of the defense of the claim and negotiations for its settlement or compromise. 

 
8.3  The obligations of the indemnifications extended by IOR to the City shall survive the 

termination or expiration of this Agreement. 
  
 
9. Insurance Requirements 
 
 9.1 During the term of this Contract, IOR shall maintain, at its own expense, the following 

types of insurance in the following amounts:  
 

a. Comprehensive general liability insurance on Insurance Services Office (ISO) 
occurrence form CG 00 01, including coverage for premises operations, 
independent contractors, protected products, completed operations, contractual 
liability, personal injury, and broad form for property damage (including coverage 
for explosion, collapse, and underground hazards): 

 
$2,000,000 – each occurrence (bodily injury) 
$4,000,000 – general aggregate 
$1,000,000 – property damage, contractual, etc. 
$2,000,000 – umbrella liability coverage 

 
Coverage shall also include contractual liability coverage for the indemnity 
provided under this Contract.  (Proof of coverage will be attached to this 
Contract). 

 
b. Workers’ Compensation and employer’s liability insurance per ORS Chapter 656.  

The employer’s liability limit shall not be less than $1,000,000 per occurrence.  
(Proof of coverage will be attached to this Contract). 

 
c. Professional Liability (Errors and Omissions) insurance covering IOR’s liability 

arising out of negligent acts, errors or omissions in its performance of work or 
Services under this Contract.  Such policy will have a combined single limit of not 
less than $2,000,000 per each claim, incident or occurrence.  Such policy will be 
on a claims made basis and will have an extended claims reporting period of six 
(6) years after final completion of Services.  (Proof of coverage will be attached 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 124 240



 

 

to this Contract). 
 
d. Technology Errors and Omissions, including  Cyber Liability Insurance Coverage. 

IOR shall maintain coverage that shall be sufficiently broad to respond to the 
duties and obligations as is undertaken by IOR in this Contract and shall include, 
but not be limited to, claims involving infringement of intellectual property, 
including but not limited to infringement of copyright, trademark, trade dress, 
invasion of privacy violations, information theft, damage to or destruction of 
electronic information, release of private information, alteration of electronic 
information, extortion and network security. The policy shall provide coverage for 
breach response costs as well as regulatory fines and penalties, as well as credit 
monitoring expenses with limits sufficient to respond to these obligations. Limits 
shall not be less than specified below: 

 
 Five million dollars ($5,000,000) Per Occurrence/five million dollars ($5,000,000) 

General Aggregate 
 
e. Automobile Liability insurance. The policy shall cover bodily injury and property 

damage coverage for any owned, hired, and non-owned vehicles used in the 
performance of this Contract. Automobile Liability coverage shall be written in an 
amount not less than $2,000,000 combined single limit.   

 
e. The limits required in this Section 9.1 may be met with a combination of 

underlying and umbrella coverage.   
 
 9.2 If any of the above required insurance is arranged on a “claims made” basis, “tail” 

coverage will be required at final completion or termination of this Contract for a duration 
of two (2) years. 

 
 9.3 Policies shall provide that City, its officers, representatives, employees, and agents 

(including the City’s engineer of record or contract City engineer) will be included as an 
additional insured with respect to the coverages required in Section 9.1(a) and a waiver 
of subrogation against them shall be obtained for all coverages. 

 
 9.4 All coverages under Section 9.1 shall be primary over any insurance City may carry on its 

own. 
 

9.5 All policies of insurance shall be issued by duly licensed insurers with a rating of not less 
than A-VI and that are qualified to do business in the State of Oregon. 

 
 9.6 IOR shall furnish City with certificates of insurance evidencing all required coverages 

prior to commencing any work or Services under this Contract.  If requested by City, IOR 
shall furnish City with executed copies of such policies of insurance.  IOR shall furnish 
City with at least 30 days’ written notice of cancellation of, or any modification to, the 
required insurance coverages.  Failure to maintain any required insurance coverages in 
the minimum required amounts shall constitute a material breach of this Contract and 
shall be grounds for immediate termination of this Contract. 

 
10. Workers’ Compensation 
 
 10.1 IOR, its subcontractors, if any, and all employers working under this Contract are subject 

employers under the Oregon Workers’ Compensation Law and shall comply with ORS 
656.017, which requires them to provide workers’ compensation coverage for all subject 
workers. 

 
 10.2 IOR warrants that all persons engaged in Contract work and subject to the Oregon 

Workers’ Compensation Law are covered by a workers’ compensation plan or insurance 
policy that fully complies with Oregon law.  IOR shall indemnify City for any liability 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 125 241



 

 

incurred by City as a result of IOR’s breach of the warranty under this section. 
 
11. Hours of Employment; Prevailing Wage 
 
 IOR shall comply with all applicable state and federal laws regarding employment.   
 

The parties understand and agree that this Contract is subject to prevailing wage laws. The IOR 
shall comply fully with the provisions of ORS 279C.800 through 279C.870. The current prevailing 
wage rates may be found here: https://www.oregon.gov/boli/WHD/PWR/Pages/PWR-Rate-
Publications---2019.aspx. If both state and federal prevailing wage rates apply to the Services, 
IOR must pay all laborers, including those working on behalf of subcontractors, the higher of the 
applicable state or federal wage rate. If IOR is required to pay prevailing wages, IOR will ensure 
that its subcontractors also agree to do so in writing.  If both state and federal wages apply to the 
Services, IOR will ensure that its subcontractors agree in writing to pay the higher of the 
applicable state or federal wage rate. 

 
12. Assignment 
 

Before performing any Services for which the IOR will seek compensation under this Contract, 
the IOR shall prepare a detailed scope of work, budget of costs, and project schedule for a 
specific work task solicited by the City.  The scope of work shall include all tasks and deliverables 
necessary to complete the Services requested by the City.  The budget of costs shall assign task 
numbers to each task outlined in the scope of work and show the budgeted number of hours, 
team member assignments, and hourly rate for each task.  The City will then issue a Task Order 
or assignment under the provisions of this Contract.  
 
The IOR shall not begin work on any task or assignment until the City has issued a Notice to 
Proceed (NTP) for that task or assignment (either hard copy or email NTP) and a Task Order. 
 
IOR may not assign any of its responsibilities under this Contract without City’s prior written 
consent, which consent may be withheld in City’s sole discretion.  IOR may not subcontract for 
performance of any of its responsibilities under this Contract without City’s prior written consent, 
which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.  IOR’s assigning or subcontracting of any of its 
responsibilities under the Contract without City’s consent shall constitute a material breach of this 
Contract.  Regardless of any assignment or subcontract, IOR shall remain liable for all of its 
obligations under this Contract. 

 
13. Labor and Material 
 
 IOR shall provide and pay for all labor, materials, equipment, tools, water, heat, utilities, 

transportation, and other facilities and services necessary for the proper execution and 
completion of all Contract work, all at no cost to City other than the compensation provided in this 
Contract. 

 
14. Ownership of Work and Documents 
 
 All work produced by IOR is the exclusive property of the City. “Work Product” includes but is not 

limited to, technical drawings, prints, blueprints, schematics, research, reports, computer 
programs, manuals, drawings, plans, recordings, photographs, artwork and any data or 
information in any form. IOR and the City intend that such Work Product shall be deemed “work 
made for hire” of which the City shall be deemed the author. If for any reason, a Work Product is 
deemed not to be a “work made for hire,” upon payment for the Services, IOR irrevocably assigns 
and transfers to the City all right, title and interest in such Work Product, whether arising from 
copyright, patent, trademark, trade secret, or any other state or federal intellectual property law or 
doctrine. IOR shall obtain such interests and execute all documents necessary to fully vest such 
rights in the City. IOR waives all rights relating to Work Product, including any rights arising under 
17 USC § 106A, or any other rights of authorship, identification or approval, restriction or 
limitation on use or subsequent modifications.  

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 126 242



 

 

 
Notwithstanding the above, all pre-existing trademarks, service marks, patents, copyrights, trade 
secrets, and other proprietary rights of IOR are and will remain the exclusive property of IOR. IOR 
hereby grants to the City a non-exclusive, perpetual, irrevocable license, with the right to 
sublicense, to disclose, copy, distribute, display, perform, prepare derivative works of and 
otherwise exploit any pre-existing intellectual property rights incorporated into the Work 
Product(s).  

 
15. Termination for Convenience 
 
 This Contract may be terminated by mutual consent of the parties.  In addition, City may 

terminate all or part of this Contract upon determining that termination is in the best interest of 
City by giving seven (7) days’ prior written notice of intent to terminate, without waiving any claims 
or remedies it may have against IOR.  Upon termination under this section, IOR shall be entitled 
to payment in accordance with the terms of this Contract for Contract work completed and 
accepted before termination less previous amounts paid and any claim(s) City has against IOR.  
Pursuant to this section, IOR shall submit an itemized invoice for all unreimbursed Contract work 
completed before termination and all Contract closeout costs actually incurred by IOR.  City shall 
not be liable for any costs invoiced later than thirty (30) days after termination unless IOR can 
show good cause beyond its control for the delay. 

 
16. Termination for Cause 
 
 City may terminate this Contract effective upon delivery of written notice to IOR, or at such later 

date as may be established by City, under any of the following conditions: 
 
 16.1 If City funding is not obtained and continued at levels sufficient to allow for the indicated 

quantity of services.  In addition, this Contract may be modified at the City’s option to 
accommodate a reduction in funds. 

 
 16.2 If federal or state regulations or guidelines are modified, changed, or interpreted in such a 

way that the Services are no longer allowable or appropriate for purchase under this 
Contract or are no longer eligible for the funding proposed for payments authorized by 
this Contract. 

 
 16.3 If any license or certificate required by law or regulation to be held by IOR to provide the 

services required by this Contract is for any reason denied, revoked, or not renewed. 
 
17. Termination for Default 
 
 Either party may terminate this Contract in the event of a material breach by the other party that is 

not cured. Unless otherwise set forth in this Contract, before termination is permitted, the party 
seeking termination shall give the other party written notice via certified mail of the breach, its 
intent to terminate, and thirty (30) calendar days to cure the breach. If the breach is not cured 
within thirty 30 days, the party seeking termination may terminate immediately by giving written 
notice by certified mail that this Contract is terminated. If there is an immediate risk of harm to life 
or property, the City may terminate this Contract immediately and without regard to the 30-day 
notice provision. Upon a termination of this Contract by the City for material breach by IOR, IOR 
shall be paid the Contract price only for Services performed in accordance with the manner of 
performance as set forth in this Contract.  

 
18. Remedies 
 
 In the event of termination of this Contract, the parties shall have the following remedies: 
 
 18.1 If terminated under Section 17 by City due to a material breach by IOR, City may 

complete the work either itself, by agreement with another contractor, or by a 
combination thereof.  If the cost of completing the work exceeds the remaining unpaid 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 127 243



 

 

balance of the total compensation provided under this Contract, then IOR shall pay to 
City the amount of the reasonable excess. 

 
 18.2   In addition to the above remedies for a material breach by IOR, City also shall be entitled 

to any other equitable and legal remedies that are available. 
 
 18.3   If City breaches this Contract, IOR’s remedy shall be limited to termination of this 

Contract and receipt of Contract payments to which IOR is entitled. 
 
 18.4 City shall not be liable for any indirect, incidental, consequential, or special damages 

under the Contract or any damages arising solely from termination of this Contract in 
accordance with its terms. 

  
 18.5  Upon receiving a notice of termination, and except as otherwise directed in writing by 

City, IOR shall immediately cease all activities related to the services and work under this 
Contract.  As directed by City, IOR shall, upon termination, deliver to City all then existing 
Work Product that, if the Contract had been completed, would be required to be delivered 
to City. Any termination of this Contract will result in termination of any issued Task 
Orders unless the City provides otherwise to IOR.  

 
19. Nondiscrimination 
 
 During the term of this Contract, IOR shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for 

employment because of race, religion, color, sex, age, or national origin, or other legally protected 
status under state or federal law. 

 
20. Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Venue   
 
 This Contract shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the state of 

Oregon without regard to principles of conflicts of law.  Any claim, action, suit or proceeding 
(collectively “Claim”) between City and IOR that arises from or relates to this Contract which 
results in litigation shall be brought and conducted solely and exclusively within the Circuit Court 
of Yamhill County for the state of Oregon; provided, however, if a Claim must be brought in a 
federal forum, then it shall be brought and conducted solely and exclusively within the United 
States District Court for the District of Oregon.  System Integrator of Record, BY EXECUTION OF 
THIS CONTRACT, HEREBY CONSENTS TO THE IN PERSONAM JURISDICTION OF SAID 
COURTS. 

 
21. Compliance with Laws and Regulations 
 
  IOR shall comply with all federal, state and local laws, regulations, executive orders and 

ordinances applicable to this Contract. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, IOR 
expressly agrees to comply with the following laws, regulations and executive orders to the extent 
they are applicable to the IOR: (i) Titles VI and VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended; (ii) 
Sections 503 and 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended; (iii) the Americans with 
Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended; (iv) Executive Order 11246, as amended; (v) the Health 
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996; (vi) the Age Discrimination in Employment 
Act of 1967, as amended, and the Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended; (vii) the Vietnam 
Era Veterans’ Readjustment Assistance Act of 1974, as amended; (viii) ORS Chapter 659, as 
amended; (ix) all regulations and administrative rules established pursuant to the foregoing laws; 
and (x) all other applicable requirements of federal, state and municipal civil rights and 
rehabilitation statutes, rules and regulations. These laws, regulations and executive orders are 
incorporated by reference herein to the extent that they are applicable to this Contract and 
required by law to be so incorporated. 

 
  City’s performance under this Contract is conditioned upon IOR’s compliance with all applicable 

provisions of the Oregon Public Contracting Code, as more particularly set forth in Exhibit B and 
incorporated herein by this reference.  IOR, its subconsultants and all employers providing work, 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 128 244



 

 

labor or materials under this Contract are subject employers under the Oregon workers' 
compensation law and shall comply with ORS 656.017, which requires them to provide Oregon 
workers' compensation coverage that satisfies Oregon law for all their subject workers.  IOR shall 
adhere to all safety standards and regulations established OSHA or by City for work performed 
on its premises or under its auspices. 

 
22. Experience, Capabilities and Resources 
 
 By execution of this Contract, IOR agrees that: 
 

22.1 IOR is an experienced firm having the skill, legal capacity, and professional ability 
necessary to perform all the Services required under this Contract and to administer any 
work within the scope and complexity contemplated by this Contract. 

 
22.2 IOR has the capabilities and resources necessary to perform the obligations of this 

Contract. 
 
22.3 IOR is familiar with all current laws, rules, and regulations which are applicable to the 

completion of work which may fall within the scope of this Contract. 
 
23. Drawings, Specifications and Other Documents 
 
 IOR  hereby agrees that it will, in a manner consistent with its standard of care defined in this 

Agreement, including above in Section 22, complete all work, prepare any drawings, 
specifications, and other documents pursuant to this Contract so that they are complete and that 
the project, when completed, shall be a complete and properly functioning facility. 

 
24. Errors and Omissions   
 
 IOR shall be responsible for correcting any errors in Services provided.  IOR shall correct at no 

additional cost to City any and all such errors in the work provided by IOR or its subconsultants. 
 
25.  Contract Performance 
 
 IOR shall at all times carry on the Services diligently, without delay and punctually fulfill all 

requirements herein.  IOR shall not be liable for delays that are beyond IOR’s reasonable control.  
Contract expiration shall not extinguish, prejudice, or limit either party’s right to enforce this 
Contract with respect to any breach of IOR’s warranties or a default or defect in performance by 
IOR that has not been cured.  IOR agrees that time is of the essence under this Contract. 
 

26. Access to Records 
  
 IOR shall maintain current financial records in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 

Principles (GAAP). IOR agrees to maintain and retain and retain all financial records, supporting 
documents, statistical records and all other records pertinent to this Contract during the term of 
this Contract and for a minimum of six (6) years after the expiration or termination date of this 
Contract, or for a minimum of six (6) years after all other pending matters in connection with this 
Contract are closed, whichever is longer. During the term of this Contract and for not less than six 
(6) years after the Contract expiration and for the purpose of making audit, examination, excerpts, 
and transcripts, City, and its duly authorized representatives shall have access to IOR’s books, 
documents, papers, and records that are pertinent to this Contract.  If, for any reason, any part of 
this Contract, or any resulting consulting contract(s) is involved in litigation, IOR shall retain all 
pertinent records for not less than six (6) years or until all litigation is resolved, whichever is 
longer.  IOR shall provide full access to these records to City, and its duly authorized 
representatives in preparation for and during litigation. 

 
27. General Representations and Warranties 
 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 129 245



 

 

 27.1 IOR represents and warrants to City that:   
 

27.1.1 IOR has the power and authority to enter into and perform this Contract;  
 
27.1.2 When executed and delivered, this Contract shall be a valid and binding 

obligation of IOR enforceable in accordance with its terms;  
 
27.1.3 IOR shall, at all times during the term of this Contract, be duly licensed to 

perform the Services, and if there is no licensing requirement for the profession 
or services, be duly qualified and competent; and  

 
27.1.4 The Services under this Contract shall be performed in accordance with the 

professional skill, care and highest standards of other professionals performing 
similar services under similar conditions.   

 
27.2 Products and Services Warranties. IOR represents and warranty to City that:  
 

27.2.1  All deliverables, products, hardware and equipment (collectively “Products”) 
provided by IOR hereunder will materially conform to the acceptance criteria set 
forth in this Contract, including the Statement of Work and the applicable 
documentation and specifications; 

 
27.2.2 The Products shall be free and clear of any liens or encumbrances and shall be 

new and unused (and, if applicable, the current model) and shall carry full 
manufacturer warranties, and shall be delivered with complete documentation. 
IOR warrants that all Products delivered to City shall be free from defects in 
labor, material, manufacture and design, shall be in compliance with the 
specifications set out in this Contract, and shall be suitable for the operating 
environment in which they are installed. IOR shall furnish the details of both 
IOR’s and manufacturer's warranties on materials and workmanship. 

 
27.2.3 The Products and Services are free of what are commonly defined as viruses, 

backdoors, worms, spyware, malware and other malicious code that will hamper 
performance of software, collect unlawful personally identifiable information on 
users, or prevent the software from performing as required under the terms and 
conditions of this Contract. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this representation 
and warranty does not include a disabling device that limits, suspends or ends 
use of the Products or Services expressly permitted by the terms and conditions 
of the license under which it was provided:  

 
27.2.4  When used as authorized by this Contract, no Work Product infringes nor will 

City’s use, duplication or transfer of the Work Product infringe any copyright, 
patent, trade secret or other proprietary right of any third party; and 

 
27.2.5 The Products will function together as an integrated system in accordance with 

the Statement of Work, applicable documentation or Task Order.  
 
27.3 The warranties set forth in this section are in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other 

warranties provided. 
 
28. Performance Metrics and Service Level Guarantees.   
 

28.1 In its provision of the Products and Services, IOR shall meet the performance metrics 
and service level guarantees set forth in this Contract. IOR’s Service Level Agreement is 
included as Exhibit A-1 to this Contract.. IOR shall provide, maintain, and upgrade any 
hardware and related equipment, and software provided by IOR and required for delivery 
and operation of the Products and Services.  

 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 130 246



 

 

28.2 If IOR fails to meet a performance standard, IOR shall (i) investigate, assemble and 
preserve pertinent information with respect to, and report on the causes of, the failure, 
including performing a root cause analysis of the failure; (ii) advise the City, as and to the 
extent requested by City, of the status of remedial efforts being undertaken with respect 
to such failure; (iii) minimize the impact of and correct the problem and begin meeting the 
performance standard; and (iv) take appropriate preventive measures so that the failure 
does not recur. 

 
28.3 IOR shall pay the damages or issue service credits as agreed to in this Contract if IOR 

fails to provide the Products or Services as and when required by this Contract or fails to 
meet the performance metrics and service level guarantees specified in this Contract. 
This section does not limit the City’s rights with respect to the events upon which the City 
may rely as a basis for termination of this Contract for cause. 

 
29. Third Party Intellectual Property.  
 

In the event the Products include third party intellectual property, and unless otherwise agreed, 
IOR shall ensure that City receives a license to use the Products sufficient to fulfill the business 
objectives, requirements, and specifications identified in this Contract. City shall have the right to 
review the proposed license agreement and negotiate terms with the licensor; upon agreement 
to the terms, City shall be bound by such license agreement. If City and licensor cannot 
reasonably agree to terms, City, in its sole discretion, may return the Products to IOR (without 
incurring any termination liability), and IOR shall provide a full refund including any shipping and 
handling charges. 

 
30.  Delivery Terms; Risk of Loss.  
 

30.1 IOR shall ship Products freight and insurance prepaid. IOR shall ship the Products no 
later than the date set forth in the applicable Task Order, or as otherwise agreed by IOR 
and City.  

 
30.2 IOR shall deliver the Products F.O.B. to the City’s designated location.  
 
30.3  IOR accepts the risk, responsibility, and liability for loss or damage to the Products. This 

risk shall remain with IOR until acceptance of the Products by City in accordance with 
the acceptance procedures described in Section 5 However, during the period between 
delivery of the Products to City, and prior to City’s acceptance, IOR shall not be 
responsible for loss or damage that results from City’s use of the Products with a 
product that is not authorized by IOR, City’s misuse or unauthorized modification of the 
Products, improper maintenance of the Products by City, or City’s storage or operation 
of the Products in a physical or operating environment that IOR has advised City is 
unsuitable for the Products. 

 
30.4 Unless otherwise agreed, all equipment and hardware delivered to the City by IOR will 

be owned exclusively by the City. Title to the equipment and hardware will pass to the 
City on the date of City’s final acceptance, unless otherwise agreed to by the parties.  

 
31. City Obligations 
 
 31.1 City shall provide full information in a timely manner regarding requirements for and 

limitations on the project.  
 
 31.2 City shall establish and update, if necessary, overall project budgets. 
 
 31.3 City shall furnish the services of consultants when such services are requested by IOR, 

reasonably required by the scope of a project, and agreed to by City. 
 
 31.4 City shall furnish all testing as required by law or the contract documents for the project 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 131 247



 

 

associated with the assignment or work task, for other than control system, telemetry 
system or SCADA system testing which is part of the work performed by the IOR. 

 
 31.5 City shall furnish all legal accounting, auditing and insurance services as necessary for 

projects to meet the City’s needs and interests, after IOR has performed requisite project 
management and oversight duties. 

 
 31.6 City shall provide prompt written notice to IOR if City becomes aware of any fault or 

defect in a project, including any errors, omissions or inconsistencies in IOR’s design or 
performance under this Contract. 

 
 31.7 City shall pay IOR in accordance with Section 3 and Exhibit A of this Contract, upon 

receipt of IOR’s submission of monthly invoices, and satisfactory progress and 
performance made in accordance with the scope of work.  Payments shall reflect work 
completed and progress made upon the project to date, on a pro rata basis. 

 
 31.8 City shall report the total amount of all payments to IOR, including any expenses, in 

accordance with federal Internal Revenue Service and State of Oregon Department of 
Revenue regulations. 

 
 31.9 City shall guarantee access to, and make all provisions for IOR to enter upon public and 

private property necessary for performance of the Scope of Work over which City 
exercises control. 

 
 31.10 Extra work or work on contingency tasks is not permitted unless authorized by the City in 

writing.  Failure of IOR to secure written authorization for extra work shall constitute a 
waiver of all rights to an adjustment in the Contract price or Contract time.   

 
32. Arbitration 
 

32.1 All claims, disputes, and other matters in question between the City and IOR arising out 
of, or relating to this Contract, including rescission, reformation, enforcement, or the 
breach thereof except for claims which may have been waived by the making or 
acceptance of final payment, may be decided by binding arbitration in City’s sole 
discretion, in accordance with Uniform Oregon Arbitration Act ORS 36.600 et seq. and 
any additional rules mutually agreed to by both parties.  If the parties cannot agree on 
rules within ten (10) days after the notice of demand, the presiding judge of the Yamhill 
County Circuit Court will establish rules to govern the arbitration.  The City shall have the 
sole discretion as to whether or not dispute will be decided by arbitration rather than 
through the court process.   

 
32.2 A claim by IOR arising out of, or relating to this Contract must be made in writing and 

delivered to the Public Works Superintendent not less than 30 days after the date of the 
occurrence giving rise to the claim.  Failure to file a claim with the Public Works 
Superintendent within 30 days of the date of the occurrence that gave rise to the claim 
shall constitute a waiver of the claim.  A claim filed with the Public Works Superintendent 
will be considered by the City Council at its next regularly scheduled meeting.  At that 
meeting, the City Council will render a written decision approving or denying the claim.  If 
the claim is denied by the City Council, the IOR may file a written request for arbitration 
with the Public Works Superintendent.  No demand for arbitration shall be effective until 
the City Council has rendered a written decision denying the underlying claim.  No 
demand for arbitration shall be made later than thirty (30) days after the date on which 
the City Council has rendered a written decision on the underlying claim.  The failure to 
demand arbitration within said 30 days shall result in the City Council’s decision being 
binding upon the City and IOR.   

 
32.3 Notice of demand for arbitration shall be filed in writing with the other party to the 

Contract.  The demand for arbitration shall be made within the 30-day period specified 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 132 248



 

 

above.  The City, if not the party demanding arbitration, has the option of allowing the 
matter to proceed with binding arbitration or by written notice within five (5) days after 
receipt of a demand for arbitration, to reject arbitration and require the IOR to proceed 
through the courts for relief.  If arbitration is allowed, the parties agree that the award 
rendered by the arbitrators will be final, judgment may be entered upon it in any court 
having jurisdiction thereof, and the award will not be subject to modifications or appeal 
except to the extent permitted by Oregon law. 

 
33. Joinder 
 

Notwithstanding any contrary language in other documents or agreements related to services 
provided by IOR pursuant to this Contract, including contracts for construction services, either 
party, at its sole discretion, may include by joinder persons or entities substantially involved in a 
common question of law or fact arising out of or related to this Contract and whose presence is 
required if complete relief is to be accorded.  This section applies to any and all claims, disputes, 
and other matters arising out of, or relating to this Contract, including but not limited those claims, 
disputes, and other matters subject to litigation or arbitration.  

 
34. Attorney Fees 
 

If suit, action or arbitration is brought either directly or indirectly to rescind, reform, interpret or 
enforce the terms of this Contract, the prevailing party shall recover and the losing party hereby 
agrees to pay reasonable attorney's fees incurred in such proceeding, in both the trial and 
appellate courts, as well as the costs and disbursements.  Further, if it becomes necessary for 
City to incur the services of an attorney to enforce any provision of this Contract without initiating 
litigation, IOR agrees to pay City’s attorney's fees so incurred.  Such costs and fees shall bear 
interest at the maximum legal rate from the date incurred until the date paid by losing party. 

 
35. Successors and Assigns; Subcontractors and Assignments 
 
 The provisions of this Contract shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties 

hereto, and their respective successors and assigns.  
 
36. Limitation of Liabilities 
 
 City shall not be liable for (i) any indirect, incidental, consequential, or special damages this the 

Contract or (ii) any damages of any sort arising solely from the termination of this Contract in 
accordance with its terms.   

 
37. Foreign Contractor  
 
 If IOR is not domiciled in or registered to do business in the state of Oregon, IOR shall promptly 

provide to the Oregon Department of Revenue and the Secretary of State Corporation Division all 
information required by those agencies relative to this Contract.  IOR shall demonstrate its legal 
capacity to perform the work under this Contract in the state of Oregon prior to entering into this 
Contract. 

 
38. Confidentiality 
 

38.1 City’s Confidential Information. Any and all information that the City provides to IOR or its 
employees or agents in the performance of this Contract that the City designates as 
confidential (either on the document itself or through related correspondence), as well as all 
reports and other documents and materials that result from IOR’s use of such information 
and any other Work Product that the City designates as confidential, is deemed to be 
confidential information of the City (“City Confidential Information”).  City Confidential 
Information does not include information that (1) is or becomes (other than by disclosure by 
IOR) publicly known; (2) is furnished by the City to others without restrictions similar to those 
imposed by this Contract; (3) is rightfully in IOR’s possession without the obligation of 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 133 249



 

 

nondisclosure prior to the time of its disclosure under this Contract; (4) is obtained from a 
source other than the City without the obligation of confidentiality, (5) is disclosed with the 
written consent of City, or; (6) is independently developed by employees or agents of IOR 
who can be shown to have had no access to the Confidential Information. 

 
38.2 IOR shall treat as confidential any City Confidential Information that has been made known 

or available to IOR or that IOR has received, learned, heard or observed; or to which IOR 
has had access.  IOR shall use City Confidential Information exclusively for the City’s benefit 
in the performance of this Contract.  Except as may be expressly authorized in writing by the 
City, in no event shall IOR publish, use, discuss or cause or permit to be disclosed to any 
other person such City Confidential Information.  IOR shall (1) limit disclosure of the City 
Confidential Information to those directors, officers, employees, subcontractors, and agents 
of IOR who need to know the City Confidential Information in connection with the Services 
and who have agreed in writing to confidentiality obligations at least as strict as those 
contained in this Agreement, (2) exercise reasonable care to protect the confidentiality of the 
City Confidential Information, at least to the same degree of care as IOR employs with 
respect to protecting its own proprietary and confidential information, and (3) return 
immediately to the City, upon its request, all materials containing City Confidential 
Information, in whatever form, that are in Contractor’s possession or custody or under its 
control.  IOR is expressly restricted from and shall not use the intellectual property rights of 
the City without the City’s prior written consent.  

 
38.3 IOR’s confidentiality obligations under this Agreement shall survive termination or expiration 

of this Contract. 
 
38.4 Public Records Requests. IOR acknowledges that the City is subject to the Oregon Public 

Records Act and federal law.  Third persons may claim that IOR Confidential Information (as 
defined below) that IOR submitted to the City hereunder may be, by virtue of its possession 
by the City, a public record and subject to disclosure pursuant to the Oregon Public Records 
Act.  The City’s commitments to maintain certain information confidentially under this 
Contract are all subject to the constraints of Oregon and federal laws.  All information 
submitted by IOR to the City is a public record and subject to disclosure pursuant to the 
Oregon Public Records Act, except such portions for which IOR requests and meets an 
exemption from disclosure consistent with federal or Oregon law, in accordance with the 
process set forth in Section 38.5  Within the limits and discretion allowed by those laws, the 
City will make a good faith effort to maintain the confidentiality of information.  

 
38.5 IOR’s Confidential Information. During the term of this Contract, IOR may disclose to the City 

certain IOR confidential information pertaining to IOR’s business (“Contractor Confidential 
Information”).  IOR shall be required to mark Contractor Confidential Information 
CONFIDENTIAL with a restrictive legend or similar marking, together with a written 
statement describing the material which is requested to remain protected from disclosure 
and the justification for such request under Oregon public records laws.  If Contractor 
Confidential Information is not clearly marked, or the Contractor Confidential Information 
cannot be marked with a restrictive legend or similar marking or is disclosed either orally or 
by visual presentation, IOR shall identify the Contractor Confidential Information as 
confidential at the time of disclosure or within a reasonable time thereafter.  This Contract 
itself shall not be considered Contractor Confidential Information. Contractor Confidential 
Information does not include information that (1) is or becomes (other than by disclosure by 
the City) publicly known; (2) is furnished by IOR to others without restrictions similar to those 
imposed by this Contract; (3) is rightfully in the City’s possession without the obligation of 
nondisclosure prior to the time of its disclosure under this Contract; (4) is obtained from a 
source other than IOR without the obligation of confidentiality, (5) is disclosed with the 
written consent of IOR, or; (6) is independently developed by employees or agents of the 
City who can be shown to have had no access to the Contractor Confidential Information.  
Subject to Section 38.4 the City shall: (1) limit disclosure of Contractor Confidential 
Information to those directors, elected and appointed officials, employees, contractors and 
agents of the City who need to know the Contractor Confidential Information in connection 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 134 250



 

 

with the Services and who have been informed of confidentiality obligations at least as strict 
as those contained in this Contract, and (2) exercise reasonable care to protect the 
confidentiality of the Contractor Confidential Information, at least to the same degree of care 
as the City employs with respect to protecting its own proprietary and confidential 
information. 

 
39. Force Majeure   
 
 IOR shall not be deemed in default hereof nor liable for damages arising from its failure to 

perform its duties or obligations hereunder if such is due to causes beyond its reasonable control, 
including, but not limited to, acts of God, acts of civil or military authorities, fires, floods, 
windstorms, earthquakes, strikes or other labor disturbances, civil commotion or war. 

 
40. Waivers 
 
 No waiver by City of any provision of this Contract shall be deemed to be a waiver of any other 

provision hereof or of any subsequent breach by IOR of the same or any other provision.  City’s 
consent to or approval of any act by IOR requiring City’s consent or approval shall not be deemed 
to render unnecessary the obtaining of City’s consent to or approval of any subsequent act by 
IOR, whether or not similar to the act so consented to or approved. 

 
41. Severability 
 

Any provisions of this Contract which shall prove to be invalid, void or illegal shall in no way 
affect, impair or invalidate any other provision hereof, and such remaining provisions shall remain 
in full force and effect. 

 
42. Headings 
 

The captions contained in this Contract are for convenience only and shall not be considered in 
the construction or interpretation of any provision hereof. 

 
43. Integration and Modification 
 
 This Contract, including the attached exhibits referenced above, contains the entire agreement 

between the parties regarding the matters referenced herein and supersedes all prior written or 
oral discussions or agreements regarding the matters addressed by this Contract.  Any 
modifications or amendments to this Contract will only be effective when made in writing and 
signed by authorized parties for each party to this Contract.   

 
44. Certificate of Compliance with Oregon Tax Laws 
 
 By executing this Contract, System Integrator (IOR) certifies under penalty of perjury that IOR is, 

to the best of IOR’s knowledge, not in violation of any tax laws of this state or any applicable tax 
laws of any political subdivision of this state..  

 
  SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 135 251



 

 

45. Authority 
 
 The representatives signing on behalf of the parties certify that they are duly authorized by the 

party for which they sign to make this Contract. 
 
 
 
 
CITY:       SYSTEM INTEGRATOR OF RECORD (IOR): 
 
CITY OF DAYTON     _________ (company name) 
 
 
 
By:       By:       
 
Title:       Title:       
 
Date:       Date:       
 
 
 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 136 252



 

 

Exhibit A 
SCOPE OF WORK 

 
SERVICES AND RESPONSIBILITY OF SYSTEM INTEGRATOR OF RECORD (IOR) 
 
Services shall be provided by IOR pursuant to City work task requests or as otherwise requested by City 
in writing.  When authorized by City, the specific services which the IOR shall furnish will generally consist 
of, but not be limited to, the following itemized services: 
 
Services shall generally consist of, but not be limited to, fabrication & installation of control system, 
telemetry system or SCADA system components, including installation, replacement and/or upgrades, 
system integration and programming services related to City’s public utilities, including but not limited to 
the water and wastewater facilities and other facilities owned or overseen by the City Such “of record” 
IOR services may be requested of IOR by City, pursuant to this Contract’s terms and conditions for Work, 
which will govern work authorized by separate Assignments or Task Orders that may include special 
terms and conditions.   
 
Assignments or Task Orders shall be used to authorize work described above.  Said Assignments or Task 
Orders and amendments thereto shall be agreed to by both parties, with scope of work, delivery 
schedule, and total compensation to be negotiated at the time the Assignment or Task Order is proposed 
by either party.  Assignments or Task Orders that do not meet these requirements shall not be binding 
and no further compensation will be allowed for any Assignment or Task Order work performed. 
 
Subject to the requirements of this section, City shall have the right to amend the scope of any 
Assignment or Task Order to this Contract and to cancel a portion of the work pursuant to an Assignment 
or Task Order at any time.  City shall pay IOR an amount to be agreed upon by the parties for all 
additional work.  City shall pay IOR a reduced amount to be agreed upon by the parties in the event City 
cancels such work.  City shall not be liable for profits lost due to cancelled work. 
 
The selected IOR shall perform the following services as approved by and directed by the City: 

• Serve as the City’s Integrator of Record. 
• Design and integrate updates to the City’s existing control, telemetry & SCADA systems. 
• Provide technical and/or equipment recommendations or design information, along with associated 

preliminary cost estimates in order to support the development of City project budgets. 
• Troubleshoot issues with City facilities and make recommendations for improvements. 
• Provide equipment & installation service for upgrade or replacement of existing control & telemetry 

systems as directed by the City.  
• Perform ongoing routine maintenance and repairs on the control system and instrumentation and 

affected components. 
• Perform radio propagation studies. 
• Provide emergency support services. 
• In addition to the general and recurring activities listed above, there may be ad hoc duties including 

verbal communications with the City staff or elected officials as part of prudent administration of the 
City’s infrastructure systems. 

• Subconsultants may be used, subject to written approval by the City on design of projects where 
supplemental expertise is desired.   

  SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 137 253



 

 

EXHIBIT A-1 
SERVICE LEVEL AGREEMENT 

 
[TO BE PROVIDED] 

  

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 138 254



 

 

Exhibit B 
 

PUBLIC CONTRACTING CODE 
REQUIREMENTS 

 
 

System Integrator of Record (“Contractor”) shall observe all applicable state and local laws pertaining to 
public contracts. Pursuant to ORS Chapters 279A, 279B and 279C, which require every public contract to 
contain certain provisions, and other state law, the following provisions shall be a part of this contract, as 
applicable. All defined terms in this Exhibit shall be interpreted in accordance with the solicitation or contract 
document and the relevant statutory provision. Subcontractor shall be read to mean subcontractor or 
subconsultant. 
 

1. ORS 279A.110 (Non-discrimination Certification): Contractor shall certify that Contractor has 
not discriminated and will not discriminate against a Subcontractor in the awarding of a 
subcontract because the Subcontractor is a disadvantaged, minority owned, woman owned, 
veteran owned, or emerging small business enterprise (certified under ORS 200.055.), or a 
business that is owned or controlled by, or employs a disabled veteran (as defined in ORS 
408.225). 

 
2. Pursuant to ORS 279B.220 or 279C.505, as applicable, Contractor shall make payment 

promptly, as due, to all persons supplying to the contractor labor or material for the performance 
of the work provided for in the contract; shall pay all contributions or amounts due the Industrial 
Accident Fund from the contractor or subcontractor incurred in the performance of the contract; 
not permit any lien or claim to be filed or prosecuted against the state or a county, school 
district, municipality, municipal corporation or subdivision thereof, on account of any labor or 
material furnished, and; pay to the Department of Revenue all sums withheld from employees 
under ORS 316.167. 

 
3. Pursuant to ORS 279B.225, every public contract for lawn and landscape maintenance shall 

contain a condition requiring the contractor to salvage, recycle, compost or mulch yard waste 
material at an approved site, if feasible and cost-effective. 

 
4. Pursuant to ORS 279B.230(1) or 279C.530(1), as applicable, Contractor shall promptly, as 

due, make payment to any person, co-partnership, association or corporation, furnishing 
medical, surgical and hospital care or other needed care and attention, incident to sickness or 
injury, to the employees of such contractor, of all sums which the contractor agrees to pay for 
such services and all monies and sums which the contractor collected or deducted from the 
wages of employees pursuant to any law, contract or agreement for the purpose of providing 
or paying for such service.  

 
5. Pursuant to ORS 279B.230(2) or 279C.530.(2), as applicable, in every public contract, all 

subject employers working under the contract are either employers that will comply with ORS 
656.017 or employers that are exempt under ORS 656.126.  

 
6. Pursuant to ORS 279B.235(1) and 279B.020 and ORS 279C.520 and 279C.540 (Hours of 

Labor, Holidays, and Overtime): Except as otherwise provided in an applicable collective 
bargaining agreement with a labor organization, Contractor shall not employ and shall require 
that its Subcontractors not employ any person to perform construction work for more than ten 
hours in any one day, or 40 hours in any one week, except in cases of necessity, emergency, 
or where the public policy absolutely requires it, and in such cases, except in cases of Contracts 
for personal services as defined in ORS 279A.055, the laborer shall be paid at least time and 
a half pay: 

 
 
i. For all overtime in excess of eight hours a day or 40 hours in any one week when the 

work week is five consecutive days, Monday through Friday; and  
 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 139 255



 

 

ii. For all overtime in excess of ten hours a day or 40 hours in any one week when the 
work week is four consecutive days, Monday through Friday; and 

 
iii. For work performed on Saturday and on any legal holiday specified in any applicable 

collective bargaining agreement or ORS 279C.540(1)(b). 
 

iv. The requirement to pay at least time and a half for all overtime worked in excess of 40 
hours in any one week shall not apply to individuals who are excluded under ORS 
653.010 to 653.261 or under 29 U.S.C. Section 201 to 209 from receiving overtime. 

 
v. Contractor shall and shall require its Subcontractors to give notice in writing to their 

employees who work under this contract, either at the time of hire or before 
commencement of Work or Services under the contract, or by posting a notice in a 
location frequented by employees, of the number of hours per day and days per week 
that the employees may be required to work. 
 

7. Environmental Laws. Contractor shall comply with all applicable standards, orders, or 
requirements issued under section 306 of the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. 1857(h)), section 508 
of the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. 1368), Executive Order 11738, and Environmental Protection 
Agency regulations (40 CFR part 15). 
 

8. Oregon Tax Law Compliance: Contractor must, throughout the duration of this contract and 
any extensions, comply with all tax laws of this state and all applicable tax laws of any political 
subdivision of this state. Contractor (to the best of Contractor’s knowledge, after due inquiry), 
for a period of no fewer than six calendar years preceding the date of this contract, represents 
and warrants that it has faithfully complied with, and will continue to comply with during the 
term of this contract: (A) all tax laws of this state, including but not limited to ORS 305.620 and 
ORS chapters 316, 317, and 318; (B) any tax provisions imposed by a political subdivision of 
this state that applied to Contractor, to Contractor’s property, operations, receipts, or income, 
or to Contractor’s performance of or compensation for any work performed by Contractor; (C) 
any tax provisions imposed by a political subdivision of this state that applied to Contractor, or 
to goods, services, or property, whether tangible or intangible, provided by Contractor; and (D) 
any rules, regulations, charter provisions, or ordinances that implemented or enforced any of 
the foregoing tax laws or provisions. Failure to comply with this section is a default for which 
the City may terminate the contract and seek damages and other relief available under the 
terms of the contract or under applicable law. 
 

9. Foreign Contractor. If Contractor is not domiciled in or registered to do business in the state of 
Oregon, Contractor shall promptly provide to the Oregon Department of Revenue and the 
Secretary of State Corporation Division all information required by those agencies relative to 
this contract. Contractor shall demonstrate its legal capacity to perform these services in the 
state of Oregon prior to entering into this contract. 

  SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 140 256



 

 

 
Exhibit C 

 
Exhibit C – Request for Proposal 

  

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 141 257



 

 

 
 

Exhibit D 
 

Exhibit D – System Integrator of Record’s Proposal 
 
  

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 142 258



 

 

 
Exhibit E 

 
SYSTEM INTEGRATOR OF RECORD’S FEE SCHEDULE 

 
 
The Scope of Services defined in Exhibit A shall be provided to the City on a time and materials basis as 
defined by the following fee schedule provided by the System Integrator of Record. 
 
 
 
 

SAMPLE

Appendix - p. 143 259



 

  

APPENDIX B 
 

SYSTEM OVERVIEW FOR SYSTEM INTEGRATOR OF RECORD RFP 

Background Information 

The City of Dayton intends to upgrade and expand the existing City facilities, including 
but not limited to the Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) System, as 
well as the local control systems & telemetry systems at existing & future water and 
wastewater facilities, the existing & future City Hall/Library/Community Center campus 
facilities, etc.  The City of Dayton intends to select an experienced and qualified 
System Integrator of Record (IOR) to provide such services.  The IOR will collaborate 
with both the City and the City’s various consultant(s) to develop the best solutions for 
the control system and SCADA system improvements and expansion.  

The City’s control, telemetry & SCADA system consists of a main SCADA system at 
the Water Treatment Plant (Main site) and various remote sites (water & sewer pump 
stations, reservoirs/tanks, wells & associated improvements, municipal springs and 
associated improvements, pressure reducing valve, City buildings, etc.).  The Water 
Treatment Plant has the Main PLC, SCADA server and HMI.   Remote sites which are 
telemetry enabled typically contain a PLC, telemetry system, radio or cellular modem 
and antenna, etc.  The primary SCADA software is Rockwell Automation FactoryTalk 
version 14 and was installed approximately 2 years ago.  Allen Bradley Control Logix 
Programmable Logic Controllers (PLCs) are the standard PLC currently utilized by the 
Water Treatment Plant Main SCADA. There also is an Allen Bradley MicroLogix 1400 
which handles the radio polling on both the serial side (Modbus RTU) and ethernet 
side. There is again another Allen Bradley MicroLogix 1400 that controls the chlorine 
generation unit. Also, the remote sites which have been upgraded use Allen Bradley 
MicroLogix 1400s (TP1 and Breyman), although there are some older legacy control 
systems which have not yet been upgraded use Schneider Modicon PLCs (this is 
Well1, 2, 3, 4, 5, Springs Reservoir, McDougal Wells, and the PRV site. Well 2 and 
Well 5 use a different flavor of PLC but it is still the same programming software.). 
Serial MDS 4710 radio modems and Yagi antennas with an OMNI Antenna at the 
WTP are utilized as the current telemetry standard. For the upgraded sites Sierra 
Wireless Cellular modems are used for communication back to the WTP. A landline 
auto dialer is communicating to the Main SCADA Server for Alarms & Events and 
utilized for alarm notification to the City’s operators via voice message. 

The following table is a general summary existing sites only, but may not be entirely 
complete and is not intended to reflect all existing conditions or all existing equipment 
which is controlled/monitored at each site, and does not include all future anticipated 
sites, systems or equipment.  

Appendix - p. 144 260



 

  

 

Site 

Equipment/Systems Directly 
Controlled/Monitored by 
Local Control System at the 
Site 

Control, Telemetry & SCADA 
Equipment 

Water Treatment 
Plant (WTP) 

1. WTP Pressure Filters & 
ancillary systems. 

2. Chlorination system & 
chlorine level monitoring. 

3. Reservoir water level 
monitoring 

4. Emergency Power 
Generator. 

5. Water storage reservoir at 
WTP site. 

6. Dayton Service Pumps, 
VFD speed control. 

7. Dayton Fire Pump. 
8. Dayton Discharge flow 

meter. 
9. Call for water from various 

wells. 
10. Lafayette Transfer Pumps, 

VFD speed control. 
11. Lafayette Discharge flow 

meter. 

A. WTP System PLC 
B. SCADA Server  (monitors all 

local and remote systems with 
telemetry capabilities) 

C. Primary SCADA HMI (Human 
Machine Interface)  

D. Various antennae & various 
modems  (telemetry system 
communications) 

Water, Wellfield 
Wells 1-5  

1. Well Pump controls (VFD 
speed control) & 
associated downhole level 
transducer 

2. Well discharge flow meter 
3. Methane Stripper 
4. Booster Pump after 

methane stripper 

A. Local Control Panel 
B. Telemetry/SCADA system 

PLC. 
C. Antennae & radio modems   

Water, Watershed 
Reservoirs 

1. Reservoir water level 
monitoring 

A. Local Control Panel  
B. Telemetry/SCADA system 

PLC.  
C. Antennae & cellular modem   

Water, Watershed 
Springs 
Chlorination 
Building 

1. Chlorination system & 
chlorine level monitoring. 

2. Flow meter. 
3. Turbidimeter. 

A. Local Control Panel  
B. Telemetry/SCADA system 

PLC.  
C. Antennae & cellular modem   

Water, Watershed 
McDougall Well 1 
& Well 2 

1. Well Pump controls  
2. Manual Well discharge flow 

meter 
 

A. Local Control Panel  
B. No current telemetry link or 

SCADA connection.  

Appendix - p. 145 261



 

  

Site 

Equipment/Systems Directly 
Controlled/Monitored by 
Local Control System at the 
Site 

Control, Telemetry & SCADA 
Equipment 

Water, PRV 
Watershed Station 

1. PRV operational position & 
status. 

2. Flow meter. 
3. Pressure relief valve. 

A. Local Control Panel 
B. Telemetry/SCADA system 

PLC.  
C. Antennae & radio modem   

Water, Fisher 
Farms Wells 1-4  
(future, planning 
stage) 

1. Well Pump controls (VFD 
speed control) & 
associated downhole level 
transducer 

2. Well discharge flow meter 
3. Methane Stripper 
4. Booster Pump after 

methane stripper 

A. Local Control Panel(s) 
B. Telemetry/SCADA system 

PLC. 
D. Antennae & radio modem(s)   

Sewer, WWTP 1. Chlorination system. 
2. Dechlorination system & 

chlorine level monitoring. 
3. Discharge flow meter. 
4. Lagoon 2 aerators. 

A. Local Control Panel. 
B. No current telemetry link or 

SCADA connection. 

Sewer, Main Pump 
Station (MPS) 

1. Sewage pumps (duplex low 
flow pumps, duplex high 
flow pumps), VFD speed 
control 

2. Wetwell water level 
monitoring 

3. Emergency Power 
Generator. 

4. High level alarm system. 
5. MPS discharge flow meter. 

A. Local Control Panel. 
B. Telemetry/SCADA system 

PLC.  
C. Antennae & cellular modem. 

Sewer, Remote 
Overflow, Main 
Pump Station  

1. Wireless level 
measurement (ultrasonic & 
transducer), overflow alarm 
system 

A. Antennae & cellular modem. 

Sewer, 9th Street 
Pump Station 

1. Sewage pumps (duplex 
pumps) 

2. Wetwell water level 
monitoring 

3. Emergency Power 
Generator. 

4. High level alarm system. 
5. Overflow alarm system. 

A. Local Control Panel. 
B. Telemetry/SCADA system 

PLC.  
C. Antennae & cellular modem. 

Appendix - p. 146 262



 

  

Site 

Equipment/Systems Directly 
Controlled/Monitored by 
Local Control System at the 
Site 

Control, Telemetry & SCADA 
Equipment 

Sewer, Palmer 
Creek Pump 
Station 

1. Sewage pumps (duplex 
pumps) 

2. Wetwell water level 
monitoring 

3. Emergency Power 
Generator. 

4. High level alarm system. 
5. Overflow alarm system. 

A. Local Control Panel. 
B. Telemetry/SCADA system 

PLC.  
C. Antennae & cellular modem. 

Sewer, Hwy 221 
Pump Station 

1. Sewage pumps (duplex 
pumps), VFD speed control 

2. Wetwell water level 
monitoring 

3. Emergency Power 
Generator. 

4. High level alarm system. 
5. Overflow alarm system. 

A. Local Control Panel. 
B. Telemetry/SCADA system 

PLC.  
C. Antennae & cellular modem. 

Sewer, Ash Road 
Pump Station 
(future, planning 
stage) 

1. Sewage pumps (triplex 
pumps anticipated), VFD 
speed control 

2. Wetwell water level 
monitoring 

3. Emergency Power 
Generator. 

4. High level alarm system. 
5. Overflow alarm system. 

A. Local Control Panel. 
B. Telemetry/SCADA system 

PLC.  
C. Antennae & cellular modem. 

City Hall, Public 
Works Office & 
Community 
Center Campus 

1. Alarms, etc.  A. To be determined.  
 

 

Appendix - p. 147 263



 

 

APPENDIX C 
 

PROPOSER’S RESPONSE FORM 

 

Appendix - p. 148 264



 

 
PROPOSER’S RESPONSE FORM 

 
 
Name of Entity Submitting Proposal: __________________________________________  

Address:  ________________________________________________________________  

Date: __________________________________ 

 

Communications concerning this Proposal shall be addressed to: 

Contact Person: __________________________________________________________  

Telephone Number: ______________________Fax Number: ______________________  

Email: _________________________________ 
 
The undersigned, through the formal submittal of this proposal response, declares that he/she has 
examined all related proposal documents and read the instruction and conditions, and hereby 
proposes to furnish materials and services, in accordance with the proposal documents herein.  
 
The Proposer, by his signature below, hereby represents as follows:  
(a) That no Councilor, officer, agent or employee of City is personally interested directly or 

indirectly in this Proposal or the compensation to be paid hereunder, and that no 
representation, statement or statements, oral or in writing, of the City, its Councilors, officers, 
agents, or employees has induced Proposer to enter into this proposal and the papers made a 
part hereof by its terms; 
 
1. The Proposer represents that Proposer is properly licensed and adequately experienced, 

equipped, organized and financed to furnish and deliver the equipment specified and 
perform the services required 

 
2. The Proposer has carefully reviewed for accuracy all statements in this Proposal and 

attachments, and agrees that the City will not be responsible for any errors or omissions of 
the Proposer in preparing this Proposal.  The Proposer agrees that this Proposal may not 
be revoked or withdrawn for one hundred twenty (120) calendars days after the date on 
which Proposals are received. 

 
3. The Proposer has examined and understands the Request for Proposal (RFP) Documents 

and the Proposal is made in accordance therewith. 
 

4. Addenda.  The Proposer acknowledges that it has received the following Addenda 
Number(s): ___________ and agrees that all addenda issued are a part of the Proposal 
and have been considered in preparing this Proposal.  (Proposer:  insert the total number of 
addenda received; if no addenda were received, write “NONE” in the space.) 

 

Appendix - p. 149 265



 

(b) The Proposer and each person signing on behalf of any proposer certifies, in the case of a joint 
proposal, each party thereto, certifies as to its own organization, under penalty of perjury, that 
to the best of their knowledge and belief: 
 
1. The prices in this proposal have been arrived at independently, without collusion, 

consultation, communication, or agreement for the purpose of restraining competition as to 
any matter relating to such prices with any other proposer or with any competitor; 
 

2. Unless otherwise required by law, the prices which have been quoted in the proposal have 
not been knowingly disclosed by the proposer prior to the proposal deadline, either directly 
or indirectly, to any other proposer or competitor; 

 
3. No attempt has been made nor will be made by the proposer to induce any other person, 

partnership or corporation to submit or not to submit a proposal for the purpose of 
restraining trade; 

 
(c) Proposer has not and will not discriminate against a subcontractor in the awarding of a 

subcontract because a subcontractor is a minority, woman, or emerging small business 
enterprise certified under ORS 200.055, or against a business enterprise that is owned or 
controlled by or that employs a disabled veteran as defined in ORS 408.225. 
 
 

The names of the principal officers of the corporation submitting this proposal, or of the 

partnership, or of all persons interested in this proposal as principals are as follows:  

 

Name (type or print): _______________________________________________________  

Title: ____________________________________________________________________  

 

Name (type or print): _______________________________________________________  

Title: ____________________________________________________________________  

 

Name (type or print): _______________________________________________________  

Title: ____________________________________________________________________  

 

Proposer is a resident proposer, as defined in ORS 279A.120.  If not a resident, proposer, 

proposer’s resident state is ________________________.   

 

Did the Proposer attend the mandatory pre-submission meeting? (Check one)  
 

_____ YES  _____ NO 

 

  

Appendix - p. 150 266



 

 

If Proposer is an Individual: 
By: _____________________________________________________________________  
 (Individual’s Signature) 

Name (type or print): _______________________________________________________  

Doing business as:  ________________________________________________________  

Contractor Registration #: __________________Federal Tax ID #: ___________________  

 
If Proposer is a Partnership: 
Partnership Name (type or print): _____________________________________________  

By: _____________________________________________________________________  
 (Signature of General Partner – attach evidence of authority to sign) 

Name (type or print): _______________________________________________________  

Title: ____________________________________________________________________  

Contractor Registration #: __________________Federal Tax ID #: ___________________  

 
If Proposer is a Corporation: 
Corporation Name (type or print): _____________________________________________  

State of Incorporation (type or print): ___________________________________________  

Type of Corporation (General Business, Profession, Service, LLC, etc): ______________________  

By: _____________________________________________________________________  
 (Signature– attach evidence of authority to sign if other than president or vice-president) 

Name (type or print): _______________________________________________________  

Title: ____________________________________________________________________  

Attest: __________________________________________________________________  
 (Signature of Corporate Secretary) 

Contractor Registration #: __________________Federal Tax ID #: ___________________  

 
If Proposer is a Joint Venture: 
Name of Joint Venture (type or print): __________________________________________  
 ..................................................................................................................................................  

First Joint Venture Name (type or print): ________________________________________  

By: _____________________________________________________________________  
 (Signature of joint venture partner– attach evidence of authority to sign) 

Title: ____________________________________________________________________  

Contractor Registration #: __________________Federal Tax ID #: ___________________  

 ..................................................................................................................................................  

Appendix - p. 151 267



 

 

Second Joint Venture Name (type or print): _____________________________________  

By: _____________________________________________________________________  
 (Signature of joint venture partner– attach evidence of authority to sign) 

Title: ____________________________________________________________________  

Contractor Registration #: __________________Federal Tax ID #: ___________________  

 ..................................................................................................................................................  

Third Joint Venture Name (type or print): _______________________________________  

By: _____________________________________________________________________  
 (Signature of joint venture partner– attach evidence of authority to sign) 

Title: ____________________________________________________________________  

Contractor Registration #: __________________Federal Tax ID #: ___________________  

 ..................................................................................................................................................  

(Each joint venturer must sign.  The manner of signing for each individual, partnership, and corporation that is a 
party to the joint venture should be in the manner indicated under the applicable category above, attach additional 
pages if necessary.) 
 
 

Appendix - p. 152 268



 

  

APPENDIX D 
 

INVITATION TO PROPOSE 

The City of Dayton, Oregon (“City”) requests proposals from qualified consultants to serve as the 
City’s System Integrator of Record for its control and telemetry (SCADA) systems. The selected 
consultant will (1) procure and install control and telemetry systems for existing City infrastructure, 
(2) procure such systems in connection with future City infrastructure projects, and (3) provide 
ongoing system maintenance and minor repair services.  

Control and telemetry components must be procured from Rockwell Automation, and the selected 
consultant must be a Rockwell Certified Systems Integrator. The City intends to enter into a 
Master Services Contract and a Master Procurement and Installation Contract with the selected 
consultant. The anticipated initial term of the contracts will be five years with the option to extend 
for two additional 5-year periods. 

A mandatory pre-submission meeting and site visit will be held at 2:00 p.m. on January 22, 2026, 
beginning at the Dayton Water Treatment Plant, 1209 Ferry Street, Dayton, OR 97114. 
Attendance is required to submit a proposal. 

Proposals must be received by 2:00 pm on February 19, 2026 addressed to Westech 
Engineering, Inc., Attention: Denny Muchmore, P.E., 3841 Fairview Industrial Drive, SE, Salem, 
OR 97302, in a sealed envelope clearly marked “City of Dayton, System Integrator of Record,” 
along with the name of the proposer. 

Copies of the full RFP, including appendices with the sample contracts and proposer’s response 
form, may be obtained from Westech Engineering, Inc., Attention: Denny Muchmore, P.E., 3841 
Fairview Industrial Dr. SE, Suite 100, Salem, OR 97302, (503) 585-2474, dmuchmore@westech-
eng.com. 

Requests for clarification must be submitted in writing no later than February 13, 2026, at 10:00 
a.m. Protests to the solicitation must be filed no later than February 10, 2026, at 5:00 p.m. 

The City reserves the right to reject any or all proposals or to waive irregularities. 

Appendix - p. 153 269



APPENDIX E 

FIRST-TIER SUBCONTRACTOR DISCLOSURE FORM 

Project Name: ____________________ 

Proposal Closing:_____________________ 

This form must be submitted at the location specified in the Request for Proposals on the advertised 
proposal closing date and within two (2) working hours after the advertised proposal closing time. 

List below the name of each Subcontractor that will be furnishing labor or labor and materials and that is 
required to be disclosed, the category of work that the Subcontractor will be performing and the dollar value 
of the subcontract. You must disclose subcontractors whose contract value is equal to or greater than: a) 
5% of the total project bid or $15,000 whichever is greater; or b) $350,000 regardless of the percentage of 
the total project bid. 

Enter “NONE” if there are no Subcontractors that need to be disclosed (ATTACH ADDITIONAL SHEETS 
IF NEEDED). Disclosure requirements do not apply to Subcontractors who only provide materials. 

THE CITY MUST REJECT A PROPOSAL IF THE PROPOSER FAILS TO SUBMIT THIS DISCLOSURE 
FORM BY THE STATED DEADLINE.  Subcontractor lists will be made available to the public for 
inspection immediately after opening. 

Form submitted by (proposer company name):  

____________________________________________ 

Contact Name: ____________________________  

Phone Number: ___________________________ 

NAME DOLLAR 
VALUE CATEGORY OF WORK 

1. 

2. 

3. 

Appendix - p. 154 270



 
 

To:   Honorable Mayor and City Councilors 
 
Through:  Jeremy Caudle, City Manager  
 
From:  Dave Rucklos – TED Director 
 
Issue:  Approval of Resolution 2025/26-14 Authorizing the City of Dayton to apply for 

the LGGP Grant from OPRD of the Rehabilitation of Alderman Dog Park and 
Delegating Authority. 

 
Date:  January 5, 2026 
  
Background and Information 
 
The Local Government Grant Program (LGGP) is a voter approved, State lottery funded grant 
program administered by the Oregon Parks and Recreation Department.  Typically, the 
program awards over $5 million annually to qualified projects, and has awarded over $60 
million in grant funding since the program began in 1999.  
 
The objective of the Alderman Dog Park Accessibility project is to enhance safety, 
accessibility, and visitor experience through the installation of durable, low-maintenance 
surfaces in key use areas. Improvements will include grading, gravel underlayment, and 
asphalt paving, resulting in ADA-compliant access and significantly improved usability during 
all weather conditions. 
 
The grant application requires a resolution of support from Council. 
 
City Manager Recommendation: I recommend approving Resolution 2025/26-14. 
 
Potential Motion to Approve: “I move to approve Resolution 2025/26-14 A Resolution 
Authorizing the City of Dayton to apply for a Local Government Grant from the Oregon Parks 
and Recreation Department of the Rehabilitation of Alderman Dog Park and delegating 
authority to the Tourism and Economic Development Director to sign the application.” 
 
City Council Options: 
 
1 – Approve as recommended. 
2 – Approve with amendments. 
3 – Take no action and direct staff to do further research or provide additional options. 

271



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

272



 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025/26-14 
CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 

A Resolution Authorizing the City of Dayton to apply for a Local Government Grant from 
the Oregon Parks and Recreation Department of the Rehabilitation of Alderman Dog 
Park and delegating authority to the Tourism and Economic Development Director to 
sign the application.  

WHEREAS, the Oregon Parks and Recreation Department is accepting applications for the 
Local Government Grant Program; and 

WHEREAS, the Alderman Dog Park Accessibility Project desires to participate in this grant 
program to the greatest extent possible as a means of providing needed park and recreation 
acquisitions, improvements and enhancements; and 

WHEREAS, the Dayton City Council have identified ADA compliant transitions, paved 
parking, and park perimeter improvements at Alderman Park as a high priority need in the 
City of Dayton; and 

WHEREAS, the objective of this project is to enhance safety, accessibility, and visitor 
experience at Alderman Dog Park through the installation of durable, low-maintenance 
surfaces in key use areas. Improvements will include grading, gravel underlayment, and 
asphalt paving, resulting in ADA-compliant access and significantly improved usability during 
all weather conditions. 

WHEREAS, the City of Dayton has available local matching funds to fulfill its share of 
obligation related to this grant application should the grant funds be awarded; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Dayton will provide adequate funding for on-going operations and 
maintenance of this park and recreation facility should the grant funds be awarded; 

NOW, THEREFORE, the City of Dayton resolves as follows:  

Section 1: The Dayton City Council demonstrates its support for the submittal of a 
grant application to the Oregon Park and Recreation Department for rehabilitation at 
Alderman Dog Park. 

Section 2: This Resolution shall be effective immediately following its adoption by the 
Dayton City Council. 

ADOPTED on this 5th day of January 2026. 
 
In Favor:  
 
Opposed:  
 
Absent: 
 
Abstained: 

273



 
 

 
 
       __________________________ 

Annette Frank, Mayor    Date Signed  

ATTEST: 

 

       __________________________ 

Rocio Vargas, City Recorder   Date of Enactment 

274



To:   Honorable Mayor and City Councilors 

From:   Jeremy Caudle, City Manager 

Issue:   Approval of Grant Agreement #WPG-D-0020-25 with the Oregon Water 
Resources Department in the amount of $1,218,750 

Date:   January 5, 2026 

Background and Information:  

HB 5006 appropriated $1,218,750 in the Oregon Water Resource Department’s budget for a 
direct grant to the City for the Fisher Farms wells development project. This grant requires no 
matching funds. The purpose of the grants is to fund construction of the Fisher Farms wells. 
 
The deadline to spend the funds is 6/30/27. The reason for this deadline is that the funds were 
appropriated out of the state’s general fund. Those funds lapse at the end of the biennium.  
 
OWRD staff also informed me earlier this fall that state budgeters had directed them to identify 
cuts to their general fund appropriation. One of the cuts that they identified is to this grant 
award, which could be up to $200,000. We will know more on the status of this proposed 
funding cut as the 2026 legislative session gets underway. 
 
Also, as you know, the City has started a hydrogeology study utilizing a different funding source. 
This study will inform the construction phase of the project. The study, and associated 
permitting through OHA, must conclude before we can proceed to construction. However, we 
endeavor to do as much in parallel as possible. For instance, the hydrogeologist recently 
obtained methane tests to inform design of the methane strippers. 
 
City Manager Recommendation: Approve the grant agreement. 
 
Potential Motion: “I move to approve Grant Agreement No. WPG-D-0020-25 with the Oregon 
Water Resources Department in the amount of $1,218,750 and to authorize the Mayor and City 
Manager to sign.” 
 
Council Options:  
 

1. Approve the agreement as recommended. 
2. Do not approve the agreement. In this case, the City will forgo use of the funds. 
3. Some other option. (Please specify.) 

 
Attachments:  
 
Grant Agreement WPG-D-0020-25  

275



General Fund 1 

 

 

 

 

  

General Fund  
 

 

GRANT AGREEMENT 
# WPG-D-0020-25 

 

 

Fisher Farms Wells & Associated Improvements 
By: City of Dayton 

 

 

 

OREGON WATER RESOURCES DEPARTMENT 

 

276



General Fund 2 

GRANT AGREEMENT  

WPG-D-0020-25 

Fisher Farms Wells & Associated Improvements 

 
BETWEEN:  State of Oregon, acting by and through its  

Oregon Water Resources Department (Grantor),   

Address: 725 Summer Street NE, Suite A, Salem, Oregon 97301-1266  

Phone Number: (503) 979-9160 

Facsimile Number: (503) 986-0903  

E-Mail Address: OWRD.Grants@water.oregon.gov 

The Grantor's Coordinator for this Grant is    

Louisa Mariki 

 

AND:   City of Dayton (Grantee) 

Attn: Jeremy Caudle    

Title: City Manager    

Address: PO Box 339, 416 Ferry Street, Dayton OR 97114 

Telephone Number: (503) 864-2221 

E-Mail Address: jcaudle@daytonoregon.gov    

 
 

 

SECTION 1  

LEGAL BASIS OF AWARD  

  

Section 1.01 Legal Basis of Award.  Pursuant to House Bill 5006 (2025), Oregon Laws 2025, chapter 628, 

Grantor is authorized to enter into a grant agreement and to make an award from moneys available to the 

Oregon Water Resources Department to Grantee for the purposes set forth herein.   

 

Section 1.02 Agreement Documents. This grant agreement (“Grant Agreement” or “Agreement”) consists 

of this Agreement and the exhibits listed below. Exhibits A, B, C and D are attached hereto and all of the 

exhibits (Exhibits A through D) are incorporated into this Agreement by reference. In the event of a conflict 

between two or more of the documents comprising this Agreement, the language in the document with the 

highest precedence shall control. The precedence of each of the documents comprising this Agreement is 

as follows, listed from highest precedence to lowest precedence:  

i. This Grant Agreement, less all exhibits; 

ii. Exhibit A (Conditions of Agreement); 

iii. Exhibit B (Grant Budget); 

iv. Exhibit C (Project Description); and 

v. Exhibit D (Permits and Regulatory Approvals). 

 

Section 1.03 Agreement Term.  This Agreement shall be effective when it is signed by the Grantor and 

Grantee (“Parties”) and approved as required by law (the “Effective Date”).  Unless terminated earlier 

pursuant to Section 6 of this Agreement, this Agreement will terminate on June 30, 2027, or on the date 

that Grantor disburses the final ten percent (10%) of Grant moneys as provided in Section 2.03 of this 

Agreement, whichever comes first (the “Expiration Date”). 

 

277

mailto:OWRD.Grants@water.oregon.gov
mailto:jcaudle@daytonoregon.gov


General Fund 3 

SECTION 2  

GRANT AWARD  

 

Section 2.01 Notice of Grant Award.  In accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, 

Grantor shall provide Grantee with a maximum of $1,218,750 (the “Grant”) from the General Fund to 

financially support the water resource project activities designated within the project description set forth 

in Exhibit C (the “Project”).  The Grant amount may not be increased without a written amendment(s) to 

this Grant Agreement.  The Grant Budget is set forth in Exhibit B. 

 

Section 2.02 Grant Availability.  Grantee shall not submit, and Grantor shall not pay, any reimbursement 

request (“Fund Request”) for expenditures that occur before the Effective Date or after the Expiration Date.  

 

Section 2.03 Disbursement of Grant Moneys. Subject to Sections 2.04 and 2.05, Grantor shall disburse the 

Grant moneys to Grantee upon submission of the most current Fund Request Form provided by Grantor to 

Grantee.  The Fund Request Form must be completed and signed by the Grantee with appropriate 

documentation of expenditures prior to approval and payout of any Grant moneys by Grantor. The Grantor 

will disburse the Grant moneys only as reimbursement for costs incurred by Grantee for the Project. The 

final 10% of Grant moneys will be disbursed to Grantee only after Grantee submits and Grantor approves 

the Final Report described in Exhibit A under item no. 3 and shall be contingent upon Grantee adherence 

to all conditions within Exhibit A.  The Grantor may disburse Grant moneys after the Grant Expiration Date 

for reimbursement requests submitted by July 30, 2027, for expenses incurred prior to the Grant Expiration 

Date. Grantee may submit a Fund Request no more often than monthly. 

 

Section 2.04 Conditions Precedent to this Agreement or any Amendment to this Agreement.  Grantor’s 

obligations under this Agreement or under any amendment to this Agreement are subject to compliance by 

Grantee with all its reporting obligations under any earlier or other existing grant agreements with the 

Grantor. 

 

Section 2.05 Conditions Precedent to Disbursements.  Grantor’s obligation to disburse Grant moneys to 

Grantee pursuant to Section 2.03 is subject to satisfaction, with respect to each disbursement, of each of the 

following conditions precedent:   

(a) Grantee shall hold and maintain registration as a legal entity with the Oregon Secretary of State prior 

to, and throughout, the duration of the Grant;  

(b) Grantor has received sufficient funding, appropriations limitations, allotments, or other expenditure 

authorizations to allow Grantor, in the reasonable exercise of its administrative discretion, to make the 

disbursement;  

(c) Grantee’s representations and warranties set forth in Section 4 are true and correct on the date of 

disbursement with the same effect as though made on the date of disbursement; 

(d) Grantee is in compliance with all reporting requirements of this Agreement identified in Exhibit A;  

(e) Grantee has submitted to the Grantor, the required permits and regulatory approvals listed in Exhibit C 

“Project Description” and Exhibit D “Permits and Regulatory Approvals” or as are otherwise required 

for the Project. As required by ORS 541.692(1), Grantee must obtain all applicable local, state, and 

federal permits prior to release of funds for the Project.  Grantor shall require that Grantee obtain all 

permits or regulatory approvals required for the Project, even those not previously identified by the 

Grantee, before disbursing Grant moneys. In its sole discretion, Grantor may condition the release of 

funds based on specific circumstances of the Project. By executing this Agreement, Grantee 

acknowledges that it has reviewed Exhibit A Conditions of Agreement.  

(f) For Project tasks that take place on private land(s), Grantee has submitted to the Grantor:  

278



General Fund 4 

1) Evidence that landowner(s) are aware of and agree to the task. Evidence shall include, but is 

not limited to: (i) landowner(s) certification that the landowner owns the land where the work 

will be carried out and (ii) landowner’s agreement to allow Grantee to carry out the work, or a 

portion of the work on the Landowner’s property; or  

2) Evidence documenting legal easement on all lands where the work will be carried out. Evidence 

shall include, but is not limited to: (i) documentation of easement and (ii) easement holder’s 

agreement to allow Grantee to carry out the work, or a portion of the work on the servient 

estate;  

(g) No default as described in Section 6.03 has occurred; and 

(h) Grantee has submitted to Grantor a Fund Request that is in a format acceptable to and approved by 

Grantor and that is accompanied by all necessary supporting documentation.  

 

 

SECTION 3  

USES OF GRANT  

  

Section 3.01 Eligible Uses of Grant.  Grantee’s use of the Grant moneys is limited to those expenditures 

necessary to successfully execute the Project tasks described in Exhibit C and that are in accordance with 

the allowable costs and budget procedures guidance document provided by the Grantor. Equipment 

purchases of a durable nature may not be financed with Grant moneys unless expressly authorized by 

Grantor in writing apart from and in addition to the approved Fund Request. 

 

Section 3.02 Ineligible Uses of Grant.  Notwithstanding Section 3.01, Grantee shall not use the Grant 

moneys to pay principal or interest on any debt; reimburse any person or entity for expenditures made or 

expenses incurred prior to the Effective Date; make loans or grants to third parties; pay indirect costs that 

cannot be directly attributable to the Project; or pay internal costs charged to the Project by Grantee or 

payments made to Related Parties.  A Related Party for this purpose includes members of the same 

controlled group within the meaning of 26 C.F.R. § 1.150-1(e). No more than 10% of the Grant may be 

used to pay for the administrative costs of Grantee.  The aggregate of all disbursements of the Grant shall 

not exceed the maximum Grant amount set forth in Section 2.01. 

  

Section 3.03 Mis-expended and Unexpended Grant Moneys.  Any Grant moneys disbursed to Grantee that 

are not expended by Grantee in accordance with this Agreement (“Mis-expended Moneys”) or are not 

expended by the earlier of the Expiration Date or the date this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 

6 of this Agreement (“Unexpended Moneys”) shall be returned to Grantor.  Grantee shall return all Mis-

expended or Unexpended Moneys to Grantor within fifteen (15) days after the earlier of the Expiration 

Date, the date this Agreement is terminated or Grantor’s demand.   

 

 

SECTION 4  

GRANTEE’S REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES  

  

Grantee represents and warrants to Grantor as follows:  

  

Section 4.01 Existence and Power.  Grantee is legally formed and in good standing under Oregon law and 

has full power and authority to transact the business in which it is engaged and the legal right to execute 

and deliver this Agreement and incur and perform its obligations hereunder.   

  

Section 4.02 Authority, No Contravention.  The making and performance by Grantee of this Agreement (a) 

279



General Fund 5 

has been duly authorized by all necessary action of Grantee, (b) does not and will not violate any provision 

of any applicable law, rule, or regulation or order of any court, regulatory commission, board or other 

administrative body or any provision of Grantee’s organization documents and (c) does not and will not 

result in the breach of, or constitute a default or require any consent under, any other agreement or 

instrument to which Grantee is a party or by which Grantee or any of its properties are bound or affected.  

  

Section 4.03 Binding Obligation.  This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered on 

behalf of Grantee and constitutes the legal, valid, and binding obligation of Grantee, enforceable in 

accordance with its terms.  

  

Section 4.04 Approvals.  No authorization, consent, license, or approval of, filing or registration with, or 

notification to, any governmental body or regulatory or supervisory authority is required for the execution, 

delivery or performance by Grantee of this Agreement. 

 

Section 4.05 Required Permits.  To the best of Grantee’s knowledge the permits and regulatory approvals 

listed in Exhibit D to this Agreement constitute the permits and regulatory approvals required to construct, 

complete, and thereafter operate the Project as contemplated in this Agreement. If during the term of this 

Agreement, Grantee becomes aware of additional permits or regulatory approvals that are needed and not 

previously identified, Grantee shall promptly notify Grantor of the additional permit(s) or regulatory 

approval(s) by submitting an addendum to the Grantor setting forth the additional permit(s) or regulatory 

approval(s). 

 

 

SECTION 5  

GRANTEE’S SUB-AGREEMENTS AND PROCUREMENTS  

  

Section 5.01 Sub-agreements.   

 

(a) Grantee may enter into agreements with sub-recipients, contractors or sub-contractors (“Sub-

agreements”) for performance of the Project. Regarding sub-agreements over $25,000, the Grantee 

must have available and shall provide upon request documentation describing the Project tasks which 

the sub-agreement is intended to help complete, the cost of the Sub-agreement, and a description of the 

selection process by which the Sub-agreement was awarded. All Sub-agreements must be in writing 

and duly executed by the Grantee and must incorporate and pass through all of the applicable 

requirements of this Agreement to the other party or parties to the Sub-agreements. Grantee agrees to 

provide the Grantor with a copy of any signed Sub-agreements upon request by the Grantor. Any 

material breach of a term or condition of Sub-agreements relating to funds covered by this Agreement 

must be reported by the Grantee to the Grantor within ten (10) days of it being discovered. Use of a 

Sub-agreement does not relieve the Grantee of its responsibilities under this Agreement. 

(b) Grantee’s Sub-agreement(s) shall require the other party to such Sub-agreements(s) that is not a unit of 

local government as defined in ORS 190.003, if any, to indemnify, defend, save and hold harmless the 

Grantor and its officers, employees and agents from and against any and all claims, actions, liabilities, 

damages, losses, or expenses, including attorneys’ fees, caused, or alleged to be caused, in whole or in 

part, by the negligent or willful acts or omissions of the other party to Grantee’s Sub-agreement or any 

of such party’s officers, agents, employees or subcontractors (“Claims”). It is the specific intention of 

the Parties that the Grantor shall, in all instances, except for Claims arising solely from the negligent 

or willful acts or omissions of the Grantor, be indemnified by the other party to Grantee’s Sub-

agreement(s) from and against any and all Claims. 

(c) Any such indemnification shall also provide that neither Grantee’s subrecipient(s), contractor(s) nor 

subcontractor(s), nor any attorney engaged by Grantee’s subrecipient(s), contractor(s) or 

280



General Fund 6 

subcontractor(s) shall defend any claim in the name of the Grantor or any agency of the State of Oregon, 

nor purport to act as legal representative of the State of Oregon or any of its agencies, without the prior 

written consent of the Oregon Attorney General. The Grantor may, at any time at its election, assume 

its own defense and settlement in the event that it determines that Grantee’s subrecipient is prohibited 

from defending the State, or that Grantee’s subrecipient is not adequately defending the Grantor’s 

interests, or that an important governmental principle is at issue or that it is in the best interests of the 

Grantor to do so. The Grantor reserves all rights to pursue claims it may have against Grantee’s 

subrecipient if the State of Oregon elects to assume its own defense. 

 

Section 5.02 Procurements for Public Entities.  If Grantee is a public entity subject to the Oregon Public 

Contracting code, Grantee shall make purchases of any equipment, materials, or services for the Project 

under procedures that comply with Oregon law, including all applicable provisions of the Oregon Public 

Contracting Code and rules. 

 

Section 5.03 Procurements for Private Entities.  If Grantee is a private entity: 

(a) For procurements over $25,000, Grantee must solicit quotes or bids from at least three sources. 

(b) The Grantee shall retain and provide upon request documentation of the bidding and selection process 

for all procurements over $25,000. 

 

Section 5.04 Sole Source Procurement for Private Entities.  If Grantee is a private entity: 

(a) Grantee may make the determination that competitive procurement is not feasible if one of the following 

circumstances exist: 

(i) Item or service is available only from a single source; or 

(ii) A public exigency or emergency will not permit a delay resulting from a competitive solicitation or 

it can be shown unequivocally that desired time frames for delivery must be met or the entire Project 

will suffer as a direct result of the delay. 

 

(b)  For all sole source procurements Grantee shall provide documentation to the Grantor in writing which 

shall contain: 

(i) a brief description of the Project, the amount to be designated for the sole source procurement, and 

the purpose of the contract; 

(ii) explanation of why it is necessary to contract in a noncompetitive manner; and,  

(iii) a declaration that this action is in the “best interest” of the Grantor. 

 
Section 5.05 Compliance with Laws, including Prevailing Wage.  

 

  

(a) Grantee shall comply with state prevailing wage law as set forth in ORS 279C.800 through 

279C.870, and the administrative rules promulgated thereunder (OAR Chapter 839, Division 25) 

(collectively, state “PWR”). This includes but is not limited to imposing an obligation that when 

PWR applies to the Project, contractors and subcontractors on the Project must pay the prevailing 

rate of wage for workers in each trade or occupation in each locality as determined by the 

Commissioner of the Bureau of Labor and Industries (“BOLI”) under ORS 279C.815.  

(b) When the federal Davis-Bacon Act applies to the Project, contractors and subcontractors on the 

Project must pay the prevailing rate of wage as determined by the United States Secretary of Labor 

under the Davis-Bacon Act (40 U.S.C. 3141 et seq.).   

281



General Fund 7 

(c) Notwithstanding (1) and (2) above, when both PWR and the federal Davis-Bacon Act apply to the 

Project, contractors and subcontractors on the Project must pay a rate of wage that meets or exceeds 

the greater of the rate provided in (3)(a) or (3)(b) above.   

(d) When PWR applies, Grantee and its contractors and subcontractors shall not contract with any 

contractor on BOLI’s current List of Contractors Ineligible to Receive Public Works Contracts. 

(e) When PWR applies, Grantee shall be responsible for both providing the notice to the BOLI 

Commissioner required by ORS 279C.835 and the payment of any prevailing wage fee(s) required 

under ORS 279C.825 and BOLI’s rules, including OAR 839-025-0200 to OAR 839-025-0230. For 

avoidance of any doubt, Grantee contractually agrees to pay applicable prevailing wage fees for the 

Project rather than OHCS, the public agency providing Financing Proceeds under this Contract.  

(f) When PWR applies, and before starting work, Contractor shall file with the Construction 

Contractors Board, and maintain in full force and effect, the separate public works bond required 

by ORS 279C.836 and OAR 839-025-0015, unless otherwise exempt under those provisions. The 

Contractor shall also include in every subcontract a provision requiring any subcontractor to have 

a public works bond filed with the Construction Contractors Board before starting Work, unless 

otherwise exempt, and shall verify that the subcontractor has filed a public works bond before 

permitting the subcontractor to start Work.  

(g) Pursuant to ORS 279C.817, Grantee and any contractors or subcontractors may request that the 

BOLI Commissioner make a determination about whether the Project is a public works on which 

payment of the prevailing rate of wage is required under ORS 279C.840 (i.e. whether PWR 

applies). 

 

 

 

SECTION 6  

TERMINATION AND DEFAULT  

  

Section 6.01 Mutual Termination.  This Agreement may be terminated by mutual written consent of both 

Parties.  

  

Section 6.02 Termination by Grantor.  Grantor may terminate this Agreement, for any reason, upon 30 days 

advance written notice to Grantee.  In addition, Grantor may terminate this Agreement effective 

immediately upon written notice to Grantee, or effective on such later date as may be established by Grantor 

in such notice, under any of the following circumstances: 

(a) Grantor fails to receive sufficient appropriations or other expenditure authorization to allow Grantor, 

in the reasonable exercise of its administrative discretion, to continue making payments under this 

Agreement; or, 

(b) The Grantor does not have sufficient funds to continue making payments under this Agreement; or,  

(c) There is a change in federal or state laws, rules, regulations or guidelines so that the Project funded by 

this Agreement is no longer eligible for funding; or,  

(d) In accordance with Section 6.04.    

 

Section 6.03 Default. Grantee shall be in default under this Agreement upon the occurrence of any of the 

following events:  

(a) Grantee fails to perform, observe or discharge any of its covenants, agreements or obligations contained 

herein or in any exhibit attached hereto; or  

282



General Fund 8 

(b) Any representation, warranty or statement made by Grantee herein or in any documents or reports relied 

upon by Grantor to measure progress on the activities funded by the Grant, the expenditure of Grant 

moneys or the performance by Grantee is untrue in any material respect when made; or  

(c) Grantee (i) applies for or consents to the appointment of, or the taking of possession by, a receiver, 

custodian, trustee, or liquidator of itself or of all of its property, (ii) admits in writing its inability, or is 

generally unable, to pay its debts as they become due, (iii) makes a general assignment for the benefit 

of its creditors, (iv) commences a voluntary case under the federal Bankruptcy Code (as now or 

hereafter in effect), (v) files a petition seeking to take advantage of any other law relating to bankruptcy, 

insolvency, reorganization, winding-up, or composition or adjustment of debts, (vi) fails to controvert 

in a timely and appropriate manner, or acquiesces in writing to, any petition filed against it in an 

involuntary case under the federal Bankruptcy Code (as now or hereafter in effect), or (vii) takes any 

action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing; or  

(d) A proceeding or case is commenced, without the application or consent of Grantee, in any court of 

competent jurisdiction, seeking (i) the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, or the composition or 

readjustment of debts, of Grantee, (ii) the appointment of a trustee, receiver, custodian, liquidator, or 

the like of Grantee or of all or any substantial part of its assets, or (iii) similar relief in respect to Grantee 

under any law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, winding-up, or composition or 

adjustment of debts, and such proceeding or case continues undismissed, or an order, judgment, or 

decree approving or ordering any of the foregoing is entered and continues unstayed and in effect for a 

period of sixty (60) consecutive days, or an order for relief against Grantee is entered in an involuntary 

case under the federal Bankruptcy Code (as now or hereafter in effect).  

  

Section 6.04 Remedies Upon Default.  If Grantee’s default is not cured within fifteen (15) days of written 

notice thereof to Grantee from Grantor or such longer period as Grantor may authorize in its sole discretion, 

Grantor may pursue any remedies available under this Agreement, at law or in equity. Such remedies 

include, but are not limited to, termination of this Agreement, return of all or a portion of the Grant moneys, 

payment of interest earned on the Grant moneys, reallocation of funds allocated to the Project but not used, 

and declaration of ineligibility for the receipt of future funding from the Grantor.     

 

 

SECTION 7 

MISCELLANEOUS  

  

Section 7.01 No Implied Waiver, Cumulative Remedies.  The failure of Grantor to exercise, and any delay 

in exercising, any right, power, or privilege under this Agreement shall not operate as a waiver thereof, nor 

shall any single or partial exercise of any right, power, or privilege under this Agreement preclude any other 

or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other such right, power, or privilege.  The remedies 

provided herein are cumulative and not exclusive of any remedies provided by law.  

 

Section 7.02 Choice of Law; Designation of Forum; Federal Forum.   

(a) The laws of the State of Oregon (without giving effect to its conflicts of law principles) govern all matters 

arising out of or relating to this Agreement, including, without limitation, its validity, interpretation, 

construction, performance, and enforcement.   

(b) Any Party bringing a legal action or proceeding against any other Party arising out of or relating to this 

Agreement shall bring the legal action or proceeding in the Circuit Court of the State of Oregon for 

Marion County (unless Oregon law requires that it be brought and conducted in another county).  Each 

Party hereby consents to the exclusive jurisdiction of such court, waives any objection to venue, and 

waives any claim that such forum is an inconvenient forum. 

283



General Fund 9 

(c) Notwithstanding Section 7.02(b), if a claim must be brought in a federal forum, then it must be brought 

and adjudicated solely and exclusively within the United States District Court for the District of Oregon.  

This Section applies to a claim brought against the State of Oregon only to the extent Congress has 

appropriately abrogated the State of Oregon’s sovereign immunity and is not consent by the State of 

Oregon to be sued in federal court.  This Section is also not a waiver by the State of Oregon of any 

form of defense or immunity, including but not limited to sovereign immunity and immunity based on 

the Eleventh Amendment to the Constitution of the United States.  

 
Section 7.03 Notices.  Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, any notices or demands 

required or permitted to be given hereunder shall be given in writing by personal delivery, facsimile, or 

mailing the same, postage prepaid to Grantee or Grantor at the address or number set forth on page 2 of this 

Agreement, or to such other addresses or numbers as either Party may hereafter indicate pursuant to this 

section.  Any such notice or demand so addressed and mailed shall be deemed to be given five (5) days 

after mailing.  Any notice or demand delivered by facsimile shall be deemed to be given when receipt of 

the transmission is generated by the transmitting machine.  Any notice or demand by personal delivery shall 

be deemed to be given when actually delivered.  

  

Section 7.04 Amendments.  This Agreement may not be altered, modified, supplemented, extended or 

amended in any manner except by written instrument signed by both Parties. No term of this Agreement 

may be waived unless such waiver is agreed to in writing by the Party against whom such waiver is sought 

to be enforced.  

  

Section 7.05 Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of 

Grantor, Grantee, and their respective successors and assigns, except that Grantee may not assign or transfer 

its rights or obligations hereunder or any interest herein without the prior consent in writing of Grantor.  

  

Section 7.06 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties on 

the subject matter hereof.  There are no understandings, agreements, or representations, oral or written, not 

specified herein regarding this Agreement.  

  

Section 7.07 Contribution.   

 

(a) If any third party makes any claim or brings any action, suit or proceeding alleging a tort as now 

or hereafter defined in ORS 30.260 (“Third-Party Tort Claim”) against a party to this Agreement 

(the “Notified Party”) with respect to which the other party may have liability, the Notified Party 

must promptly notify the other party in writing and deliver a copy of the claim, process, and all 

legal pleadings related to the Third-Party Tort Claim. Either party is entitled to participate in the 

defense of a Third-Party Tort Claim, and to defend a Third-Party Tort Claim with counsel of its 

own choosing. The foregoing provisions are conditions precedent for either party’s liability to the 

other in regard to the Third-Party Claim. 

 

If the parties are jointly liable (or would be if joined in the Third-Party Tort Claim), the parties 

shall contribute to the amount of expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts 

paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred and paid or payable in such proportion as is 

appropriate to reflect their respective relative fault. The relative fault of the parties shall be 

determined by reference to, among other things, the parties’ relative intent, knowledge, access to 

information and opportunity to correct or prevent the circumstances resulting in such expenses, 

judgments, fines or settlement amounts. Each party’s contribution amount in any instance is capped 

to the same extent it would have been capped under Oregon law if that party had sole liability in 

the proceeding. This Section shall survive termination of this Agreement. 

 

284



General Fund 10 

(b) Recipient shall take all reasonable steps to require its contractor(s) that are not units of local 

government as defined in ORS 190.003, if any, to indemnify, defend (subject to ORS chapter 180), 

save and hold harmless the State of Oregon and its officers, employees and agents (“Indemnitee”) 

from and against any and all claims, actions, liabilities, damages, losses, or expenses (including 

attorneys’ fees) arising from a tort (as now or hereafter defined in ORS 30.260) caused, or alleged 

to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or willful acts or omissions of Recipient’s 

contractor or any of the officers, agents, employees or subcontractors of the contractor (“Contractor 

Tort Claims”). It is the specific intention of the parties that the Indemnitee shall, in all instances, 

except for Contractor Tort Claims arising solely from the negligent or willful acts or omissions of 

the Indemnitee, be indemnified by the contractor from and against any and all Contractor Tort 

Claims. This Section shall survive termination of this Agreement.  

 

(c) Except for Third-Party Tort Claims and Contractor Tort Claims as provided above, to the extent 

authorized by law, Recipient shall defend, indemnify, save and hold harmless and release the State, 

Agency, and their officers, employees and agents from and against any and all claims, demands, 

suits, actions, proceedings, losses, damages, liability and court awards including but not limited to 

costs, expenses, and reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred (collectively, “Non-Tort Claims”), related 

to any actual or alleged act or omission by Recipient, or its officers, employees, contractors, or 

agents in connection with this Agreement, and the Project, including without limitation, any 

expenses incurred or amounts paid in connection with an inquiry, investigation, audit or similar 

proceeding by the Internal Revenue Service, Treasury and any other federal, state, governmental 

or quasi-governmental body with regulatory jurisdiction arising from the Project or the actions or 

omissions of Grantee, or its officers, employees, contractors, or agents. 

 

(d) Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither Recipient nor any attorney engaged by Recipient may 

defend any Non-Tort Claim in the name of the State of Oregon, nor purport to act as legal 

representative for the State of Oregon, without first receiving from the Oregon Attorney General in 

a form and manner determined appropriate by the Oregon Attorney General, authority to act as 

legal counsel for the State of Oregon, nor may Grantee settle any Non-Tort Claim on behalf of the 

State of Oregon without the approval of the Oregon Attorney General. If the State of Oregon 

assumes its own defense, Recipient will be liable for the attorney fees of the State of Oregon, 

including but not limited to any fees charged by the Oregon Department of Justice. The provisions 

of this section are not to be construed as a waiver by the State of Oregon, or Agency of any 

immunity, defense or limitation on damages provided for under Chapter 30 of the Oregon Revised 

Statutes or under the laws of the United States or other laws of the State of Oregon. 

 
 

 Section 7.08 Time is of the Essence.  Grantee agrees that time is of the essence under this Agreement.  

  

Section 7.09 Survival.   All provisions of this Agreement set forth in the following sections and all 

provisions of this Agreement that by their terms are intended to survive shall survive the expiration or 

termination of this Agreement: Section 3.03, Mis-expended and Unexpended Grant Moneys; Section 6.04, 

Remedies Upon Default; Section 7, MISCELLANEOUS; and Exhibit A sections 3. (Final Report), 6. 

(Records and Inspection), 7. (Operations and Maintenance of the Project) and 8. (Publicity).  

  

Section 7.10 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, all of which when 

taken together shall constitute one agreement binding on all Parties, notwithstanding that all Parties are not 

signatories to the same counterpart.  Each copy of this Agreement so executed shall constitute an original.    

  

Section 7.11 Severability.  If any term or provision of this Agreement is declared by a court of competent 

jurisdiction to be illegal or in conflict with any law, the validity of the remaining terms and provisions shall 

285



General Fund 11 

not be affected, and the rights and obligations of the Parties shall be construed and enforced as if this 

Agreement did not contain the particular term or provision held to be invalid.    

  

Section 7.12 Relationship of Parties.  The Parties agree and acknowledge that their relationship is that of 

independent contracting parties, and neither Party hereto shall be deemed an agent, partner, joint venturer 

or related entity of the other by reason of this Agreement.  

  

Section 7.13 Headings.  The section headings in this Agreement are included for convenience only, they do 

not give full notice of the terms of any portion of this Agreement and are not relevant to the interpretation 

of any provision of this Agreement.  

  

Section 7.14 No Third Party Beneficiaries.  Grantor and Grantee are the only parties to this Agreement and 

are the only parties entitled to enforce its terms.  Nothing in this Agreement gives, is intended to give, or 

shall be construed to give or provide any benefit or right, whether directly, indirectly or otherwise, to third 

persons.  

 

Section 7.15 Duplicate Payment.  Grantee shall not receive duplicate payments from another entity for 

expenses invoiced to the Grantor.  

 

Section 7.16 False Claims Act.  Grantee will refer to the Grantor any credible evidence that a principal, 

employee, agent, contractor or other person has submitted a false claim under the False Claims Act (31 

USC 3729-3733; ORS 180.750-180.785) or has committed a criminal or civil violation of laws pertaining 

to fraud, conflict of interest, bribery, gratuity or similar misconduct involving funds provided under this 

Grant Agreement. 

 

Section 7.17 Cooperation.  The Grantor and Grantee acknowledge that as the Project progresses, aspects of 

the Project captured in the Exhibits may need to be adjusted and refined through the amendment process, 

and that the ultimate success of this Project requires the cooperation of both Parties. Grantor and Grantee 

both agree to use good faith efforts and their best professional judgment to resolve any issues that may arise 

during the course of the Project. 

 

Section 7.18 Dispute Resolution.  The Grantor and Grantee shall attempt in good faith to resolve any dispute 

arising out of this Agreement. In addition, the Grantor and Grantee may agree to utilize a jointly selected 

mediator or arbitrator (for non-binding arbitration) to resolve the dispute short of litigation. 

 

  

286



General Fund 12 

THE PARTIES, by execution of this Agreement, hereby acknowledge that their signing representatives 

have read this Agreement, understand it, have full power and authority to bind their respective Party and 

agree to be bound by the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 
 

 
GRANTEE 

 

City of Dayton, by and through its Governing Body 

 

By _____________________________ 

Name: Jeremy Caudle 

Title: City Manager 

 

Date ___________________________ 

 

By _____________________________ 

Name:  

Title:  

 

Date ___________________________ 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO LEGAL SUFFICIENCY 

(If required in local process) 

By _____________________________ 

Grantee’s Legal Counsel  

 

Date ___________________________ 

 

Grantee Contact: 

City of Dayton 

Jeremy Caudle 

PO Box 339, 416 Ferry Street 

Dayton, OR 97114 
(503) 864-2221 

jcaudle@daytonoregon.gov   

 

GRANTOR 

 

  
 

 

By ____________________________ 

Name: Lisa Snyder 

Title: Administrative Services Administrator 

 

Date _________________________ 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO LEGAL SUFFICIENCY 

(For funding over $250,000) 

By: Zoey Kohn via email_____ 

Assistant Attorney General 

 

Date 12/1/2025_____________ 

 

Grantor Contact: 

Oregon Water Resources Department 

Attn: Louisa Mariki  

725 Summer St NE, Suite A 

Salem, OR 97301-1266 

(503) 979-9160 

OWRD.Grants@water.oregon.gov  

  

  

 

STATE OF OREGON, by and through its 

Water Resources Department 

 

287

mailto:jcaudle@daytonoregon.gov
mailto:OWRD.Grants@water.oregon.gov


General Fund 13 

EXHIBIT A 
 

CONDITIONS OF AGREEMENT 

 

The following conditions apply to the implementation of this Agreement:  

 

1. Permits and Regulatory Approvals.  Prior to disbursement of any Grant moneys for any activities 

requiring a permit or regulatory approval, the Grantee must obtain all permits and regulatory 

approvals from local, state, or federal agencies or governing bodies necessary to perform its 

obligations under this Agreement and provide a copy to the Grantor. Satisfaction of the condition 

related to permits and regulatory approvals precedent to disbursements is set forth in Section 

2.05(e).   

 

2. Semi-Annual Progress Reports.  Between the Effective Date and the Expiration Date, the Grantee 

shall provide the Grantor with a progress report two times per calendar year (due January 31 and 

July 31).  The Grantee will use the forms provided by the Grantor, which will include information 

regarding the expenditure of the Grant moneys, compliance with the terms of this Agreement, 

progress toward completion of the Project as documented in the Exhibits, and a narrative on the 

activities completed as part of the Project. 

 

3. Final Report.  No later than July 15, 2027, the Grantee shall file with the Grantor a signed Final 

Report.  The Final Report must be completed on a form provided by the Grantor that will require a 

summary of the Project as completed. 

 

4. Release of Reports.  All reports that the Grantor determines to be final and complete will be made 

available to the public. 

 

5. Project Inspection.  During implementation of the Project and any time prior to Grantor approval 

of the Final Report, the Grantee shall permit the Grantor to inspect, at any reasonable time, the 

property, both real and personal, all work done, labor performed and materials furnished in 

connection with the activities financed with Grant moneys.   

 

6. Records and Inspection.  Grantee shall keep proper books of account and records on all activities 

associated with the Grant including, but not limited to, books of account and records on expenditure 

of the Grant moneys and on the activities financed with the Grant moneys.  Grantee will maintain 

these books of account and records in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 

and shall retain the books of account and records until the latest of (i) six years after the Expiration 

Date; or (ii) the date that all disputes, if any, arising under this Agreement have been resolved.  

Grantee will permit Grantor, the Secretary of State of the State of Oregon, or their duly authorized 

representatives to inspect and to review and make excerpts, transcripts and copies of its books of 

account and records with respect to the receipt and disbursement of funds received from Grantor, 

including, without limitation, its records regarding receipts, disbursements, contracts, investment 

of Grant moneys, if any, and any other matters related to the use of Grant moneys or Project work.  

Access to these books of account and records is not limited to the required retention period.  The 

authorized representatives shall have access to these books of account and records at any reasonable 

time for as long as the records are maintained.  

   
7. Operation and Maintenance of the Project.  Until ten (10) years after the Expiration Date, 

Grantee shall monitor, evaluate, operate, and maintain the Project, or cause the Project to be 

operated and maintained, in good repair and operating condition so as to preserve the long-term 

288



General Fund 14 

public benefit of the Project, including making all necessary and proper repairs, replacements, 

additions and improvements to the Project. 

 

8. Publicity.  Grantee shall make every effort to acknowledge and publicize the State or Oregon’s 

(Oregon Water Resource Department) participation and assistance with the project. Upon 

completion of the Project, Grantee shall post a permanent sign at the Project site or other location 

approved by Grantor, acknowledging the participation of the State of Oregon (Oregon Water 

Resources Department) in the Project. Grantee shall maintain the sign throughout the life of the 

project. Signage content must be approved by Grantor to be eligible for reimbursement as an 

eligible Project cost.  

 

9. Cultural Material.  If any cultural material is discovered during Project activities, all work should 

cease immediately (ORS 97.745 and ORS 97.750) until a professional archaeologist can assess the 

discovery, and Grantee shall immediately notify the Oregon State Police, the Water Resources 

Department, the Legislative Commission on Indian Services, the appropriate Tribe(s), and the 

State’s Historic Preservation Office (SHPO).  Additionally, in the case of cultural material 

discovery, Grantee shall prepare a report of the Project outlining the results of the archaeological 

monitoring and submit its report to SHPO for inclusion in SHPO’s resource library and GIS 

database. 

 

10. Taxes and Assessments; Utilities.  Grantee shall pay, or cause to be paid, all taxes, utility charges 

and governmental charges of any kind whatsoever that may at any time be lawfully assessed or 

levied against or with respect to the Project.  If any governmental charges may lawfully be paid in 

installments over a period of years, the Grantee may pay, or cause to be paid, those charges in 

installments.  The Grantee may contest, or permit to be contested, in good faith the validity or 

application of any tax, utility charge or governmental charge in any reasonable manner, so long as 

the contest does not subject any portion of the Project to loss or forfeiture. 

 

11. Certification of Compliance with Laws.  Grantee hereby certifies that it has complied, and agrees 

that it shall comply, with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations, executive orders 

and ordinances related to expenditure of the Grant moneys and the activities financed with the 

Grant moneys.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Grantee expressly agrees to 

comply with (a) Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, (b) Section V of the Rehabilitation Act 

of 1973, (c) the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and ORS 659A.142, (d) all regulations 

and administrative rules established pursuant to the foregoing laws, and (e) all other applicable 

requirements of federal and state civil rights and rehabilitation statutes, rules and regulations. 

  

12. Work Products and Intellectual Property.  Any work products developed using Grant moneys 

will remain in the public domain and cannot be used for proprietary purposes.  

   
13. Engineering Reviews. If requested by the Grantor, the Grantee shall provide any engineering or 

other Project documentation for the review and approval by the Grantor prior to Project 

implementation. 

 

 

  

 

289



General Fund 15 

EXHIBIT B  

The Grant Budget 

 

The Grant Budget is as follows: 

 

Budget Categories   Approved Budget 

Staff Salary/Benefits $31,250 

Contractual/Consulting $1,187,500 

Supplies $0 

Materials $0 

Travel $0 

Equipment $0 

Other:  $0 

Subtotal of Grant Funds $1,218,750 

Match Funding – Expenditures from sources other than 

those managed by the Grantor 
$981,000 

Grand Total $2,199,750 

 

 

 

 

 

 

290



General Fund 16 

EXHIBIT C 

Project Description 

 
The Grantee shall evaluate and identify which existing wells at the Fisher Farms site are suitable 

for rehabilitation or new development, based on hydrogeological findings and water rights. The 

grant will be used to produce preliminary designs and construction of selected improvements, such 

as well upgrades, methane strippers, booster pumps, control buildings, and telemetry systems to 

enhance raw water supply to the City’s treatment plant and support future demand. Grant funds 

shall only be used to accomplish the following tasks in relation to the Fisher Farms Wells & 

Associated Improvements as detailed as follows: 
 

Project Tasks 

 

Task 1. Well & Water Quality Testing by City Hydrogeologist  

• Task Description – This task includes: 

o Conduct initial plan review and permitting coordination per Oregon Health 

Authority – Drinking Water Services  

o Perform field evaluations, well testing, and aquifer pumping tests.  

o Collect and analyze groundwater samples for Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA) 

compliance and biofouling risk  

o Evaluate Fisher Farms wellfield and prepare groundwater development strategy to 

consider existing and potential new wells under the City’s existing water rights  

o Provide recommendations for well redevelopment, repair, replacement, or potential 

new well construction  

o Summarize regulatory compliance steps  

o Estimate sustainable well capacities and potential interference  

o Provide design parameters for production wells and associated infrastructure 

 

Task 2. Preliminary Design of Well Site & Piping Improvements, including Wellhead 

Improvements, Methane Stripper System(s), Raw Water Booster Pump System(s), Control & 

Telemetry System Improvements 

• Task Description – This task includes: 

o Conduct topographic survey to integrate existing improvements at Fisher Farms 

property  

o Coordinate with hydrogeologic evaluation from Task 1 to determine optimal siting 

of production wells and well pumps  

o Design upgraded electrical service, wellhead control, telemetry, and SCADA 

improvements  

o Coordinate vacuum excavation potholing verification  

o Develop preliminary design layouts for wellhead and methane stripper facilities, 

shelters/control buildings, and pipeline alignments 

o Prepare preliminary electrical/control/telemetry/SCADA designs and easement 

requirements 

 

Task 3. Final Design of Well Site & Associated Piping Improvements, including Wellhead 

Improvements, Methane Stripper System(s), Raw Water Booster Pump System(s), Control & 

Telemetry System Improvements, and any required WTP Piping Improvements 

291



General Fund 17 

• Task Description – This task includes: 

o Prepare final construction drawings, specifications, and bid documents for the 

project, including wellhead improvements, piping improvements, methane 

stripper(s) along with electrical/control/telemetry/SCADA improvements and 

associated buildings/shelters 

o Coordinate required bidding and contract forms 

o Incorporate all public project requirements into bidding documents 

 

Task 4. Bidding Services 

• Task Description – This task includes: 

o  Advertise bid in local and statewide publications  

o Distribute bidding documents to prospective bidders  

o Coordinate questions from contractors, suppliers, utilities and affected agencies, 

prepare and issue addenda 

o Receive and open bids 

o Prepare bid tabulations and recommendations for award for concurrence by City 

Council and Oregon Water Resources Department 

o Provide all required Construction Contractors Board notifications 

 

Task 5. Project Award by City Council 

• Task Description – This task includes: 

o Coordinate with City Council for project award authorization  

o Issue notice of intent to award and notice of award 

o Prepare and execute contract documents 

o Review and verify bonds, insurance, and Bureau of Labor and Industries 

compliance 

o Coordinate Bureau of Labor and Industries payment and notifications  

o Finalize contract documentation 

 

Task 6. Fisher Farms Wellfield & Water System Improvements Construction 

• Task Description – This task includes:  

o Conduct preconstruction conference and issue Notice to Proceed 

o Contractor to construct all awarded improvements in accordance with approved 

drawings and specifications  

o Engineer and public works to provide construction administration, inspections, 

change order review 

o Coordinate testing/startup and SCADA integration 

o Review contractor submittals and as-built drawings 

o Prepare final completion documentation 

 
 

 

 

 

  

292



General Fund 18 

EXHIBIT D 

PERMITS AND REGULATORY APPROVALS 

Section 2.05(e) of this Agreement outlines requirements for disbursement of Grant moneys related to 

permits and regulatory approvals.  Exhibit A Conditions of Agreement may contain additional conditions 

with respect to permitting, licensing, and regulatory approvals and the disbursement of Grant moneys. 

Before the disbursement of Grant moneys for activities requiring a permit or regulatory approval, or for 
activities dependent on portions of the Project for which a permit or regulatory approval has yet to be issued, 
the Grantee must submit to the Grantor copies of all required permits or regulatory approvals or submit 
written evidence acceptable to the Grantor that permits or regulatory approvals are not required.  

Grantor may disburse Grant moneys for Project tasks that do not require a permit or regulatory approval. 
To be considered for release, the Project task(s) for which no permits or regulatory approvals are required 
shall not be dependent on the portion of the Project for which a permit, license or regulatory approval has 
yet to be issued.  

The following list of permits and regulatory approvals is not exhaustive. Grantee understands and 
agrees that it is Grantee’s responsibility to determine which permits and regulatory approvals are 
required for the Project.   

The following lists the Project activities that require permits or regulatory approvals and the associated 
permit(s)/regulatory approvals(s). By its signature on this Agreement, the Grantee certifies to Grantor that 
the following is a complete and accurate list of the Project components requiring permits or licenses and 
the associated required permits or licenses. 

Project Task Requiring Permit/Regulatory 

Approval 

Permit/Regulatory Approval Name and Entity 

Issuing  

Task 1. Well & Water Quality Testing • Approval of well and water sampled – 

Oregon Health Authority–Drinking 

Water Services 

Task 6. Construction • Approval of final well design – 

Oregon Health Authority–Drinking 

Water Services. 

• Building Permits – City of Dayton 

• Electrical Permit – Yamhill County 

• Land Use Approval – Yamhill County 

• Right-of-Way Permit – Oregon 

Department of Transportation  

• Water Rights for the existing and/or 

new well(s), as applicable – Oregon 

Water Resources Department  

_________________________________________        

Grantee Signature     Date 

 

 

293



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

294



To:   Honorable Mayor and City Councilors 

From:   Jeremy Caudle, City Manager 

Issue:   Approval of Resolution 2025/26-15 accepting specific purpose grants 

Date:   January 5, 2026 

Background and Information:  

This resolution accepts and appropriates two sources of grant funding: $1.2 million from 
OWRD and $50,000 from Business Oregon. The OWRD grant will fund construction of the 
Fisher Farm wells. The Business Oregon grant is partially funding the hydrogeology study. (The 
rest will be funded by a loan, also from Business Oregon.) 
 
Ordinarily, the Local Budget Law requires approval of a supplemental budget to increase 
appropriations after budget adoption. An exception exists for specific-purpose grants. In this 
case, the City Council may authorize expenditure of specific-purpose grants by approving a 
resolution to that effect. That’s what the present resolution accomplishes.  
 
Both grants are “specific purpose” in that the grant agreements for both specify and restrict 
how the funds are to be spent.  
 
City Manager Recommendation: Approve the resolution as written. 
 
Potential Motion: “I move to approve Resolution 2025/26-15, ‘A resolution accepting specific 
purpose grants, making appropriations, and authorizing expenditure of funds pursuant to ORS 
294.338(2) of the Local Budget Law.’” 
 
Council Options:  
 

1. Approve the resolution as written. 
2. Some other option. (Please specify.)  

 
Attachments:  
 
Resolution 2025/26-15 

295



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

296



RESOLUTION NO. 2025/26-15 
CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 

 
A Resolution Accepting Specific Purpose Grants, Making Appropriations, and Authorizing 
Expenditure of Funds Pursuant to ORS 294.338(2) of the Local Budget Law. 
 
WHEREAS,  ORS 294.338(1) generally requires a municipal corporation to comply with the 
Local Budget Law prior to expending money; and 
 
WHEREAS, ORS 294.338(2) provides an exception to that requirement for the expenditure of 
grants, gifts, bequests, devises, or other special purpose trust funds transferred to a municipal 
corporation for specific purposes, provided that the governing body enacts an appropriation 
ordinance or resolution authorizing the expenditure; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Dayton, Oregon ("City") has been awarded grant funds from state 
agencies for specific water infrastructure–related purposes, which funds are restricted to those 
purposes; and 
 
WHEREAS, acceptance of the grants and appropriation of the funds are necessary to allow 
lawful expenditure of the grant proceeds for their intended purposes; and 
 
WHEREAS, the governing body desires to accept the grants described below, increase the 
applicable revenue and expenditure accounts, and authorize expenditure of the funds in 
accordance with ORS 294.338(2); 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, the City of Dayton resolves as follows: 
 

Section 1. Acceptance of Oregon Water Resources Department Grant 
The City hereby accepts and appropriates a grant from the Oregon Water Resources 
Department (OWRD), Grant No. WPG-D-0020-25, in the amount of $1,218,750, for the 
specific purpose of Fisher Farms Well Construction. 
 
Section 2. Acceptance of Business Oregon Grant 
The City hereby accepts  and appropriates a grant from the Oregon Infrastructure 
Authority, Oregon Business Development Department (Business Oregon), Project No. 
V26004, in the amount of $50,000, for the specific purpose of the Fisher Nursery Well 
Development Feasibility Study. 
 
Section 3. Budgeting Grant Revenues 
Pursuant to ORS 294.338(2), the following revenue accounts are hereby increased for 
the fiscal year 2025-2026 budget to record anticipated receipt of the grant revenues: 
 
 

297



A. Water Capital Fund 
Increase Revenue Account 600.000.459.997 – “OWRD Grant” by $1,218,750. 
 

B. Water Capital Fund 
Increase Revenue Account 600.000.459.996 – “OBDD Grants” by $50,000. 

 
Section 4. Appropriating Grant Expenditures 
Pursuant to ORS 294.338(2), the following expenditure account is hereby increased for 
the fiscal year 2025-2026 budget to authorize expenditure of the grant funds for their 
specific purposes: 
 

A. Water Capital Fund 
Increase Expenditure Account 600.000.920.100 – “Fisher Farms Intertie” by 
$1,268,750. 

 
Section 5. Authorization to Expend Funds 
The City Manager or designee is hereby authorized to expend the grant funds 
described in this Resolution during the 2025-2026 fiscal year solely for the purposes 
stated in the respective grant agreements and in compliance with all applicable grant 
conditions, state law, and City policies. 
 
Section 6. Effective Date 
This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption. 

 
ADOPTED on this 5th day of January 2026. 
 
In Favor:                                                                                    
 
Opposed:                                                                                 
 
Absent:                                                                                     
 
Abstained:                                                                                       
 
____________________________                      ______________________                                               
Annette Frank, Mayor   Date Signed 
 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________                      _______________________                      
Rocio Vargas, City Recorder    Date of Enactment 
 

298



To:   Honorable Mayor and City Councilors 

From:   Jeremy Caudle, City Manager 

Issue:   Approval of Resolution 2025/26-16 A Resolution Adopting an Executive Session 
News Media Attendance Policy 

Date:   January 5, 2026 

Background and Information:  

This resolution is placed on the agenda for City Council’s consideration and was provided by 
the City Attorney. The resolution, if approved, would adopt an executive session news media 
attendance policy, along with an application to document recognized news media 
representatives. 
 
The policy is intended to provide clarity for determining eligibility for news media personnel 
to attend executive sessions. This is particularly the case because, per the Resolution, 
“technological advances since the time the public meetings law was initially adopted have 
resulted in development of communication mechanisms allowing virtually any individual or 
entity to disseminate information widely.” 
 
City Manager Recommendation:  
 
Potential Motion: “I move to approve Resolution 2025/26-16 ‘A Resolution Adopting an 
Executive Session News Media Attendance Policy’” 
 
Council Options:  

1. Approve Resolution 25/26-16 as recommended. 
2. Approve Resolution 25/26-16 with amendments. 
3. Take no action and request staff return with more information. 

 
Attachments:  
 
 

299



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

300



RESOLUTION NO. 2025/26-16 
CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 

 A Resolution Adopting an Executive Session News Media Attendance Policy 

WHEREAS, Oregon public meetings law provides that representatives of the news 
media shall be allowed to attend certain executive sessions of public bodies, but may 
be requested to not disclose specified information (ORS 192.660(4)); and 

WHEREAS, because at the time state law relating to media attendance at executive session 
was adopted, “news media” consisted of entities that were institutionalized and structured 
to support compliance with the requirements of ORS 192.660(4), the law includes no 
express mechanism for enforcing those requirements; and 

WHEREAS, technological advances since the time the public meetings law was initially 
adopted have resulted in development of communication mechanisms allowing virtually any 
individual or entity to disseminate information widely; and 

WHEREAS, the city council finds that in that absence of a statutory definition of “news 
media” as that term is used in ORS 192.660(4) it is necessary to adopt a policy that 
implements the intent of the public meetings law relating to executive session attendance 
without precluding attendance by internet-based or other “non-traditional” information 
disseminators that are institutionalized and committed to compliance with ORS 192.660(4); 
and 

WHEREAS, the city council recognizes that this policy is solely for determining eligibility to 
attend executive sessions, which requests non-disclosure of specified information from 
executive sessions, and is not intended to otherwise define “news media” or to determine 
eligibility to report on the city’s activities or to limit access to other city meetings by any 
person; 

NOW, THEREFORE, the City of Dayton resolves as follows: 

Section 1. The “Executive Session News Media Attendance Policy,” set forth in 
Schedule A, attached to this Resolution, is hereby approved. 

Section 2. The “Recognized New Media Representative Application,” set forth in 
Schedule B, attached to this resolution, is hereby approved. 

Section 3. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption. 
 
ADOPTED on this 5th day of January 2026. 
 
In Favor:                                                                                    
 
Opposed:                                                                                 
 
Absent:                                                                                     
 

301



Abstained:                                                                                       
 
____________________________                      ______________________                                               
Annette Frank, Mayor   Date Signed 
 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________                      _______________________                      
Rocio Vargas, City Recorder    Date of Enactment 
 
Attachments:  Schedule A  
  Schedule B 
  

302



SCHEDULE A 

EXECUTIVE SESSION NEWS MEDIA ATTENDANCE POLICY 

1. Recognized News Media Organizations. The following entities are recognized as 
news media organizations eligible to attend executive sessions: 

(A) Daily newspapers, non-daily, and small-market newspapers/publications, as 
well as similar publications that are released as digital and multiplatform 
products; or 

(B) A newspaper or publication that the city uses for publication of public 
notices and that meets the requirements of ORS 193.020; or 

(C) An entity that is organized and operated to regularly and continuously publish, 
broadcast, transmit via television, radio or the internet or otherwise 
disseminate news to the public, and that regularly reports on activities of 
public concern. 

2. Attendance at Executive Sessions. Representatives of news media organizations 
recognized pursuant to Section 1 of this policy shall be allowed to attend 
executive sessions, except as described below in paragraphs (D) and (E) of this 
section, pursuant to the following process: 

(A) The representative must provide substantial evidence persuading the city 
that he or she is a news reporter for the recognized news media 
organization. In making its determination whether to recognize the person 
as a representative of the news media organization, the city may require: 

(a) A press badge or identification issued by the recognized 
news media organization, plus proof of identity (such as a 
driver’s license); or 

(b) A recently published news article in the recognized news media 
organization publication or broadcast, with the person’s byline, or 
a masthead showing the person’s name as a member of the news 
gathering staff of the news media organization, plus proof of 
identity; or 

(c) A letter on letterhead from an editor of the recognized news media 
organization in which the editor states that the reporter is covering 
the meeting for the news media organization, plus proof of identity. 

(d) Any other credentials or evidence sufficient to demonstrate that the 
individual is a representative of the news media. 

The city requires that requests to be recognized as a representative of a 
news media organization be made in writing on a form provided by the city. 
The form shall require disclosure of the person’s name, and the entity for 
which he or she is a representative and shall require submission of evidence 
described in subsections 2(A) of this policy. The form shall also include a 

303



certification that the person is a representative of a recognized news media 
organization, that the information given is true, and that the person agrees to 
comply with ORS 192.660(4). The form will be made available on the city’s 
webpage and upon request by any individual. 

(B) Persons are requested to provide the information to the City in advance of the 
scheduled executive session. In the event that a person claiming to be a 
representative of a news media entity fails to provide advance information of 
their credentials, the person will either be allowed to attend the executive 
session, or the executive session will be postponed until a later time 

(C) The requirement to submit a request to be recognized as a representative of 
a news media organization shall apply only to the first time an individual 
seeks recognition. Once the city has verified the individual's credentials, they 
will not need to submit a request for subsequent executive sessions unless 
there is a change in their employment with the news media organization. Any 
changes in employment status must be reported to the city, and a new 
request for recognition must be submitted. 

(D) Representatives of the news media are not permitted to attend executive 
sessions involving deliberations with persons designated to carry on labor 
negotiations. ORS 192.660(4). 

(E) If the executive session is being held to confer with counsel about current 
litigation or litigation likely to be filed, the city shall exclude any member of 
the news media from attending if the member is a party to the litigation to 
be discussed or is an employee, agent or contractor of a news media 
organization that is a party to the litigation. ORS 192.660(5). 

3. Recording Devices Prohibited. Cameras, tape recorders and other recording 
devices shall not be used in executive sessions, except for the official executive 
session tapes made by city staff. 

4. Application to Boards, Commissions, and Committees. These policies and 
procedures shall apply to the city council and all of its boards, commissions and 
committees. 

304

Esin Onart
A recent OGEC decision provides that policies cannot require advance notice from media representatives to attend executive sessions. Some policies include specific timelines such as 24 hour advance notice. OGEC would likely find such provisions problematic. This language says that persons are “requested” to provide info to the City in advance. You could include this language which is not a strict deadline or you could remove paragraph (B) altogether.



SCHEDULE B 

RECOGNIZED NEWS MEDIA REPRESENTATIVE APPLICATION 

Pursuant to the City of Dayton’s Executive Session News Media Attendance Policy, those claiming to 
be representatives of the news media are requested to complete this form. Please provide the 
requested information below, complete and sign the certification section, and submit the completed 
form to the City Recorder, Rocio Vargas by: (1) sending the completed form via e-mail to 
rvargas@daytonoregon.gov or (2) delivering a completed copy to PO Box 339/416 Ferry St., Dayton, 
OR 97114. 

 
 
 

YOUR NAME  NAME OF THE NEWS MEDIA ORGANIZATION REPRESENTED 
 

 
CERTIFICATION OF REPRESENTATION: 

I,              certify the following to be true and accurate: 

I represent the following: 

 A daily newspaper, non-daily, or small-market newspaper/publication, or similar publication 
that is released as a digital or multiplatform product. 

 A newspaper or publication that the city uses for publication of public notices and meets the 
requirements of ORS 193.020. 

 A news media organization that is organized and operated to regularly and continuously 
publish, broadcast, transmit via the internet or otherwise disseminate news to the public, and 
that regularly reports on actives of the city or matters of the nature under consideration by the 
city council. 

The news media organization that I represent is committed to complying with the requirement that 
confidential executive session information be undisclosed. 

I have provided the following credentials sufficient to allow the city to determine that I am a 
representative of the above identified news media organization (select all that apply): 

 

A press badge or identification issued by the news media organization, plus proof of my 
identity; 
A copy of a recently published news article showing my name as a member of the news 
gathering staff of the news media organization, plus proof of my identity; 

NOTE: If the city is unable to verify this information prior to the start of an executive 
session, your attendance at the executive session may be denied or the executive may be 

postponed. 

305

mailto:rvargas@daytonoregon.gov


A letter on letterhead from an editor of the news media organization that states that I am 
covering the meeting for the news media organization, plus proof of my identity; or 
The following evidence sufficient to show that I am a representative of the above identified 
news media organization: _________________________________ 
 

As a representative of the news media, I agree to comply with ORS 192.660(4). 
 
 

_________________________________________________  _____________________ 

SIGNATURE        DATE 

306



To:   Honorable Mayor and City Councilors 

From:   Rocio Vargas, City Recorder 

Through:  Jeremy Caudle, City Manager 

Issue:   Appointment of Planning Commissioners  

Date:   January 5, 2026 

 

Background and Information: The Planning Commission is comprised of five members who 
serve four-year terms. Currently, the Planning Commission members are Ann-Marie 
Anderson, Katelyn Van Genderen, and Dave Mackin, leaving two seats open. The open seats 
were vacated by Tim Parsons and Rob Hallyburton after their resignation.  

Michael Howard meets all requirements to be appointed, and their application is attached. 

 

City Manager Recommendation: Appointment of Budget Committee members is at the 
discretion of City Council. Therefore, I have no recommendation. 

 

Potential Motion: “I move to approve the appointment of Michael Howard to the Dayton 
Planning Commission with the term expiring December 31, 2028.” 

 

Council Options: 

1 – Approve the motion listed above. 

2 – Do not approve the motion listed above. 

3 – Leave the application period open, or some other action at City Council’s direction. 

 

307



2026 CITY OF DAYTON PLANNING COMMISSION 

                                                            
  Planning Commission List update: 12/30/2025        

      

 
     
Ann-Marie Anderson, Chairperson 
P.O. Box 57 
309 Main St 
Dayton, OR 97114 
amanderson@mac.com 
C: 503-250-1055 
Term Expires: 12/31/2026 
 

Dave Mackin, Vice-Chairperson 
1119 Ferry St 
Dayton, OR 97114 
Dispatchdave81@aol.com 
C: 206-856-1698 
Term Expires: 12/31/2028 
 
 

Katelyn Weber Van Genderen 
732 Joel Palmer Way 
Dayton, OR 97114 
katelyn.vangenderen@gmail.com 
906-250-7875 
Term Expires: 12/31/2026 
 

Vacant 
Term Expires: 12/31/2028 

   Vacant 
    Term Expires: 12/31/2026 
 

 

Rocio Vargas 
      City of Dayton Planning Coordinator 
      P.O. Box 339  
      416 Ferry St 
      Dayton, OR 97114 
      rvargas@daytonoregon.gov  
      C: 503-864-0030 
 

Curt Fisher 
      City of Dayton Associate Planner/MWVCOG 
      100 High St SE 
      Suite 200 
      Salem, OR 97301 
      cfisher@MWVCOG.org  
      C: 503-540-1616 
 
 

Planning Commissioners serve 4-year terms. 
       
 
 

 

308

mailto:amanderson@mac.com
mailto:Dispatchdave81@aol.com
mailto:katelyn.vangenderen@gmail.com
mailto:rvargas@daytonoregon.gov
mailto:cfisher@MWVCOG.org


From: cityofdayton@daytonoregon.gov
To: Rocio Vargas
Subject: Application for Consideration for Appointment to Planning Commission
Date: Friday, November 28, 2025 2:39:21 PM

Name of Applicant:
Michael Howard

Street Address:

Mailing Address:

Telephone Number:

Email

Current Occupation:
Retired

Please provide a brief description of your education, work or volunteer experience, skills, or
interests that you feel would be useful as a member of the Planning Commission?
Past Planning Commission Chair - Amity Past Budget Committee member - Dayton Planning
& Scheduling Mgr - electronics mfg

Why do you want to serve as a member of the Commission?
Needs to be done

What is your vision for the City of Dayton in 5 years?
I do not have visions, I do have missions.

What is your vision for the City of Dayton in 20 years?
See above

What steps do you feel need to be taken by local leaders, city staff, and community members
to achieve these visions? 
See above

By typing my name below, I certify that I am at least 18 years of age and have read the
additional requirements to which my application may be subject as set forth in Section
1.09.01(B) of the Dayton Municipal Code.
Michael Howard

******* Email Details ********

Submitted date: 11/28/2025 4:55:41 PM 

309



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

310



To:   Honorable Mayor and City Councilors 

From:   Rocio Vargas, City Recorder 

Through: Jeremy Caudle, City Manager 

Issue:   Appointment of Budget Committee Member 

Date:   January 5, 2026 

 

Background and Information: The Budget Committee currently has three vacancies. In 
response to the vacancies, staff issued a call for volunteers online, in the Ferry Street News and 
the News Register on 10th and 24th of January.  

Charles Van Genderen submitted the application that is before you for consideration tonight. 
If appointed, Charles Van Genderen’s term would end December 31, 2027. 

For reference, DMC Sec. 1.10.01 states: “The budget committee consists of the members of 
Council and seven persons who are registered voters residing within the City and are 
appointed by council for staggered three-year terms. No appointed member may be an officer, 
agent or employee of the City.” 

 

City Manager Recommendation: Appointment of Budget Committee members is at the 
discretion of City Council. Therefore, I have no recommendation. 

Potential Motion: “I move to appoint Charles Van Genderen to the City of Dayton Budget 
Committee for the term ending December 31, 2027.” 

Council Options: 

1 – Approve the motion listed above. 

2 – Do not approve the motion listed above. 

3 – Leave the application period open, or some other action at City Council’s direction. 

 

 

311



2026 CITY OF DAYTON BUDGET COMMITTEE 

                                                            
  Budget Committee Updated: 12/30/2025        

      

 
 

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 
MAYOR ANNETTE FRANK 
1030 Church St 
Dayton, OR 97114 
annettefrank@daytonoregon.gov 
Cell: (971) 275-4470  
Term Expires:  12/31/26 
 

CITIZEN MEMBERS 
 
ANGIE GONZALEZ 
530 Ash Street 
Dayton, OR 97114 
angie@julietteshouse.org   
Cell: (304)881-6111 
Term Expires: 12/31/2028 

DREW HILDEBRANDT 
824 Ferry Street 
Dayton, OR 97114 
andrewhildebrandt@daytonoregon.gov  
Term Expires:  12/31/28 

STEVE HOPPER 
103 ½ 7th Street 
Dayton, OR 97114 
SteveHopper8@hotmail.com 
Cell: (503)864-3338 or P: (503)435-8179 
Term Expires: 12/31/2028 
 

KITTY MACKIN 
1119 Ferry Street 
Dayton, OR  97114 
kittymackin@daytonoregon.gov  
Cell: (503) 320-8919  
Term Expires:  12/31/28 
 

STEVEN HESSELING 
1153 Ash St. 
Dayton, OR 97114 
shesseli@msn.com  
P: (503) 883-3596 
Term Expires: 12/31/2028 

SCOTT HOVER 
515 SE Palmer Ln 
Dayton, OR 97114 
scotthover@daytonoregon.gov  
Cell: (541) 659-4523 
Term Expires:  12/31/26 
 

DANIEL HOLBROOK 
601 Kallapuya St. 
Dayton, OR 97114 
danoholbrook@icloud.com  
C: 772-342-0579 
Term Expires: 12/31/2027 

ROBIN PEDERSON 
202 7th Street 
Dayton, OR 97114 
robinpederson@daytonoregon.gov  
Cell: (503) 435-0816 
Term Expires: 12/31/28 
 

Budget Committee Member 
VACANCY 
Term Expires: 12/31/2027 

CHRIS TEICHROEW 
663 Warmscombe Dr. 
Dayton, OR  97114 
christeichroew@daytonoregon.gov  
C: (971) 612-2611 
Term Expires:  12/31/26 
 

Budget Committee Member 
VACANCY 
Term Expires: 12/31/2026 

COLT WILKINS 
402 Ferry St 
Dayton, OR 97114 
coltwilkins@daytonoregon.gov  
C: (503) 351-1628 
Term Expires:  12/31/26 

Budget Committee Member 
VACANCY 
Term Expires: 12/31/2026 

312

mailto:annettefrank@daytonoregon.gov
mailto:angie@julietteshouse.org
mailto:andrewhildebrandt@daytonoregon.gov
mailto:SteveHopper8@hotmail.com
mailto:kittymackin@daytonoregon.gov
mailto:shesseli@msn.com
mailto:scotthover@daytonoregon.gov
mailto:danoholbrook@icloud.com
mailto:robinpederson@daytonoregon.gov
mailto:christeichroew@daytonoregon.gov
mailto:coltwilkins@daytonoregon.gov


From: cityofdayton@daytonoregon.gov
To: Rocio Vargas
Subject: Budget Committee Application
Date: Thursday, December 4, 2025 3:22:06 PM

Applicant Name
Charles Van Genderen

Physical Address
732 Joel Palmer Way

Email:
chasvg@gmail.com

Please provide a brief description of your education, work, or volunteer experience, skills, or
interests that you feel would be useful as a member of the Budget Committee.
I was the State Park Director in Montana for 10 years. Duties included numerous fiscal mgt
tasks including oversight of fund balances, budget development for both capital development
and operations, estimating fiscal impacts, development of revenue streams, managing
earmarked funding sources, etc. This included administering the policy decisions associated
with those complex topics. 

Phone Number

Mailing Address

Current Occupation
Retired

Why would you like to serve as a member of the Committee?
I want to support my community and help provide recommendations to address challenges and
opportunities.

******* Email Details ********

Submitted date: 12/4/2025 5:38:18 PM 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you
recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

313



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

314



To:   Honorable Mayor and City Councilors 
 
From:  Jeremy Caudle, City Manager  
 
Issue:  Second Reading of Ordinance 668 An Ordinance Amending the City of Dayton 

Comprehensive Plan Adopting the 2025 Transportation System Plan and 
Amending Title 7 (Dayton Land Use And Development Code) of The Dayton 
Municipal Code 

 
Date:  January 5, 2026 
  
Background and Information 
 
On December 1, 2025, City Council heard the staff report for case No. LA2025-02 prepared by 
Curt Fisher, City Planner, for Ordinance 668 to include the Dayton Transportation System Plan 
Presented as part of the Dayton Comprehensive Plan. 
 
The first reading of ORD 668 by title only was completed and approved on December 1, 2025. 
 
Council needs to complete a second reading of ORD 668 by title only and adopt the ordinance. 
 
Given the size of the transportation system plan attachments, it is not included in the agenda 
packet. All attachments included in the staff report are available for review at: 
https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1gW2Hv1ae4-f1lrjvDS5YrprWImmuOpUJ?usp=sharing   
 
City Manager Recommendation: I recommend approving the second reading of Ordinance 
668 by title. Adopt Ordinance 668. 
 
Second Reading of Title:     
[A MEMBER OF CITY COUNCIL WILL READ THE TITLE OF ORDINANCE 668.] 
 
“I move to approve the first reading of Ordinance 668 by title only.” 
 
Adoption: 
[FOLLOWING THE READING BY TITLE, THE NEXT RECOMMENDED MOTION IS AS 
FOLLOWS.] 
 
 “I move to adopt Ordinance 668 An Ordinance Amending the City of Dayton Comprehensive Plan 
Adopting the 2025 Transportation System Plan and Amending Title 7 (Dayton Land Use And 
Development Code) of The Dayton Municipal Code” 
 
City Council Options: 
1 – Approve as recommended. 
2 – Approve with amendments. 
3 –Take no action and ask staff to do more research and bring further options back to the City 
Council. 

315

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1gW2Hv1ae4-f1lrjvDS5YrprWImmuOpUJ?usp=sharing


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

316



Page 1 of 2  
 

ORDINANCE NO. 668 
CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE CITY OF DAYTON COMPREHENSIVE PLAN ADOPTING THE 
2025 TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM PLAN AND AMENDING TITLE 7 (DAYTON LAND USE AND 
DEVELOPMENT CODE) OF THE DAYTON MUNICIPAL CODE 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Dayton deemed it necessary and prudent to update the Transportation 
System Plan (TSP) and portions of the Dayton Land Use and Development Code (DLUDC); and   

WHEREAS, the City was awarded a Transportation Growth Management Grant to update the 
TSP, and the scope of the grant included preparing updates to the transportation-related sections 
of the City’s development code, to implement the new TSP; and 

WHEREAS, the DLCD provided consultant team, and the City has prepared an updated TSP, 
Comprehensive Plan policy updates, and DLUDC text amendments to implement the new TSP 

WHEREAS, on October 24, 2025, the city provided the required notice of legislative 
amendments to the Department of Land Conservation and Development, identifying city case file 
LA 2025-02; and  

WHEREAS, public notice for LA 2025-02 was posted in the McMinnville News-Register, a 
newspaper of general circulation for the Planning Commission and Council hearing dates 20 days 
prior to the first public hearing; and 

WHEREAS, on November 13, 2025, the Dayton Planning Commission conducted the first of 
two required public hearings for LA 2025-02 at which time interested parties were provided full 
opportunity to be present and heard; and  

WHEREAS, on November 13, 2025, the Dayton Planning Commission voted unanimously in 
support of a recommendation to the City Council for adoption of LA 2025-02, with minor revisions 
described in the staff report attached and incorporated herein as Attachment A; and  

WHEREAS, on December 1, 2025, the Dayton City Council initiated the second required 
public hearing for LA 2025-02 at which time interested parties were provided full opportunity to be 
heard, and  

WHEREAS, on December 1, 2025, the Dayton City Council adopted LA 2025-02 identified in 
Exhibit A and set forth below. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF DAYTON ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Comprehensive Plan Amendments. The updated Transportation System Plan is 
hereby adopted as a supporting document to the Comprehensive Plan as described in the 
staff report (Attachment A), dated December 1, 2025 

Section 2. Development Code Amendments. The City of Dayton hereby adopts 
amendments to the Dayton Land Use and Development Code as described in the staff 
report (Attachment A) dated December 1, 2025. 

Section 3. Findings. Based on the findings set forth in the staff report dated December 1, 
2025, the City of Dayton hereby adopts LA 2025-02 as shown in Exhibit A of the staff report, 
and the findings therein.  

317



Page 2 of 2  
 

Section 4. Unamended Provisions. All unamended provisions of the Dayton Land Use and 
Development Code shall remain in full force and effect. 

Section 5. Effective Date. This ordinance shall become effective thirty days after final 
passage and its signature by the Mayor. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Dayton City Council on this 5th day of January 2026. 

 

Mode of Enactment:  

Date of first reading: December 1, 2025, In full _____ or by title only __XX___ 

Date of second reading: January 5, 2026, In full ______ or by title only __XX___ 

_XX_ No Council member present at the meeting requested that the ordinance be read in full 

_XX_ A copy of the ordinance was provided to each Council member; three copies of the 
ordinance were provided for public inspection in the office of the City Recorder no later than one 
week before the first reading of the ordinance. 

Final Vote:  

In Favor:  

Opposed: 

Absent:  

Abstained: 

 

 

______________________________________  ____________________ 

Annette Frank, Mayor    Date of Signing 

 

ATTESTED BY: 

 

 

______________________________________  ____________________  

Rocio Vargas, City Recorder   Date of Enactment 

 

Attachments: Exhibit A 

 

 

318



LA 2025-02 Staff report  Page 1 of 2 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 

LA 2025-02 PUBLIC HEARING BEFORE CITY COUNCIL 

Hearing Date:  December 1, 2025 

Subject: Legislative public hearing for text amendments to the Comprehensive Plan and 
supporting development code amendments.  

Approval 
Criteria: Dayton Land Use and Development Code, Section 7.3.112.03, A – D. 

Exhibits: Exhibit A:  TSP Update Implementing Ordinances Memo 
   Exhibit B:  City of Dayton Transportation System Plan, November 2025 
   Exhibit C:  City of Dayton Transportation System Plan, Appendices 

Exhibit D:  Comp Plan Chapter 10 Amendments in strikethrough format 
Exhibit E:  Published Public Notice  
Exhibit F: Commissioner Mackin proposed changes 

 

I. REQUESTED ACTION 

Conduct a public hearing on proposed legislative amendments to the Dayton Comprehensive Plan and Land 
Use and Development Code (DLUDC) adopting the updated Transportation System Plan (TSP), case file 
LA 2025-02. Options for action on LA 2025-02 include the following:   

A. Adopt the findings in the staff report and implementation memo and adopt LA 2025-02: 

1. As presented and recommended by staff; or 

2. As amended by the City Council (indicating desired revisions). 

B. Recommend that the City Council take no action on LA 2025-02. 

C. Continue the public hearing, preferably to a date/time certain. 

II. BACKGROUND 

This legislative amendment is proposed to amend the Dayton Comprehensive Plan adopting the updated 
Transportation System Plan as a supporting document (Appendix A), amend Chapter 10.2 of the 
Comprehensive Plan with updated goals and policies related to transportation, and amend the Dayton Land 
Use and Development Code to support the implementation of the updated TSP. The proposed amendments 
are included in the TSP update Implementation Memo (Exhibit A) prepared by MIG. 

III. PROCESS  

Section 7.3.112 requires text amendments to the DLUDC to be approved through a Type IV review 
procedure as specified in Section 7.3.201.  

Chapter 2 of the updated Dayton TSP describes the TSP process, including the decision-making structure, 
public engagement and outreach, and technical development of the document.  

319



LA 2025-02 Staff report  Page 2 of 2 

The Implementing Ordinances Memo in Exhibit A describes the policy recommendations, how the updated 
TSP is being adopted into the Comprehensive Plan by reference in Chapter 10, the recommended updates 
to Public Works Design Standards, and the DLUDC. Proposed amendments to the DLUDC are shown in 
strikethrough format in Attachment A.  

On October 9, 2025, staff issued the required 35-day notice to the Department of Land Conservation and 
Development. Written notice of the hearing before the Planning Commission and subsequent hearing before 
City Council was submitted to the McMinnville News Register for publication on October 24, 2025. 

On November 13, 2025, Planning Commission held the first of the two public hearings on LA 2025-02 
where the Planning Commission voted unanimously to recommend that City Council approve LA 2025-02 
with the changes described by Vice-Chair Mackin in Exhibit E. Those changes are hereby added to the 
development code amendments with the addition of the following definitions to Section 7.1.2: 

Sidewalk: A paved surface, except driveways, lying between the curbline, or the edge of pavement, and 
the right-of-way line of a street or in a public easement intended to provide safe passage for pedestrians 
and those engaged in pedestrian activity such as those walking, rolling, being carried, or using wheeled 
or other mobility-assisted devices.  

Pedestrian: A person traveling on foot, rolling, being carried, or using wheeled or other mobility-
assisted devices. 

Further, the TSP document was reviewed and nine revisions were made, generally replacing language 
referencing walking with the broader and more inclusive term “pedestrian activity”. 

IV. FINDINGS AND APPROVAL CRITERIA 

In support of the adoption process for the Transportation System Plan (TSP) and Development 
Code amendments, findings addressing the approval criteria in Section 7.3.112.03 are included in 
Attachment A of the Implementing Ordinances Memo in Exhibit A. 
V.  CITY COUNCIL ACTION – Sample Motion 

A City Councilor may make a motion to either: 

1. Adopt the staff report and move the City Council approve the amendments. A sample 
motion is: 

I move the City Council adopt the staff report and approve LA 2025-02 

2. Adopt a revised staff report with changes by the City Council and recommend the City 
Council approve the revised amendments. A sample motion is: 

I move the City Council adopt a revised staff report with the following revisions…(state 
the revisions)…and recommend the City Council approve the revised amendments.  

3. Recommend the City Council deny the proposed amendments. A sample motion is: 

I move the City Council deny LA 2025-02 for the following reasons…(and state the 
reasons for the denial).  

‘ 4. Continue the hearing to a date/time certain. A sample motion is: 

I move the City Council to continue the hearing to a date (state the date) and time (state 
the time) to obtain additional information and state the information to be obtained. 

 

320



To:   Honorable Mayor and City Councilors 
 
From:  Rocio Vargas, City Recorder 
 
Through:  Jeremy Caudle, City Manager 
 
Issue:   OLCC Liquor License Renewals 
 
Date:  January 5, 2026 
  
History/Background  
 
Pursuant to ORS 471.166 a person applying for issuance or renewal of a liquor license through 
the Oregon Liquor Control Commission, is required to seek approval from the local 
government with jurisdiction and must pay an application fee, in an amount determined by 
the governing body of the city or county, for each application, not to exceed $25.00 per 
application. 
 
Notices to renew annual liquor licenses were mailed to all eligible businesses in Dayton on 
December 2, 2025, asking those businesses to respond by December 15, 2025. On 
December 17, 2025, a second notice was mailed out. As of December 30, 2025, Juanita’s 
Café y Neveria, The Joel Palmer House Restaurant, and Willamette Wine Country RV Park 
(Vintages) have not responded. 
 
Each year Staff requests prior year crime stats from the Yamhill County Sheriff’s Department 
to present to Council.   Below is a snapshot of the incident activity as well as any code 
enforcement/noise complaints for each establishment for 2025. 
 

 
 

Incidents with Case # All 
Incidents Noise

CAMINO MEXICAN BRUNCH 312 FERRY ST None
CENTER MARKET #6 901 FERRY ST 1 DUII, suspect arrived intoxicated. 2 

reports of drunk driving unable to 
locate without case #.

3

DOLLAR GENERAL STORE #18275 501 7TH ST None
JUANITAS CAFE Y NEVERIA 401 FERRY ST # 1 None
LOAM 306 FERRY ST None
SEUFERT WINERY 415 FERRY ST None
THE BAY HOUSE 301 MAIN ST None
THE BY PASS BAR & GRILL 400 FERRY ST 1 Assault suspect intoxicated 

removed,  1 Harassment alcohol 
related. 2 other alcohol related 
incidents without case #: 1 
disturbance and 1 intoxicated person. 
2 other incidents with case # not 
alcohol related. 

6

THE INN AT DAYTON 520 3RD ST None
THE JOEL PALMER HOUSE RESTAURANT 600 FERRY ST None
TIENDA Y VIDEO ZU KAZA 308 FERRY ST None
WILLAMETTE WINE COUNTRY RV PARK 16205 SE KREDER RD 2 Suicidal alcohol related, 8 others 

non-alcohol related 8 2

Establishment Physical Address
2025

321



Per OLCC, governing bodies have until January 13th, 2026, to make a recommendation.  Here 
are the recommendation options:   
      
A.  Do Nothing: If a recommendation is not submitted the OLCC will process the renewal as 

a favorable recommendation. 
      

B. Make a Denial Recommendation: (must meet the denial criteria) 
1. File an unfavorable recommendation, stating the grounds for the unfavorable    

recommendation; or 
2. Make a written request for additional time (45-day extension) to complete an 

investigation. The request must state:    
a.) The reasons why you are considering an unfavorable recommendation.  
b.) The specific grounds being considered.  OAR 845-005-0308(3). 

Unfavorable means recommending denial of a license or requesting restrictions be placed on 
a license.  
      
Denial Criteria 
 
The following is a list of problems relating to the APPLICANT or BUSINESS that OLCC can 
consider refusing or restrict a license:       

1) Applicant has a habit of using alcohol or drugs to excess.     
2) Applicant makes a false statement to OLCC (must be related to a refusal basis). 
3) Applicant has been convicted of local, state, or federal laws that are substantially 

related to the fitness of holding a liquor license.    
4) Applicant has demonstrated poor moral character.      
5) Applicant has a poor record of compliance when previously licensed by OLCC.  
6) Applicant is not the legitimate owner of the business.     
7) The business has a history of serious and persistent problems at this location. The 

problems can include:      
o Obtrusive or excess noise, music, or sound vibrations    
o Public drunkenness      
o Fights or altercations      
o Harassment      
o Unlawful drug sales      
o Alcohol or related litter      

      
OLCC is not able to consider the following issues when deciding to renew a liquor license:  

1) Lack of parking      
2) Increase in traffic.      
3) Too many licenses in a specific area (saturation)      
4) Entertainment type - nude dancing, gambling, live bands, etc.    
5) Increased noise      
6) Zoning issues      

 
OLCC REASONS TO DENY OR RESTRICT A LICENSE      
ORS 471.313(4)(5), OAR 845-005-0320, 845-005-0321, 845-005-0322, 845-0325, 845-005-
0326(4)(5) OR 845-005-0035  
 
 

322



City Manager Recommendation: n/a 

 

Potential Motion: n/a 

 

Council Options: 

1 – Approve as recommended. 

2 – Approve with amendments. 

3 – Take no action and direct staff to do further research or provide additional options. 

 

323



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

324



To:   Honorable Mayor and City Councilors 

From:   Rob Walker, Finance Director 

Through:  Jeremy Caudle, City Manager 

Issue:    Dayton CODE 1 Funds Distribution to DCDA 

Date:   January 5, 2026 

 

Background and Information: 

It was approved at the November 3, 2025, Council Meeting to distribute the CODE 1 funds, 
and it was recommended that the funds be distributed to the DCDA if possible. Per the 
included letter of intent from the DCDA regarding the Camino Mural Project, it appears to be 
possible. 

City Manager Recommendation: To distribute the CODE 1 funds to the DCDA for the 
Purpose of the Camino Mural Project. 

Potential Motion: “I move to authorize the distribution of the remaining Dayton CODE 1 funds 
to the DCDA for their Camino Mural Project.” 

Council Options: 

1 – Approve as recommended. 

2 – Approve with amendments. 

3 – Take no action and direct staff to do further research or provide additional options. 

 

 

325



 

 

 

 

 

 

December 9, 2025 

 

 

To:  Rob Walker, Finance Director, City of Dayton 

From:  Ukiah Bunn / DCDA President & Judy Gerrard / DCDA Secretary-Treasurer 

 

RE: Transfer of Code1 monies 

 

 

We thank you and Jeremy Caudle for the invite to discuss the Code1 money. After 

we met on Dec 4, you requested information to take back to City Council about the 

Mural Project which has an educational component. Let us know if you need 

something more.  Thank you!  

 

DCDA Camino Mural Project - an overview for Dayton City Council 

● Chris Teichroew brought to DCDA, as a Board Member, a request for a 

project to paint a mural on side of the Camino Restaurant. He had interest 

from various people; a check-in with Cyndi Park/Dayton City Historic 

Resource person about murals on that historic building; touch base with 

school art teachers; etc.   

● Chris has received verbal approval from the property owner. 

● In October, DCDA approved the project concept - to paint a mural on the side 

of Camino Restaurant that highlighted Dayton history and  includes: 

○ Work with schools to involve students in learning about murals; 

learning about Dayton history; learning about America 250 and then 

getting student ideas submitted for a mural.  

○ Work with a local/professional mural painter who would take the 

student input; historic photos/stories; and input from Mural 

Committee and draft/sketch options. 

○ Final design approval would go through the DCDA Board, and City 

(we believe there is an ordinance re: City approval) 

○ Painter identifies how students can be involved.  The Mural committee 

works with schools to follow through on these opportunities. 

○ Painter proceeds with the mural prep and painting. 

○ Goal:  to complete the mural in 2026. 

● Funding for the mural would come from donations, grants and DCDA 

sponsors. The budget is under development. Funds will be needed for: 

○ Paint and related supplies; materials needed to prep the surface. 

○ A mural painter. 

○ Any materials or devices to protect the mural surface. 

● The mural project would be overseen by the DCDA Design Committee, the 

Chair is Chris Teichroew.  

 

326



 

To:   Honorable Mayor and City Councilors 

From:   Dave Rucklos, TED 

Through:  Jeremy Caudle, City Manager 

Issue:   City Hall Condition and Remediation 

Date:   December 30, 2025 

 

Background and Information: 

This item is placed on the agenda as an informational item for City Council’s awareness. No 
action is requested at this time. 

As you’re likely aware, flooding has been a problem in the City Hall basement for several 
years. The problem has only worsened. The basement of city hall flooded several times in 
December. Sump pumps placed in the basement floor have been unable to eradicate water 
in part due to the pump’s hose diameter.  Remediation measures are being pursued, and 
HEPA filtration is being secured to improve air quality. 

Attached are current photos of the basement condition. Staff are evaluating alternative 
working environments. 

One alternative we are exploring is temporarily moving City Hall employees into the City Hall 
annex. The library would remain in its current location. Staff have also received a quote from a 
plumber in the amount of $7,695 to increase draining capacity for the basement. This may be 
necessary to maintain minimum building functioning until the building is mothballed or 
otherwise demolished.  

The long-term plan is a permanent relocation of City administrative and library functions. Staff 
are preparing a request for proposals to solicit consulting services to develop a facilities need 
analysis. This will come to City Council at a future meeting. It is anticipated that the analysis 
will occur over several months in 2026. The next step would be hiring an architect or project 
manager, developing specifications and bid documents, then bidding out the project. Under 
this timeline, construction would likely start in 2027, at the earliest. 

327



 

328



To:   Honorable Mayor and City Councilors 

From:   Rocio Vargas, City Recorder 

Through:  Jeremy Caudle, City Manager 

Issue:   Local Option Levy Update  

Date:   December 1, 2025 

 

Background and Information:  

Fall 2025 (September - December) Status Date 

Develop initial informational materials including FAQs, a “levy at a 
glance” fact sheet, and a dedicated levy webpage. 

Complete 11/17/2025 

Use October 20, 2025, Council work session to review levy history, 
nancial impacts, and renewal timeline. 

Complete 10/20/2025 

In November begin stakeholder outreach, meeting with service 
partners and community groups. 

  

In December, prepare and distribute a “Year in Review” infographic 
highlighting what the levy has supported since 2022, to be published 
on the City’s website, newsletter, and social media. 

Complete 11/17/2025 

Winter - Spring 2026 (January - March)   

Launch the rst community survey to gauge levy awareness, resident 
priorities, and perceptions of City services. 
 

Launched 12/1/2025 

Host at least one open house or town hall (in-person and virtual) to 
review levy background and gather input. 

Date conrmed 
for February 11, 
2026 

 

Publish survey results on the City’s website and prepare a summary 
report for Council. 
 

  

Provide a utility bill insert and newsletter feature in March explaining 
how levy funds are currently being used. 

  

Spring - Summer 2026 (April - July)   

Convene a roundtable with institutional stakeholders such as schools 
and business leaders to share perspectives. 
 

  

Conduct a 2nd community survey in May focusing on levy 
understanding and potential renewal scenarios. 

  

Host a 2nd round of neighborhood briengs and town halls in June.   

By July, prepare an updated levy fact sheet showing “with levy” versus 
“without levy” service impacts, and bring this back to Council for a mid-
year check-in. 

  

This early engagement phase will ensure residents understand what the levy supports and for 
Council to hear directly from the community about priorities before final ballot language is 
considered in August 2026. 

329



Attachments of progress: 

• https://www.daytonoregon.gov/page/city_projects  
o The 2026 Levy Renewal website can be found by clicking the “City Projects” 

button.  

Next Steps: 

• Set up a Town Hall in conjunction with the School District and YCSO 
o The date is February 11, 2026, staff suggests 6:30pm – Does Council approve? 

 
City Manager Recommendation: n/a 

Potential Motion: n/a 

Council Options: This item does not require a motion. 

 

 

330

https://www.daytonoregon.gov/page/city_projects


Department 
Reports 

 
331



Department Finance
Month January

Year 2026

Follow up from last month:

Activities this month:

Plan for upcoming month:

Had meeting with DCDA. They are proposing using the funds toward mural project. Put into council agenda for 
approval.

Working with auditors on audit. City Manager filed extension with state.

Ready to implement Public Safety Fee and updated rates on utility bills.

Extension for URA filed.

Decommissioned ARPA Fund.

Finish annual audit for FY 2024-2025.

Distribute funds to DCDA from Code 1 checking.

January Utility bills to include Public Safety Fee and updated rates.

Implement 2-3 improvements to Caselle from November training.   

Find ways to streamline monthend process.

Begin to document utility billing process.

332



Department Finance
Month January

Year 2026

Goal: Goal A : Infrastructure Resilience Status:
Strategy: A.4 Update, maintain, and secure funding as needed for core City planning documents, 

including but not limited to: Utility Master Plan, Transportation System Plan, Parks and 
Recreation Master Plan, and Pavement Preservation Plan.

In-Progress

Title:
Summary:

Goal: Goal A : Infrastructure Resilience Status:
Strategy: A.4 Update, maintain, and secure funding as needed for core City planning documents, 

including but not limited to: Utility Master Plan, Transportation System Plan, Parks and 
Recreation Master Plan, and Pavement Preservation Plan.

In-Progress

Title:
Summary:

Goal: Goal C : Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness Status:
Strategy: C.1 Identify key public health and safety goals, and provide information, engagement 

opportunities, service funding options, and other necessary support.
In-Progress

Title:
Summary:

Goal: Goal C : Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness Status:
Strategy: C.1 Identify key public health and safety goals, and provide information, engagement 

opportunities, service funding options, and other necessary support.
In-Progress

Title:
Summary:

Goal: Goal D : Community Engagement, Communications, and Activities Status:

Fisher Nursery Well Development Feasibility Study
Funding was obtained. Monitor expenses related to the project and submit periodically for 
reimbursement from loan/grant.

Implement Public Safety Fee
Implement new rates into January Billing.

Update Sewer and Water Rates

Public Safety Local Option Levy
Prepared revenue/expense graphs for informational website.

Provide futher support as needed.

Implement new rates into January Billing.

333



Strategy: D.2 Continue cooperation with and support of citizen-led committees to strengthen 
community participation and activities.

In-Progress

Title:
Summary:

Goal: Goal E : Organizational Excellence and Public Service Enhancement Status:
Strategy: E.1 Improve City policies, infrastructure, and services through strategic planning and 

implementation.
In-Progress

Title:
Summary: Went to Caselle training class. Implement 3 new items learned by 1/31/26. Implement 6 total items 

learned by 3/31/26. Keep a "Caselle Learning Log" to track completed improvements.

Disburse Code 1 Account Funds to DCDA
Met with DCDA to discuss funds distribution. Need Council approval to distribute funds.

Caselle System Training and Implementation

334



Department Library
Month January

Year 2026

Follow up from last month:

Activities this month:

Plan for upcoming month:

The Dayton community helped 20 children through this year's Tree of Giving. In Novmeber the library checked 
out 228 items to patrons for first time use and renewed 279 items.                       

Work with Dave to push out the Local Option Levy survey to the community. Schedule additional Summer 
Reading Program performances in cooperation with the Amity Public Library to share travel costs of 
performances. Complete the final formatting edits of the draft employee handbook. Continue work on GoGov 
and website updates. Continue work on the CLG grant project building out the back end of the tour app. 

I will be coordinating the CCRLS Small Libraries "Blue Bin Program" purchaes for our library as well as the 
libraries in Amity, Grand Ronde, Jefferson, Lyons, Mt Angel,Sheridan, and Willamina. This program serves youth 
in our rural communities as well as youth outside of the cities that CCRLS serves in Polk, Yamhill, and Marion 
counties ("basic" patrons in CCRLS lingo). 

335



Department Library
Month January

Year 2026

Goal: Goal D : Community Engagement, Communications, and Activities Status:
Strategy: D.1 Ensure City communications are accessible, efficient, and effective in enhancing civic 

awareness and engagement.
In-Progress

Title:
Summary:

Goal: Goal E : Organizational Excellence and Public Service Enhancement Status:
Strategy: E.1 Improve City policies, infrastructure, and services through strategic planning and 

implementation.
Complete

Title:
Summary:

Goal: Goal E : Organizational Excellence and Public Service Enhancement Status:
Strategy: E.3 Maintain financial oversight and enhance record management practices and policies. In-Progress

Title:
Summary:

2026 Local Option Levy 
Updating Webpage and Homepage Banner to make the Local Option Levy information more readily 
accessible. Adding information to page and redesigning as needed.

Safety of Library Staff / Security of City Hall
Completed reconfiguring of library circulation area to increase safety of staff that work alone, also to 
prevent public from being able to directly access the staff areas of City Hall (recent 1st Ammendment 
Audits at other CCRLS libraries have brought to light that anywhere the public can access from our 
public spaces they are legally able to enter or record from those spaces). 

Employee Handbook Update
Worked with CIS to develop a refresh of employee handbook (not updated since 2014) that is in 
compliance with current laws and our workplace practices. Rocio and I have been workign for nearly a 
year on this and we are very nearly done the final draft!

336



Department Public Works
Month December

Year 2025

Follow up from last month:

Activities this month:

Plan for upcoming month:

Daily Rounds & Labs,Weekly Department Head meeting Bi-weekly samples, Shutoffs/Turnons, Wastewater 
discharging, Work Orders, Locates, Weekly garbages,  reprogram bathroom locks at Andrew Smith Park, DEQ 
PFAS samples, Diagnose Street Sweeper, McDougal #2 Well Repair, repair 2 water leaks, CCTV 1,300 feet of 
sewer line as per DEQ requirement, Attend and participate in Resource Night at Dayton Grade School, 3rd and 
Ferry project inspections for electricle and paving, Hwy 221 Liftstation inspections, Decorate for the holidays and 
tree lighting event. work with Levy team

Daily Rounds & Labs, Weekly Department Head meeting, Bi-weekly samples, Shutoffs/Turn Ons, Wastewater 
discharging, Work Orders, Locates, Weekly garbages,  McDougal #2 Pump/Motor/Electrical Panel replacement, 
Fire Flow Testing for Hotel Project, Hwy 221 Test Start Up, Annual Generator Maintenance, Fisher Farms Kickoff 
meeting, Fisher Farms Site walk, Fisher Farms water testing for iron/manganese/ Methane, Public Safety Fee 
meeting, Removed 4 inches of standing water in the basement of City Hall, Annual Water Use Report, Delt with 
weather related items, Set up Sand bag Station at Fisher Farms for community, Installed new flooring in Library 
bathroom, Painted library bathroom, Made swinging bookshelf in library for staff safety, Fixed Street Sweeper 
Pony Motor, Fixed air leak on break system for Street Sweeper, Cleaned up illegal tire dumping at Dog Park (3 
truckloads), Repaired vandalized radar signs on Ash St (both had wiring ripped out of panels) Fixed mobile radar 
sign mounts due to wind, Cleaned Chlorine Generator, Leaf removal at CHSP and Cemetery, Moved Porta Potty 
to Dog Park, Delt with issues from power outage, Delt with down tree, Made repairs to Well 2 Telemetry, Set up 
and Tore down breakfast with Santa event, Recalibrated analyzer at the springs.

Daily Rounds & Labs, Weekly Department Head Meeting, Public works weekly update meeting, Bi-Weekly 
Samples, Shut offs & Turn ons, Wastewater discharging, Work Orders, Locates, Weekly garbages, Street 
Sweeping, Hwy 221 2 week test run, Fisher Farms Project, Work with Levy Team, Complete Self Eval, Start working 
on Staff Evals, tear down Christmas decorations/lights around park.

337



Department Public Works
Month December

Year 2025

Goal: Goal A : Infrastructure Resilience Status:
Strategy: A.1 Evaluate and implement options for a high-quality, stable, and ongoing water supply 

and distribution system.
Complete

Title:
Summary:

Goal: Goal A : Infrastructure Resilience Status:
Strategy: A.2 Maintain systematic maintenance and necessary replacement of key Dayton public 

facilities and infrastructure to ensure reliable service, staff efficiency, and compliance with 
regulatory requirements.

Complete

Title:
Summary:

Goal: Goal A : Infrastructure Resilience Status:
Strategy: A.2 Maintain systematic maintenance and necessary replacement of key Dayton public 

facilities and infrastructure to ensure reliable service, staff efficiency, and compliance with 
regulatory requirements.

In-Progress

Title:
Summary:

Goal: Goal A : Infrastructure Resilience Status:
Strategy: A.2 Maintain systematic maintenance and necessary replacement of key Dayton public 

facilities and infrastructure to ensure reliable service, staff efficiency, and compliance with 
regulatory requirements.

Complete

Title:
Summary:

Goal: Goal A : Infrastructure Resilience Status:

McDougal #2
Pump, Motor, Electrical Panel Replacement

Fire Flow Testing Hotel Project
Completed Fire Flow Testing for Hotel Project

Hwy 221 Test Start Up
Test Start up showed some issues that the contractors are working to repair. 

Annual Generator Maintenance 
Completed

338



Strategy: A.1 Evaluate and implement options for a high-quality, stable, and ongoing water supply 
and distribution system.

In-Progress

Title:
Summary:

Fisher Farms
Kick off meeting, Site walk, Water testing for Iron, Manganese, and Methane

339



Department Tourism/Economic Development
Month December

Year 2025

Follow up from last month:

Activities this month:

Plan for upcoming month:

TMDL report turned in to DEQ on December 2nd. Breakfast with Santa event completed. 

Work on Local Option Levy frequently asked questions to add to the website and reserve a school facility to hold 
the town hall. Sent out OLCC renewals to local businesses and get the stats report from YCSO. End of year 
records archiving. Finish final updates on new Employee Handbook. 

Complete FAQs for the Local Option Levy, and advertise the town hall. Work on video opportunities with YCSO 
for LOL. Begin work on Ferry Steet News 1st quarter 2026.

340



Department Recorder
Month January

Year 2026

Goal: Goal C : Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness Status:
Strategy: C.1 Identify key public health and safety goals, and provide information, engagement 

opportunities, service funding options, and other necessary support.
Waiting

Title:
Summary:

Goal: Goal D : Community Engagement, Communications, and Activities Status:
Strategy: D.1 Ensure City communications are accessible, efficient, and effective in enhancing civic 

awareness and engagement.
In-Progress

Title:
Summary:

Goal: Goal D : Community Engagement, Communications, and Activities Status:
Strategy: D.2 Continue cooperation with and support of citizen-led committees to strengthen 

community participation and activities.
Complete

Title:
Summary:

Goal: Goal B : Economic Vitality and Sustainable Growth Status:
Strategy: B.2 Advance current initiatives and explore new opportunities to expand and enhance 

Dayton’s reputation and branding.
In-Progress

Title:
Summary:

Goal: Goal A : Infrastructure Resilience Status:
Strategy: A.4 Update, maintain, and secure funding as needed for core City planning documents, 

including but not limited to: Utility Master Plan, Transportation System Plan, Parks and 
Recreation Master Plan, and Pavement Preservation Plan.

In-Progress

TMDL Annual Report
Submitted the TMDL Annual report to DEQ as required. The report is under review by DEQ we will get 
a response to the report in a few months, with any recommendations or requirements that need to be 
met.

Local Option Levey
Using a FAQ template of questions and providing answers to add to the info webpage. Reached out 
to Frank and Amy at the Dayton School District to sumbimt a facility use request on a space for the 
town hall in February.

Breakfast with Santa
The event went well, we calculate approximately about 50-60 kids attened the event. Bob as Santa was 
great. Mrs. Claus (Councilor Mackin) and Elf read the "Night Before Christmas".

Processing Planning Fees
Invoice for the last quarter of planning and engineering services.

341



Title:
Summary:

Parks Master Plan
The Planning Commission will hold a public hearing on January 9, 2026 to obtain resident input on 
the parks master plan to be included in the Dayton Comprehensive plan. This will come to Council for 
a public hearing and first reading of the ordinance in February.

342



Department Tourism/Economic Development
Month January

Year 2026

Follow up from last month:

Activities this month:

Plan for upcoming month:

Pursuit of Palmer Creek tenent has been paused due to concerns realtive to noise impact associated with 
potential tenent and city events/meetings.  Further discussion needs to be had as to use if city hall is vacated. 
Local Law Enforcement Survey has now been put in to Survey Monkey for districtution to city email list and will 
aggresively pushed out in the month of January.  DCDA Sponsorship targets were identified to prevent 
duplication of efforts. DCDA hopes to hold a Dayton business event in February. Spoke at the Sunrise Rotary 
Club and shared Dayton plans and answered questions about development. Wrote content for Self-Evaluation 
submission in January   

Holiday decorations will be taken down the week of January 5-9.  Dayton Wine and Business Map in develoment 
for both printed and digital versions.  A graphic artist has been selected and the map to be produced in April.  
LGGP Alderman Dog Park Grant materials assembled for attachment requriements including drafting letters of 
support on behalf of the city, The Inn at Dayton, the DCDA and The Vintages. Finaliize Self-Evaluation report and 
submit in early January in advance of city manager meeting later in month.  Presented URD status to Dayton 
School District Board. 

Finalize LGGP Grant in anticipation of early spring submission (grant opening delayed due to staff state staff 
changes).  Continued attendance and participation at Yamhill County Economic Develoment Alliance (note 
county ED Director retired and future direction for county being evaluated).  Continued attendance at Yamhill 
County Toursim Partnership (Chardonay Celebration preparation in coordination with The Inn at Dayton and Joel 
Palmer House/The Bay House).  Approve graphic design for Dayton Wine and Business Map. Finanlize Dayton 
Friday Night sponsorships and present tribute band options to pursue. Work with city manager on temporary 
city hall accommodations (City Annex).  

343



Department Tourism/Economic Development
Month January

Year 2026

Goal: Goal C : Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness Status:
Strategy: C.1 Identify key public health and safety goals, and provide information, engagement 

opportunities, service funding options, and other necessary support.
In-Progress

Title:
Summary:

Goal: Goal A : Infrastructure Resilience Status:
Strategy: A.2 Maintain systematic maintenance and necessary replacement of key Dayton public 

facilities and infrastructure to ensure reliable service, staff efficiency, and compliance with 
regulatory requirements.

In-Progress

Title:
Summary:

Goal: Goal D : Community Engagement, Communications, and Activities Status:
Strategy: D.2 Continue cooperation with and support of citizen-led committees to strengthen 

community participation and activities.
In-Progress

Title:
Summary:

Goal: Goal A : Infrastructure Resilience Status:
Strategy: A.2 Maintain systematic maintenance and necessary replacement of key Dayton public 

facilities and infrastructure to ensure reliable service, staff efficiency, and compliance with 
regulatory requirements.

Waiting on 
instruction

Title:
Summary:

• Present identified regional tribute bands to DCDA board members for booking.         
• Contiue to pursue sponsors and offer TLT funds as match to corporate sponsorships
• Prepare marketing strategy with Scarlet Communications

City Hall
Work with the city manager to create temporary work space for city hall staff.                                  
Assist in sourcing contractor(s) to utilize existing city hall assets.                                                      
Source workplace materials that will facilitate dayt-to-day operations. 

Law Enforcement Levy Survey
• DIsseminate physical and digital resident survey to measure satisfaction with law enforcement 
servcies
• Capture and analyze responses via digital platform (e.g., SurveyMonkey).                                             

LGGP Alderman Dog Park Grant
• Compile grant materials (letters of support, budgets, SHIPO documentation, location maps and area 
detail, environmental checklist).
• Complete grant application questions focusing on winter and ADA access.

DCDA-City of Dayton Cooperative Engagement

344



City Manager 
Report 

 

345



 
 jcaudle@daytonoregon.gov   

416 Ferry Street / PO Box 339, Dayton, Oregon 97114   
503-864-2221   

www.DaytonOregon.gov   
 

 

 

 
To: Mayor Frank and City Council 
From: City Manager Jeremy Caudle 
Re: City Manager’s report – 1/5/26 meeting 
Date: 1/1/26 
 
 
This is to update you on City business since the 12/1/25 meeting. 
 
Fisher Farms project 
On 12/8, we held a kick-off meeting with GSI on the Fisher Farms development project. A Gantt chart 
showing the project schedule follows this memo. 
 
GSI conducted a site visit on 12/16. While there, they collected samples for analysis of methane so 
that the City Engineer could begin the process of designing methane strippers. GSI anticipates having 
a draft Initial Plan Review for submission to OHA available on 1/9.  
 
One issue that we will need to resolve is if a 100-foot perpetual easement will be required for wells 2 
and 3. If so, we will need to approach the property owners about obtaining that from them. It is pos-
sible that this radius could be reduced if OHA agrees with our assessment that the wells are in a con-
�ined aquifer, but this is not a guarantee. We will know OHA’s determination when they approve the 
plan review. Thus, the Initial Plan Review is the critical path for two of our wells, which may need 
perpetual easements.  
 
City of Newberg – Building of�icial meeting 
 12/17 – Public Works, Code Enforcement, and I met with Brooks Bateman, Building Of�icial, City 

of Newberg. Brooks is also Dayton’s building of�icial through our IGA with the City of Newberg. 
The purpose of the meeting was to discuss certain process improvements. This included an agree-
ment not to schedule �inal building inspections until Dayton has completed all engineering and 
land use inspections and approvals. We also started discussions on updating the City’s building 
fee schedule, as well as coordination on enforcing our dangerous building code. 

 
Community contacts summary 
 Several conversations with the builder and a representative of the Dayton Food Pantry. The dis-

cussions centered around remaining steps to close out the project and issue the �inal CO. I am 
waiting on: (1) con�irmation from the City Engineer that the City is ready for provisional ac-
ceptance of the public improvements; (2) a maintenance/warranty bond for the improvements, 
or other form of security. Both steps are necessary per our Public Works Design Standards. 

MEMO 

346



 

Page 2 of 4 

 Met with the School District’s Facilities Director. The purpose of the meeting was to discuss the 
possibility of using the community center as a rendezvous point in case of emergencies at the 
schools. 

 Call with citizen in Oak Street area about tree maintenance in public right-of-way along the Yam-
hill River. The 1865 plat of the City of Dayton designates this area as “Water Street.” Public Works 
has contacted a tree maintenance company about maintaining the trees in question. 

 Correspondence with Recology Operations Supervisor on truck access in Alder Street area. 
 12/18 – Spoke with Yamhill County’s Emergency Manager about the �lood warning that was in 

effect for Dayton at that time.  
 Local business owner inquiry about regulations governing use of A-frame signs. 
 Scheduled PGE’s governmental affairs team to be present at the 3/2/26 City Council meeting for 

a brief presentation. 
 DCDA discussion on use of City Hall Annex due to temporary closure of the community center. 
 
Sustainable Infrastructure Planning Program (SIPP) 
In my last report, I discussed SIPP funding opportunities opening in February. My plan was to submit 
a grant request for a cost-bene�it analysis of the various water development scenarios we’re consid-
ering. Business Oregon con�irmed in December that the February funding window closed due to high 
demand. The window will reopen in summer with the award period occurring in late 2026. I want to 
start this project sooner. Our Business Oregon Regional Development Of�icer informed me that low-
interest loan opportunities are available. I will pursue this option further this month. 
 
City Hall facilities needs study 
I have started working on a request for proposals to hire a consultant to work with us on a facilities 
needs study. I had originally planned on having the RFP on your January agenda for approval so we 
could start the process of soliciting proposals. However, it may be February at the earliest that I can 
have this ready.  
 
City Hall �looding 
As reported earlier in the packet, City Hall has experienced several episodes of �looding in the base-
ment this season. On 12/18, the �looding was so high that we had to shut off power to the basement 
as the water was close to the electrical outlets. Luckily, Public Works was successful in pumping the 
water out before it reached that point. But, the power shut off affected the server and necessitated 
early closure of City Hall.  
 
I have begun evaluating temporary relocation of the 3 City Hall workstations to the annex. Before 
making any decisions, I will ensure the City Council is informed and has an opportunity for input. In 
the meantime, staff have purchased a high-capacity air �ilter to address air quality issues in the City 
Hall due to mold. 
 
 
 
 

347



 

Page 3 of 4 

FY 24/25 �inancial statement audit 
The FY 24/25 �inancial statement preparation and audit is underway. Rob has been busy ful�illing 
requests for the auditors. I have also provided research and completion of questionnaires to assist in 
this process. This will continue to require a signi�icant time commitment for the next 1 to 2 months. 
 
12/23 – Received con�irmation from the Secretary of State’s Audit Division that our request for an 
audit extension—through March 31—was approved. 
 
Planning/land use 
At the last meeting, I informed you that an appeal on the administrative decision for SDR 2025-01 
(Dayton Hotel) was tentatively scheduled for January 8. With the applicant’s consent, that public 
hearing has been postponed pending further discussions, to include the City Attorney and City Engi-
neer, later in January. 
 
Franchise renewals 
 Our telecommunications attorney informed me that she will have a draft franchise ordinance 

ready for review soon with Ziply. 
 In December, Hunter Communications contacted us about renewing our franchise with them. 
 I still have not heard back from Comcast about the temporary extension for our franchise until 

we can negotiate a renewal. 
 
Other activities 
 12/9 – With Mayor Frank, Council President Hildebrandt, Finance Director Rob Walker, and Tour-

ism/Economic Development Director Dave Rucklos, updated the Dayton School District Board of 
Directors on the Urban Renewal District’s �inancial activities. Pursuant to the terms of our IGA 
with the District, we are required to set aside a certain percentage of tax increment revenues. At 
the earlier of 2031 or when the balance of those revenues totals $1 million, we pay the District 
their share. (If by 2031 the balance does not total $1 million, then we pay what we have accumu-
lated. We then continue making annual payments until the total amount of payments totals $1 
million.)  

 12/9 – With Mayor Frank, held a call with the City Attorney to discuss how federal immigration 
policy has affected local governments in Oregon. 

 12/10 – Call with the US Economic Development Administration to discuss funding opportunities 
for Yamhill County communities. 

 12/11 – Met with MWVCOG to discuss GIS scope of work to develop the stormwater fee method-
ology. GIS analysis is necessary to develop estimates for impermeable surface for certain kinds of 
development. This will, in turn, inform the fee methodology. 

 12/13 – Breakfast with Santa. With Mayor Frank and Council President Hildebrandt, decorated a 
Public Works truck for participation in the parade. With Mayor Frank, participated in that even-
ing’s parade. 

 12/18 – Employee Christmas party. At this party, Mayor Frank recognized Ricci Haworth as the 
recipient for the “2025 Employee of the Year Award.” 

348



 

Page 4 of 4 

 12/31 – I signed an IGA with the Oregon Department of Administrative Services to sign us up for 
OregonBuys, the state’s e-procurement system. This will allow us to purchase goods and services 
off state contract, as well as to issue procurements of our own. There is no cost for us to join. 

 12/17 – Submitted our Housing Infrastructure Financing Program grant request to Business Or-
egon by their deadline. The funding request is $2.6 million, and it covers water transmission line 
upgrades necessary to serve new development in the Neck Road UGB area. We will know late 
spring/early summer if our application is successful. 

 With staff, met with a �inancial advisory �irm to discuss the possibility of working together in 
either an underwriting or �inancial advisor capacity to fund the URA construction plan.  

 12/22 – Received con�irmation from OWRD that they have received our extension of time request 
for certain water rights permits. At some point in the future, they will issue a Proposed Final Or-
der either approving or rejecting the extension of time request. 

 
Staff management 
 In January, I will complete all annual performance evaluations for management team. Annual per-

formance evaluations for non-management personnel will be completed in February. My plan is 
to get everyone on the same schedule for performance evaluations. 

 I have also started preliminary work on developing a pay plan/scale. The City currently does not 
have a pay scale. My plan is to develop an interim pay scale to coincide with the FY 26/27 budget 
process. This would provide a structured way to manage employee pay until we can commission 
a pay/bene�its study with a consultant.  

349



CITY OF DAYTON 
2026-2027 BUDGET CALENDAR 

 

April 8, 2026 

Send the first Legal “Notice of Budget Committee meeting of May 4th ” to be published in the 
News Register on April 10, 2026 for the purpose of receiving 2026/2027 proposed budget and 
State Revenue Sharing.  

April 23, 2026 Publish second Legal Notice of Budget Committee meeting by no later than April 24, 2026 for 
the May 4, 2026 budget meeting on the City of Dayton website. 

 
May 4, 2026 
6:30 pm 
Monday 

General meeting of the total Budget Committee (City Council and Citizen Committee members)  
 

1. Budget Committee Chair is elected (Not a Council member) and Secretary is elected 
(City Recorder). 

2. City Manager presents proposed budget and budget message. 
3. Hear public comment on the proposed budget and public hearing on State Revenue 

Sharing.   

 
May 18, 2026 
6:30 pm 
Monday 

 
First deliberation meeting of the total Budget Committee. 
 

1. Reports and recommendations are given and Budget Committee makes changes where 
necessary. 

2. The Budget Committee passes a motion recommending to the City Council a budget for 
Fiscal Year 2022/2023 and approving an amount or rate of total property taxes to be 
certified for collection.  Dinner will be served at 6:00 pm if the meeting is held in 
Council Chambers. 
 

May 26, 2026 
6:30 pm 
Tuesday 
 

Continued deliberation meeting of the Budget Committee (if necessary). 

May 19, 2026  
Send the “Financial Summary and Notice of Budget Hearing” advertisement of Budget 
including summary budget statements  (LB-1) for the June 1st  meeting to the News Register for 
publication on May 22, 2026. NR deadline is Tuesday at noon to publish. 

June 1, 2026 Public Hearing on the recommended 2026/2027 Budget and proposed use of State Revenue 
Sharing Funds. 

June 15, 2026 
City Council adopts a Resolution adopting budget, making appropriations and levying property 
taxes for general fund and special operating funds (public safety) and a resolution regarding 
receiving State Revenue Sharing Funds. 

July 9, 2026 Certify Property Tax Levy to County Tax Assessor on or before July 15 using form LB-50 and 
send with Resolution approving the Local Option Tax to assesssor@co.yamhill.or.us  

July 31, 2026 
DAS - Certify City to receive State revenues under ORS 221.770 and ORS 221.760. Annual 
Certification is done electroniocally. Attach Resolution Declaring Dayton’s Elections to receive 
State Revenues for FY 26/27. Demartment of Administrative Services will send a link via email. 

September 30, 
2026 

Send copy of the adopted budget to the County Clerk via email clerk@co.yamhill.or.us with a 
copy of the resolution that adopts the budget and certification of any election results. 

 350

mailto:assesssor@co.yamhill.or.us
mailto:clerk@co.yamhill.or.us


CITY OF DAYTON 
2026-2027 URBAN RENEWAL AAGENCY BUDGET CALENDAR 

 

April 8, 2026 

Send the first Legal “Notice of Budget Committee meeting of May 4th ” to be published in the 
News Register on April 10, 2026 for the purpose of receiving 2026/2027 proposed budget and 
State Revenue Sharing.  

April 23, 2026 Publish second Legal Notice of Budget Committee meeting by no later than April 24, 2026 for 
the May 4, 2026 budget meeting on the City of Dayton website. 

 
May 4, 2026 
6:30 pm 
Monday 

General meeting of the total Budget Committee (City Council and Citizen Committee members)  
 

1. Budget Committee Chair is elected (Not a Council member) and Secretary is elected 
(City Recorder). 

2. City Manager presents proposed budget and budget message. 
3. Hear public comment on the proposed budget and public hearing on State Revenue 

Sharing.   

 
May 18, 2026 
6:30 pm 
Monday 

 
First deliberation meeting of the total Budget Committee. 
 

1. Reports and recommendations are given and Budget Committee makes changes where 
necessary. 

2. The Budget Committee passes a motion recommending to the City Council a budget for 
Fiscal Year 2022/2023 and approving an amount or rate of total property taxes to be 
certified for collection.  Dinner will be served at 6:00 pm if the meeting is held in 
Council Chambers. 
 

May 26, 2026 
6:30 pm 
Tuesday 
 

Continued deliberation meeting of the Budget Committee (if necessary). 

May 19, 2026  
Send the “Financial Summary and Notice of Budget Hearing” advertisement of Budget 
including summary budget statements  (UR-1) for the June 1st  meeting to the News Register 
for publication on May 22, 2026. NR deadline is Tuesday at noon to publish. 

June 1, 2026 Public Hearing on the recommended 2026/2027 Budget and proposed use of State Revenue 
Sharing Funds. 

June 15, 2026 
City Council adopts a Resolution adopting budget, making appropriations and levying property 
taxes for general fund and special operating funds (public safety) and a resolution regarding 
receiving State Revenue Sharing Funds. 

July 9, 2026 Certify Property Tax Levy to County Tax Assessor on or before July 15 using form UR-50 and 
send with Resolution approving the Local Option Tax to assesssor@co.yamhill.or.us  

July 31, 2026 
DAS - Certify City to receive State revenues under ORS 221.770 and ORS 221.760. Annual 
Certification is done electroniocally. Attach Resolution Declaring Dayton’s Elections to receive 
State Revenues for FY 26/27. Demartment of Administrative Services will send a link via email. 

September 30, 
2026 

Send copy of the adopted budget to the County Clerk via email clerk@co.yamhill.or.us with a 
copy of the resolution that adopts the budget and certification of any election results. 

 351

mailto:assesssor@co.yamhill.or.us
mailto:clerk@co.yamhill.or.us


Month

Week

Project Management

Kickoff meeting (12/8 at 2:00 PM) 12/8: Kickoff Meeting GSI and City

Project meetings (TBD)

TASK 1 - Initial OHA Plan Review & Permitting

Task 1.1 – GSI Prepares Draft OHA Initial Plan Review (12/1 - 1/2) 1/2: Draft OHA Initial Plan Review to City

Task 1.2 – City Reviews Draft OHA Initial Plan Review (1/5 - 1/9) 1/9: City Comments on OHA Initial Plan Review to GSI

Task 1.3 – GSI Finalizes OHA Initial Plan Review (1/12 - 1/16) 1/16: Final OHA Initial Plan Review to OHA/City

Task 1.4 – OHA Reviews Initial Plan Review (1/19 - 3/13) 3/13: OHA Approves Initial Plan Review

TASK 2 - Well Evaluation and Testing for All Wells (3/16 - 5/15)

TASK 2 – Total Time Estimated, No Contingency (3/16 - 4/28)

Task 2.1 – Schneider Pump Removal - All Wells (3/16 - 3/27)

Task 2.2 – Schneider Pump Assessment - All Wells (3/30 - 4/24)

Task 2.3 – Well Video Surveys - All Wells (3/30 - 4/2)

Task 2.4 – Install Temporary Pump & Constant Rate Testing - All Wells (4/3 - 4/24)

Task 2.5 – Re-install Pumps if Applicable - All Wells (4/27 - 5/8)

Task 2.6 – Well Disinfection (5/11 - 5/15)

TASK 3 - Reporting and Strategy Development

3.1 – GSI Prepares Draft Well Improvement Report to City (4/27 - 5/29) 5/29: Draft Well Improvement Report to City

3.2 – City Reviews Draft Well Improvement Report (6/1 - 6/12) 6/12: City Comments on Draft Report to GSI

3.3 – GSI Finalizes Well Improvement Report (6/15 - 6/26) 6/26: Final Well Improvement Report to City

Deliverable (Plan Review, Reports) Approvals/Meetings

DRAFT City of Dayton Fisher Farms Well Improvement Project Schedule
City of Dayton 

July 2026

6/6 6/13 6/20 6/27

December 2025

12/29 5/4 5/11

May 2026

3/30 4/61/5 1/12 1/19

Agency TaskSWS TaskGSI TaskCity Task

Task 3 - Total Time Estimated, Contingency

6/222/23

Task 2 - Total Time Estimated, No Contingency

Task 1 - Total Time Estimated 

Task 2 - Total Time Estimated, with Contingency 

12/1

April 2026February 2026

3/22/2 3/162/9 2/16

March 2026

3/9

January 2026

6/293/231/2612/8 12/15 12/22 5/18 5/25 6/1 6/8 6/15

June  2026

4/13 4/20 4/27

\\GSICLOUD\Projects\107 - Dayton\XXX - Fisher Nursery GW Development\01-PM\Contracting\Gantt_Dayton_Schedule_v2352



353



354



355



356


	01-05-2026 Agenda
	01-05-2026 Packet
	November 2025 Financials
	11-03-2025 CC Regular Session Minutes
	11-20-2025 CC Regular Session Minutes
	12-01-2025 CC Regular Session Minutes
	2_Public notice_Exemption hearing
	Action Item - Council President Election 
	From:  Jeremy Caudle, City Manager

	2_Public notice_Exemption hearing
	3_DJC notice
	4_Resolution 25-26-11 Adopting Findings to Support and Exemption from Competitive Bidding Requireme
	BACKGROUND
	NO FAVORITISM OR DIMINISHED COMPETITION
	SUBSTANTIAL COST SAVINGS
	The factual bases to support the ADDITIONAL findings

	5_RFP
	Master construction contract.pdf
	FINAL IOR - General Conditions (00974465-5xB8084)
	1.01 Defined Terms
	A. Wherever used in the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents, a term printed with initial capital letters, including the term’s singular and plural forms, will have the meaning indicated in the definitions below. In addition to terms specificall...
	1. Addenda—Written or graphic instruments issued prior to the opening of Bids which clarify, correct, or change the Bidding Requirements or the proposed Contract Documents.
	2. Application for Payment—The document prepared by Provider, in a form acceptable to Engineer, to request payments pursuant to an applicable Task Order, and which is to be accompanied by such supporting documentation as is required by the Contract Do...
	4. Bid—The offer of a Bidder submitted on the prescribed form setting forth the prices for the Work to be performed.
	5. Bidder—An individual or entity that submits a Bid to Owner.
	6. Bidding Documents—The Bidding Requirements, the proposed Contract Documents, and all Addenda.
	7. Bidding Requirements—The Advertisement or invitation to bid, Instructions to Bidders, Bid Bond or other Bid security, if any, the Bid Form, and the Bid with any attachments.
	8. Change Directive – A written directive from Owner to Provider issued on or after the Effective Date of a Task Order, ordering an addition, deletion or revision to the applicable Work.
	9.Change Order—A document which is signed by Provider and Owner and authorizes an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work or an adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times, or other revision to a Task Order, issued on or after the Effec...
	10. Change Proposal—A written request by Provider, duly submitted in compliance with the procedural requirements set forth herein, seeking an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times; contesting an initial decision by Engineer concerning the req...
	11. Claim
	a. A demand or assertion by Owner or Provider seeking an adjustment of applicable Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, or other relief with respect to the terms of the Master Agreement or a particular Task Order.
	b. A demand or assertion by Owner or Provider made pursuant to Paragraph 12.01.A.4, concerning disputes arising after Engineer has issued a recommendation of a final payment.
	c. A demand for money or services by a third party is not a Claim.

	12. Constituent of Concern—Asbestos, petroleum, radioactive materials, polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), lead-based paint (as defined by the HUD/EPA standard), hazardous waste, and any substance, product, waste, or other material of any nature whatsoe...
	13. Contract Documents— As defined pursuant to the Master Agreement.
	14. Contract Price—The money that Owner has agreed to pay Provider for completion of the Work under each applicable Task Order.
	15. Contract Times—The number of days or the dates by which Provider shall complete the Work under each applicable Task Order.
	16. Contractor/Assignee— A construction contractor with which Project Owner enters into a construction contract, and to which Project Owner, as initial Owner, assigns the applicable Task Order and, as it pertains to such Task Order, this Master Agreem...
	17. Cost of the Work—See Paragraph 14.01 for definition.
	28. Days - Calendar days, including weekdays, weekends and holidays, unless otherwise specified.
	19. Drawings—The part of each applicable Task Order that graphically shows the scope, extent, and character of the Work to be performed by Provider.
	20. Effective Date of the Master Agreement—The date, indicated in the Master Agreement, on which the Master Agreement becomes effective.
	21. Effective Date of a Task Order – The date, indicated in each fully executed Task Order, on which the Task Order becomes effective.
	22. Electronic Document—Any Work-related correspondence, attachments to correspondence, data, documents, drawings, information, or graphics, including but not limited to Shop Drawings and other Submittals, that are in an electronic or digital format.
	23. Electronic Means—Electronic mail (email), upload/download from a secure Work website, or other communications methods that allow: (a) the transmission or communication of Electronic Documents; (b) the documentation of transmissions, including send...
	24. Engineer—The individual or entity named as such in the executed Master Agreement.
	25. Field Order—A written order issued by Engineer which requires minor changes in the Work but does not change the Contract Price or the Contract Times.
	26. Final Completion - The final completion of all requirements under an applicable Task Order, including Correction Period as described in 16.08 but excluding Warranty Work as described in Articles 7 and 16, and the final payment and release of all r...
	27. Force Majeure - An act, event or occurrence caused by fire, riot, war, acts of God, nature, sovereign, or public enemy, strikes, freight embargoes or any other act, event or occurrence that is beyond the control of the party to this Master Agreeme...
	28. Goods – As defined pursuant to the Master Agreement and each fully executed Task Order.
	29. Hazardous Environmental Condition—The presence at the Site of Constituents of Concern in such quantities or circumstances that may present a danger to persons or property exposed thereto.
	a. The presence at the Site of materials that are necessary for the execution of the Work, or that are to be incorporated into the Work, and that are controlled and contained pursuant to industry practices, Laws and Regulations, and the requirements o...
	b. The presence of Constituents of Concern that are to be removed or remediated as part of the Work is not a Hazardous Environmental Condition.
	c. The presence of Constituents of Concern as part of the routine, anticipated, and obvious working conditions at the Site, is not a Hazardous Environmental Condition.

	30. Laws and Regulations; Laws or Regulations—Any and all applicable laws, statutes, rules, regulations, ordinances, codes, and binding decrees, resolutions, and orders of any and all governmental bodies, agencies, authorities, and courts having juris...
	31. Liens—Charges, security interests, or encumbrances upon Master Agreement-related or specific Task Order-related funds, real property, or personal property.
	32. Master Agreement—The written instrument, executed by Owner and Provider, that sets forth terms by which the parties may enter Task Orders, identifies the parties and the Engineer, and designates the specific items that are Contract Documents.
	33. Milestone—A principal event in the performance of the Work that the Provider must attain by the date or within the number of days indicated, including but not limited to the delivery of the Goods, the furnishing of Work, Substantial Completion of ...
	34. Notice of Award—The written notice by Owner to a Bidder of Owner’s acceptance of the Bid.
	35. Owner—The individual or entity with which Provider has contracted regarding the Work, and which has agreed to pay Provider for the performance of the Work, pursuant to the terms of the Master Agreement.
	36. Owner Authorized Representative -- As defined pursuant to the Master Agreement.
	37. Point of Destination -- The specific address of the location where delivery of Goods will be made, as stated in the applicable Task Order.
	38. Progress Schedule—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Provider, describing the sequence and duration of the activities comprising Provider’s plan to accomplish the Work within the Contract Times of an applicable Task Order.
	39. Project – As defined pursuant to the Master Agreement.
	40. Project Owner — The Owner.
	41. Punchlist - The list of Work yet to be completed or deficiencies which need to be corrected in order to achieve Final Completion of a Task Order.
	42. Resident Project Representative—The authorized representative of Engineer assigned to assist Engineer at the Site. As used herein, the term Resident Project Representative (RPR) includes any assistants or field staff of Resident Project Representa...
	43. Samples—Physical examples of materials, equipment, or workmanship that are representative of some portion of the Work and that establish the standards by which such portion of the Work will be judged.
	44. Schedule of Submittals—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Provider, of required submittals and the time requirements for Engineer’s review of the submittals.
	45. Schedule of Values—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Provider, allocating portions of the Contract Price to various portions of the Work and used as the basis for reviewing Provider’s Applications for Payment.
	46. Provider -- The individual or entity with which Owner has contracted for performance of the Work.
	47. Provider Authorized Representative - As defined pursuant to the Master Agreement.
	48. Shop Drawings—All drawings, diagrams, illustrations, schedules, and other data or information that are specifically prepared or assembled by or for Provider and submitted by Provider to illustrate some portion of the Work. Shop Drawings, whether a...
	49. Site—Lands or areas indicated in each fully executed Task Order upon which the Work is to be performed, including rights-of-way and easements, and such other lands or areas furnished by Owner which are designated for the use of Provider.
	50. Special Services -- As defined pursuant to the Master Agreement and each fully executed Task Order.
	51. Specifications—The part of a fully executed Task Order that consists of written requirements for materials, equipment, systems, standards, and workmanship as applied to the Work, and certain administrative requirements and procedural matters appli...
	52. Subcontractor—An individual or entity having a direct contract with Provider or with any other Subcontractor for the performance of a part of the Work.
	53. Submittal—A written or graphic document, prepared by or for Provider, which the Contract Documents require Provider to submit to Engineer, or that is indicated as a Submittal in the Schedule of Submittals accepted by Engineer. Submittals may inclu...
	54. Substantial Completion—The time at which the Work (or a specified part thereof) has progressed to the point where, in the opinion of Engineer, the Work (or a specified part thereof) is sufficiently complete, in accordance with the Contract Documen...
	55. Successful Bidder—The Bidder to which the Owner makes an award of the Master Agreement.
	56. Supplementary Conditions—The part of the Master Agreement that amends or supplements these General Conditions.
	57. Supplier—A manufacturer, fabricator, supplier, distributor, or vendor having a direct contract with Provider or with any Subcontractor to furnish materials or equipment to be incorporated in the Work by Provider or a Subcontractor.
	58. Technical Data
	a. Those items expressly identified as Technical Data, with respect to either (1) existing subsurface conditions at or adjacent to the Site, or existing physical conditions at or adjacent to the Site including existing surface or subsurface structures...
	b. If no such express identifications of Technical Data have been made with respect to conditions at the Site, then Technical Data is defined, with respect to conditions at the Site under Paragraphs 5.04, 5.05, and 5.07, as the data contained in borin...
	c. Information and data regarding the presence or location of Underground Facilities are not intended to be categorized, identified, or defined as Technical Data, and instead Underground Facilities are shown or indicated on the Drawings.

	59. Underground Facilities—All active or not-in-service underground lines, pipelines, conduits, ducts, encasements, cables, wires, manholes, vaults, tanks, tunnels, or other such facilities or systems at the Site, including but not limited to those fa...
	60. Unit Price Work—Work to be paid for on the basis of unit prices (if any).
	61. Work—As defined pursuant to the Master Agreement.
	62. Work Change Directive—A written directive to Provider issued on or after the Effective Date of an applicable Task Order, signed by Owner and recommended by Engineer, ordering an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work.


	1.02 Terminology
	A. The words and terms discussed in Paragraphs 1.02.B, C, D, and E are not defined terms that require initial capital letters, but, when used in the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents, have the indicated meaning.
	B. Intent of Certain Terms or Adjectives: The Contract Documents include the terms “as allowed,” “as approved,” “as ordered,” “as directed” or terms of like effect or import to authorize an exercise of professional judgment by Engineer. In addition, t...
	C. Day: The word “day” means a calendar day of 24 hours measured from midnight to the next midnight.
	D. Non-conforming: The word “non-conforming,” when modifying the word “Work” or words “Goods and Special Services” refers to Work that is unsatisfactory, faulty, or deficient in that it:
	1. does not conform to or otherwise comply with the Contract Documents;
	2. does not meet the requirements of any applicable inspection, reference standard, test, or approval referred to in the Contract Documents; or
	3. has been damaged prior to Engineer’s recommendation of final payment (unless responsibility for the protection thereof has been assumed by Owner at Substantial Completion or final delivery, as applicable, in accordance with Paragraph 15.03 or Parag...

	E. Furnish, Install, Perform, Provide
	1. The word “furnish,” when used in connection with services, materials, Goods, Special Services, or equipment, means to supply and deliver said services, materials, Goods, Special Services, or equipment to the Site (or some other specified location) ...
	2. The word “install,” when used in connection with services, materials, Goods, Special Services, or equipment, means to put into use or place in final position said services, materials, or equipment complete and ready for intended use.
	3. The words “perform” or “provide,” when used in connection with services, materials, Goods, Special Services or equipment, means to furnish and install said services, materials, Goods, Special Services, or equipment complete and ready for intended use.
	4. If the Contract Documents establish an obligation of Provider with respect to specific services, materials, Goods, Special Services, or equipment, but do not expressly use any of the four words “furnish,” “install,” “perform,” or “provide,” then Pr...

	F. Contract Price or Contract Times: References to a change in “Contract Price or Contract Times” or “Contract Times or Contract Price” or similar, indicate that such change applies to (1) Contract Price, (2) Contract Times, or (3) both Contract Price...
	G. Unless stated otherwise in the Contract Documents, words or phrases that have a well-known technical or construction industry or trade meaning are used in the Contract Documents in accordance with such recognized meaning.

	Article 2—Preliminary Matters
	2.01 Delivery of Performance and Payment Bonds; Evidence of Insurance
	A. Performance and Payment Bonds: When Provider delivers the signed counterparts of a Task Order to Owner, Provider shall also deliver to Owner the performance bond and payment bond (if the Task Order requires Provider to furnish such bonds).
	B. Evidence of Provider’s Insurance: When Provider delivers the signed counterparts of a Task Order to Owner, Provider shall also deliver to Owner, with copies to each additional insured (as identified in the Master Agreement), the certificates, endor...
	C. Evidence of Owner’s Insurance: After receipt of the signed counterparts of the Task Order, and all required bonds and insurance documentation, as applicable, Owner shall promptly deliver to Provider, with copies to each additional insured (as ident...
	D. The Provider hereby certifies that the Provider is licensed with the Construction Providers Board in accordance with ORS 701.035 to 701.055 and, further, that all Subcontractors performing work as described in ORS 701.025(2) (i.e., construction wor...

	2.02 Copies of Documents
	A. Owner shall furnish to Provider one (1) copy in electronic portable document format (PDF) of the Contract Documents including one fully signed counterpart of the Master Agreement and each Task Order. Provider may request up to three (3) printed cop...
	B. Owner shall maintain and safeguard at least one original printed record version of the Master Agreement and each Task Order, including Drawings and Specifications signed and sealed by Engineer and other design professionals. Owner shall make such o...

	2.03 Before Starting Construction
	A. Preliminary Schedules: Within 10 days after the Effective Date of a Task Order (or as otherwise required by the Task Order), Provider shall submit to Engineer for timely review:
	1. a preliminary Progress Schedule indicating the times (numbers of days or dates) for starting and completing the various stages of the applicable Work, including any Milestones specified in the Task Order;
	a. The Progress Schedule will be acceptable to Owner and Engineer if it provides an orderly progression of the Submittals, tests, and deliveries to completion within the specified Milestones of the Contract Times.
	b. Such acceptance will not impose on Owner or Engineer responsibility for the Progress Schedule, for sequencing, scheduling, or progress of Provider’s performance of its obligations under the Task Order, nor interfere with or relieve Provider from Pr...
	2. a preliminary Schedule of Submittals; and
	3. a preliminary Schedule of Values for all of the Work to be performed pursuant to the Task Order, which includes quantities and prices of items which when added together equal the Contract Price and subdivides the Work into component parts in suffic...

	B. No progress payment will be made to Provider until an acceptable Progress Schedule and acceptable schedule of Submittals are submitted to Owner and Engineer (and other conditions applicable to progress payments are met).

	2.04 Preliminary Conference
	A. Within 20 days after a Task Order’s Contract Times start to run, a conference attended by Owner, Provider, Engineer, and others as appropriate will be held to establish a working understanding among the parties as to the Work, and to discuss the sc...

	2.05 Acceptance of Schedules
	A. At least 10 days before submission of the first Application for Payment, a conference, attended by Provider, Engineer, and others as appropriate, will be held to review the schedules submitted in accordance with Paragraph 2.03.A. No payment will be...
	1. The Progress Schedule will be acceptable to Engineer if it provides an orderly progression of the Work to completion within the Contract Times. Such acceptance will not impose on Engineer responsibility for the Progress Schedule, for sequencing, sc...
	2. Contractor’s Schedule of Submittals will be acceptable to Engineer if it provides a workable arrangement for reviewing and processing the required submittals.
	3. Contractor’s Schedule of Values will be acceptable to Engineer as to form and substance if it provides a reasonable allocation of the Contract Price to the component parts of the Work.
	4. If a schedule is not acceptable, Provider will have an additional 10 days to revise and resubmit the schedule.


	2.06 Electronic Transmittals
	A. Except as otherwise stated elsewhere in the Contract Documents, the Owner, Engineer, and Provider may send, and shall accept, Electronic Documents transmitted by Electronic Means.


	Article 3—Contract Documents: Intent, Requirements, Reuse
	3.01 Intent
	A. The Contract Documents are complementary; what is required by one Contract Document is as binding as if required by all.
	B. Any labor, documentation, services, materials, or equipment that may reasonably be inferred from the Contract Documents or from prevailing custom or trade usage as being required to produce, furnish, or provide the indicated Work will be provided, ...
	C. Unless otherwise stated in the Contract Documents, if there is a discrepancy between the electronic versions of the Contract Documents (including any printed copies derived from such electronic versions) and the printed record version, the printed ...
	D. The Master Agreement and all Contract Documents supersede prior negotiations, representations, and agreements, whether written or oral.
	E. Engineer will issue clarifications and interpretations of the Contract Documents as provided herein.
	F. Any provision or part of the Contract Documents held to be void or unenforceable under any Law or Regulation will be deemed stricken, and all remaining provisions will continue to be valid and binding upon Owner and Provider, which agree that the C...
	G. Nothing in the Contract Documents creates:
	1. any contractual relationship between Owner or Engineer and any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity performing or furnishing any of the Work, for the benefit of such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity; or
	2. any obligation on the part of Owner or Engineer to pay or to see to the payment of any money due any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity, except as may otherwise be required by Laws and Regulations.


	3.02 Standards Specifications, Codes, Laws and Regulations
	A. Reference in the Contract Documents to standard specifications, manuals, reference standards, or codes of any technical society, organization, or association, or to Laws or Regulations, whether such reference be specific or by implication, means th...
	B. No provision of any such standard specification, manual, reference standard, or code, and no instruction of a Supplier, will be effective to change the duties or responsibilities of Owner, Provider, or Engineer from those set forth in the part of t...
	C. The provisions of the Contract Documents shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Oregon and ordinances of the City of Dayton, Oregon.  Any action or suits involving any question arising under this Master Agreement must be bro...

	3.03 Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies
	A. Reporting Discrepancies
	1. Provider’s Verification of Figures and Field Measurements: Before undertaking each part of the Work, Provider shall carefully study the Contract Documents, and check and verify pertinent figures and dimensions therein, particularly with respect to ...
	2. Provider shall not be liable to Owner or Engineer for failure to report any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy in the Contract Documents unless Provider had actual knowledge thereof.

	B. Resolving Discrepancies
	1. Except as may be otherwise specifically stated in the Contract Documents, the provisions of the part of the Contract Documents prepared by or for Engineer take precedence in resolving any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy between such prov...
	a. the provisions of any standard specification, manual, reference standard, or code, or the instruction (whether or not specifically incorporated by reference as a Contract Document); or
	b. the provisions of any Laws or Regulations applicable to the furnishing and performance of the Work (unless such an interpretation of the provisions of the Contract Documents would result in violation of such Law or Regulation).



	3.04 Requirements of the Contract Documents
	A. During the performance of the Work and until each final payment, Provider and Owner shall submit to the Engineer in writing all matters in question concerning the requirements of the Contract Documents and/or an applicable Task Order (sometimes ref...
	1. After assignment (if any) Provider shall submit such matters directly to Contractor/Assignee for response or administration.
	B. Engineer will, with reasonable promptness, render a written clarification, interpretation, or decision on the issue submitted, and if necessary, initiate an amendment or supplement to the Contract Documents or applicable Task Order. Engineer’s writ...
	C. If a submitted matter in question concerns terms and conditions of the Contract Documents that do not involve (1) the performance or acceptability of the Work under the Contract Documents, (2) the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specification...

	3.05 Reuse of Documents
	A. Provider and its Subcontractors and Suppliers shall not:
	1. have or acquire any title to or ownership rights in any of the Drawings, Specifications, or other documents (or copies of any thereof) prepared by or bearing the seal of Engineer or its consultants, including electronic media versions, or reuse any...
	2. have or acquire any title or ownership rights in any other Contract Documents, reuse any such Contract Documents for any purpose without Owner’s express written consent, or violate any copyrights pertaining to such Contract Documents.

	B. The prohibitions of this Paragraph 3.05 will survive final payment, or termination of the Master Agreement and each applicable Task Order. Nothing herein precludes Provider from retaining copies of the Contract Documents for record purposes.


	Article 4—Commencement and Progress of the Work
	4.01 Commencement of Contract Times; Notice to Proceed
	A. The applicable Contract Times will commence to run on the Effective Date of each Task Order.

	4.02 Starting the Work and Continuing Performance
	A. Provider shall start to perform the Work as identified in each Task Order. No Work may be done at the Site prior to such date.
	B. Provider shall adhere to the Progress Schedule established in accordance with Paragraph 2.05, as duly adjusted, and the Work will be provided within the Contract Times.

	4.03 Reference Points
	A. Owner shall provide engineering surveys to establish reference points for construction which in Engineer’s judgment are necessary to enable Provider to proceed with the Work. Provider shall be responsible for laying out the Work, shall protect and ...

	4.04 Progress Schedule
	A. Provider shall adhere to the Progress Schedule established in accordance with Paragraph 2.05 as it may be adjusted from time to time as provided below.
	1. Provider shall submit to Engineer for acceptance (to the extent indicated in Paragraph 2.05) proposed adjustments in the Progress Schedule that will not result in changing the Contract Times. Such adjustments will comply with any applicable provisi...
	2. Proposed adjustments in the Progress Schedule that will change the Contract Times must be submitted in accordance with the requirements of Article 12. Adjustments in Contract Times may only be made by a Change Order.

	B. Provider shall carry on the Work and adhere to the Progress Schedule during all disputes or disagreements with Owner, unless otherwise expressly provided or directed by Owner. No Work will be delayed or postponed pending resolution of any disputes ...

	4.05 Delays
	A. If Owner, Engineer, or anyone for whom Owner is responsible, delays, disrupts, or interferes with the performance or progress of the Work, then Provider shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in applicable Contract Price or Contract Times.
	B. Provider shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for delay, disruption, or interference caused by or within the control of Provider. Delay, disruption, and interference attributable to and within the control of a ...
	C. If Provider’s performance or progress is delayed, disrupted, or interfered with by Force Majeure events, or events for which Owner is solely responsible, then Provider shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in Contract Times. Such an adjustme...
	1. Severe and unavoidable natural catastrophes such as fires, floods, epidemics, and earthquakes;
	2. Abnormal weather conditions;
	3. Acts or failures to act of third-party utility owners or other third-party entities (other than those third-party utility owners or other third-party entities performing other work at or adjacent to the Site as arranged by or under contract with Ow...
	4. Inspection delays by governmental authorities and custom delays (but in no event tariff related delays or costs);
	5. International shipping delays;
	6. Pandemics and epidemics; and
	7. Acts of war or terrorism.

	D. Provider’s entitlement to an adjustment of Contract Times or Contract Price is limited as follows:
	1. Provider’s entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on the delay, disruption, or interference adversely affecting an activity on the critical path to completion of the Work, as of the time of the delay, disruption, or inter...
	2. Provider shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price for any delay, disruption, or interference if such delay is concurrent with a delay, disruption, or interference caused by or within the control of Provider. Such a concurrent delay ...
	3. Adjustments of Contract Times or Contract Price are subject to the provisions of Article 12.

	E. Each request or Change Proposal seeking an adjustment to Contract Times or Contract Price must be supplemented by supporting data that sets forth in detail the following:
	1. The circumstances that form the basis for the requested adjustment;
	2. The date upon which each cause of delay, disruption, or interference began to affect the progress of the Work;
	3. The date upon which each cause of delay, disruption, or interference ceased to affect the progress of the Work;
	4. The number of days’ increase in Contract Times claimed as a consequence of each such cause of delay, disruption, or interference; and
	5. The impact on Contract Price, in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 12.08.

	F. Delays, disruption, and interference to the performance or progress of the Work resulting from the existence of a differing subsurface or physical condition, an Underground Facility that was not shown or indicated by the Contract Documents or an ap...
	G. Paragraph 8.02 addresses delays, disruption, and interference to the performance or progress of the Work resulting from the performance of certain other work at or adjacent to the Site.


	Article 5—Site; Subsurface and Physical Conditions; Hazardous Environmental Conditions
	5.01 Applicability
	A. This Article 5 applies to Work completed pursuant to a Procurement and Installation Task Order.

	5.02 Availability of Lands
	A. Owner shall furnish the Site. Owner shall notify Provider in writing of any encumbrances or restrictions not of general application but specifically related to use of the Site with which Provider must comply in performing the Work.
	B. Upon reasonable written request, Owner shall furnish Provider with a current statement of record legal title and legal description of the lands upon which permanent improvements are to be made and Owner’s interest therein as necessary for giving no...
	C. Provider shall provide for all additional lands and access thereto that may be required for temporary construction facilities or storage of materials and equipment.

	5.03 Use of Site and Other Areas
	A. Limitation on Use of Site and Other Areas
	1. Provider shall confine construction equipment, temporary construction facilities, the storage of materials and equipment, and the operations of workers to the Site, adjacent areas that Provider has arranged to use through construction easements or ...
	2. If a damage or injury claim is made by the owner or occupant of any such land or area because of the performance of the Work, or because of other actions or conduct of the Provider or those for which Provider is responsible, Provider shall (a) take...

	B. Removal of Debris During Performance of the Work: During the progress of the Work the Provider shall keep the Site and other adjacent areas free from accumulations of waste materials, rubbish, and other debris. Removal and disposal of such waste ma...
	C. Cleaning: Prior to Substantial Completion of the Work, Provider shall clean the Site and the Work and make it ready for utilization by Owner. At the final completion of the Work, Provider shall remove from the Site and adjacent areas all tools, app...
	D. Loading of Structures: Provider shall not load nor permit any part of any structure to be loaded in any manner that will endanger the structure, nor shall Provider subject any part of the Work or adjacent structures or land to stresses or pressures...

	5.04 Subsurface and Physical Conditions
	A. Reports and Drawings: Provider shall identify:
	1. Those reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or adjacent to the Site that contain Technical Data;
	2. Those drawings of existing physical conditions at or adjacent to the Site, including those drawings depicting existing surface or subsurface structures at or adjacent to the Site (except Underground Facilities), that contain Technical Data; and
	3. Technical Data contained in such reports and drawings.

	B. Underground Facilities: Underground Facilities are shown or indicated on the Drawings, pursuant to Paragraph 5.06, and not in the drawings referred to in Paragraph 5.04.A. Information and data regarding the presence or location of Underground Facil...
	C. Reliance by Provider on Technical Data: Provider may rely upon the accuracy of the Technical Data expressly identified in the Contract Documents and an applicable Task Order with respect to such reports and drawings, but such reports and drawings a...
	D. Limitations of Other Data and Documents: Except for such reliance on Technical Data, Provider may not rely upon or make any claim against Owner or Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or ...
	1. the completeness of such reports and drawings for Provider’s purposes, including, but not limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed by Provider, and safety precautions and pr...
	2. other data, interpretations, opinions, and information contained in such reports or shown or indicated in such drawings;
	3. the contents of other Site-related documents made available to Provider, such as record drawings from other projects at or adjacent to the Site, or Owner’s archival documents concerning the Site; or
	4. any Provider interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any Technical Data or any such other data, interpretations, opinions, or information.


	5.05 Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions
	A. Notice by Provider: If Provider believes that any subsurface or physical condition that is uncovered or revealed at the Site:
	1. is of such a nature as to establish that any Technical Data on which Provider is entitled to rely as provided in Paragraph 5.04 is materially inaccurate;
	2. is of such a nature as to require a change in the Drawings or Specifications;
	3. differs materially from that shown or indicated in the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order; or
	4. is of an unusual nature, and differs materially from conditions ordinarily encountered and generally recognized as inherent in work of the character provided for in the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order;

	B. Engineer’s Review: After receipt of written notice as required by the preceding paragraph, Engineer will promptly review the subsurface or physical condition in question; determine whether it is necessary for Owner to obtain additional exploration ...
	C. Owner’s Statement to Provider Regarding Site Condition: After receipt of Engineer’s written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, Owner shall issue a written statement to Provider (with a copy to Engineer) regarding the subsurface or physical...
	D. Early Resumption of Work: If at any time Engineer determines that Work in connection with the subsurface or physical condition in question may resume prior to completion of Engineer’s review or Owner’s issuance of its statement to Provider, because...
	E. Possible Price and Times Adjustments
	1. Provider shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, to the extent that the existence of a differing subsurface or physical condition, or any related delay, disruption, or interference, causes an increase or de...
	a. Such condition must fall within any one or more of the categories described in Paragraph 5.05.A;
	b. With respect to Work that is paid for on a unit price basis, any adjustment in Contract Price will be subject to the provisions of Paragraph 14.03; and,
	c. Provider’s entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is subject to the provisions of Paragraphs 4.05.D and 4.05.E.

	2. Provider shall not be entitled to any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times with respect to a subsurface or physical condition if:
	a. Provider knew of the existence of such condition at the time Provider made a commitment to Owner with respect to Contract Price and Contract Times by the execution of the applicable Task Order, or becoming bound under a negotiated contract, or othe...
	b. The existence of such condition reasonably could have been discovered or revealed as a result of any examination, investigation, exploration, test, or study of the Site and contiguous areas expressly required by the Bidding Requirements, Contract D...
	c. Provider failed to pause the Work or give the written notice required by Paragraph 5.05.A.

	3. If Owner and Provider agree regarding Provider’s entitlement to and the amount or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, then any such adjustment will be set forth in a Change Order.
	4. Provider may submit a Change Proposal regarding its entitlement to or the amount or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, no later than 30 days after Owner’s issuance of the Owner’s written statement to Provider regardin...

	F. Underground Facilities; Hazardous Environmental Conditions: Paragraph 5.06 governs rights and responsibilities regarding the presence or location of Underground Facilities. Paragraph 5.07 governs rights and responsibilities regarding Hazardous Envi...

	5.06 Underground Facilities
	A. Provider’s Responsibilities: Unless it is otherwise expressly provided in the Contract Documents or applicable Task Order, the cost of all of the following shall be included in the Contract Price, and Provider shall have full responsibility for:
	1. reviewing and checking all information and data regarding existing Underground Facilities at the Site;
	2. complying with applicable state and local utility damage prevention Laws and Regulations;
	3. verifying the actual location of those Underground Facilities shown or indicated in the Contract Documents or applicable Task Order as being within the area affected by the Work, by exposing such Underground Facilities during the performance of the...
	4. coordination of the Work with the owners (including Owner) of such Underground Facilities, during the performance of the Work; and
	5. the safety and protection of all existing Underground Facilities at the Site, and repairing any damage thereto resulting from the Work.

	B. Notice by Provider: If Provider believes that an Underground Facility that is uncovered or revealed at the Site was not shown or indicated on the Drawings, or was not shown or indicated on the Drawings with reasonable accuracy, then Provider shall,...
	C. Engineer’s Review: Engineer will:
	1. promptly review the Underground Facility and conclude whether such Underground Facility was not shown or indicated on the Drawings, or was not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy;
	2. identify and communicate with the owner of the Underground Facility; prepare recommendations to Owner (and if necessary issue any preliminary instructions to Provider) regarding the Provider’s resumption of Work in connection with the Underground F...
	3. obtain any pertinent cost or schedule information from Provider; determine the extent, if any, to which a change is required in the Drawings or Specifications to reflect and document the consequences of the existence or location of the Underground ...
	4. advise Owner in writing of Engineer’s findings, conclusions, and recommendations.

	D. Owner’s Statement to Provider Regarding Underground Facility: After receipt of Engineer’s written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, Owner shall issue a written statement to Provider (with a copy to Engineer) regarding the Underground Faci...
	E. Early Resumption of Work: If at any time Engineer determines that Work in connection with the Underground Facility may resume prior to completion of Engineer’s review or Owner’s issuance of its statement to Provider, because the Underground Facilit...
	F. Possible Price and Times Adjustments
	1. Provider shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, to the extent that any existing Underground Facility at the Site that was not shown or indicated on the Drawings, or was not shown or indicated with reas...
	a. With respect to Work that is paid for on a unit price basis, any adjustment in Contract Price will be subject to the provisions of Paragraph 14.03;
	b. Provider’s entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is subject to the provisions of Paragraphs 4.05.D and 4.05.E; and
	c. Provider gave the notice required in Paragraph 5.06.B.

	2. If Owner and Provider agree regarding Provider’s entitlement to and the amount or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, then any such adjustment will be set forth in a Change Order.
	3. Provider may submit a Change Proposal regarding its entitlement to or the amount or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, no later than 30 days after Owner’s issuance of the Owner’s written statement to Provider regardin...
	4. The information and data shown or indicated on the Drawings with respect to existing Underground Facilities at each Site is based on information and data (a) furnished by the owners of such Underground Facilities, or by others, (b) obtained from av...


	5.07 Hazardous Environmental Conditions at Site
	A. Reports and Drawings: The Owner shall identify:
	1. those reports known to Owner relating to Hazardous Environmental Conditions that have been identified at or adjacent to the Site;
	2. drawings known to Owner relating to Hazardous Environmental Conditions that have been identified at or adjacent to the Site; and
	3. Technical Data contained in such reports and drawings.

	B. Reliance by Provider on Technical Data Authorized: Provider may rely upon the accuracy of the Technical Data expressly identified by Owner with respect to such reports and drawings, but such reports and drawings are not Contract Documents. If no su...
	1. the completeness of such reports and drawings for Provider’s purposes, including, but not limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures of construction to be employed by Provider, and safety precautions and pro...
	2. other data, interpretations, opinions, and information contained in such reports or shown or indicated in such drawings; or
	3. any Provider interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any Technical Data or any such other data, interpretations, opinions or information.

	C. Provider shall not be responsible for removing or remediating any Hazardous Environmental Condition encountered, uncovered, or revealed at the Site unless such removal or remediation is expressly identified in the Contract Documents or applicable T...
	D. Provider shall be responsible for controlling, containing, and duly removing all Constituents of Concern brought to the Site by Provider, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or anyone else for whom Provider is responsible, and for any associated costs; and ...
	E. If Provider encounters, uncovers, or reveals a Hazardous Environmental Condition whose removal or remediation is not expressly identified in the Contract Documents or applicable Task Order as being within the scope of the Work, or if Provider or an...
	F. Provider shall not resume Work in connection with such Hazardous Environmental Condition or in any affected area until after Owner has obtained any required permits related thereto, and delivered written notice to Provider either (1) specifying tha...
	G. If Owner and Provider cannot agree as to entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, as a result of such Work stoppage, such special conditions under which Work is agreed to be resumed b...
	H. If, after receipt of such written notice, Provider does not agree to resume such Work based on a reasonable belief it is unsafe, or does not agree to resume such Work under such special conditions, then Owner may order the portion of the Work that ...
	I. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Provider shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the employees, agents, consultants, elected and appointed officials, and subcontractors of each and any of them, fr...
	J. The provisions of Paragraphs 5.04, 5.05, and 5.06 do not apply to the presence of Constituents of Concern or to a Hazardous Environmental Condition uncovered or revealed at the Site.


	Article 6—Bonds and Insurance
	6.01 Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds
	A. Provider shall furnish a performance bond and a payment bond, in accordance with the terms of the each fully executed Task Order, as security for the faithful performance and payment of Provider’s obligations under the Contract Documents. These bon...
	B. Provider shall also furnish such other bonds (if any) as are required by the Supplementary Conditions, or other provisions of the Master Agreement.
	C. All bonds must be in the form included in the Bidding Documents or otherwise specified by Owner prior to execution of a Task Order, if any, except as provided otherwise by Laws or Regulations, and must be issued and signed by a surety named in “Com...
	D. Provider shall obtain the required bonds from surety companies that are duly licensed or authorized, in the state or jurisdiction in which the project is located, to issue bonds in the required amounts.
	E. If the surety on a bond furnished by Provider is declared bankrupt or becomes insolvent, or the surety ceases to meet the requirements above, then Provider shall promptly notify Owner and Engineer in writing and shall, within 20 days after the even...
	F. If Provider has failed to obtain a required bond, Owner may exclude the Provider from the Site and exercise Owner’s termination rights under Article 17.
	G. Upon request to Owner from any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other person or entity claiming to have furnished labor, services, materials, or equipment used in the performance of the Work, Owner shall provide a copy of the payment bond to such person...

	6.02 Insurance—General Provisions
	A. Owner and Provider shall obtain and maintain insurance as required in the Contract Documents and each fully executed Task Order.
	B. All insurance required by the Contract Documents to be purchased and maintained by Owner or Provider shall be obtained from insurance companies that are duly licensed or authorized in the state or jurisdiction in which the Project is located to iss...
	C. Alternative forms of insurance coverage, including but not limited to self-insurance and “Occupational Accident and Excess Employer’s Indemnity Policies,” are not sufficient to meet the insurance requirements of this Master Agreement, unless expres...
	D. Provider shall deliver to Owner, with copies to each additional insured identified in the applicable Task Order, certificates of insurance and endorsements establishing that Provider has obtained and is maintaining the policies and coverages requir...
	E. Owner shall deliver to Provider, with copies to each additional insured identified in the applicable Task Order, certificates of insurance and endorsements establishing that Owner has obtained and is maintaining the policies and coverages required ...
	F. Failure of Owner or Provider to demand such certificates or other evidence of the other party’s full compliance with these insurance requirements, or failure of Owner or Provider to identify a deficiency in compliance from the evidence provided, wi...
	G. In addition to the liability insurance required to be provided by Provider, the Owner, at Owner’s option, may purchase and maintain Owner’s own liability insurance. Owner’s liability policies, if any, operate separately and independently from polic...
	H. Provider shall require:
	1. Subcontractors to purchase and maintain worker’s compensation, commercial general liability, and other insurance that is appropriate for their participation in the Work, and to name as additional insureds Owner and Engineer (and any other individua...
	2. Suppliers to purchase and maintain insurance that is appropriate for their participation in the Work.

	I. If either party does not purchase or maintain the insurance required of such party by the Master Agreement or applicable Task Order, such party shall notify the other party in writing of such failure to purchase prior to the start of the Work, or o...
	J. If Provider has failed to obtain and maintain required insurance, Provider’s entitlement to enter or remain at the Site or Point of Destination, as applicable, will end immediately, and Owner may impose an appropriate set-off against payment for an...
	K. Without prejudice to any other right or remedy, if a party has failed to obtain required insurance, the other party may elect (but is in no way obligated) to obtain equivalent insurance to protect such other party’s interests at the expense of the ...
	L. Owner does not represent that insurance coverage and limits established in this Master Agreement and applicable Task Order necessarily will be adequate to protect Provider or Provider’s interests. Provider is responsible for determining whether suc...
	M. The insurance and insurance limits required herein will not be deemed as a limitation on Contractor’s liability, or that of its Subcontractors or Suppliers, under the indemnities granted to Owner and other individuals and entities in the Master Agr...
	N. All the policies of insurance required to be purchased and maintained under this Master Agreement and applicable Task Order will contain a provision or endorsement that the coverage afforded will not be canceled, or renewal refused, until at least ...
	O. Failure of Owner to demand certificates of insurance or other evidence of Provider’s full compliance with these insurance requirements or failure of Owner to identify a deficiency in compliance from the evidence provided will not be construed as a ...
	P. Upon assignment of a Task Order and the applicable terms of the Contract Documents, if any, Provider shall name the Contractor/Assignee as an additional insured and comply with the written request of Contractor/Assignee to provide evidence of insur...

	6.03 Provider’s Insurance
	A. Required Insurance: Provider shall purchase and maintain Worker’s Compensation, Commercial General Liability, and other insurance pursuant to the specific requirements identified herein:
	1. Workers Compensation at statutory limits.
	2. Commercial general liability as follows:
	3. Automobile liability as follows:
	4. Professional Liability as follows:
	5. Excess Umbrella Liability Coverage: Provider shall provide excess umbrella liability coverage, on an occurrence basis, issued as broad form excess to all other professional liability, errors and omissions, commercial general liability, and commerc...
	B. General Provisions: The policies of insurance required by this Paragraph 6.03 as supplemented must:
	1. include at least the specific coverages required;
	2. be written for not less than the limits provided, or those required by Laws or Regulations, whichever is greater;
	3. remain in effect at least until each applicable scope of Work is complete (as set forth in Paragraph 16.06.D), and longer if expressly required elsewhere in this Master Agreement or an applicable Task Order, and at all times thereafter when Provide...
	4. apply with respect to the performance of the Work, whether such performance is by Provider, any Subcontractor or Supplier, or by anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work, or by anyone for whose acts any of th...
	5. include all necessary endorsements to support the stated requirements.

	C. Additional Insureds: The Provider’s commercial general liability, automobile liability, employer’s liability, umbrella or excess, pollution liability, and unmanned aerial vehicle liability policies, if required by this Master Agreement or applicabl...
	1. include and list as additional insureds Owner and Engineer, and any individuals or entities identified as additional insureds in the Supplementary Conditions or applicable Task Order;
	2. include coverage for the respective officers, elected and appointed officials, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, and consultants of all such additional insureds;
	3. afford primary coverage to these additional insureds for all claims covered thereby (including as applicable those arising from both ongoing and completed operations);
	4. not seek contribution from insurance maintained by the additional insured; and
	5. as to commercial general liability insurance, apply to additional insureds with respect to liability caused in whole or in part by Provider’s acts or omissions, or the acts and omissions of those working on Provider’s behalf, in the performance of ...


	6.04 Builder’s Risk and Other Property Insurance (For Work completed under a Procurement and Installation Task Order only)
	A. Builder’s Risk: Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions or a Task Order, Provider is not required to purchase and/or maintain builder’s risk insurance in connection with the Work.
	B. Property Insurance for Facilities of Owner Where Work Will Occur: Owner is responsible for obtaining and maintaining property insurance covering each existing structure, building, or facility in which any part of the Work will occur, or to which an...
	C. Property Insurance for Substantially Complete Facilities: promptly after Substantial Completion, and before actual occupancy or use of the substantially completed Work, Owner will obtain property insurance for such substantially completed Work, and...
	D. Partial Occupancy or Use by Owner: If Owner will occupy or use a portion or portions of the Work prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work, as provided in Paragraph 16.04, then Owner (directly, if it is the purchaser of the builder’s risk pol...
	E. Insurance of Other Property; Additional Insurance: If the express insurance provisions of the Master Agreement and applicable Task Order do not require or address the insurance of a property item or interest, then the entity or individual owning su...

	6.05 Property Losses; Subrogation (for Work completed under a Procurement and Installation Task Order only)
	A. The builder’s risk insurance policy purchased and maintained in accordance with Paragraph 6.04 (or an installation floater policy if authorized by the Supplementary Conditions or a Task Order), will contain provisions to the effect that in the even...
	1. Owner and Provider waive all rights against each other and the respective officers, directors, elected and appointed officials, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them, for all losses and damage...
	2. None of the above waivers extends to the rights that any party making such waiver may have to the proceeds of insurance held by Owner or Provider as trustee or fiduciary, or otherwise payable under any policy so issued.

	B. Any property insurance policy maintained by Owner covering any loss, damage, or consequential loss to Owner’s existing structures, buildings, or facilities in which any part of the Work will occur, or to which any part of the Work will attach or ad...
	C. The waivers in this Paragraph 6.05 include the waiver of rights due to business interruption, loss of use, or other consequential loss extending beyond direct physical loss or damage to Owner’s property or the Work caused by, arising out of, or res...
	D. Provider shall be responsible for assuring that each subcontract contains provisions whereby the Subcontractor waives all rights against Owner, all individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions or applicable Task Order as insur...

	6.06 Receipt and Application of Property Insurance Proceeds (For Work completed under a Procurement and Installation Task Order only)
	A. Any insured loss under the builder’s risk and other policies of property insurance required by Paragraph 6.04 will be adjusted and settled with the named insured that purchased the policy. Such named insured shall act as fiduciary for the other ins...
	B. Proceeds for such insured losses may be made payable by the insurer either jointly to multiple insureds, or to the named insured that purchased the policy in its own right and as fiduciary for other insureds, subject to the requirements of any appl...
	C. If no other special agreement is reached, Provider shall repair or replace the damaged Work, using allocated insurance proceeds.


	Article 7—Provider’s Responsibilities
	7.01 Performance of Obligations
	A. Provider shall be solely responsible for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction necessary to perform its obligations in accordance with the Contract Documents and each fully executed Task Order.
	B. If the Contract Documents or a Task Order note, or Provider determines, that professional engineering or other design services are needed to carry out Provider’s responsibilities for construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedure...
	C. Provider shall coordinate the provision of any Special Services to avoid or limit interference or disruption of other activities at the location where the Special Services are to occur, including but not limited to ongoing facility operations and c...

	7.02 Supervision and Superintendence
	A. Provider shall supervise, inspect, and direct the Work competently and efficiently, devoting such attention thereto and applying such skills and expertise as may be necessary to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents and Task Or...
	B. At all times during the progress of the Work, Provider shall assign a competent resident superintendent who will not be replaced without written notice to Owner and Engineer except under extraordinary circumstances.
	C. Any person employed on the Project, by the Provider or a Subcontractor, who, in the opinion of the Engineer, does not act in a courteous and professional manner towards the adjacent property owners, the traveling public, or Owner shall, at the writ...

	7.03 Labor; Working Hours
	A. Provider shall provide competent, suitably qualified personnel to survey and lay out the Work and perform construction as required by the Contract Documents and Task Order(s). Provider shall maintain good discipline and order at the Site.
	B. Provider shall be fully responsible to Owner and Engineer for all acts and omissions of Provider’s employees; of Suppliers and Subcontractors, and their employees; and of any other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any of the Work, j...

	7.04 Goods, Services, Materials, and Equipment
	A. Unless otherwise specified in the Contract Documents or Task Order(s), Provider shall provide and assume full responsibility for all services, materials, equipment, labor, transportation, construction equipment and machinery, tools, appliances, fue...
	B. All materials and equipment incorporated into the Work must be new and of good quality, except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents or a Task Order. All special warranties and guarantees required by the Specifications or otherwise provid...
	C. All materials and equipment must be stored, applied, installed, connected, erected, protected, used, cleaned, and conditioned in accordance with instructions of the applicable Supplier, except as otherwise may be provided in the Contract Documents ...
	D. All Goods, and all equipment and material incorporated into the Goods, must be as specified, and unless specified otherwise in the Contract Documents or a Task Order, must be:
	1. new, and of good quality;
	2. protected, assembled, connected, cleaned, and conditioned in accordance with the original manufacturer’s instructions; and
	3. shop-assembled to the greatest extent practicable.


	7.05 Concerning Subcontractors and Suppliers
	A. Provider may retain Subcontractors and Suppliers for the performance of parts of the Work. Such Subcontractors and Suppliers must be acceptable to Owner. The Provider’s retention of a Subcontractor or Supplier for the performance of parts of the Wo...
	B. Provider shall retain specific Subcontractors and Suppliers for the performance of designated parts of the Work if required by the Contract Documents or applicable Task Order to do so.
	C. Subsequent to the submittal of Provider’s Bid or final negotiation of the terms of a Task Order, Owner may not require Provider to retain any Subcontractor or Supplier to furnish or perform any of the Work against which Provider has reasonable obje...
	D. Prior to entry into any binding subcontract or purchase order, Provider shall submit to Owner the identity of the proposed Subcontractor or Supplier (unless Owner has already deemed such proposed Subcontractor or Supplier acceptable during the bidd...
	E. Provider shall not assign, sell, dispose of, or transfer rights, or delegate duties under the Master Agreement or a Task Order, either in whole or in part, without the Owner’s prior written consent. Unless otherwise agreed by the Owner in writing, ...
	F. Owner may require the replacement of any Subcontractor or Supplier. Owner also may require Provider to retain specific replacements; provided, however, that Owner may not require a replacement to which Provider has a reasonable objection. If Provid...
	G. If Owner requires the replacement of any Subcontractor or Supplier retained by Provider to perform any part of the Work, then Provider shall be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times with respect to the replacement, and Provi...
	H. No acceptance by Owner of any such Subcontractor or Supplier, whether initially or as a replacement, will constitute a waiver of the right of Owner to the completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order.
	I. On a monthly basis, Provider shall submit to Engineer a complete list of all Subcontractors and Suppliers having a direct contract with Provider, and of all other Subcontractors and Suppliers known to Provider at the time of submittal.
	J. Provider shall be solely responsible for scheduling and coordinating the work of Subcontractors and Suppliers.
	K. The divisions and sections of the Specifications and the identifications of any Drawings do not control Provider in dividing the Work among Subcontractors or Suppliers, or in delineating the Work to be performed by any specific trade.
	L. Subcontractor and Supplier Contracting Requirements
	1. Provider further agrees that if Subcontractors are employed in the performance of this Master Agreement or applicable Task Order, the Provider and its Subcontractors are subject to the requirements and sanction of ORS Chapter 656, Workers’ Compensa...
	2. All Work performed for Provider by a Subcontractor or Supplier must be pursuant to an appropriate contractual agreement that specifically binds the Subcontractor or Supplier to the applicable terms and conditions of the Master Agreement and applica...

	M. Owner may furnish to any Subcontractor or Supplier, to the extent practicable, information about amounts paid to Provider for Work performed for Provider by the Subcontractor or Supplier.
	N. Provider shall restrict all Subcontractors and Suppliers from communicating with Engineer or Owner, except through Provider or in case of an emergency, or as otherwise expressly allowed in these Contract Documents or a Task Order.

	7.06 Hazard Communication Programs
	A. Provider shall be responsible for coordinating any exchange of safety data sheets (formerly known as material safety data sheets) or other hazard communication information required to be made available to or exchanged between or among employers at ...

	7.07 Emergencies
	A. In emergencies affecting the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property at the Site, the Point of Destination, or adjacent thereto, Provider is obligated to act to prevent damage, injury, or loss. Provider shall give Engineer prompt wr...

	7.08 “Or Equals”
	A. Provider’s Request; Governing Criteria: Whenever an item of equipment or material to be incorporated into the Work is specified or described in the Contract Documents or a Task Order by using the names of one or more proprietary items or specific S...
	1. If Engineer in its sole discretion determines that an item of equipment or material proposed by Provider is functionally equal to that named and sufficiently similar so that no change in related Work will be required, Engineer will deem it an “or e...
	2. For the purposes of this paragraph, a proposed item of equipment or material will be considered functionally equal to an item so named if:
	a. in the exercise of reasonable judgment Engineer determines that the proposed item:
	1) is at least equal in materials of construction, quality, durability, appearance, strength, and design characteristics;
	2) will reliably perform at least equally well the function and achieve the results imposed by the design concept of the completed Work as a functioning whole;
	3) has a proven record of performance and availability of responsive service; and
	4) is not objectionable to Owner.

	b. Provider certifies that, if the proposed item is approved and incorporated into the Work:
	1) there will be no increase in the Contract Price or Contract Times; and
	2) the item will conform substantially to the detailed requirements of the item named in the Contract Documents.



	B. Provider’s Expense: Provider shall provide all data in support of any proposed “or equal” item at Provider’s expense.
	C. Engineer’s Evaluation and Determination: Engineer will be allowed a reasonable time to evaluate each “or-equal” request. Engineer may require Provider to furnish additional data about the proposed “or-equal” item. Engineer will be the sole judge of...
	D. Effect of Engineer’s Determination: Neither approval nor denial of an “or-equal” request will result in any change in Contract Price. The Engineer’s denial of an “or-equal” request will be final and binding, and may not be reversed through an appea...
	E. Special Guarantee: Owner may require Provider to furnish at Provider’s expense a special performance guarantee or other surety with respect to any such proposed “or-equal.”

	7.09 Intellectual Property and License Fees
	A. Provider shall pay all license fees and royalties and assume all costs incident to the use in the performance of the Work or the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, product, or device which is the subject of patent rights o...
	B. All work products of the Provider that result from this Master Agreement or applicable Task Order, including but not limited to background data, documentation and staff work that is preliminary to final reports, are the property of Owner.  Draft do...
	C. Use of any work product of the Provider by the Owner for any purpose other than the use intended by this Master Agreement and applicable Task Order(s) is at the risk of the Owner.  Use of any work product by Provider is prohibited without the writt...
	D. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Provider shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, elected and appointed officials, and su...

	7.10 Permits
	A. Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents or a Task Order, Provider shall obtain and pay for all construction permits, licenses, and certificates of occupancy. Owner shall assist Provider, when necessary, in obtaining such permits and lic...

	7.11 Taxes
	A. Provider shall pay all sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes required to be paid by Provider in accordance with the Laws and Regulations of the place of the Work which are applicable during the performance of the Work. All taxes and duties ...

	7.12 Laws and Regulations
	A. Provider shall give all notices required by and shall comply with all Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Neither Owner nor Engineer shall be responsible for monitoring Provider’s compliance with any Laws or Regulations.
	B. If Provider performs any Work or takes any other action knowing or having reason to know that it is contrary to Laws or Regulations, Provider shall bear all resulting costs and losses, and shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Owner and Engine...
	C. Owner or Provider may give written notice to the other party of any changes after the date when Provider became bound under each fully executed Task Order in Laws or Regulations having an effect on the cost or time of performance of the particular ...

	7.13 Record Documents
	A. Provider shall maintain in a safe place one printed record copy of all Drawings, Specifications, Addenda, Change Orders, Work Change Directives, Field Orders, Task Orders, written interpretations and clarifications, and approved Shop Drawings. Prov...
	B. Provider agrees to maintain and retain and retain all financial records, supporting documents, statistical records and all other records pertinent to this Master Agreement and each applicable Task Order during the term of this Master Agreement and ...

	7.14 Safety and Protection
	A. Provider shall be solely responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in connection with the Work. Such responsibility does not relieve Subcontractors of their responsibility for the safety of persons...
	B. If Owner or its representatives visit the Provider’s manufacturing or storage facilities, for testing, inspection, or other purposes, Provider shall inform Owner in advance of any safety preparations, standards, or programs with which Owner and its...
	C. Provider shall designate a qualified and experienced safety representative whose duties and responsibilities are the prevention of Work-related accidents and the maintenance and supervision of safety precautions and programs.
	D. Provider shall take all necessary precautions for the safety of, and shall provide the necessary protection to prevent damage, injury, or loss to:
	1. all persons on the Site, at the Point of Destination, or who may be affected by the Work;
	2. all the Work and materials and equipment to be incorporated therein, whether in storage on or off the Site or on or off the Point of Destination; and
	3. other property at the Site, the Point of Destination, or adjacent thereto, including trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, pavements, roadways, structures, other work in progress, utilities, and Underground Facilities not designated for removal, relocation,...

	E. All damage, injury, or loss to any property referred to in Paragraph 7.14.D.2 or 7.14.D.3 caused, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, by Provider, any Subcontractor, Supplier, or any other individual or entity directly or indirectly employ...
	F. Provider shall comply with all applicable Laws and Regulations relating to the safety of persons or property, or to the protection of persons or property from damage, injury, or loss; and shall erect and maintain all necessary safeguards for such s...
	G. Provider shall notify Owner; the owners of adjacent property; the owners of Underground Facilities and other utilities (if the identity of such owners is known to Provider); and other contractors and utility owners performing work at or adjacent to...
	H. Provider shall comply with the applicable requirements of Owner’s safety programs, if any. Any Owner’s safety programs that are applicable to the Work are identified or included in the Supplementary Conditions, Specifications, or applicable Task Or...
	I. Provider shall inform Owner and Engineer of the specific requirements of Provider’s safety program with which Owner’s and Engineer’s Subcontractors, employees and representatives must comply while at the Site or the Point of Destination.
	J. Provider’s duties and responsibilities for safety and protection will continue until all the Work is completed, Engineer has issued a written notice to Owner and Provider in accordance with Paragraph 16.06.C that the Work is acceptable, and, Provid...
	K. Provider’s duties and responsibilities for safety and protection will resume whenever Provider or any Subcontractor or Supplier returns to the Site or other location of the Goods to fulfill warranty or correction obligations, or to conduct other ta...

	7.15 Submittals
	A. Shop Drawing and Sample Requirements
	1. Before submitting a Shop Drawing or Sample, Provider shall:
	a. review and coordinate the Shop Drawing or Sample with other Shop Drawings and Samples and with the requirements of the Work, the Contract Documents, and the applicable Task Order;
	b. determine and verify:
	1) all field measurements, quantities, dimensions, specified performance and design criteria, installation requirements, materials, catalog numbers, and similar information with respect to the Submittal;
	2) the suitability of all materials and equipment offered with respect to the indicated application, fabrication, shipping, handling, storage, assembly, and installation pertaining to the performance of the Work; and
	3) if applicable to the particular Task Order, all information relative to Provider’s responsibilities for means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction, and safety precautions and programs incident thereto.

	c. confirm that the Submittal is complete with respect to all related data included in the Submittal.

	2. Each Shop Drawing or Sample must bear a stamp or specific written certification that Provider has satisfied Provider’s obligations under the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order with respect to Provider’s review of that Submittal, and that ...
	3. With each Shop Drawing or Sample, Provider shall give Engineer specific written notice of any variations that the Submittal may have from the requirements of the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order. This notice must be set forth in a writt...

	B. Submittal Procedures for Shop Drawings and Samples: Provider shall label and submit Shop Drawings and Samples to Engineer for review and approval in accordance with the accepted Schedule of Submittals.
	1. Shop Drawings
	a. Provider shall submit the number of copies required in the Specifications.
	b. Data shown on the Shop Drawings must be complete with respect to quantities, dimensions, specified performance and design criteria, materials, and similar data to show Engineer the services, materials, and equipment Provider proposes to provide, an...

	2. Samples
	a. Provider shall submit the number of Samples required in the Specifications.
	b. Provider shall clearly identify each Sample as to material, Supplier, pertinent data such as catalog numbers, the use for which intended and other data as Engineer may require to enable Engineer to review the Submittal for the limited purposes requ...

	3. Where a Shop Drawing or Sample is required by the Contract Documents, a particular Task Order, or the Schedule of Submittals, any related Work performed prior to Engineer’s review and approval of the pertinent submittal will be at the sole expense ...

	C. Engineer’s Review of Shop Drawings and Samples
	1. Engineer will provide timely review of Shop Drawings and Samples in accordance with the accepted Schedule of Submittals. Engineer’s review and approval will be only to determine if the items covered by the Submittals will, after installation or inc...
	2. Engineer’s review and approval will not extend to means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, manufacturing, fabrication, installation, or shipping, or to safety precautions or programs incident thereto.
	3. Engineer’s review and approval of a separate item as such will not indicate approval of the assembly in which the item functions.
	4. Engineer’s review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample will not relieve Provider from responsibility for any variation from the requirements of the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order unless Provider has complied with the requirements ...
	5. Engineer’s review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample will not relieve Provider from responsibility for complying with the requirements of Paragraphs 7.15.A and B.
	6. Engineer’s review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample, or of a variation from the requirements of the Contract Documents or an applicable Task Order, will not, under any circumstances, change the Contract Times or Contract Price, unless such c...
	7. Neither Engineer’s receipt, review, acceptance, or approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample will result in such item becoming a Contract Document.
	8. Provider shall perform the Work in compliance with the requirements and commitments set forth in approved Shop Drawings and Samples, subject to the provisions of Paragraph 7.15.C.4.

	D. Resubmittal Procedures for Shop Drawings and Samples
	1. Provider shall make corrections required by Engineer and shall return the required number of corrected copies of Shop Drawings and submit, as required, new Samples for review and approval. Provider shall direct specific attention in writing to revi...
	2. Provider shall furnish required Shop Drawing and Sample submittals with sufficient information and accuracy to obtain required approval of an item with no more than two resubmittals. Engineer will record Engineer’s time for reviewing a third or sub...
	3. If Provider requests a change of a previously approved Shop Drawing or Sample, Provider shall be responsible for Engineer’s charges to Owner for its review time, and Owner may impose a set-off against payments due Provider to secure reimbursement f...

	E. Submittals Other than Shop Drawings, Samples, and Owner-Delegated Designs
	1. The following provisions apply to all Submittals other than Shop Drawings, Samples, and Owner-delegated designs:
	a. Provider shall submit all such Submittals to the Engineer in accordance with the Schedule of Submittals and pursuant to the applicable terms of the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order.
	b. Engineer will provide timely review of all such Submittals in accordance with the Schedule of Submittals and return such Submittals with a notation of either Accepted or Not Accepted. Any such Submittal that is not returned within the time establis...
	c. Engineer’s review will be only to determine if the Submittal is acceptable under the requirements of the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order as to general form and content of the Submittal.
	d. If any such Submittal is not accepted, Provider shall confer with Engineer regarding the reason for the non-acceptance, and resubmit an acceptable document.

	2. Procedures for the submittal and acceptance of the Progress Schedule, the Schedule of Submittals, and the Schedule of Values are set forth in Paragraphs 2.03. 2.04, and 2.05.


	7.16 Provider’s General Warranty and Guarantee
	A. Provider warrants and guarantees to Owner that all Work will be in accordance with the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order and will not be non-conforming or defective in materials and workmanship and shall in all material respects comply w...
	B. Owner’s rights under this warranty and guarantee are in addition to, and are not limited by, Owner’s rights under the correction period provisions of Paragraph 16.08 and any other manufacturers warranties or other warranties that Provider passes on...
	1. Owner shall give Provider written notice of any non-conforming or defective Work within 60 days of the discovery that such Work is non-conforming or defective; and
	2. Such notice will be deemed the start of an event giving rise to a Claim under Paragraph 13.01.B, such that any related Claim must be brought within 30 days of the notice.

	C. Provider’s warranty and guarantee hereunder excludes defects or damage caused by:
	1. abuse, or improper modification, maintenance, or operation, by persons other than Provider, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or any other individual or entity for whom Provider is responsible;
	2. excessive corrosion or chemical attack, unless corrosive or chemically-damaging conditions were disclosed by Owner in the Contract Documents or applicable Task Order and the Contract Documents or applicable Task Order required the Goods to withstan...
	3. use of Goods in a manner contrary to Provider’s written instructions for installation, operation, and maintenance; or
	2. normal wear and tear under normal usage.

	D. Provider’s obligation to perform and complete the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order is absolute. None of the following will constitute an acceptance of Work that is not in accordance with the Contract Document...
	1. Observations by Owner or Engineer;
	2. Recommendation by Engineer or payment by Owner of any payment;
	3. Delivery acceptance or other general acceptance of any Goods by Owner or Engineer, or any failure to do so;
	4. Use of the Goods by Owner;
	5. The issuance of a certificate of Substantial Completion by Engineer or any payment related thereto by Owner;
	6. Use or occupancy of the Work or any part thereof by Owner;
	7. Any review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample submittal;
	8. The issuance of a notice of acceptability by Engineer;
	9. The end of the correction period established in Paragraph 16.08;
	10. Any inspection, test, or approval by others; or
	11. Any correction of defective or non-conforming Work by Owner.

	E. Owner shall promptly notify Provider of any breach of Provider’s warranties and guarantees.
	F. If the Master Agreement or an applicable Task Order requires the Provider to accept the assignment of a contract entered into by Owner, then the specific warranties, guarantees, and correction obligations contained in the assigned contract will gov...

	7.17 Indemnification
	A. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, and in addition to any other obligations of Provider under the Master Agreement or otherwise, Provider shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directo...
	B. In any and all claims against Owner or Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, elected or appointed officials, or subcontractors, by any employee (or the survivor or personal representative ...
	C. The terms of this Paragraph 7.17 shall survive termination or expiration of these Contract Documents and all Task Orders.


	Article 8—Other Work at the Site
	8.01 Applicability
	A. This Article 8 applies to Work completed pursuant to a Procurement and Installation Task Order.

	8.02 Other Work
	A. In addition to and apart from the Work under the Contract Documents and executed Task Orders, the Owner may perform other work at or adjacent to the Site. Such other work may be performed by Owner’s employees, or through contracts between the Owner...
	B. If Owner performs other work at or adjacent to the Site with Owner’s employees, or through contracts for such other work, then Owner shall give Provider written notice thereof prior to starting any such other work. If Owner has advance information ...
	C. Provider shall afford proper and safe access to the Site to each contractor that performs such other work, each utility owner performing other work, and Owner, if Owner is performing other work with Owner’s employees, and provide a reasonable oppor...
	D. Provider shall do all cutting, fitting, and patching of the Work that may be required to properly connect or otherwise make its several parts come together and properly integrate with such other work. Provider shall not endanger any work of others ...
	E. If the proper execution or results of any part of Provider’s Work depends upon work performed by others, Provider shall inspect such other work and promptly report to Engineer in writing any delays, defects, or deficiencies in such other work that ...
	F. The provisions of this article are not applicable to work that is performed by third-party utilities or other third-party entities without a contract with Owner, or that is performed without having been arranged by Owner. If such work occurs, then ...

	8.03 Coordination
	A. If Owner intends to contract with others for the performance of other work at or adjacent to the Site, to perform other work at or adjacent to the Site with Owner’s employees, or to arrange to have utility owners perform work at or adjacent to the ...
	1. The identity of the individual or entity that will have authority and responsibility for coordination of the activities among the various contractors;
	2. An itemization of the specific matters to be covered by such authority and responsibility; and
	3. The extent of such authority and responsibilities.

	B. Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions or applicable Task Order, Owner shall have sole authority and responsibility for such coordination.

	8.04 Legal Relationships
	A. If, in the course of performing other work for Owner at or adjacent to the Site, the Owner’s employees, any other contractor working for Owner, or any utility owner that Owner has arranged to perform work, causes damage to the Work or to the proper...
	B. Provider shall take reasonable and customary measures to avoid damaging, delaying, disrupting, or interfering with the work of Owner, any other contractor, or any utility owner performing other work at or adjacent to the Site.
	1. If Provider fails to take such measures and as a result damages, delays, disrupts, or interferes with the work of any such other contractor or utility owner, then Owner may impose a set-off against payments due Provider, and assign to such other co...
	2. When Owner is performing other work at or adjacent to the Site with Owner’s employees, Provider shall be liable to Owner for damage to such other work, and for the reasonable direct delay, disruption, and interference costs incurred by Owner as a r...

	C. If Provider damages, delays, disrupts, or interferes with the work of any other contractor, or any utility owner performing other work at or adjacent to the Site, through Provider’s failure to take reasonable and customary measures to avoid such im...


	Article 9—Owner’s Responsibilities
	9.01 Communications to Provider
	A. Except as otherwise provided in these General Conditions or a Task Order, Owner shall issue all communications to Provider through Engineer.

	9.02 Replacement of Engineer
	A. Owner may at its discretion appoint an engineer to replace Engineer, provided Provider makes no reasonable objection to the replacement engineer. The replacement engineer’s status under the Contract Documents will be that of the former Engineer.

	9.03 Furnish Data
	A. Owner shall promptly furnish the data required of Owner under the Contract Documents.

	9.04 Pay When Due
	A. Owner shall make payments to Provider when they are due as provided in the Contract Documents.

	9.05 Lands and Easements; Reports, Tests, and Drawings
	A. Owner’s duties with respect to providing lands and easements are set forth in Paragraph 5.02.
	B. Owner’s duties with respect to providing engineering surveys to establish reference points are set forth in Paragraph 4.03.
	C. Article 5 refers to Owner’s identifying and making available to Provider copies of reports of explorations and tests of conditions at the Site, and drawings of physical conditions relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site.

	9.06 Insurance
	A. Owner’s responsibilities, if any, with respect to purchasing and maintaining liability and property insurance are set forth in Article 6.

	9.07 Change Orders
	A. Owner’s responsibilities with respect to Change Orders are set forth in Article 21.

	9.08 Inspections, Tests, and Approvals
	A. Owner’s responsibility with respect to certain inspections, tests, and approvals is set forth in Paragraph 15.02.B.

	9.09 Limitations on Owner’s Responsibilities
	A. The Owner shall not supervise, direct, or have control or authority over, nor be responsible for, Provider’s means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any f...

	9.10 Undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition
	A. Owner’s responsibility in respect to an undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition is set forth in Paragraph 5.07.

	9.11 Safety Programs
	A. While at the Site, Owner’s employees and representatives shall comply with the specific applicable requirements of Provider’s safety programs of which Owner has been informed and which do not contradict the Laws and Regulations or any Owner safety ...
	B. While at the Site, Owner’s employees and representatives shall comply with the specific applicable requirements of Owner’s own safety programs.
	C. Owner shall furnish copies of any applicable Owner safety programs to Provider.


	Article 10 -- Shipping and delivery
	10.01 Applicability
	A. This Article 10 applies to Work completed pursuant to a Procurement Task Order.

	10.02 Shipping
	A. Provider shall select the carrier and bear all costs of packaging, transportation, insurance, special handling, and all other costs associated with shipment and delivery of the Goods.

	10.03 Delivery
	A.  Provider shall deliver the Goods free on board (FOB) to the Point of Destination, freight prepaid, in accordance with the Contract Times set forth in the applicable Task Order, or other date agreed to by Owner and Provider.
	B.  At least 10 days before shipment, Provider shall provide written notice to Owner of the manner of shipment and the anticipated delivery date. The notice must also include any instructions concerning special equipment or services required at the Po...
	C.  Unless otherwise stated in a particular Task Order, Owner will be responsible and bear all costs for unloading the Goods from carrier.
	D.  Owner will assure that adequate facilities are available to receive delivery of the Goods at the time established for delivery, or on another date agreed to by Owner and Provider.
	E.  No partial deliveries will be allowed, unless permitted or required by the applicable Task Order or agreed to in writing by Owner.
	F. Provisions governing inspection on delivery are set forth in Paragraph 15.02.

	10.04 Risk of Loss
	A.  Risk of loss and insurable interests transfer from Provider to Owner upon Owner’s receipt of the Goods.
	B. Notwithstanding the provisions of Paragraph 10.03.A, if Owner rejects the Goods as nonconforming or defective, the risk of loss on such Goods will remain with Provider until Provider corrects the non-conformity or defect or Owner accepts the Goods....


	Article 11 —Engineer’s Status During WORK
	11.01 Owner’s Representative
	A. Engineer will be Owner’s representative during the term of each Task Order until assignment (if any). The duties and responsibilities and the limitations of authority of Engineer as Owner’s representative are set forth in the Contract Documents.

	11.02 Visits to Site
	A. With respect to Work completed under Procurement and Installation Task Orders, Engineer will make visits to the Site at intervals appropriate to the various stages of the Work as Engineer deems necessary in order to observe, as an experienced and q...
	B. Engineer’s visits and observations are subject to all the limitations on Engineer’s authority and responsibility set forth in Paragraph 11.07. Particularly, but without limitation, during or as a result of Engineer’s visits or observations of Provi...

	11.03 Resident Project Representative
	A. This paragraph 11.03 applies to Work completed under Procurement and Installation Task Orders.
	B. The Resident Project Representative (RPR) will be Engineer's representative at the Site, will act as directed by and under the supervision of Engineer, and will confer with Engineer regarding RPR's actions.
	1. General: RPR's dealings in matters pertaining to the Work in general shall be with Engineer and Provider. RPR's dealings with Subcontractors shall only be through or with the full knowledge and approval of Provider. RPR shall generally communicate ...
	2. Schedules: Review the Progress Schedule, schedule of Shop Drawing and Sample submittals, and Schedule of Values prepared by Provider and consult with Engineer concerning acceptability.
	3. Conferences and Meetings: As invited, attend meetings with Provider, such as preconstruction conferences, progress meetings, job conferences, and other Project-related meetings, and prepare and circulate copies of minutes thereof.
	4. Liaison:
	a. Serve as Engineer’s liaison with Provider. Working principally through Provider’s authorized representative or designee, assist in providing information regarding the provisions and intent of the Contract Documents and fully executed Task Orders.
	b. Assist Engineer in serving as Owner’s liaison with Provider when Provider’s operations affect Owner’s on-Site operations.
	c. Assist in obtaining from Owner additional details or information, when required for proper execution of the Work.
	5. Interpretation of Contract Documents: Report to Engineer when clarifications and interpretations of the Contract Documents are needed, and transmit to Provider clarifications and interpretations as issued by Engineer.
	6. Shop Drawings and Samples:
	a. Record date of receipt of Samples and Provider -approved Shop Drawings.
	b. Receive Samples which are furnished at the Site by Provider, and notify Engineer of availability of Samples for examination.
	c. Advise Engineer and Provider of the commencement of any portion of the Work requiring a Shop Drawing or Sample submittal for which RPR believes that the submittal has not been approved by Engineer.
	7. Modifications: Consider and evaluate Provider’s suggestions for modifications in Drawings or Specifications and report such suggestions, together with RPR’s recommendations, if any, to Engineer. Transmit to Provider in writing decisions as issued b...
	8. Review of Work and Rejection of Defective or Non-Conforming Work:
	a. Conduct on-Site observations of Provider’s work in progress to assist Engineer in determining if the Work is in general proceeding in accordance with the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order.
	b. Report to Engineer whenever RPR believes that any part of Provider’s Work in progress is defective or non-conforming, will not produce a completed Project that conforms generally to the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order, or will imperil ...
	9. Inspections, Tests, and System Start-ups:
	a. Observe that tests, equipment, and systems start-ups and operating and maintenance training are conducted in the presence of appropriate Owner’s personnel, and that Provider maintains adequate records thereof.
	b. Observe, record, and report to Engineer appropriate details relative to the test procedures and systems start-ups.
	10. Records:
	a. Prepare a daily report or keep a diary or log book, recording Provider’s hours on the Site, Subcontractors present at the Site, weather conditions, data relative to questions of Change Orders, Field Orders, Work Change Directives, or changed condit...
	b. Record names, addresses, e-mail addresses, web site locations, and telephone numbers of Provider s, Subcontractors, and major Suppliers of materials and equipment.
	c. Maintain records for use in preparing Project documentation.
	11. Reports:
	a. Furnish to Engineer periodic reports as required of progress of the Work and of Provider’s compliance with the Progress Schedule and schedule of Shop Drawing and Sample submittals.
	b. Recommend to Engineer proposed Change Orders, Work Change Directives, and Field Orders. Obtain backup material from Provider.
	c. Immediately notify Engineer of the occurrence of any Site accidents, emergencies, Force Majeure events endangering the Work, damage to property by fire or other causes, or the discovery of any Constituent of Concern or Hazardous Environmental Condi...
	12. Payment Requests:  Review applications for payment with Provider for compliance with the established procedure for their submission and forward with recommendations to Engineer, noting particularly the relationship of the payment requested to the ...
	13. Certificates, Operation and Maintenance Manuals:  During the course of the Work, observe if materials and equipment certificates, operation and maintenance manuals and other data required by the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order to be a...
	14. Completion:
	a. Participate in Engineer’s visits to the Site to determine Substantial Completion, assist in the determination of Substantial Completion, and the preparation of a punch list of items to be completed or corrected prior to completion of the Work.
	b. Participate in Engineer’s final visit to the Site to determine completion of the Work, in the company of Owner and Provider, and prepare a final punch list of items to be completed and deficiencies to be remedied.
	c. Observe whether all items on the final list have been completed or corrected and make recommendations to Engineer concerning acceptance and issuance of the notice of acceptability of the Work.
	C. The RPR shall not:
	1. Authorize any deviation from the Contract Documents or Task Order or substitution of materials or equipment (including “or-equal” items).
	2. Exceed limitations of Engineer’s authority as set forth in the Contract Documents or Task Order.
	3. Undertake any of the responsibilities of Provider, Subcontractors, or Suppliers.
	4. Advise on, issue directions relative to, or assume control over any aspect of the means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures of Provider’s Work.
	5. Advise on, issue directions regarding, or assume control over security or safety practices, precautions, and programs in connection with the activities or operations of Owner or Provider.
	6. Participate in specialized field or laboratory tests or inspections conducted off-Site or outside the Point of Destination by others except as specifically authorized by Engineer.
	7. Accept Shop Drawing or Sample submittals from anyone other than Provider.
	8. Authorize Owner to occupy the Project in whole or in part.

	11.04 Engineer’s Authority
	A. Engineer has the authority to reject Work in accordance with Article 15.
	B. Engineer’s authority as to Submittals is set forth in Paragraph 7.15.
	C. Engineer’s authority as to design drawings, calculations, specifications, certifications and other Submittals from Provider in response to Owner’s delegation (if any) to Provider of professional design services, is set forth in Paragraph 7.15.
	D. Engineer’s authority as to changes in the Work is set forth in Article 12.
	E. Engineer’s authority as to Applications for Payment is set forth in Article 16.
	F. As set forth in Article 3, Engineer will be the initial interpreter of the Contract Documents and each Task Order and judge of the acceptability of the Work, and will issue clarifications, interpretations, and decisions regarding such issues.

	11.05 Determinations for Unit Price Work
	A. Engineer will determine the actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work performed by Provider as set forth in Paragraph 14.03.

	11.06 Decisions on Requirements of Contract Documents and Acceptability of Work
	A. Engineer will render decisions regarding the requirements of the Contract Documents and applicable Task Orders, and judge the acceptability of the Work, pursuant to the specific procedures set forth herein for initial interpretations, Change Propos...

	11.07 Limitations on Engineer’s Authority and Responsibilities
	A. Neither Engineer’s authority or responsibility under this Article 11 or under any other provision of the Master Agreement or Task Order, nor any decision made by Engineer in good faith either to exercise or not exercise such authority or responsibi...
	B. Engineer will not supervise, direct, control, or have authority over or be responsible for Provider’s means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure ...
	C. Engineer will not be responsible for the acts or omissions of Provider or of any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or of any other individual or entity performing any of the Work.
	D. Engineer’s review of the final Application for Payment and accompanying documentation, and all maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, bonds, certificates of inspection, tests and approvals, and other documentation required t...
	E. The limitations upon authority and responsibility set forth in this Paragraph 11.07 also apply to the Resident Project Representative, if any.

	11.08 Compliance with Safety Program
	A. While at the Site or Point of Destination, Engineer’s employees and representatives will comply with the specific applicable requirements of Owner’s and Provider’s safety programs of which Engineer has been informed.


	Article 12—Changes to the Master Agreement OR TASK ORDER
	12.01 Amending and Supplementing the Master Agreement or a Task Order
	A. The Contract Documents or a fully executed Task Order may be amended or supplemented by a Change Order, a Work Change Directive, or a Field Order.
	B. If an amendment or supplement to the fully executed Task Order includes a change in the Contract Price or the Contract Times, such amendment or supplement must be set forth in a Change Order.
	C. All changes to the Contract Documents and Task Orders that involve (1) the performance, conformance, or acceptability of the Work, (2) the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or (3) other engineering or technical ma...

	12.02 Change Orders
	A. Owner and Provider shall execute appropriate Change Orders covering:
	1. Changes in Contract Price or Contract Times which are agreed to by the parties, including any undisputed sum or amount of time for Work actually performed in accordance with a Work Change Directive;
	2. Changes in Contract Price resulting from an Owner set-off, unless Provider has duly contested such set-off;
	3. Changes in the Work which are: (a) ordered by Owner pursuant to Paragraph 12.05, (b) required because of Owner’s acceptance of defective or non-conforming Work under Paragraph 15.04 or Owner’s correction of defective or non-conforming Work under Pa...
	4. Changes that embody the substance of any final and binding results under: Paragraph 12.03.B, resolving the impact of a Work Change Directive; Paragraph 11.09, concerning Change Proposals; Article 13, Claims; Paragraph 14.02.D, final adjustments res...

	B. If Owner or Provider refuses to execute a Change Order that is required to be executed under the terms of Paragraph 12.02.A, it will be deemed to be of full force and effect, as if fully executed.

	12.03 Work Change Directives
	A. A Work Change Directive will not change the Contract Price or the Contract Times but is evidence that the parties expect that the modification ordered or documented by a Work Change Directive will be incorporated in a subsequently issued Change Ord...
	B. If Owner has issued a Work Change Directive and:
	1. Provider believes that an adjustment in Contract Times or Contract Price is necessary, then Provider shall submit any Change Proposal seeking such an adjustment no later than 30 days after the completion of the Work set out in the Work Change Direc...
	2. Owner believes that an adjustment in Contract Times or Contract Price is necessary, then Owner shall submit any Claim seeking such an adjustment no later than 60 days after issuance of the Work Change Directive.


	12.04 Field Orders
	A. Engineer may authorize minor changes in the Work if the changes do not involve an adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times and are compatible with the design concept of the completed Work as a functioning whole as indicated by the Con...
	B. If Provider believes that a Field Order justifies an adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, then before proceeding with the Work at issue, Provider shall submit a Change Proposal as provided herein.

	12.05 Owner-Authorized Changes in the Work
	A. Without invalidating the Master Agreement or any Task Order, and without notice to any surety, Owner may, at any time or from time to time, order additions, deletions, or revisions in the Work. Changes involving the design (as set forth in the Draw...
	B. Such changes in the Work may be accomplished by a Change Order, if Owner and Provider have agreed as to the effect, if any, of the changes on Contract Times or Contract Price; or by a Work Change Directive. Upon receipt of any such document, Provid...
	C. Nothing in this Paragraph 11.05 obligates Provider to undertake work that Provider reasonably concludes cannot be performed in a manner consistent with Provider’s safety obligations under the Contract Documents, applicable Task Order, or Laws and R...

	12.06 Owner’s Contingency Allowance
	A. The Owner’s Contingency Allowance, if any such is set forth in the applicable Task Order, is for the sole use of Owner to cover unanticipated costs.
	B. If Owner exercises its unilateral right to use all or a portion of the Owner’s Contingency Allowance, Owner will issue a written directive that documents the costs to which the allowance is applied, Provider’s entitlement to compensation, and the c...
	C. Prior to final payment, the Contract Price, as set forth in the applicable Task Order, will be duly adjusted to account for any unused portion of the Owner’s Contingency Allowance.
	D.   Each Task Order addresses the impact on Owner’s Contingency Allowance of an assignment of the Task Order.

	12.07 Unauthorized Changes in the Work
	A. Provider shall not be entitled to an increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Times with respect to any work performed that is not required by the Contract Documents or fully executed Task Orders, as amended, modified, or supp...

	12.08 Change of Contract Price
	A. The Contract Price may only be changed by a Change Order. Any Change Proposal for an adjustment in the Contract Price must comply with the provisions of Paragraph 12.10. Any Claim for an adjustment of Contract Price must comply with the provisions ...
	B. An adjustment in the Contract Price will be determined as follows:
	1. Where the Work involved is covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents or applicable Task Order, then by application of such unit prices to the quantities of the items involved (subject to the provisions of the applicable Task Order);
	2. Where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents or applicable Task Order, then by a mutually agreed lump sum(which may include an allowance for overhead and profit not necessarily in accordance with Paragra...
	3. Where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents and the parties do not reach mutual agreement to a lump sum, then on the basis of the Cost of the Work (determined as provided in Paragraph 14.01) plus a Prov...

	C. Provider’s Fee: When applicable, the Provider’s fee for overhead and profit will be determined as follows:
	1. A mutually acceptable fixed fee; or
	2. If a fixed fee is not agreed upon, then a fee based on the following percentages of the various portions of the Cost of the Work:
	a. For costs incurred under Paragraphs 14.01.B.1 and 14.01.B.2, the Provider’s fee will be 15 percent;
	b. For costs incurred under Paragraph 14.01.B.3, the Provider’s fee will be 5 percent;
	c. Where one or more tiers of Subcontracts are on the basis of Cost of the Work plus a fee and no fixed fee is agreed upon, the intent of Paragraphs 12.08.C.2.a and 12.08.C.2.b is that the Provider’s fee will be based on: (1) a fee of 15 percent of th...
	d. No fee will be payable on the basis of costs itemized under Paragraphs 14.01.B.4, 14.01.B.5, and 14.01.C;
	e. The amount of credit to be allowed by Provider to Owner for any change which results in a net decrease in Cost of the Work will be the amount of the actual net decrease in Cost of the Work and a deduction of an additional amount equal to 5 percent ...
	f. When both additions and credits are involved in any one change or Change Proposal, the adjustment in Provider’s fee will be computed by determining the sum of the costs in each of the cost categories in Paragraph 14.01.B (specifically, payroll cost...



	12.09 Change of Contract Times
	A. The Contract Times may only be changed by a Change Order. Any Change Proposal for an adjustment in the Contract Times must comply with the provisions of Paragraph 12.09. Any Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Times must comply with the provisi...
	B. Delay, disruption, and interference in the Work, and any related changes in Contract Times, are addressed in and governed by Paragraph 4.05.

	12.10 Change Proposals
	A. Purpose and Content: Provider shall submit a Change Proposal to Engineer to request an adjustment in the Contract Times or Contract Price; contest an initial decision by Engineer concerning the requirements of the Contract Documents or a Task Order...
	B. Change Proposal Procedures
	1. Submittal: Provider shall submit each Change Proposal to Engineer within 30 days after the start of the event giving rise thereto, or after such initial decision.
	2. Supporting Data: The Provider shall submit supporting data, including the proposed change in Contract Price or Contract Time (if any), to the Engineer and Owner within 15 days after the submittal of the Change Proposal.
	a. Change Proposals based on or related to delay, interruption, or interference must comply with the provisions of Paragraphs 4.05.D and 4.05.E.
	b. Change proposals related to a change of Contract Price must include full and detailed accounts of materials incorporated into the Work and labor and equipment used for the subject Work.
	c. The supporting data must be accompanied by a written statement that the supporting data are accurate and complete, and that any requested time or price adjustment is the entire adjustment to which Provider believes it is entitled as a result of sai...

	3. Engineer’s Initial Review: Engineer will advise Owner regarding the Change Proposal, and consider any comments or response from Owner regarding the Change Proposal. If in its discretion Engineer concludes that additional supporting data is needed b...
	4. Engineer’s Full Review and Action on the Change Proposal: Upon receipt of Provider’s supporting data (including any additional data requested by Engineer), Engineer will conduct a full review of each Change Proposal and, within 30 days after such r...
	5. Binding Decision: Engineer’s decision is final and binding upon Owner and Provider, unless Owner or Provider appeals the decision by filing a Claim under Article 13.

	C. Resolution of Certain Change Proposals: If the Change Proposal does not involve the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), the acceptability of the Work, or other engineering or technical matters, then Engineer will no...
	D. Post-Completion: Provider shall not submit any Change Proposals after Engineer issues a written recommendation of final payment pursuant to Paragraph 16.06.

	12.11 Notification to Surety
	A. If the provisions of any bond require notice to be given to a surety of any change affecting the general scope of the Work or the provisions of the Contract Documents or a Task Order (including, but not limited to, Contract Price or Contract Times)...


	Article 13—Claims
	13.01 Claims Process: The following disputes between Owner and Provider are subject to the Claims process set forth in this Article:
	A. Appeals by Owner or Provider of Engineer’s decisions regarding Change Proposals;
	B. Owner demands for adjustments in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or other relief under the Contract Documents or a particular Task Order;
	C. Disputes that Engineer has been unable to address because they do not involve the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), the acceptability of the Work, or other engineering or technical matters; and
	D. Subject to the waiver provisions of Paragraph 16.07, any dispute arising after Engineer has issued a written recommendation of final payment pursuant to Paragraph 16.06.B.

	13.02 Submittal of Claim: The party submitting a Claim shall deliver it directly to the other party to the Master Agreement promptly (but in no event later than 30 days) after the start of the event giving rise thereto; in the case of appeals regardin...
	13.03 Review and Resolution: The party receiving a Claim shall review it thoroughly, giving full consideration to its merits. The two parties shall seek to resolve the Claim through the exchange of information and direct negotiations. The parties may ...
	13.04 Mediation
	A. At any time after initiation of a Claim, Owner and Provider may mutually agree to mediation of the underlying dispute. The agreement to mediate will stay the Claim submittal and response process.
	B. If Owner and Provider agree to mediation, then after 60 days from such agreement, either Owner or Provider may unilaterally terminate the mediation process, and the Claim submittal and decision process will resume as of the date of the termination....
	C. Owner and Provider shall each pay one-half of the mediator’s fees and costs.

	13.05. Partial Approval: If the party receiving a Claim approves the Claim in part and denies it in part, such action will be final and binding unless within 30 days of such action the other party invokes the procedure set forth in Article 18 for fina...
	13.06 Denial of Claim: If efforts to resolve a Claim are not successful, the party receiving the Claim may deny it by giving written notice of denial to the other party. If the receiving party does not take action on the Claim within 90 days, then eit...
	13.07 Final and Binding Results: If the parties reach a mutual agreement regarding a Claim, whether through approval of the Claim, direct negotiations, mediation, or otherwise; or if a Claim is approved in part and denied in part, or denied in full, a...

	Article 14—Cost of the Work; Allowances; Unit Price Work
	14.01 Cost of the Work
	A. Purposes for Determination of Cost of the Work: The term Cost of the Work means the sum of all costs necessary for the proper performance of the Work at issue, as further defined below. The provisions of this Paragraph 14.01 are used for two distin...
	1. To determine Cost of the Work when Cost of the Work is a component of the Contract Price, under cost-plus-fee, time-and-materials, or other cost-based terms; or
	2. When needed to determine the value of a Change Order, Change Proposal, Claim, set-off, or other adjustment in Contract Price. When the value of any such adjustment is determined on the basis of Cost of the Work, Provider is entitled only to those a...

	B. Costs Included: Except as otherwise may be agreed to in writing by Owner, costs included in the Cost of the Work will be in amounts no higher than those commonly incurred in the locality of the Work, will not include any of the costs itemized in Pa...
	1. Payroll costs for employees in the direct employ of Provider in the performance of the Work under schedules of job classifications agreed upon by Owner and Provider in advance of the subject Work. Such employees include, without limitation, superin...
	2. Cost of all materials and equipment furnished and incorporated in the Work, including costs of transportation and storage thereof, and Suppliers’ field services required in connection therewith. All cash discounts accrue to Provider unless Owner de...
	3. Payments made by Provider to Subcontractors for Work performed by Subcontractors. If required by Owner, Provider shall obtain competitive bids from subcontractors acceptable to Owner and Provider and shall deliver such bids to Owner, which will the...
	4. Costs of special consultants (including but not limited to engineers, architects, testing laboratories, surveyors, attorneys, and accountants) employed or retained for services specifically related to the Work.
	5. Other costs consisting of the following:
	a. The proportion of necessary transportation, travel, and subsistence expenses of Provider’s employees incurred in discharge of duties connected with the Work.
	b. Cost, including transportation and maintenance, of all materials, supplies, equipment, machinery, appliances, office, and temporary facilities at the Site or Point of Destination, which are consumed in the performance of the Work, and cost, less ma...
	1) In establishing included costs for materials such as scaffolding, plating, or sheeting, consideration will be given to the actual or the estimated life of the material for use on other projects; or rental rates may be established on the basis of pu...

	c. Construction Equipment Rental
	1) Rentals of all construction equipment and machinery, and the parts thereof, in accordance with rental agreements approved by Owner as to price (including any surcharge or special rates applicable to overtime use of the construction equipment or mac...
	2) For Provider owned equipment, or for equipment rented or leased from lessor firms associated with or owned by the Provider, equipment use approved by the Engineer will be paid at the rental rates given in the most current edition of the EquipmentWa...
	a.) The hourly rates shall be developed by dividing the monthly Blue Book rates by 176 hours a month (the weekly, hourly and daily rates listed in the Blue Book shall not be used).  For equipment rented or leased from lessor firms not owned by, or ass...
	b.) The allowable equipment rates for the first operating shift necessitated by the Change Order work shall not exceed 100% of the Blue Book rate, as adjusted, plus operating costs.  The allowable equipment rates for the second operating shift and thi...
	c.) The allowable equipment rates for equipment at the site, and not in actual use, as a direct result of the changed work (standby equipment) shall be paid at 50% of the Blue Book rate after application of the rate adjustment tables with no operating...
	3) With respect to Work that is the result of a Change Order, Change Proposal, Claim, set-off, or other adjustment in Contract Price (“changed Work”), included costs will be based on the time the equipment or machinery is in use on the changed Work an...

	d. Deposits lost for causes other than negligence of Provider, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable, and royalty payments and fees for permits and licenses.
	e. Losses and damages (and related expenses) caused by damage to the Work, not compensated by insurance or otherwise, sustained by Provider in connection with the performance of the Work (except losses and damages within the deductible amounts of buil...
	f. The cost of utilities, fuel, and sanitary facilities at the Site.
	g. Minor expenses such as communication service at the Site, express and courier services, and similar petty cash items in connection with the Work.
	h. The costs of premiums for all bonds and insurance that Provider is required by the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order to purchase and maintain.


	C. Costs Excluded: The term Cost of the Work does not include any of the following items:
	1. Payroll costs and other compensation of Provider’s officers, executives, principals, general managers, construction managers, site superintendents (above the level of foreman) engineers, architects, estimators, attorneys, auditors, accountants, pur...
	2. The cost of purchasing, renting, or furnishing small tools and hand tools.
	3. Expenses of Provider’s principal and branch offices other than Provider’s office at the Site or Point of Destination.
	4. Any part of Provider’s capital expenses, including interest on Provider’s capital employed for the Work and charges against Provider for delinquent payments.
	5. Costs due to the negligence of Provider, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable, including but not limited to, the correction of defective Work, disposal of materials ...
	6. Expenses incurred in preparing and advancing Claims.
	7. Other overhead or general expense costs of any kind and the costs of any item not specifically and expressly included in Paragraph 14.01.B.
	8. Sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes including Oregon Corporate Activity Tax (CAT) related to the Work, and for which Provider is liable, as imposed by laws and regulations except as otherwise identified in Paragraph 14.01.B.5.

	D. Provider’s Fee
	1. When the Work as a whole is performed on the basis of cost-plus-a-fee, then:
	a. Provider’s fee for the Work set forth in the applicable Task Order will be determined as set forth in the applicable Task Order.
	b. for any Work covered by a Change Order, Change Proposal, Claim, set-off, or other adjustment in Contract Price on the basis of Cost of the Work, Provider’s fee will be determined as follows:
	1) When the fee for the Work as a whole is a percentage of the Cost of the Work, the fee will automatically adjust as the Cost of the Work changes.
	2) When the fee for the Work as a whole is a fixed fee, the fee for any additions or deletions will be determined in accordance with Paragraph 12.08.C.2.


	2. When the Work as a whole is performed on the basis of a stipulated sum, or any other basis other than cost-plus-a-fee, then Provider’s fee for any Work covered by a Change Order, Change Proposal, Claim, set-off, or other adjustment in Contract Pric...

	E. Documentation and Audit: Whenever the Cost of the Work for any purpose is to be determined pursuant to this Article 14, Provider and pertinent Subcontractors will establish and maintain records of the costs in accordance with generally accepted acc...

	14.02 Allowances
	A. It is understood that Provider has included in the Contract Price all allowances so named in the Contract Documents and fully executed Task Orders and shall cause the Work so covered to be performed for such sums and by such persons or entities as ...
	B. Cash Allowances: Provider agrees that:
	1. the cash allowances include the cost to Provider (less any applicable trade discounts) of materials and equipment required by the allowances to be delivered at the Site or to the Point of Destination, and all applicable taxes; and
	2. Provider’s costs for unloading and handling on the Site or at the Point of Destination, labor, installation, overhead, profit, and other expenses contemplated for the cash allowances have been included in the Contract Price and not in the allowance...

	C. Owner’s Contingency Allowance: Provider agrees that an Owner’s contingency allowance, if any, is for the sole use of Owner to cover unanticipated costs.
	D. Prior to final payment, an appropriate Change Order will be issued as recommended by Engineer to reflect actual amounts due Provider for Work covered by allowances, and the Contract Price will be correspondingly adjusted.

	14.03 Unit Price Work
	A. Where the Contract Documents or applicable Task Order provide that all or part of the Work is to be Unit Price Work, initially the Contract Price will be deemed to include for all Unit Price Work an amount equal to the sum of the unit price for eac...
	B. The estimated quantities of items of Unit Price Work are not guaranteed and are solely for the purpose of comparison of Bids and determining an initial Contract Price. Payments to Provider for Unit Price Work will be based on actual quantities.
	C. Each unit price will be deemed to include an amount considered by Provider to be adequate to cover Provider’s overhead and profit for each separately identified item.
	D. Engineer will determine the actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work performed by Provider. Engineer will review with Provider the Engineer’s preliminary determinations on such matters before rendering a written decision thereon (by...
	E. Adjustments in Unit Price
	1. Provider or Owner shall be entitled to an adjustment in the unit price with respect to an item of Unit Price Work if:
	a. the extended price of a particular item of Unit Price Work amounts to 25 percent or more of the Contract Price and the variation in the quantity of that particular item of Unit Price Work actually furnished or performed by Provider differs by more ...
	b. Provider’s unit costs to perform the item of Unit Price Work have changed materially and significantly as a result of the quantity change.

	2. The adjustment in unit price will account for and be coordinated with any related changes in quantities of other items of Work, and in Provider’s costs to perform such other Work, such that the resulting overall change in Contract Price is equitabl...
	3. Adjusted unit prices will apply to all units of that item.



	Article 15—Tests and Inspections; Correction, Removal, or Acceptance of Defective Work
	15.01 Access to Work
	A. Owner, Engineer, their consultants and other representatives and personnel of Owner, independent testing laboratories, and authorities having jurisdiction have access to the Site and the Work, as applicable, at reasonable times for their observatio...

	15.02 Tests, Inspections, and Approvals
	A. The Contract Documents and executed Task Order(s) specify required inspections and tests. Owner shall have the right to perform, or cause to be performed, reasonable inspections and require reasonable tests of the Goods at Provider’s facility, at t...
	B. Provider shall reimburse Owner for all expenses, except for travel, lodging, and subsistence expenses of Owner’s and Engineer's representatives, for inspections and tests specified in the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order. If as the resu...
	C. Provider shall retain and pay for the services of an independent inspector, testing laboratory, or other qualified individual or entity to perform all inspection and tests expressly required by the Contract Documents as identified in Paragraph 15.0...
	D. If Laws or Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction require any Work (or part thereof) specifically to be inspected, tested, or approved by an employee or other representative of such public body, Provider shall assume full responsibility...
	E. Provider shall be responsible for arranging, obtaining, and paying for all inspections and tests required:
	1. by the Contract Documents or an applicable Task Order, unless the Contract Documents or applicable Task Order expressly allocate responsibility for a specific inspection or test to Owner;
	2. to attain Owner’s and Engineer’s acceptance of materials or equipment to be incorporated in the Work;
	3. by manufacturers of equipment furnished under the Contract Documents and any applicable Task Order;
	4. for testing, adjusting, and balancing of mechanical, electrical, and other equipment to be incorporated into the Work; and
	5. for acceptance of materials, mix designs, or equipment submitted for approval prior to Provider’s purchase thereof for incorporation in the Work.

	F. If the Contract Documents or a Task Order require the Work (or part thereof) to be approved by Owner, Engineer, or another designated individual or entity, then Provider shall assume full responsibility for arranging and obtaining such approvals.
	G. If any Work (or the work of others) that is to be inspected, tested, or approved is covered by Provider without written concurrence of Engineer, Provider shall, if requested by Engineer, uncover such Work for observation. Such uncovering will be at...
	H. With respect to Work issued pursuant to a Procurement Task Order:
	1. Provider shall provide Owner timely written notice of the readiness of the Goods for all inspections, tests, or approvals which the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order specify are to be observed by Owner prior to shipment.
	2. Owner will give Provider timely notice of all specified tests, inspections, and approvals of the Goods which are to be conducted at the Point of Destination, and a representative of Provider will attend such tests, inspections, and approvals.
	3. If, on the basis of inspections or testing, the Goods appear to be conforming and not defective, Owner will give Provider prompt notice thereof. If on the basis of inspections or testing, the Goods appear to be non-conforming or defective, Owner wi...
	4. Neither payments made by Owner to Provider prior to any tests or inspections, nor any tests or inspections, will constitute acceptance of non-conforming or defective Goods, or prejudice Owner’s rights under the Master Agreement.

	I.  Visual Inspection on Delivery. With respect to Work issued pursuant to a Procurement Task Order:
	1. Owner will visually inspect the Goods upon delivery solely for purposes of identifying the Goods, general verification of quantities, and observation of apparent condition. Such visual inspection will not be construed as final or as receipt of any ...
	2. If, on the basis of the visual inspection specified in Paragraph 15.02.I.1, the Goods appear to comply with the requirements of the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order as to quantities and condition and do not contain any apparent defects ...

	J. Final Inspection. With respect to Work issued pursuant to a Procurement Task Order:
	1.  After all of the Goods have been incorporated into the Project, tested in accordance with such testing requirements as are specified, and are functioning as required, and Provider has performed and completed all Special Services, Owner will make a...
	2. If, on the basis of the final inspection, Owner determines that the Goods and Special Services are conforming, Owner’s notice thereof will constitute Owner’s acceptance of the Goods and Special Services, subject to any limitations stated in the not...
	3. If, on the basis of the final inspection, the Goods and Special Services are nonconforming, Owner will identify the non-conformity in writing.


	15.03 Non-Conforming or Defective Work
	A. Provider’s Obligation: It is Provider’s obligation to assure that the Work is not defective in materials or workmanship, and otherwise is not non-conforming.
	B. Engineer’s Authority: Engineer has the authority to determine whether Work is defective or non-conforming, and to reject defective or non-conforming Work.
	C. Notice of Defects: Prompt written notice of all defective or non-conforming Work of which Owner or Engineer has actual knowledge will be given to Provider.
	D. Rejection of Work: If Owner elects to reject the Work in whole or in part, Owner’s notice to Provider will describe in sufficient detail the non-conforming or defective aspect of the Work. If Goods have been delivered to Owner, Provider shall promp...
	E. Correction, or Removal and Replacement: Promptly after receipt of written notice of defective or non-conforming Work, Provider shall, at no cost to Owner and in response to written instructions from Owner, either correct all such defective or non-c...
	F. Remedying Non-Conforming or Defective Work: If Owner elects to permit the Provider to modify the Work to correct the non-conformance or defect, then Provider shall promptly provide a schedule for such modifications and shall make the Work conformin...
	G. Preservation of Warranties: When correcting defective or non-conforming Work, Provider shall take no action that would void or otherwise impair Owner’s special warranty and guarantee, if any, on said Work.
	H. Costs and Damages: In addition to its correction, removal, and replacement obligations with respect to defective or non-conforming Work, Provider shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages arising out of or relating to defective or non-confor...

	15.04 Acceptance of Defective or Non-Conforming Work
	A. If, instead of requiring correction or removal and replacement of defective or non-conforming Work, Owner prefers to accept it, Owner may do so (subject, if such acceptance occurs prior to final payment, to Engineer’s confirmation that such accepta...

	15.05 Uncovering Work
	A. Engineer has the authority to require additional inspection or testing of the Work, whether or not the Work is fabricated, installed, or completed.
	B. If any Work is covered contrary to the written request of Engineer, then Provider shall, if requested by Engineer, uncover such Work for Engineer’s observation, and then replace the covering, all at Provider’s expense.
	C. If Engineer considers it necessary or advisable that covered Work be observed by Engineer or inspected or tested by others, then Provider, at Engineer’s request, shall uncover, expose, or otherwise make available for observation, inspection, or tes...
	1. If it is found that the uncovered Work is defective or non-conforming, Provider shall be responsible for all claims, costs, losses, and damages arising out of or relating to such uncovering, exposure, observation, inspection, and testing, and of sa...
	2. If the uncovered Work is not found to be defective or non-conforming, Provider shall be allowed an increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Times, directly attributable to such uncovering, exposure, observation, inspection, te...


	15.06 Owner May Stop the Work
	A. If the Work is defective or non-conforming, or Provider fails to supply sufficient skilled workers or suitable materials or equipment, or fails to perform the Work in such a way that the completed Work will conform to the Contract Documents and app...

	15.07 Owner May Correct Defective or Non-Conforming Work
	A. If Provider fails within a reasonable time after written notice from Engineer to correct defective or non-conforming Work, or to remove and replace defective or non-conforming Work as required by Engineer, then Owner may, after 7 days’ written noti...
	B. In exercising the rights and remedies under this Paragraph 15.07, Owner shall proceed expeditiously. In connection with such corrective or remedial action, Owner may, as applicable to the executed Task Order in question, exclude Provider from all o...
	C. All claims, costs, losses, and damages incurred or sustained by Owner in exercising the rights and remedies under this Paragraph 15.07 will be charged against Provider as set-offs against payments due under Article 16. Such claims, costs, losses an...
	D. Provider shall not be allowed an extension of the Contract Times or Contract Price increase because of any delay in the performance of the Work attributable to the exercise by Owner of Owner’s rights and remedies under this Paragraph 15.07.


	Article 16—Payments to Provider; Set-Offs; Completion; Correction Period
	16.01 Progress Payments
	A. Basis for Progress Payments: The Schedule of Values established as provided in Article 2 will serve as the basis for progress payments and will be incorporated into a form of Application for Payment acceptable to Engineer. Progress payments for Uni...
	B. Applications for Payments
	1. At least 20 days before the date established for each progress payment (but not more often than once a month), Provider shall submit to Engineer for review an Application for Payment filled out and signed by Provider covering the Work completed as ...
	2. If payment is requested on the basis of materials and equipment not incorporated in the Work but delivered and suitably stored at the Site, Point of Delivery, or at another location agreed to in writing, the Application for Payment must also be acc...
	3. Any Application for Payment that is based in whole or in part on the delivery of Goods must be accompanied by a bill of sale, invoice, or other documentation reasonably satisfactory to Owner warranting that Owner has rightfully received good title ...
	4. Beginning with the second Application for Payment, each Application must include an affidavit of Provider stating that all previous progress payments received by Provider have been applied to discharge Provider’s legitimate obligations associated w...
	5. The amount of retainage, if any with respect to progress payments will be as stipulated in the applicable Task Order.
	6. Owner shall notify Provider promptly of any deficiency in the required documentation.

	C. Review of Applications
	1. Engineer will, within 10 days after receipt of each Application for Payment, including each resubmittal, either indicate in writing a recommendation of payment and present the Application to Owner, or return the Application to Provider indicating i...
	2. Engineer’s recommendation of any payment requested in an Application for Payment will constitute a representation by Engineer to Owner, based on Engineer’s observations of the executed Work as an experienced and qualified design professional, and o...
	a. the Work has progressed to the point indicated;
	b. the quality of the Work is generally in accordance with the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order (subject to an evaluation of the Work as a functioning whole prior to or upon Substantial Completion, if applicable, the results of any subsequ...
	c. the conditions precedent to Provider’s being entitled to such payment appear to have been fulfilled in so far as it is Engineer’s responsibility to observe the Work.

	3. By recommending any such payment Engineer will not thereby be deemed to have represented that:
	a. inspections made to check the quality or the quantity of the Work as it has been performed have been exhaustive, extended to every aspect of the Work in progress, or involved detailed inspections of the Work beyond the responsibilities specifically...
	b. there may not be other matters or issues between the parties that might entitle Provider to be paid additionally by Owner or entitle Owner to withhold payment to Provider.

	4. Neither Engineer’s review of Provider’s Work for the purposes of recommending payments nor Engineer’s recommendation of any payment, including final payment, will impose responsibility on Engineer:
	a. to supervise, direct, or control the Work;
	b. for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto;
	c. for Provider’s failure to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to Provider’s performance of the Work;
	d. to make any examination to ascertain how or for what purposes Provider has used the money paid by Owner; or
	e. to determine that title to any of the Work, materials, or equipment has passed to Owner free and clear of any Liens.

	5. Engineer may refuse to recommend the whole or any part of any payment if, in Engineer’s opinion, it would be incorrect to make the representations to Owner stated in Paragraph 16.01.C.2.
	6. Engineer will recommend reductions in payment (set-offs) necessary in Engineer’s opinion to protect Owner from loss because:
	a. the Work is defective or non-conforming, requiring correction or replacement;
	b. the Contract Price has been reduced by Change Orders;
	c. Owner has been required to correct defective or non-conforming Work in accordance with Paragraph 15.07, or has accepted defective or non-conforming Work pursuant to Paragraph 15.04;
	d. Owner has been required to remove or remediate a Hazardous Environmental Condition for which Provider is responsible; or
	e. Engineer has actual knowledge of the occurrence of any of the events that would constitute a default by Provider and therefore justify termination for cause under the Contract Documents.


	D. Payment Becomes Due
	1. Thirty days after presentation of the Application for Payment to Owner with Engineer’s recommendation, the amount recommended (subject to any Owner set-offs) will become due, and when due will be paid by Owner to Provider.

	E. Reductions in Payment by Owner
	1. In addition to any reductions in payment (set-offs) recommended by Engineer, Owner is entitled to impose a set-off against payment based on any of the following:
	a. Claims have been made against Owner based on Provider’s conduct in the performance or furnishing of the Work, or Owner has incurred costs, losses, or damages resulting from Provider’s conduct in the performance or furnishing of the Work, including ...
	b. Provider has failed to take reasonable and customary measures to avoid damage, delay, disruption, and interference with other work at or adjacent to the Site or Point of Destination;
	c. Provider has failed to provide and maintain required bonds or insurance;
	d. Owner has been required to remove or remediate a Hazardous Environmental Condition for which Provider is responsible;
	e. Owner has incurred extra charges or engineering costs related to submittal reviews, evaluations of proposed substitutes, tests and inspections, or return visits to manufacturing or assembly facilities;
	f. The Work is non-conforming or defective, requiring correction or replacement;
	g. Owner has been required to correct non-conforming or defective Work in accordance with Paragraph 15.07, or has accepted non-conforming or defective Work pursuant to Paragraph 15.04;
	h. The Contract Price has been reduced by Change Orders;
	i. An event has occurred that would constitute a default by Provider and therefore justify a termination for cause;
	j. Liquidated or other damages have accrued as a result of Provider’s failure to achieve milestones, Substantial Completion, delivery, or final completion of the Work;
	k. Liens have been filed in connection with the Work, except where Provider has delivered a specific bond satisfactory to Owner to secure the satisfaction and discharge of such Liens; or
	l. Other items entitle Owner to a set-off against the amount recommended.

	2. If Owner imposes any set-off against payment, whether based on its own knowledge or on the written recommendations of Engineer, Owner will give Provider immediate written notice (with a copy to Engineer) stating the reasons for such action and the ...
	3. Upon a subsequent determination that Owner’s refusal of payment was not justified, the amount wrongfully withheld will be treated as an amount due as determined by Paragraph 16.01.D.1 and subject to interest as provided in the Master Agreement.

	F. Retainage
	1. Retainage shall be withheld and released in accordance with ORS 279C.550 to 279C.570, each applicable Task Order, and Exhibit D.

	16.02 Provider’s Warranty of Title
	A. Provider warrants and guarantees that title to all Work, materials, and equipment furnished under the Master Agreement and each applicable Task Order will pass to Owner free and clear of (1) all Liens and other title defects, and (2) all patent, li...

	16.03 Substantial Completion
	A. This Paragraph 16.03 applies to Work conducted pursuant to a Procurement and Installation Task Order.
	B. When Provider considers the entire Work is ready for its intended use, Provider shall notify Owner and Engineer in writing that such entire Work is substantially complete and request that Engineer issue a certificate of Substantial Completion. Prov...
	C. Promptly after Provider’s notification, Owner, Provider, and Engineer shall make an inspection of the Work to determine the status of completion. If Engineer does not consider the Work substantially complete, Engineer will notify Provider in writin...
	D. If Engineer considers the Work substantially complete, Engineer will deliver to Owner a preliminary certificate of Substantial Completion which will fix the date of Substantial Completion. Engineer shall attach to the certificate a punch list of it...
	E. At the time of receipt of the preliminary certificate of Substantial Completion, Owner and Provider will confer regarding Owner’s use or occupancy of the Work following Substantial Completion, review the builder’s risk insurance policy with respect...
	F. After Substantial Completion the Provider shall promptly begin work on the punch list of items to be completed or corrected prior to final payment. In appropriate cases Provider may submit monthly Applications for Payment for completed punch list i...
	G. Owner shall have the right to exclude Provider from the Site after the date of Substantial Completion subject to allowing Provider reasonable access to remove its property and complete or correct items on the punch list.

	16.04 Partial Use or Occupancy
	A. This Paragraph 16.04 applies to Work conducted pursuant to a Procurement and Installation Task Order.
	B. Prior to Substantial Completion of the Work, Owner may use or occupy any substantially completed part of the Work which has specifically been identified in the Contract Documents or applicable Task Order, or which Owner, Engineer, and Provider agre...
	1. At any time, Owner may request in writing that Provider permit Owner to use or occupy any such part of the Work that Owner believes to be substantially complete. If and when Provider agrees that such part of the Work is substantially complete, Prov...
	2. At any time, Provider may notify Owner and Engineer in writing that Provider considers any such part of the Work substantially complete and request Engineer to issue a certificate of Substantial Completion for that part of the Work.
	3. Within a reasonable time after either such request, Owner, Provider, and Engineer shall make an inspection of that part of the Work to determine its status of completion. If Engineer does not consider that part of the Work to be substantially compl...
	4. No use or occupancy or separate operation of part of the Work may occur prior to compliance with the requirements of Paragraph 6.04 regarding builder’s risk or other property insurance.


	16.05 Final Inspection
	A. Upon written notice from Provider that the entire Work or an agreed portion thereof is complete, Engineer will promptly make a final inspection with Owner and Provider and will notify Provider in writing of all particulars in which this inspection ...

	16.06 Final Payment
	A. Application for Payment
	1. After Provider has, in the opinion of Engineer, satisfactorily completed all corrections identified during the final inspection and has delivered, in accordance with the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order, all maintenance and operating in...
	2. The final Application for Payment must be accompanied (except as previously delivered) by:
	a. all documentation called for in the Contract Documents and applicable Task Order (including but not limited to all final operations and maintenance manuals, and any special warranties);
	b. consent of the surety, if any, to final payment;
	c. satisfactory evidence that all title issues have been resolved such that title to all Work, materials, and equipment has passed to Owner free and clear of any Liens or other title defects, or will so pass upon final payment;
	d. a list of all duly pending Change Proposals and Claims; and
	e. complete and legally effective releases or waivers (satisfactory to Owner) of all Lien rights arising out of the Work, and of Liens filed in connection with the Work.

	3. In lieu of the releases or waivers of Liens specified in Paragraph 16.01.C.4.e and as approved by Owner, Provider may furnish receipts or releases in full and an affidavit of Provider that: (a) the releases and receipts include all labor, services,...

	B. Engineer’s Review of Final Application and Recommendation of Payment: If, on the basis of Engineer’s observation of the Work during its completion and final inspection, and Engineer’s review of the final Application for Payment and accompanying doc...
	C. Notice of Acceptability: In support of its recommendation of payment of the final Application for Payment, Engineer will also give written notice to Owner and Provider that the Work is acceptable, subject to stated limitations in the notice and to ...
	D. Completion of Work: The Work, or applicable portion thereof, is complete (subject to surviving obligations) when it is ready for final payment as established by the Engineer’s written recommendation of final payment and issuance of notice of the ac...
	E. Final Payment Becomes Due: Upon receipt from Engineer of the final Application for Payment and accompanying documentation, Owner shall set off against the amount recommended by Engineer for final payment any further sum to which Owner is entitled, ...
	F. Owner will not make final payment, or return or release included retainage (if any) at any time, unless Provider submits written consent of the surety to such payment, return, or release.

	16.07 Waiver of Claims
	A. By making final payment, Owner waives its claim or right to liquidated damages or other damages for late completion by Provider of such Work, except as set forth in an outstanding Claim, appeal under the provisions of Article 16, set-off, or expres...
	B. The acceptance of final payment by Provider will constitute a waiver by Provider of all claims and rights against Owner with respect to that applicable Work other than those pending matters that have been duly submitted as a Claim, or appealed unde...

	16.08 Correction Period
	A. If within one year after the date of final Acceptance of Work, as applicable, (or such longer period of time as may be prescribed by the Supplementary Conditions or applicable Task Order, or the terms of any applicable special guarantee required by...
	1. correct the defective or non-conforming repairs to the Site or such adjacent areas;
	2. correct such defective or non-conforming Work;
	3. remove the defective or non-conforming Work from the Project and replace it with Work that is not defective or non-conforming, if the defective or non-conforming Work has been rejected by Owner, and
	4. satisfactorily correct or repair or remove and replace any damage to other Work, to the work of others, or to other land or areas resulting from the corrective measures.

	B. Owner shall give any such notice of defect or non-conformity within 60 days of the discovery that such Work or repairs is defective or non-conforming. If such notice is given within such 60 days but after the end of the correction period, the notic...
	C. If, after receipt of a notice of defect or non-conformity within 60 days and within the correction period, Provider does not promptly comply with the terms of Owner’s written instructions, or in an emergency where delay would cause serious risk of ...
	D. In special circumstances where a particular item of equipment is placed in continuous service before final completion of all the related Work, the correction period for that item may start to run from an earlier date if so provided in the Specifica...
	E. Where defective or non-conforming Work (and damage to other Work resulting therefrom) has been corrected or removed and replaced under this paragraph, the correction period hereunder with respect to such Work will be extended for an additional peri...
	F. Provider’s obligations under this paragraph are in addition to all other obligations and warranties. The provisions of this paragraph are not to be construed as a substitute for, or a waiver of, the provisions of any applicable statute of limitatio...


	Article 17—Suspension of Work and Termination
	17.01 Owner May Suspend Work
	A. At any time and without cause, Owner may suspend the Work or any portion thereof for a period of not more than 90 consecutive days by written notice to Provider and Engineer. Such notice will fix the date on which Work will be resumed. Provider sha...

	17.02 Owner May Terminate for Cause
	A. The occurrence of any one or more of the following events will constitute a default by Provider and justify termination for cause:
	1. Provider’s persistent failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents or an applicable Task Order (including, but not limited to, failure to supply sufficient skilled workers or suitable materials or equipment, or failure to a...
	2. Failure of Provider to perform or otherwise to comply with a material term of the Contract Documents or an applicable Task Order;
	3. Provider’s disregard of Laws or Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction;
	4. Provider’s failure to pay any Provider employee or Subcontractor for Work performed; or
	5. Provider’s repeated disregard of the authority of Owner or Engineer.

	B. If one or more of the events identified in Paragraph 17.02.A occurs, then after giving Provider (and any surety) 10 days’ written notice that Owner is considering a declaration that Provider is in default and termination of the Master Agreement and...
	1. declare Provider to be in default, and give Provider (and any surety) written notice that the Master Agreement and/or applicable Task Order is terminated;
	2. enforce the rights available to Owner under any applicable performance bond; and
	3. pursue any other rights and remedies available to Owner at law or in equity.

	C. Subject to the terms and operation of any applicable performance bond, if Owner has terminated the Master Agreement and/or applicable Task Order for cause, Owner may exclude Provider from the Site or Point of Destination, take possession of the Wor...
	D. Owner may not proceed with termination of the Master Agreement and/or applicable Task Order under Paragraph 17.02.B if Provider within 7 days of receipt of notice of intent to terminate begins to correct its failure to perform and proceeds diligent...
	E. If Owner proceeds as provided in Paragraph 17.02.B, Provider shall not be entitled to receive any further payment until the Work is completed. If the cost to complete the Work including such related claims, costs, losses, and damages exceeds such u...
	F. Where Provider’s services have been so terminated by Owner, the termination will not affect any rights or remedies of Owner against Provider then existing or which may thereafter accrue, or any rights or remedies of Owner against Provider or any su...
	G. If and to the extent that Provider has provided a performance bond under the provisions of Paragraph 6.01.A, the provisions of that bond will govern over any inconsistent provisions of Paragraphs 16.02.B and 16.02.D.

	17.03 Owner May Terminate for Convenience
	A. Upon 7 days’ written notice to Provider and Engineer, Owner may, without cause and without prejudice to any other right or remedy of Owner, terminate a Procurement and Installation Task Order. Termination pursuant to the terms of this paragraph wil...
	1. completed and acceptable Work executed in accordance with the Contract Documents prior to the effective date of termination, including fair and reasonable sums for overhead and profit on such Work;
	2. expenses sustained prior to the effective date of termination in performing services and furnishing labor, materials, or equipment as required by the Contract Documents in connection with uncompleted Work, plus fair and reasonable sums for overhead...
	3. other reasonable expenses directly attributable to termination, including costs incurred to prepare a termination for convenience cost proposal.

	B. Owner has the right to terminate a Procurement Task Order, without cause, at any time prior to delivery of the Goods, by written notice. Termination pursuant to the terms of this paragraph will not constitute a breach of contract by Owner. Upon ter...
	C. Provider shall not be paid for any loss of anticipated profits or revenue, post-termination overhead costs, or other economic loss arising out of or resulting from such termination.


	Article 18—Final Resolution of Disputes
	18.01 Methods and Procedures
	A. Disputes Subject to Final Resolution: The following disputed matters are subject to final resolution under the provisions of this Article:
	1. A timely appeal of an approval in part and denial in part of a Claim, or of a denial in full, pursuant to Article 13; and
	2. Disputes between Owner and Provider concerning the Work, or obligations under the Contract Documents or applicable Task Order, that arise after final payment has been made.

	B. Final Resolution of Disputes: For any dispute subject to resolution under this Article, Owner or Provider may:
	1. elect in writing to invoke the dispute resolution process provided for in Paragraph 18.02; or
	2. agree with the other party to submit the dispute to another dispute resolution process.

	I. Except as may be required by Laws or Regulations, neither party nor an arbitrator may disclose the existence, content, or results of any arbitration hereunder without the prior written consent of both parties, with the exception of any disclosure r...
	J. Proceedings shall take place in Yamhill County, Oregon.


	Article 19—Miscellaneous
	19.01 Giving Notice
	A. Whenever any provision of the Contract Documents or Task Order requires the giving of written notice to Owner, Engineer, or Provider, it will be deemed to have been validly given only if delivered:
	1. in person, by a commercial courier service or otherwise, to the recipient’s place of business;
	2. by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, to the recipient’s place of business; or
	3. by e-mail to the recipient, with the words “Formal Notice” or similar in the e-mail’s subject line.


	19.02 Computation of Times
	A. When any period of time is referred to in the Contract Documents  or Task Order by days, it will be computed to exclude the first and include the last day of such period. If the last day of any such period falls on a Saturday or Sunday or on a day ...

	19.03 Cumulative Remedies
	A. The duties and obligations imposed by these General Conditions and the rights and remedies available hereunder to the parties hereto are in addition to, and are not to be construed in any way as a limitation of, any rights and remedies available to...

	19.04 Limitation of Damages
	A. With respect to any and all Change Proposals, Claims, disputes subject to final resolution, and other matters at issue, neither Owner nor Engineer, nor any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontr...

	19.05 No Waiver
	A. A party’s non-enforcement of any provision will not constitute a waiver of that provision, nor will it affect the enforceability of that provision or of the remainder of this Master Agreement or a Task Order.

	19.06 Survival of Obligations
	A. All representations, indemnifications, warranties, and guarantees made in, required by, or given in accordance with the Master Agreement and each Task Order, as well as all continuing obligations indicated in the Master Agreement and each Task Orde...

	19.07 Controlling Law
	A. This Master Agreement is to be governed by the law of the state in which the Project is located.

	19.08 Assignment of Master Agreement and Task Orders
	A. Unless expressly agreed to elsewhere in the Master Agreement or a Task Order, no assignment by a party to this Master Agreement of any rights under or interests in the Master Agreement or a Task Order will be binding on the other party without the ...

	19.09 Successors and Assigns
	A. Owner and Provider each binds itself, its successors, assigns, and legal representatives to the other party hereto, its successors, assigns, and legal representatives in respect to all covenants, agreements, and obligations contained in the Contrac...

	19.10 Headings
	A. Article and paragraph headings are inserted for convenience only and do not constitute parts of these General Conditions.

	19.11 Entire Agreement
	A. Owner and Provider agree that this Master Agreement and each Task Order is the complete and final agreement between them, and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations, or agreements, either written or oral. This Master Agreement and each ...
	19.12 Successors and Assigns
	A. Owner and Provider each binds itself, its partners, successors, permitted assigns, and legal representatives to the other party hereto, its partners, successors, permitted assigns, and legal representatives in respect to all covenants, agreements, ...



	FINAL Exhibit A1
	FINAL Exhibit A2
	FINAL Exhibit C - IOR Application for Payment (00974006-2xB8084)
	FINAL Exhibit D


	1 - Staff Report- LGGP Alderman Park Grant Submisssion Request
	From:  Dave Rucklos – TED Director

	2- Resolution 25-26-14 Authorizing  the City of Dayton to Apply for a LGGP Grant from OPRD for Rehabilitation at Alderman Park
	1_Staff report_OWRD grant
	DOJApproved_GrantAgreement_CityofDayton_2025-12-1_FINAL
	1_Staff report_Res 25-26-15
	2 - Resolution 25-26-15 A Resolution Accepting Specific Purpose Grants, Making Appropriations, and Authorizing Expenditure 
	1_Staff report_Exec session policy
	Resolution 25-26-16 Executive Sessions News Media Attendance Policy
	RECOGNIZED NEWS MEDIA REPRESENTATIVE APPLICATION

	1 - Action Item - Reappointment of Planning Commissioners
	2 - 2026 Planning Commission Member List
	3 - Application for Consideration for Appointment to Planning Commission_Redacted
	1 - Action Item - Appointment of Budget Committee member
	2 - 2026 Budget Committee Member List
	3 - Budget Committee Application_Redacted
	2 - ORD 668 LA 2025-02 Draft Ordinance for First Reading
	3 - Staff Report - LA 2025-02_12.1.2025 CC SR
	STAFF REPORT
	LA 2025-02 PUBLIC HEARING BEFORE CITY COUNCIL

	EX B Dayton TSP November 2025
	01. INTRODUCTION
	02. TSP PROCESS
	03. SHARED VISION
	04. CURRENT TRAVEL CONDITIONS
	05. GUIDED GROWTH
	06. System Standards
	07. Planned Projects
	08. Funding Framework
	09. SUPPORTING STRATEGIES

	1-Staff Report - OLCC 2025
	From:  Rocio Vargas, City Recorder

	1 - Staff Report CODE 1 Distribution to the DCDA
	2 - To Rob Walker re Code1 and Mural Project Info
	Staff Report-City Hall Condition and Remediation
	Staff Report - Levy
	Department Reports Cover PG
	Jan 26 - Finance Department reporting
	Monthly_Summary
	Project_Detail

	JAN 26 - Library Department Reporting
	Monthly_Summary
	Project_Detail

	JAN 26 - PW Department reporting Dec. 25
	Monthly_Summary
	Project_Detail

	JAN 26 - Recorder Department reporting
	Monthly_Summary
	Project_Detail

	JAN 26 - TED Department reporting
	Monthly_Summary
	Project_Detail

	City Manager Report Cover Page
	1_010526_City Manager report
	2_2026 Budget Calendar
	3_2026 URA Budget Calendar
	4_Gantt_Dayton_Schedule
	Schedule

	5_Dec 2024 Water Consumption Report
	6_Dec 2025 Water Consumption Report
	1 - Staff Report -Second Reading of ORD 668.pdf
	From:  Jeremy Caudle, City Manager





